Public Document Pack

Planning Committee
Remote Meeting
Date:
Time:

Wednesday, 14th April, 2021
10.00 am

Venue:

Zoom - https://zoom.us/

Chair:
Members:

Councillor S Merifield
Councillors G Bagnall, M Caton, A Coote, P Fairhurst, R Freeman,
G LeCount, M Lemon (Vice-Chair), J Loughlin, R Pavitt, N Reeve
and M Sutton

Substitutes:

Councillors S Barker, N Gregory, P Lees, B Light, E Oliver, G Sell
and J De Vries

Public Speaking
Members of the public who would like to watch the meeting live can do so here. The
broadcast will be made available as soon as the meeting begins.
At the start of each agenda item there will be an opportunity for members of the
public to make statements of up to 4 minutes to the Committee via the video
conferencing platform Zoom subject to having given notice by 2pm on the day before
the meeting.
Please refer to further information regarding public speaking overleaf.

AGENDA
PART 1
Open to Public and Press
1

Apologies for Absence and Declarations of Interest
To receive any apologies for absence and declarations of interest.

2

Minutes of the Previous Meeting

4 - 11

To consider the minutes of the previous meeting.
3

UTT/19/2266/OP - Land North Of Bedwell Road And East Of
Old Mead Road UGLEY & HENHAM

12 - 186

To consider application UTT/19/2266/OP.
4

UTT/20/0422/FUL - Land North of Cox Ley, HATFIELD HEATH

187 - 206

To consider application UTT/20/0422/FUL.
5

UTT/20/2175/DFO - Land South of Radwinter Road, SAFFRON
WALDEN

207 - 222

To consider application UTT/20/2175/DFO.
6

UTT/20/3016/FUL - Land R/O Malt Place, Cornells Lane,
WIDDINGTON

223 - 266

To consider application UTT/20/3016/FUL.
7

UTT/20/2486/FUL - North of Laburnham View, High Street,
ELMDON

267 - 285

To consider application UTT/20/2486/FUL.
8

UTT/21/0410/HHF - 6 Monks Hill, SAFFRON WALDEN
To consider application UTT/21/0410/HHF.

286 - 291

REMOTE MEETINGS AND THE PUBLIC
Due to the Government’s social distancing measures imposed in the wake of Covid19, the way in which the public can participate in Uttlesford District Council meetings
has changed. Meetings are no longer being held on site or in person and ‘remote
meetings’ will be held on the virtual meeting platform Zoom until further notice.
Members of the public are welcome to listen live to the debate of any of the Council’s
Cabinet or Committee meetings. All live broadcasts and meeting papers can be
viewed on the Council’s calendar of meetings webpage.
Members of the public and representatives of parish and town councils are permitted
to speak at this meeting via the video conferencing platform Zoom. You will need to
register with Democratic Services by 2pm on the day before the meeting. Please
register your intention to speak on an application by contacting Democratic Services
at committee@uttlesford.gov.uk. You will have 4 minutes to make your statement.
Those wishing to make a statement via video link will require an internet connection
and a device with a microphone and video camera enabled. Those wishing to make
a statement to the meeting who do not have internet access can do so via telephone.
Technical guidance on the practicalities of participating via Zoom will be given at the
point of confirming your registration slot, but if you have any questions regarding the
best way to participate in this meeting please call Democratic Services on 01799 510
410/369/548/467 who will advise on the options available.
The agenda is split into two parts. Most of the business is dealt with in Part I which is
open to the public. Part II includes items which may be discussed in the absence of
the press or public, as they deal with information which is personal or sensitive for
some other reason. The broadcast will be unable when Part II items are discussed.
Agenda and Minutes are available in alternative formats and/or languages. For more
information please call 01799 510510.
Facilities for people with disabilities
If you are deaf or have impaired hearing and would like a signer available at a
meeting, please contact committee@uttlesford.gov.uk or phone 01799 510548/369
as soon as possible prior to the meeting.
For information about this meeting please contact Democratic Services
Telephone: 01799 510410, 510369, 510548, or 510467
Email: Committee@uttlesford.gov.uk
General Enquiries
Council Offices, London Road, Saffron Walden, CB11 4ER
Telephone: 01799 510510
Fax: 01799 510550
Email: uconnect@uttlesford.gov.uk
Website: www.uttlesford.gov.uk

Agenda Item 2
PLANNING COMMITTEE held at ZOOM - HTTPS://ZOOM.US/, on
WEDNESDAY, 17 MARCH 2021 at 10.00 am

PC108

Present:

Councillor S Merifield (Chair)
Councillors G Bagnall, M Caton, A Coote, P Fairhurst,
R Freeman, G LeCount, M Lemon (Vice-Chair), J Loughlin,
R Pavitt, N Reeve and M Sutton

Officers in
attendance:

W Allwood (Principal Planning Officer), N Brown (Development
Manager), C Edwards (Democratic Services Officer), T Garner
(Principal Planning Officer), N Makwana (Planning Officer),
M Sawyers (Planning Officer), J Reynolds (Lawyer),
C Shanley-Grozavu (Democratic Services Officer), M Shoesmith
(Development Management Team Leader) and C Theobald
(Senior Planning Officer).

Public
Speakers:

J Bean, Councillor M Coleman (Gt Dunmow Town Council), J
Dwyer, C Ewing, D Hyde, Councillor Robert Lodge (High Easter
Parish Council), A Ward, K Wheeler

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
There were no apologies for absence.
Councillor Fairhurst declared a non-pecuniary interest as a member of Saffron
Walden Town Council/ Ward Councillor for Saffron Walden (Agenda Item 4).
Councillor Freeman declared a non-pecuniary interest as a member of Saffron
Walden Town Council/ Ward Councillor for Saffron Walden (Agenda Item 4).
Councillor Coote declared a non-pecuniary interest as a member of Saffron
Walden Town Council/ Ward Councillor for Saffron Walden (Agenda Item 4).
Councillor Reeve declared a non-pecuniary interest as a member of High Easter
Parish Council (Agenda Item 6).

PC109

MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING
The minutes of the previous meeting held on 17 February 2021 were agreed and
would be signed by the Chair as an accurate record at the next opportunity.
Councillor Caton said that minute PC97 and the Chair’s statement in the final
paragraph were not clear. It was agreed that the final sentence would be
removed after the clarification that the Council’s policy was 40%.

PC110

UTT/20/3419/DFO - LAND WEST OF WOODSIDE WAY, GREAT DUNMOW

Page 4

The Principal Planning Officer presented an application for the Approval of
Reserved Matters for the details of layout, scale, landscaping and appearance to
provide 464 residential dwellings and associated infrastructure works.
He said that the site comprised the southern parcel of the site at Woodside Way,
and was currently formed of 3 agricultural fields, measuring 26.1ha or 64.5
acres. An oil pipeline crossed through the site and the responsibility for
maintenance would be with the management company.
The amount of high density development (30 to 40 dwellings per hectare) had
been reduced from what was consented at the outline stage and that which
remained had shifted away from the Stortford Road frontage, whilst a much
larger area covered by the lowest density development (15 to 25 dwellings per
hectare), had been located along the western edge, adjacent High Wood, and
along the Stortford Road frontage so as to reduce the apparent density of the
development.
The proposed dwellings would be a mix of 1-4-bedroom units, with affordable
housing provision, indicating a mix of shared ownership and affordable rents as
approved as part of the s106 Agreement. 36 units (8%) would be provided as
homes suitable for the elderly, comprising 16 bungalows and 20 ground floor
maisonettes.
The development would provide public open space within the heart of the
development, together with tree and hedgerow planting, habitat creation,
including natural and semi-natural green space, children’s and youth play areas,
allotments, pitch quality ground, including sports pavilions, and an area set aside
for a Primary School.
The application was recommended for approval with conditions.
In response to Members questions, Officers clarified the following:








The overall site had initial planning for 790 dwellings in the 2005 Local
Plan which was subsequently divided into north and south parcels. This
application was for 464 dwellings on the southern parcel owned by
Bellway.
The owners of the oil pipeline were satisfied with the layout and were
ultimately responsible for the pipeline, not the local authority.
A note would be added to the conditions to ensure that similar sized
replacement trees would be provided.
The Council’s Tree Officer had been involved and sanctioned the removal
of some trees on the site. Members requested that the applicant try to
increase the number of trees from the 400 suggested to at least one tree
per dwelling.
Highways were on board with the scheme subject to conditions as set out
in the report. The scheme was policy compliant, providing 1100 car
parking spaces which included visitors parking.
All utilities had been checked for sufficient provision.

Page 5




Confirmation was given that the buffer was 23 metres from the physical
houses to the edge of Highwood all the way round the site.
It was important to remember that the quality of the scheme was good
and had the involvement and co-operation of the Community.

Members expressed disappointment that only 32% of affordable housing had
previously been agreed. Councillor Freeman suggested that it was unrealistic to
ask for 50% affordable homes on the northern parcel of land to make up for the
shortfall, however it could be requested that more of the houses were built as 1
or 2 bedroom units to try to remedy the situation.
The Development Manager said it was unfortunate that Members had not been
on the Committee in 2015 when the outline permission was granted at 32% for
affordable housing.
The Chair agreed and said all the Committee could do was ensure that all
applications going forward would only be approved at 40% affordable housing..
Councillor Reeve asked for it to be noted that this was unsatisfactory.
There were concerns raised by several Members about the traffic conditions and
the cumulative effect of this and other developments. Officers agreed and said
that Great Dunmow Town Council had employed their own traffic engineers to
look into this matter further.
Councillor LeCount proposed that the application be approved with the following
additional conditons added:




An informative note added to Essex County Council (ECC) Highways
regarding the concerns of the cumulative effect of developments on the
spine road.
Any trees that were replaced to be of a similar size as those removed and
that the replacement of trees was on going after the 10 years stipulated.
To remove the permitted development rights of the bungalows.
A plea to the developer to increase the number of trees to at least one per
house built, therefore 464 minimum.

Councillor Fairhurst seconded the motion.
RESOLVED to approve the application with conditions.
Councillor M Coleman (Great Dunmow Town Council) and K Wheeler (agent)
spoke in support of the application.
The meeting adjourned at 11:31am and reconvened at 11:36 am

PC111

UTT/19/1744/OP - FORMER FRIENDS SCHOOL, MOUNT PLEASANT ROAD,
SAFFRON WALDEN

Page 6

The Principal Planning Officer said that the application was a hybrid application
consisting of full details for the development of 30 dwellings utilising existing
access, re-provision of swimming pool with new changing rooms, artificial grass
pitches, sports pavilion, multi-use games area (MUGA), local equipped area for
play (LEAP), local area for play (LAP), associated parking and demolition of gym
building. The remainder was in outline for up to 70 dwellings with associated
infrastructure, public open space, forest school and perimeter path.
He said there were a number of amendments to the report: The scheme would provide 40% affordable housing across the whole
scheme.
 Essex County Council Highways no longer objected to the application
subject to mitigation outlined in the addendum.
 DS1 and GA3 within the planning policy did not apply to this application.
These amendments did not change the recommendation of the report to refuse
the application.
The 30 dwellings proposed include for 12 x 2 bedroom apartments in one block
at the entrance to the site and 18 x 3 bedroom houses in the remaining 4 blocks.
The application does not include the former school buildings although they are
owned by the applicant.
The scheme was recommended for refusal.
In response to a Member’s question, the Development Manager clarified that
approval could not only be given to one part of the application but that it had to
be for the whole scheme.
Although Members agreed there were some good points to the application they
expressed the following concerns: It was a highly controversial site that needed careful consideration.
 Questions were raised about the sustainability and whether it was in
keeping with the local area.
 There had been insufficient consultation with the Town Council and the
local community.
 Inefficient use of land.
 Air quality issues.
 Significant burden on the NHS and schools.
 The utilitarian nature of the buildings and the flat roof of black felt were
raised as issues. Councillor Freeman said the roofs should either be
green or reflective to enable better energy performance.
 The increase in traffic out of a small turning.
 There had been insufficient attention and sympathy to the historic
background of the school.
 The fact that the school buildings had not been included in the application.
Members agreed there should be a masterplan for the whole site.

Page 7

Members asked that in future Officers always looked for an education provision
and it was suggested that a hybrid scheme would always throw up too many
issues and should not be put forward.
Councillor Sutton proposed that the application be refused on the basis of the 8
recommendations in the report and a note made that there should be
consultation and engagement with the Town Council and Local Community.
Councillor Fairhurst seconded the motion.
RESOLVED to refuse the application.
A Ward (applicant) spoke in support of the application
C Ewing and J Dwyer spoke against the application

PC112

UTT/19/1789/FUL - LAND AT POUND HILL, LITTLE DUNMOW
The Senior Planning Officer said that the application was for residential
development comprising 14 dwellings (use class C3), vehicular access, public
open space, sustainable drainage systems and all other associated hard/soft
landscaping and infrastructure.
The development would include 4 detached dwellings (one of which would be
affordable), 8 semi-detached dwellings and 2 horizontally divided flats in a
detached dwelling (both of which would be affordable).
A landscaped area would be laid out around the proposed attenuation basin
at the western end of the development which would also serve as a public open
space feature whereby the provision of open space and its management would
form part of any S106 agreement.
There would be residential parking for each dwelling except for the ground
floor flat for Plot 13 which had been amended to be a 2 bedroomed accessible
flat rather than the 1 bedroomed flat that was originally proposed. There would
be 9 visitor parking spaces.
The application was recommended for approval with conditions with S106
Agreement.
In response to Members’ questions, Officers clarified the following: There was a condition within the application in relation to electrical
charging points.
 Trees had been added to soften the site frontage and a structured tree
belt onto the southern boundary.
 It was confirmed that the outline planning application had not lapsed and
a developer could not revert to the 18 houses in the outline planning
application without coming back to the Committee.
 The Parish Council’s five concerns had all been addressed and they had
withdrawn their objections. This had been confirmed by Councillor

Page 8



Criscione but Members would have preferred something in writing from
the Parish Council.
The open space was around the attenuation basin and related to the
visual impact rather than providing extra public space.

Councillor Coote said that more open space should be looked at with future
developments as the residents were likely to be families with children.
Councillor Lemon proposed that the application be approved with conditions with
S106 Agreement.
The Chair seconded the motion.
RESOLVED to approve the application with conditions with S106 Agreement.
J Bean (agent) spoke in favour of the application.
The meeting adjourned at 1:18pm and reconvened at 1:25pm

PC113

UTT/20/3016/FUL - LAND R/O MALT PLACE, CORNELLS LANE,
WIDDINGTON - WITHDRAWN
This item was withdrawn from the agenda due to a legal issue that needed to be
resolved.

PC114

UTT/21/0158/FUL - HOMELY, THE STREET, HIGH EASTER
The Planning Officer said that the proposal was seeking Section 73A
Retrospective application for the demolition of the existing property and planning
permission for proposed erection of a new 3-bedroom, 1.5 storey dwelling
with associated off street parking.
The site was located at the edge of the village and was within the High Easter
Conservation Area.
The application was recommended for approval with conditions.
The Development Manager said that the demolition of the original building in a
conservation area could constitute a criminal offence but the application should
be considered separately. The Committee would not be sanctioning that action if
they approved the application.
Members expressed the following concerns: There was dissatisfaction that the agent had implied that if the application
was approved the appeal would be withdrawn.
 There had been no communication with the Parish Council.
 The application had not changed from the previous application that had
been refused in December 2020.

Page 9




The proposed dwelling was overbearing and not in keeping with the
conservation area.
The need for vehicles to reverse either in or out of the drive to gain
access to the property.

In response to Councillor Fairhurst requesting advice on the legality of making
this decision on the basis of retrospective approval for demolition of the property,
the Committee adjourned at 1:59pm to review the legal position.
The meeting resumed at 2:05pm.
The Chair proposed to defer the application for further legal opinion.
Councillor Bagnall seconded the motion.
RESOLVED to defer the application.
Reason: To seek further legal advice on the application.

Councillor R Lodge (High Easter Parish Council) spoke against the application.
D Hyde (agent) spoke in favour of the application.

PC115

UTT/20/3473/FUL - EAST COTTAGE, THAXTED ROAD, WIMBISH
The Planning Officer said that the application was for a proposed change of use
from garden to paddock, fencing and erection of stable block. He said it was
proposed to use land outside the curtilage of the house to build a small
wooden, permanent stable block on hardstanding, comprising of two proprietary
type looseboxes. This would be located in the space between the car port and
dilapidated piggery.
The application also asked for consent for the change of use from garden to
paddock grazing land across an area of approximately 6600 square metres,
which left the moat areas and garden directly adjacent to the house untouched.
The matter had been referred to the Committee as the applicant worked for the
Council.
The application was recommended for approval with conditions.
In response to Members’ questions, Officers clarified the following: Each application would be assessed separately; there was no reason
why this application for an equestrian dwelling would then make it easier
to apply in future to turn the stables into housing.
 The application for equine use was appropriate and horses were part of
the countryside and village life.

Page 10

Councillor Loughlin proposed that the application be approved with conditions.
Councillor Pavitt seconded the motion.
RESOLVED to approve the application with conditions.

Meeting Closed at 2:30pm

Page 11

Agenda Item 3
UTT/19/2266/OP (UGLEY AND HENHAM)
(MAJOR APPLICATION)

PROPOSAL: Outline planning application for the erection of up to 220 dwellings
including affordable housing with public open space, structural
planting and landscaping and sustainable drainage system (SuDS) with
vehicular access point from Bedwell Road. All matters reserved except
for means of access.
LOCATION:

Land North Of Bedwell Road And East Of Old Mead Road Ugley And
Henham

APPLICANT: Gladman
AGENT: As above
EXPIRY DATE: Extension of Time until 16th April 2021
CASE OFFICER: William Allwood

1.

NOTATION

1.1

Outside Development Limits. Archaeological Site. Within 6km of Stansted Airport.
Public Rights of Way. Within 2KM of SSSI. Within 250m of Ancient Woodland and
Local Wildlife Site (Alsa Wood, Stansted Mountfitchet). Poor Qir Quality. Oil Pipeline
Hazardous Installation.

2.

DESCRIPTION OF SITE

2.1

The site is located on the northern side of Elsenham in the Parish of Ugly and
Henham, and forms a rough triangular area of agricultural land, bounded by Bedwell
Road to the south, the West Anglia Main Line railway to the east, and the
embankment to the M11 motorway to the west. The southern boundary is defined
by residential properties and the Gold Nursery Business Park. Existing trees and
scrub landforms the northern boundary of the site. A small area of grass and
scrubland is found to the south west of the application site. A public right of way
crosses the site from the south west at Bedwell Road, to a railway crossing point
approximately halfway along the site’s eastern boundary.

2.2

The site itself is irregular in shape over an area of 13.12 hectares.

2.3

The site is generally flat at approximately 90m Above Ordnance Datum.

2.4

Access to the site is via Bedwell Road to the south west. of the site. Pedestrian/
cycling routes are found within the site.

2.5

The site is relatively open with no established built form.

1

Page 12

3.

PROPOSAL

3.1

The outline proposal is for the erection of 220 dwellings, including the provision of
40% affordable housing (88 dwellings) in accordance with adopted Local Plan policy
H9 as set out in the Uttlesford Local Plan 2005

3.2

All dwellings will meet the recommended parking standards.

3.3

All dwellings would have private or shared amenity space. The indicative Building
Heights Plan shows that the proposed dwellings will have a maximum height of 2 ½
storeys. Further, the indicative overall average density is 33 dwellings per hectare,
with the south west corner of the site having a lower density at 26 dwellings per
hectare.

3.4

The application site makes provision of approximately 5.84 hectares of public open
space, community woodland, nature conservation areas, sustainable drainage
features, recreational routes and children’s play areas, including LAPS and LEAPS.

3.5

Car, including visitor parking, and cycle parking will be provided in accordance with
adopted standards as et out in the adopted Uttlesford Local Plan 2005.

4.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT

4.1

The proposed development falls within category 10(b) of Schedule 2 of the EIA
Regulations 2017. A screening request was submitted under LPA refence
UTT/19/1021/SCO and it was confirmed that the proposed development was likely
to give rise to significant environmental effects on the environment, including
cumulative impacts with other committed development in the area, and that an
Environmental Impact Assessment was required to be submitted with any
application. The topics for inclusion in the Environment Statement were Transport,
Air Quality, and Ecological Impacts upon Hatfield Forest SSSI.

5.

APPLICANT’S CASE

5.1

The application is supported with the following accompanying documents:













2

Planning Statement
Development Framework
Socio-Economic Sustainability Statement
Statement of Community Involvement
Environmental Statement, including Transport, Air Quality and Ecology/
Nature Conservation
Design and Access Statement
Foul Drainage Report
Flood Risk Assessment
Soils and Agricultural Quality Report
Phase 1 Geoenvironmental Assessment
Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment
Heritage Desk-Based Assessment

Page 13







Mineral Resource Assessment
Utilities Statement
Noise Assessment Report
Arboricultural Impact Assessment
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal

6.

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

6.1

The northern parcel of the site formed part of a previous wider mixed-used
application (Ref: UTT/13/0808/OP) for 800 dwellings up to 0.5ha of class B1a and
B1c employment uses, up to 1,400sqm of retail uses, a primary school, up to
640sqm of health centre use and up to 600sqm of community buildings.

6.2

A further second application (Ref: UTT/14/3463/OP) setting out the same number
of dwellings etc. on the same site area was withdrawn on 29th September 2017.

6.3

Whilst not directly related to this application site, Member’s attention is drawn at
a recent allowed appeal decision in December 2020 for the erection of 350
dwellings, a 1-Form Entry Primary School, etc at Land east of Elsenham, to the
north of the B1051, Henham Road. A copy of the Appeal Decision is included
within this Report as Appendix 1.

7.

POLICIES
Uttlesford Local Plan (2005)
ULP Policy S7 – The Countryside
ULP Policy H9 – Affordable Housing
ULP Policy H10 – Housing Mix
ULP Policy H1- Housing Development
ULP Policy ENV3 – Trees and Open Spaces
ULP Policy GEN1 – Access
ULP Policy GEN2 – Design
ULP Policy GEN3 – Flood Risk
ULP Policy GEN4 – Good neighbourliness
ULP Policy GEN7 – Natural Conservation
ULP Policy GEN8 – Vehicle Parking Standards
ULP policy GEN6 – Infrastructure Provision to Support Development
ULP Policy ENV2- Development affecting Listed Buildings.
ULP Policy ENV10 –Noise Sensitive Development and Disturbance from Aircraft
ULP Policy ENV13 – Exposure to Poor Air Quality
Supplementary Planning Documents/Guidance
SPD – Accessible Homes and Playspace
National Policies
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (February 2019)
Other Material Considerations
National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG)
Essex Design Guide
ECC Parking Standards

3

Page 14

UDC Parking Standards

8.

PARISH COUNCIL COMMENTS

8.1

On the 19th November 2019, Gardener Planning Limited were instructed by
Henham, Ugley and Elsenham Parish Councils to assess and make substantive
representations in respect of this planning application.

8.2

A copy of these Representations is included within this Report as Appendix 2.

8.3

Further, and at the end of November 2019, Elsenham PC made the following further
observations:
These objections are supplementary to the technical representations already
submitted to Uttlesford District Council on behalf of the Joint Parish Councils of
Henham, Ugley and Elsenham by Gardner Planning.
The application site is divided in roughly equal parts between the parishes of
Henham and Ugley. However, the site borders the Elsenham boundary, and it is
generally acknowledged that the impact on the village of Elsenham would be
considerable.
1. Road access east of the site
It is estimated that 78.2% of traffic generated by the development would travel via
the route to the west of the site under the M11 bridge and through Ugley Green
(Environmental Statement, Transport Assessment, Figure 23, pdf p 159). The acute
shortcomings of this route have been demonstrated in the report by Railton TPC
Ltd (Report by Gardner Planning, Appendix 1, Section 3). The remainder of the
traffic would take the route to the east via Bedwell Road and New Road to the
junction at the railway level crossing. Almost all this traffic would turn right into
Station Road and again most of that traffic would turn left along the High Street and
leave the village via Hall Road.
There are acute difficulties with this route. The New Road / Station Road / Old Mead
Road junction is situated hard by the railway level crossing and is very difficult when
the crossing is closed, which is estimated to approach 50% of the time at peak
periods. Traffic from Station Road wanting to turn left into New Road takes
dangerously to the offside of Station Road in order to go round the traffic waiting
for the level crossing, causing conflict with traffic turning right out of New Road into
Station Road. Sometimes the waiting traffic leaves enough of a gap for traffic
turning into and out of New Road; sometimes it does not.
Parking is not mentioned in either Chapter 5, Transport, or Appendix 5.1, Transport
Assessment, of the Environmental Statement, yet it is crucial. There is considerable
parking in Station Road, in New Road, in Bedwell Road and on Ugley Green, and
it all makes for delays to traffic. Parking in Bedwell Road often makes for great
problems in forward visibility. There is much parking in Station Road, particularly in
the vicinity of the doctors’ surgery; the surgery car park is too small, leading to
excessive parking in the road, especially by the infirm who need to park close to
their destination.
The minority of the traffic accessing the site to the east would experience great
difficulties.

4

Page 15

2. Construction traffic access
It is stated by the applicants that ‘The contractor will be responsible for ensuring
that their traffic to and from the Site adheres to the routes agreed with the
Highway Authority’ (Environmental Statement, 5.6.2, bullet point 1). This easy
assumption that a plurality of routes is available belies the facts. It cannot be
emphasised too strongly that there is no suitable route for construction traffic to
the proposed site. The whole New Road / Bedwell Road / Snakes Lane / Pound
Lane route to the junction with the B1383 is subject to a 6’6” width restriction.
The route west of the site, a narrow lane with eight sharp bends before the
junction with the B1383, is wholly unsuitable for the purpose. The usual route
for construction traffic into Elsenham generally is via Hall Road, but the route
east of this site to Hall Road is also unsuitable, for the reasons summarised in
1. above.
The build-out time for the project is given as six years (Socio-Economic
Sustainability Statement, Executive Summary, 3.3.3, 3.3.5), or possibly as
much as eight years (Environmental Statement, Non-technical Summary,
2.2.5). The number of anticipated construction vehicle movements could no
doubt be estimated by the applicants but has not been found in the application.
Despite the protestations of the applicants, not all these vehicles will keep to
the prescribed route - individual drivers will explore the route over Ugley Green
and the route via Grove Hill through Stansted Mountfitchet, adding to the
problems on these routes.
3. Wider road network
Increased traffic from and to the site, if built, would inevitably have an impact
on existing traffic regardless of the route. It is known that the route via Station
Road, New Road and Ugley Green is used to an appreciable extent from
Elsenham as an alternative to the difficulties of the main access route via Grove
Hill, Lower Street and Chapel Hill, Stansted Mountfitchet. Increased traffic on
the alternative route would mean that some drivers would revert to the Grove
Hill alternative; the application if granted would thus have an impact on the
whole of the already overloaded and inadequate local road network.
Elsenham has the worst road access of any of Uttlesford’s ‘key villages’, and
yet it is expected to bear a level of development which is unprecedented
elsewhere. At the time of writing, no submission has been made by Essex
Highways concerning this application. Elsenham Parish Council reserves the
right to comment further should such a representation be made.
4. Housing commitments in Elsenham from 2011
A summary is given in the table below of all the major housing developments
which have received full or detailed approved in Elsenham over the period of
the new Local Plan since 2011.




5

UTT/2166/11/DFO 15 Aug 2012 Orchard Crescent 53 dwellings
Complete
UTT/12/6116/FUL 7 Feb 2014 (appeal) Old Goods Yard 10 dwellings
Complete
UTT/13/2917/FUL 23 July 2014 Hailes Wood 32 dwellings Complete
UTT/15/1121/FUL 9 Dec 2015 Hailes Wood, additional 3 dwellings
Complete

Page 16







UTT/14/3279/DFO 1 May 2015 North of Stansted Road 155 dwellings
Complete
UTT/15/2632/DFO 5 Feb 2016 South of Stansted Road 165 dwellings
Complete
UTT/17/0335/DFO 6 July 2017 Elsenham Nurseries 42 dwellings 30
occupied
UTT/17/2542/DFO 22 Dec 2017 North of Leigh Drive 20 dwellings
Complete
UTT/19/0462/FUL 6 Nov 2019 West of Hall Road 130 dwellings
Planning Committee approval 6 Nov 2019
TOTAL Dwellings 610

The Regulation 19 Local Plan, 3.67, shows Total Dwellings 2011-2033 for Elsenham
as 650. The total as above is 610. The difference of 40 is accounted for by
UTT/19/0437/OP, 40 dwellings south of Rush Lane, Elsenham, which was refused
by UDC Planning Committee, 6 November 2019.
UDC’s total of 650 includes only projects of 10 dwellings and more. The running
total maintained by the Parish Council shows a further 36 dwellings approved in
small schemes since 2011. The total committed to date since 2011 is therefore 610
+ 36 = 646.
The number of households in Elsenham is shown in the 2011 census as 980. The
percentage increase since 2011 is thus 66%.
If this application was granted, the total increase since 2011 would be 646 + 220 =
866, which would represent a total increase since 2011 of 88%.
The screening opinion for the proposal for development on this site found that the
cumulative impact of other developments, including those undetermined, should be
included (UTT/19/1021, Officer Response - Screening Notice, 24 May 2019). Other
major applications which have been submitted but are unresolved at the time of
writing are: UTT/17/3573, up to 350 dwellings on land to the north-west of Henham
Road, Elsenham; UTT/19/2470, 99 dwellings to the west of Isabel Drive, Elsenham.
If the present application is granted, it will become difficult to justify refusing these
further applications. If they were approved in addition to the present application, the
total number in Elsenham from 2011 would then be 866 + 350 + 99 = 1,315, a total
increase since 2011 of 134%.
The applicants note that:
The population in Uttlesford local authority increased by 21.4% between
1991 and 2011 (Census data). It is expected to increase by a further 37.5%
by 2039, according to the 2014- based sub-national population projections
for England – as updated in August 2016 (Socio-Economic Sustainability
Statement, 2.2.2).
On this basis, the increase in Elsenham in 2019 already seen is way beyond that
projected for Uttlesford by 2039. The increase in Uttlesford as a whole from 2011 is
projected at 37.5% by 2039; the approved increase in Elsenham twenty years earlier
in 2019 is 66%. There can be no justification for permitting this application and
allowing an increase of 88%.
The Parish Council maintains that development already committed in the village is
wholly disproportionate, that amenities in the village have not kept pace with the
6

Page 17

rapid expansion which has taken place, and that road traffic access routes are
already beyond capacity.
5. Site capacity
The application is for ‘up to’ 220 dwellings. There is a lack of detail as to how this
total might be accommodated on the site. It is understood that the application is for
outline approval, with matters such as layout reserved. Nevertheless, the Parish
Council holds that the applicants must be expected to include an example of a
detailed layout. If outline planning agreement is granted, the site will be marketed
for sale to a developer (Foul Drainage Analysis, C.1, first bullet point). The danger
is that it would be insisted at the detailed application stage that approval had been
given for 220 dwellings, and the green space would be reduced as a result.
An indicative layout plan is mentioned in the Planning Statement, 3.3.20. Possibly
the reference is to one of the plans in the Design and Access Statement, pp 36, 38,
40. But these plans do not give sufficient detail. The Noise Impact Statement, 1.1.3,
refers to ‘a proving layout . . . provided by GDL which shows one way in which
houses could be laid out on the site, to meet external guideline noise levels in
gardens of proposed dwellings’; there is a reference to an ‘indicative site layout’ at
5.1.2, and later, 7.1.8, there is a reference to ‘an indicative layout shown on Drawing
GM10408-002’. This drawing has not been located.
There are grounds for supposing that the applicant’s assumptions as to the capacity
of the site are mistaken. A projected breakdown of the housing mix is given in the
Socio-Economic Sustainability Statement, 3.2.1. There is nothing here to show that
bungalows have been included, even to the modest extent prescribed by UDC,
which the Parish Council holds to be inadequate for meeting local need. The Design
and Access Statement, 5.8, mentions Essex County Council’s Parking Standards,
but not the more rigorous demands of Uttlesford Local Residential Parking
Standards February 2013. There is no statement which has been traced in the
application as to the size of gardens.
Each carriageway of the M11 motorway is three lanes wide up to Junction 8, south
of the site, and two lanes wide north of Junction 8, including the section to the west
of the application site. On 9 July 2003, the Secretary of State for Transport
announced that the Highways Agency would be going ahead with a scheme to
widen the M11 to three lanes on each carriageway from Junction 8 to Junction 14.
The project was cancelled later. The proposal to widen the motorway should be
known to the applicants, since there is a reference to an archaeological report in
1995 associated with an anticipated widening programme (Heritage Statement,
4.5). The motorway north of Junction 8 is subject to serious congestion, not least on
account of the excess of new house building in the area. There can be little doubt
that it will be widened at some time during the reasonable lifetime of any dwellings
which might be built as a result of this application. Such a widening would
compromise the access to the site, which is adjacent to the motorway. It would also
result in an extension eastwards of motorway noise, with implications for the location
of houses on the site.
If the application is to be considered, the applicants must show that the site can
comfortably accommodate 220 dwellings with due regard for housing mix, parking,
gardens and motorway widening.

7

Page 18

6. Surface water disposal
The application includes the startling proposal that the existing ditches should be
filled in and replaced by swales and ditches on the western and eastern sides of the
site, to connect at the north of the site to an existing outfall. But there is much doubt
about this outfall. It is shown in Phase 1 Geoenvironmental Assessment, 2.5.4,
2.5.5, Appendix 1B that there is great uncertainty as to whether it heads east
towards the railway or north to the east of a wooded area.
The Flood Risk Analysis finds as follows:
Surface water flooding sporadically in the area and associated with the
various ditch and watercourse systems with an area of risk extending along
the full length of the eastern boundary of the site with the railway (3.1.2.1).
The existing ditch system within the site has been established for centuries. The
ditch which bisects the site north / south forms the parish boundary between
Henham and Ugley. There can be no doubt that the ditch preceded the fixing of the
boundary. The Henham section of the site is now physically separated from the rest
of the parish by the railway. The boundary therefore pre-dates the building of the
railway, probably in the 1840s. The ditch pre-dates the boundary, and the boundary
pre-dates the railway. The ditch is shown on the 1839 tithe map of Ugley parish
(Heritage Statement, 4.15, Plate 1).
The present system is stable, but apparently it is not clear why in that the outfall is
uncertain. The development proposal would result in more surface water disposal,
since a large area would no longer be available for permeation of rainfall through
the ground. The proposal to fill in the ditches and replace with swales and ditches
carrying a greater volume of water to an unknown destination is fraught with difficulty
and uncertainty.
Filling in the ditches would also involve the removal of some lengths of wellestablished hedges.
7. Noise
The site is bounded by the M11 motorway to the west and the main-line railway to
the east. The noise was monitored in January 2019, with these results:
Road Traffic Noise: Noise from constant road traffic on the M11 was audible
across the proposed development site during the daytime and night-time
periods.
Rail Noise: Noise from train movements on the railway line was intermittent
throughout the site during daytime and night-time periods, and it was
dominant during each train-pass.
Birdsong: Birdsong was audible at both monitoring locations.
Other: Occasional distant aircraft noise was audible throughout the site
(Noise Impact Statement, 3.1.11).
As noted in 5. above, it has not proved possible to locate the site layout which was
used in the noise assessment. It is claimed that:

8

Page 19

the majority of garden areas will meet the guideline noise level of 55dB LAeq
when the gardens of proposed dwellings are located on the screened side
of dwellings facing away from the main sources of noise (Noise Impact
Statement, Executive Summary).
A minority of 220 dwellings could be a sizeable number of gardens with excessive.
noise. There is nothing to explain how dwellings in the centre of the site could be
screened from motorway noise from the west and railway noise from the east.
As for internal noise:
Internal noise guideline levels will be met in most dwellings across the site,
even with windows open for ventilation (Noise Impact Statement, Executive
Summary).
Again, ‘most’ could leave a large number not included. A series of possible solutions
are described, including, unconvincingly,
noise sensitive rooms could be located on the screened side of the proposed
buildings facing away from the noise source (Noise Impact Statement,
Executive Summary).
In reaching the results, some questionable procedures have been used. The
individual levels have been averaged and rounded to give single daytime and
night-time levels for each location (Noise Impact Statement, 3.2.1). It is assumed.
that noise from the motorway diminishes with distance, which is no doubt true over
a long distance. But the motorway here is on an embankment and simply walking
around the site suggests that the noise does not reduce appreciably over a
significant distance from the source. That the site is noisy cannot be contested. If
noise levels on this site are satisfactory, then any site is satisfactory.
8. Community Involvement
On 26 June 2109, Gladman Developments Limited wrote to Elsenham Parish
Council to the effect that Gladman wished to meet representatives of the Parish
Council in a closed forum to discuss the proposals. The Parish Council replied that
all its meetings are open to members of the public, but Gladman was unwilling to
proceed on that basis.
If such a meeting had been held, the Parish Council would have explained that the
housing mix in the recent spate of new building had been unbalanced, leaving some
demand, such as for market bungalows and ground-floor only accommodation,
unfulfilled. The projected breakdown given in the Socio-Economic Sustainability
Statement, 3.2.1 includes nothing smaller than a three-bedroom property for
market sale, and nothing larger than three-bedroom provision for affordable
purposes. This mix does not equate to demand in the village as perceived by
the Parish Council.
It would also have been explained at a meeting that the wholly disproportionate
amount of new house building which has occurred in the village in recent years has
not been complemented by a concomitant improvement in amenities. It would have
been pointed out that the village has unfulfilled needs, such as:
•

9

A cemetery. There are but four spaces remaining in the village cemetery.
Undoubtedly demand for cemetery space will grow in keeping with the

Page 20

increased size of the village.
•

Employment. There is nowhere near sufficient local employment
opportunities and the resultant need to travel outside the village is a
leading reason for the road congestion which is itself a leading reason why
further housing development is unsustainable.
• Shops. There is a small general store and three other outlets in the centre
of the village and another outlet functioning mostly as a small cafe next to
the station. The increased population in the village could support more
shopping amenities.


Sporting facilities. The demand on the playing field in the centre of the
village is such that ancillary provision is now an urgent requirement.



Public meeting rooms. Those rooms which are available are normally
booked solidly, such that one-off bookings are difficult to arrange.

The site is virtually flat, and suitable for all the above purposes. The Parish Council
would have been pleased to hold discussion with Gladman, perhaps with a view to
part of the site being available for public benefit as above and part for housing,
thereby maintaining the ancient division of the site by ditches into four unequal parts.
It is regretted that the opportunity was lost, and that the Parish Council is now
obliged to offer unqualified opposition to the application.
Summary
The Report by Gardner Planning includes a summary of those policies and
provisions which are breached by the application (6.36). It is shown above that the
difficulties in road access to the east of the site have implications for access by
construction traffic and for the road network more widely. The existing housing
commitments in Elsenham are such that further expansion would not be viable.
There are questions as to surface water disposal and noise. The Parish Council
would have been prepared to discuss with Gladman suggestions for the
development of the site consistent with local need, but the present proposals are
wholly objectionable.
Further, in March 2020, Gardner Planning wrote on behalf of Henham and Ugly
Parish wrote with regards to new Air Quality material submitted by the applicant.
Finally, Elsenham Parish Council further supplementary objections advising that
these objections are supplementary to the technical representations already
submitted to Uttlesford District Council on behalf of the Joint Parish Councils of
Henham, Ugley and Elsenham by Gardner Planning, 19 November 2019, and
Elsenham Parish Council’s supplementary objections, 28 November 2019.
Elsenham Parish Council should also be associated with the letter dated 16 March
2020 concerning air quality from Gardner Planning.
The application site is divided in roughly equal parts between the parishes of
Henham and Ugley. However, the site borders the Elsenham boundary, and it is
generally acknowledged that the impact on the village of Elsenham would be
considerable.
It is noted that a Revised Environmental Statement - Chapter 6: Air Quality, together
with Appendices 6.1 to 6.4, has been submitted, 5 March 2020, following the
10

Page 21

recommendation to refuse the application on air quality grounds in the report by Ann
Lee-Moore, Environmental Health Officer, dated 10 December 2019. The report
includes the following statement:
With regard to exposure to new receptors within the development, saved
Policy ENV13 Exposure to poor air quality precludes introduction of sensitive
receptors within a zone 100m either side of the central reservation of the
M11. On the outline layout, dwellings are shown within this zone.
Policy ENV13 states that:
Development that would involve users being exposed on an extended longterm basis to poor air quality outdoors near ground level will not be permitted.
A zone 100 metres on either side of the central reservation of the M11 and
a zone 35 metres either side of the centre of the new A120 have been
identified on the proposals map as particular areas to which this policy
applies.
As far as can be discerned, the objection that the proposal is in breach of policy
ENV13 has not been addressed by the applicants. Uttlesford District Council’s online Constraints Map clearly shows that a significant part of the site lies within the
poor air quality zone as defined in Policy ENV13. Screen shots taken from the
Constraints Map are appended, together with an illustrative layout of the site from
the Design and Access Statement. It is very clear that the access, close to the
motorway bridge would be within the zone of poor air quality. Both the LEAP to the
west of the site and the LEAP to the north would be within the zone, exposing
children to the risks associated with poor air quality. The quality of the layout plan
is poor and it is not very easy to determine plot layouts; however, it is estimated
that upwards of 40 dwellings would be within the zone.
In the view of Elsenham Parish Council, the clear breach of policy ENV13 is in itself
sufficient for refusal of the application.
Stansted Parish Council
Whilst not a Stansted development, this Parish Council objects to the proposed
development. Our comments relating to the impact of traffic upon Grove Hill,
education and flooding were made under the previous application and remain valid.
We disagree entirely with Highways England who consider that this will have no
negative impact upon the strategic highway network - how could the traffic from this
development - including the position of the access on a bend with no clear sightlines due to the motorway bridge - not impact upon the local roads?
Finally, my members were horrified to see that the only pedestrian access to and
from the site involves use of an unmanned crossing over the railway line. We
consider this to be a dangerous proposal - the stretch of railway line north of
Stansted up to Cambridge has had the highest number of fatalities at unmanned
crossings. We were pleased to see that Essex Police have also flagged this and
have requested involvement in the process.

11

Page 22

Broxted Parish Council
Broxted Parish Council has the following objections to the above scheme:
1. Elsenham is a village surrounded by countryside and this is part of its character.
This character is already under pressure from recent housebuilding. Six hundred
houses have been permitted in less than 10 years, and there are applications
pending for the same number in addition. This application, if granted, will erode the
village's character and damage its surroundings.
2. The development is not appropriate for a rural area and involves building on a
green-field site.
3. Countryside is to be valued, in planning decisions, for its own sake as well as
being considered a resource/amenity - this development would lead to a significant
loss of countryside with all its intrinsic value.
4. Elsenham cannot sustain this amount of additional housing. It has inadequate
public transport, limited amenities and few roads. The roads onto which traffic from
this site would pass cannot support the increased traffic. They are residential streets
leading to narrow lanes and local issues.
include a level crossing which regularly causes congestion, two mini-roundabouts
in the centre of the village, and winding lanes used as "rat-runs" leading to a trunk
road a couple of miles away. There is no suitable access to sustainable methods of
travel so most journeys from the housing.
would be made by private car, resulting in worsening congestion. Walking distances
even to village amenities are significant - e.g., 2km to the local primary school.
5. The next nearest village, Henham, is smaller but likewise has experienced
significant housebuilding recently. Its roads are all narrow lanes and there is already
major congestion from parking at certain times of day. It has very limited amenities
and virtually no public transport
(lacking even the railway line which goes through Elsenham). It cannot cope with
the effect of a major housing estate so close, which will increase pressure on the
school, medical services (the only local GP surgery is ay Elsenham) and transport.
6. No consideration has been given to the pressure on services such as water
supply. Large estates built in the nearby village of Takeley experience frequent
problems with water pressure. The developer should satisfy the planning authority
that the same would not happen here.
7. The site is not suitable for housing as it is bounded by a motorway on one side
and a mainline railway line on the other - together these boundaries comprise about
two-thirds of the length of the perimeter of the site. The site will be noisy and
unpleasant to live in, with noise disturbance 24hours a day. The site is also near Stansted Airport and some disturbance, including
smell and air pollution, can be expected from that.
8. Overall, any benefits of providing housing are outweighed in the case of this
application by the damage it is likely to do.
We should be grateful if you would take the above into account.

12

Page 23

9.

CONSULTATIONS
Uttlesford DC Landscape Officer

9.1

The Landscape Masterplan together with the detailed planting plans are considered
satisfactory. Further, the UDC Landscape Officer advised that…I’m in broad
agreement with the findings of the LVIA prepared by the landscape consultants CSA
Environmental (dated May 2019). Whist there would be substantial change caused
by the proposed development on the existing character of the application site, the
effect on the broader landscape would be limited and could be mitigated by a
scheme of appropriate landscaping. There are some existing trees on the
application which are of amenity value and these should be retained and protected
during the course of construction if planning approval is granted. The details of these
trees are included in CSA’s Arboricultural Impact Assessment (dated July 2019).
ECC Highways

9.2

Essex County Council as Local Highway Authority have advised the following:
This application was accompanied by a Transport Assessment which has been
reviewed by the highway authority in conjunction with a site visit and internal
consultations. The assessment of the application and Transport Assessment was
undertaken with reference to the National Planning Policy Framework 2019 and in
particular paragraphs 108 – 109, the following was considered: access and safety;
capacity; the opportunities for sustainable transport; and mitigation measures.
The applicant has submitted additional information which while it does not change
the fundamental issue of a single access for all modes of travel and the distances
that are over those recommended for walking to key facilities it does help to promote
sustainable transport modes in terms of cycling and passenger transport. So while
location of the site is such that access to key facilities, employment and leisure
opportunities is limited and for the majority of journeys the only practical option
would be the car it does provide some opportunities for alternative modes to be
taken up for some trips. The transport sustainability is one of elements that should
be taken into consideration by the Planning Authority when assessing the overall
sustainability and acceptability of the site.
The location of the site to the north of the village is such that the journey to Stansted
Mountfitchet quicker via the Pound Lane and the B1383 route than Stansted Road
and Grove Hill so the impact on this junction is likely to be limited. There will be an
impact to the west of the site on Pound Lane. This is estimated as an additional 21
trips eastbound and 62 westbound in the morning peak and 53 trips eastbound and
25 westbound in the evening peak hour. Although this is significant when compared
to the current number of trips it is not considered to be a severe impact as the vast
majority of road is of sufficient width to accommodate two vehicles passing and
some localised widening will take place where the road is narrower to mitigate the
impact. The table below shows the cumulative impact of the trips, it includes the
application UTT/20/2908 (Land South of Bedwell Road), while this is not committed
it is of relevance. The trips have had background growth added up to 2024 and trips
from committed development is shown.

13

Page 24

Current
Flows
AM
Eastbound 54
Westbound 50

PM
62
84

Committed
Flows
AM
8
5

PM
10
10

Bedwell
Road S
UTT/20/2908
AM
PM
5
12
14
5

Bedwell
Road N
UTT/19/226
AM
PM
21
53
62
25

Total
Flows
2024
AM PM
88
137
131 124

A contribution to the bus service and bus infrastructure is being sought to improve
the bus service between Elsenham, Stansted Mountfitchet, Stansted Airport and
Bishops Stortford. This is part of the developing strategy for Elsenham to improve
the service to half hourly and extend morning and evening services. There is the
opportunity to extend the service along Bedwell Road down the B1383 to Stansted
Mountfitchet, a possible variant of the current service, providing Bedwell Road with
an hourly service (2 hourly on Sundays) and collectively providing the village with a
half hourly day time service. If this is taken forward a bus stop will be provided on
Bedwell Road to decrease walking distances, if not improvements including real
time passenger information will be provided at the station stops, these stops are
approximately a 12-minute walk from the centre of the proposed development.
In order to facilitate walking and cycling a contribution to mitigate the impact on the
footpath network has been sought and cycle parking is to be provided at the station
and the local shops. A travel plan is also to be provided with a co-ordinator and
which will have specific incentives for cycling and passenger transport.
Therefore, from a highway and transportation perspective the impact of the proposal
is acceptable to the Highway Authority subject to the following mitigation and
conditions:
1. No development shall take place, including any ground works or demolition, until
a Construction Management Plan has been submitted to, and approved in writing
by, the local planning authority. The approved plan shall be adhered to throughout
the construction period. The Plan shall provide for;
I. vehicle routing,
II. the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors,
III. loading and unloading of plant and materials,
IV. storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development,
V. wheel and underbody washing facilities.
VI. Before and after condition survey to identify defects to highway in the vicinity of
the access to the site and where necessary ensure repairs are undertaken at the
developer expense were caused by developer.
Reason: To ensure that on-street parking of these vehicles in the adjoining streets
does not occur and to ensure that loose materials and spoil are not
brought out onto the highway in the interests of highway safety and Policy DM 1 of
the Highway Authority’s Development Management Policies February 2011.
2. Access: Prior to occupation of the development, the access, shown in principle
on submitted drawing 17033-16-02 shall be provided, including 2 footways minimum
width 2m to link to the existing footways on Bedwell Road and a clear to ground
visibility splays with dimensions of 2.4 metres by 59 metres in both directions, as
measured from and along the nearside edge of the carriageway. Visibility splays to
be kept clear thereafter a Traffic regulation order to restrict parking shall be sought
as part of the access arrangement.
14

Page 25

Reason: To ensure that vehicles can enter and leave the highway in a controlled
manner in forward gear with adequate inter-visibility between vehicles using the
access and those in the existing public highway in the interest of highway safety in
accordance with policy DM1 of the Development Management Policies as adopted
as County Council Supplementary Guidance in February 2011.
3. Passenger Transport: Prior to first occupation the payment of a contribution of
£587,787 (index linked from the date of this recommendation) to support or enhance
a bus service to provide an improved service between Elsenham and Stansted
Mountfitchet, Bishops Stortford and the airport, improvements to include a half
hourly weekday service and extended morning and evening services and/or
sustainable transport infrastructure within the vicinity of the site and local amenities.
Reason: In the interests of reducing the need to travel by car and promoting
sustainable development and transport in accordance with policies DM9 of the
Highway Authority’s Development Management Policies, adopted as County
Council Supplementary Guidance in February 2011
4. Footpath contribution Prior to first occupation the payment of a contribution of
£40,700 (index linked from the date of this recommendation) to be paid to the
highway authority to carry out works to mitigate the impact of additional use of the
public right of way and pedestrian network and improve accessibility on foot or cycle
to and in the vicinity of the site (but not the within it). Works to include but not be
limited upgrading, resurfacing, drainage and signage of the network.
Reason: In the interests of reducing the need to travel by car and promoting
sustainable development and transport in accordance with policies DM9 and DM11
of the Highway Authority’s Development Management Policies, adopted as County
Council Supplementary Guidance in February 2011
5. Footpaths within the site: Prior to occupation of the development the
enhancement of the public right of ways 51/14 and 25/32 with appropriate widening
to allow cycleways, surfacing works, signing, and adoption within the proposed
layout.
Reason: In the interests of reducing the need to travel by car and promoting
sustainable development and transport in accordance with policies DM9 and DM11
of the Highway Authority’s Development Management Policies, adopted as County
Council Supplementary Guidance in February 2011
6. Cycle Parking: Prior to first occupation provision of cycle parking facilities at the
station a minimum of 5 secure covered spaces close to the station and a minimum
of 2 Sheffield Stands at local shopping area, facilities to be situated on highway land
details to be approved by the highway authority.
Reason: In the interests of reducing the need to travel by car and promoting
sustainable development and transport in accordance with policies DM9 and DM10
of the Highway Authority’s Development Management Policies, adopted as County
Council Supplementary Guidance in February 2011
7. Road widening Prior to commencement a technically approved scheme for the
provision of laybys/widening on Bedwell Road/Snakes Lane/Pound Lane in the area
indicated on drawing number 17033-16-10 to be submitted to the planning authority
for approval, the approved scheme to be implemented prior to first occupation.

15

Page 26

Reason: In the interest of highway capacity and safety in accordance with policy
DM1 of the Development Management Policies as adopted as County Council
Supplementary Guidance in February 2011.
8. Travel Plan: Prior to first occupation of the proposed development, the Developer
shall submit a residential travel plan to the Local Planning Authority for approval in
consultation with Essex County Council. The plan shall include specific costed
cycling incentives such as bike vouchers/training/promotion together with fund of a
minimum of £200 per household to pay for these initiatives. Such approved travel
plan shall then be actively implemented by a travel plan co-ordinator for a minimum
period from first occupation of the development until 1 year after final occupation. It
shall be accompanied by an annual monitoring fee of £1500 (index linked), to be
paid to Essex County Council.
Reason: In the interests of reducing the need to travel by car and promoting
sustainable development and transport in accordance with policies DM9 and DM10
of the Highway Authority’s Development Management Policies, adopted as County
Council Supplementary Guidance in February 2011
9. Travel Packs: Prior to occupation of the proposed development, the Developer
shall be responsible for the provision and implementation of a Residential Travel
Information Pack per dwelling, for sustainable transport, approved by Essex County
Council, to include six one day travel vouchers for use with the relevant local public
transport operator.
The above conditions are required to ensure that the development accords with the
Highway Authority’s Development Management Policies, adopted as County
Council Supplementary Guidance in February 2011 and Uttlesford Local Plan Policy
GEN1.
ECC Ecology
9.3

We have reviewed the revised Ecological Impact Assessment (CSA Environmental,
updated December 2019), Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (CSA Environmental,
June 2019), provided by the applicant, relating to the likely impacts of development
on designated sites, protected & Priority species and habitats.
The revised Ecological Impact Assessment (CSA Environmental, updated
December 2019) advises a detailed aerial tree inspection was carried out on 5th
December 2019 on the English Oak Tree ‘T1'. This tree is due to be felled to make
way for access to the proposed development. One feature, within a branch on the
north-eastern elevation, was recorded as providing ‘High’ bat roost potential but no
evidence of bat use was found.
Therefore, the revised Ecological Impact Assessment recommends ‘Prior to
commencement of any felling or pruning works to tree T1 update surveys will be
carried out to confirm the continued absence or newly established presence of
roosting bats. This could be satisfactorily achieved by way of an update full aerial
inspection no more than 5 days prior to planned felling date or following three
emergence/re-entry surveys between May and August. In the event roosting bats
are subsequently confirmed, appropriate mitigation measures and safeguards will
be secured by way of legal obligation through a Natural England Mitigation Licence
for European Species’.

16

Page 27

The updated surveys prior to felling should be secured, in order to provide certainty
on the impacts on bats, from the felling of Tree ‘T1'. However, we recommend that
an updated full aerial inspection prior to felling should take place on the day of felling
as it can be extremely difficult to demonstrate absence for highly mobile animals
such as bats. Alternatively, three emergence/re-entry surveys should be undertaken
and confirm no evidence of bats.
In addition, the revised Ecological Impact Assessment (CSA Environmental,
updated December 2019) has advised ‘that a sensitive external lighting scheme will
be developed at the detailed application stage in consultation with a bat ecologist to
avoid and minimise light spill onto existing and created habitats suitable for bats.
This will be developed and used for both the construction and post construction
phases. The lighting scheme will give due consideration to the Bat Conservation
Trust Guidance Note 08/18 to ensure appropriateness of lighting specification and
design’. As per our previous comments on 21 November 2019, this must include the
creation of dark corridors suitable for the highly light-averse species (Brown longeared, some Myotis and Barbastelles) identified in the remote monitoring surveys
and be clearly shown on any masterplan. A wildlife sensitive lighting design scheme
should therefore be secured as a condition of any consent.
We are therefore satisfied that sufficient ecological information is currently available
for determination.
This provides certainty for the LPA of the likely impacts on protected and Priority
species and habitats and, with appropriate mitigation measures secured, the
development can be made acceptable.
This includes the creation of approximately 6ha of open space designed to offer
high quality semi-natural habitats, promotion of responsible recreational use of the
nearby Alsa Woods Local Wildlife Site through provision of interpretation board and
information leaflets, compensatory hedgerow planting with native species in addition
to supplementary planting to strengthen existing and retained hedgerows, planting
of a number of native trees to compensate for the loss of trees (mature oak tree(T1)
and a semi-mature goat willow, creation of new swales and ditches (planted with
dense reedbeds to create complex habitat structures of interest to wildlife) in order
to mitigate for the loss of loss of pond P1 and the majority of the existing ditch
network, accordance with BS5837:2012 to avoid impact to off-site woodland and
on-site hedgerows, standard best practice construction phase pollution prevention
and control measures, a bat sensitive external lighting scheme developed for both
the construction and postconstruction phases, prior to commencement of any felling
or pruning works to tree T1 update surveys will be carried - either by an updated full
aerial inspection on the day of felling or alternatively once three emergence/re-entry
surveys have been undertaken and confirmed no evidence of bats, due diligence
for badgers and nesting birds, reptile mitigation strategy, and bird strike risk
evaluation and avoidance strategy. Therefore, it is recommended that a
Construction Environment Management Plan (CEMP) and a wildlife sensitive
lighting scheme should be submitted as separate conditions of any consent.
We note that this application is situated within the Impact Risk Zone for Hatfield
Forest Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI)/National Nature Reserve (NNR), as
shown on MAGIC map (www.magic.gov.uk). Therefore, Natural England’s revised
interim advice to Uttlesford DC (ref: HatFor Strategic Interim LPA, 5 April 2019)
should be followed to ensure that impacts are minimised to this site from new
residential development. As this application contains more than 50 units, Natural
England have proposed that a financial contribution should be provided towards the
17

Page 28

delivery of off-site Strategic Access Management Measures (SAMMs) for Hatfield
Forest SSSI/NNR, which will need to be secured via legal agreement. In addition,
as this application actually contains more than 100 units, the development must
contain adequate Accessible Natural Greenspace (ANG) within the redline
boundary.
We support the reasonable biodiversity enhancements, which have been outlined
within the revised Ecological Impact Assessment (CSA Environmental, updated
December 2019). This includes incorporating plant species of known wildlife value
within a landscaping scheme including night-scented varieties to benefit Bats,
provision of at least 22 bat boxes and 22 bird nesting boxes incorporated within new
buildings which face onto green habitats, at least four log piles for wildlife benefit
sited within boundary vegetation, and the provision of hedgehog gaps across the
site. This will ensure measurable net gains for biodiversity, which will meet the
requirements of Paragraph 170d of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019.
This should be secured by a condition of any consent via a Biodiversity
Enhancement Strategy. We also recommend that the management of features
created as part of the landscaping scheme (including the new tree, hedgerow and
grassland planting) should be secured over a five-year period, via a Landscape and
Ecological Management Plan (LEMP). This will ensure appropriate establishment of
these biodiversity enhancements.
This will enable LPA to demonstrate its compliance with its statutory duties including
its biodiversity duty under s40 NERC Act 2006. Impacts will be minimised such that
the proposal is acceptable subject to the conditions below based on BS42020:2013.
Submission for approval and implementation of the details below should be a
condition of any planning consent.
Recommended Conditions:
1. ACTION REQUIRED IN ACCORDANCE WITH ECOLOGICAL APPRAISAL
RECOMMENDATIONS
“All mitigation measures and/or works shall be carried out in accordance with the
details contained in the revised Ecological Impact Assessment (CSA Environmental,
updated December 2019), as already submitted with the planning application and
agreed in principle with the local planning authority prior to determination.
This includes the creation of approximately 6ha of open space designed to offer
high quality semi-natural habitats, promotion of responsible recreational use of the
nearby Alsa Woods Local Wildlife Site through provision of interpretation board and
information leaflets, compensatory hedgerow planting with native species in addition
to supplementary planting to strengthen existing and retained hedgerows, planting
of a number of native trees to compensate for the loss of trees (mature oak tree (T1)
and a semi-mature goat willow, creation of new swales and ditches (planted with
dense reedbeds to create complex habitat structures of interest to wildlife) in order
to
mitigate for the loss of loss of pond P1 and the majority of the existing ditch network,
accordance with BS5837:2012 to avoid impact to off-site woodland and on-site
hedgerows, standard best practice construction phase pollution prevention and
control measures, a bat sensitive external lighting scheme developed for both the
construction and postconstruction phases, prior to commencement of any felling or
pruning works to tree T1 update surveys will be carried - either by an updated full
aerial inspection on the day of felling or alternatively once three emergence/reentry surveys have been undertaken and confirmed no evidence of bats, due

18

Page 29

diligence for badgers and nesting birds, reptile mitigation strategy, and bird strike
risk evaluation and avoidance strategy.’
Reason: To conserve Protected and Priority species and allow the LPA to discharge
its duties under the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 and s40 of the NERC Act 2006
(Priority habitats & species).
2. CONCURRENT WITH RESERVED MATTERS:
ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT PLAN (BIODIVERSITY)

CONSTRUCTION

A construction environmental management plan (CEMP: Biodiversity) shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
The CEMP (Biodiversity) shall include the following.
a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities.
b) Identification of “biodiversity protection zones”.
c) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working
practices) to avoid or reduce impacts during construction (may be provided as a set
of method statements).
d) The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity
features.
e) The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be
present on site to oversee works.
f) Responsible persons and lines of communication.
g) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works
(ECoW) or similarly competent person.
h) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs.
The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the
construction period strictly in accordance with the approved details, unless
otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority
Reason: To conserve Protected and Priority species and allow the LPA to discharge
its duties under the UK Habitats Regulations 2017, the Wildlife & Countryside Act
1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species).
3.
CONCURRENT
WITH
ENHANCEMENT STRATEGY

RESERVED

MATTERS:

BIODIVERSITY

“A Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy for Protected and Priority species shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
The content of the Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy shall include the following:
a) Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed enhancement
measures;
b) detailed designs to achieve stated objectives;
c) locations of proposed enhancement measures by appropriate maps and
plans;
d) timetable for implementation demonstrating that works are aligned with
the proposed phasing of development;
e) persons responsible for implementing the enhancement measures;
f) details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance (where relevant).
The works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and shall
be retained in that manner thereafter.”
Reason: To enhance Protected and Priority Species/habitats and allow the LPA to
discharge its duties under the s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats &
species).
19

Page 30

4. PRIOR TO OCCUPATION: WILDLIFE SENSITIVE LIGHTING DESIGN
SCHEME
A lighting design scheme for biodiversity shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority. The scheme shall identify those features on
site that are particularly sensitive for bats and that are likely to cause disturbance
along important routes used for foraging; and show how and where external lighting
will be installed (through the provision of appropriate technical specification) so that
it can be clearly demonstrated that areas to be lit will not disturb or prevent bats
using their territory.
All external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the specifications and
locations set out in the scheme and maintained thereafter in accordance with the
scheme. Under no circumstances should any other external lighting be installed
without prior consent from the local planning authority.
Reason: To allow the LPA to discharge its duties under the UK Habitats Regulations
2017, the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act
2006 (Priority habitats & species)
5. PRIOR TO OCCUPATION: LANDSCAPE AND ECOLOGICAL MANAGEMENT
PLAN
“A Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) shall be submitted to, and
be approved in writing by, the local planning authority prior occupation of the
development.
The content of the LEMP shall include the following:
a) Description and evaluation of features to be managed.
b) Ecological trends and constraints on site that might influence
management.
c) Aims and objectives of management.
d) Appropriate management options for achieving aims and objectives.
e) Prescriptions for management actions.
f) Preparation of a work schedule (including an annual work plan capable of
being rolled forward over a five-year period).
g) Details of the body or organisation responsible for implementation of the
plan.
h) Ongoing monitoring and remedial measures.
The LEMP shall also include details of the legal and funding mechanism(s) by which
the long-term implementation of the plan will be secured by the developer with the
management body(ies) responsible for its delivery. The plan shall also set out
(where the results from monitoring show that conservation aims and objectives of
the LEMP are not being met) how contingencies and/or remedial action will be
identified, agreed and implemented so that the development still delivers the fully
functioning biodiversity objectives of the originally approved scheme. The approved
plan will be implemented in accordance with the approved details.”
Reason: To allow the LPA to discharge its duties under the UK Habitats Regulations
2017, the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act
2006 (Priority habitats & species)

20

Page 31

Essex Police Crime Prevention Officer
9.4

Whilst there are no apparent concerns with the layout however to comment further,
we would require the finer detail such as the proposed lighting, boundary treatments
and physical security measures.
We would however question the need for the footpath leading to what appears to
be an unmanned crossing of the railway line to Old Mead Road, whilst at present it
serves current needs with a development of this size there is a greater risk to those
crossing and from the railway it produces increased vulnerability to those properties
adjacent to the railway line.
We would welcome the opportunity to consult on this development to assist the
developer with their obligation under this policy and to assist with compliance of
Approved Document "Q" at the same time as achieving a Secured by Design award.
From experience pre-planning consultation is always preferable in order that
security, landscaping and lighting considerations for the benefit of the intended
residents and those neighbouring the development are agreed prior to a planning
application.
UK Power Network

9.5

Advised that should your excavation affect our Extra High Voltage equipment (6.6
KV, 22 KV, 33 KV or 132 KV), please contact us to obtain a copy of the primary
route drawings and associated cross sections.
Sport England

9.6

The proposed development does not fall within either our statutory remit (Statutory
Instrument 2015/595), or non-statutory remit.
If the proposal involves the provision of additional housing, then it will generate
additional demand for sport. If existing sports facilities do not have the capacity to
absorb the additional demand, then new and/or improved sports facilities should be
secured and delivered in accordance with any approved local policy for social
infrastructure, and priorities set out in any Playing Pitch Strategy or Built Sports
Facility Strategy that the local authority has in place.
In line with the Government’s NPPF (including Section 8) and PPG (Health and
wellbeing section), consideration should also be given to how any new
development, especially for new housing, will provide opportunities for people to
lead healthy lifestyles and create healthy communities.
Uttlesford District Council Housing Enabling Officer

9.7

21

The delivery of affordable housing is one of the Councils’ corporate priorities and
will be negotiated on all sites for housing. The Councils policy requires 40% on all
schemes over 0.5 ha or 15 or more units.

Page 32

The affordable housing provision on this site will attract the 40% policy requirement
as the site is for 220 (net) units. This amounts to 88 affordable housing units and it
is expected that these properties will be delivered by one of the Council’s preferred
Registered Providers.
It is also the Councils’ policy to require 5% of the whole scheme to be delivered as
fully wheelchair accessible (building regulations, Part M, Category 3 homes) as well
as 5% of all units to be bungalows delivered as 1 and 2 bedroom units. This would
amount to 11 bungalows across the whole site delivered as 4 affordable units and
7 for open market.
The mix and tenure split of the properties are given below; this mix should be
indistinguishable from the market housing, in clusters of no more than 10 with good
integration within the scheme and be predominately houses with parking spaces.
Homes should meet the following standards: 1 bed property house 2 people, 2 bed
properties house 4 persons, 3 bed properties house 5 persons and 4 bed properties
house 6 persons.

Land
North
of
Bedwell
Road
UTT/19/2266/OP
1 bed
2 bed
3 bed
4 bed
Totals
Total affordable units
Affordable Rent
Shared Ownership

11
8
3

37
26
11

33
23
10

7
5
2

88
62
26

Lead Local Flood Authority position
9.8

As the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) this Council provides advice on SuDS
schemes for major developments. We have been statutory consultee on surface
water since the 15th April 2015.
In providing advice this Council looks to ensure sustainable drainage proposals
comply with the required standards as set out in the following documents:
• Non-statutory technical standards for sustainable drainage systems
• Essex County Council’s (ECC’s) adopted Sustainable Drainage Systems Design
Guide
• The CIRIA SuDS Manual (C753)
• BS8582 Code of practice for surface water management for development sites.
Having reviewed the Flood Risk Assessment and the associated documents which
accompanied the planning application, we do not object to the granting of planning
permission subject to conditions.
NATS Safeguarding

9.9

22

The proposed development has been examined from a technical safeguarding
aspect and does not conflict with our safeguarding criteria. Accordingly, NATS (En
Route) Public Limited Company ("NERL") has no safeguarding objection to the
proposal.

Page 33

Network Rail
9.10

I am writing to provide you with Network Rail’s comments regarding the above
planning application. Network Rails Asset Protection, Level Crossing and Liabilities
Teams have raised concerns regarding the possible impact of the proposed
development. Please see below two areas of concern.
Elsenham Emergency Hut Level Crossing
This is a passive level crossing where public footpath 32 in the parish of Henham
crosses the railway line. Because of non-compliance of the level crossing given the
speed of approaching trains and the time taken to cross the railway, it has been
closed under a Temporary Traffic Regulation Order since 2011. [Note this is not the
manned Elsenham Station level crossing, but a footpath crossing around 460m
north of the station level crossing.]
Given the size and proximity of the proposed development to Elsenham Emergency
Hut Level Crossing, Network Rail is concerned the proposal will increase the usage
of the level crossing (the temporary closure notwithstanding) thus increasing the
risk. As mentioned previously, Network Rail are actively seeking to reduce the risk
at level crossings, reduce the number and types of level crossings and subsequently
have applied for a new Transport and Works Act Order (TWAO) “Network Rail
(Essex and Others) Level Crossing Reduction Order 2019/2020”. If successful, the
TWAO will result in the closure of Elsenham Emergency Hut Level Crossing through
creation of a diversionary route.
Should the proposed “Network Rail (Essex and Others) Level Crossing Reduction
Order 2019/2020” be unsuccessful, it is not acceptable for Elsenham Emergency
Hut Level Crossing to remain open. The developer and council should devise a plan
to allow for the closure of the Elsenham Emergency Hut Level Crossing. Network
Rail would like to suggest a 3-phase approach:
1. Allow the TWAO to complete and cooperate with Network Rail in delivering the
alternative route so far as their land is affected.
2. If 1 fails, the applicant should apply to divert or extinguish the LC.
3. If 2 fails, we ask that the applicant contributes via s106 agreement to the building
a footbridge allowing for the level crossing to be closed.
As the crossing is currently temporarily closed, Network Rail request a condition is
attached to any planning permission to ensure the legal permanent closure of
Elsenham Emergency Hut Level Crossing is completed before any dwellings are
occupied.
Condition Example:
No dwelling hereby approved shall be occupied so long as of Elsenham Emergency
Hut Level Crossing remains open.

23

Page 34

Any dwelling may not be occupied until this rail crossing has been closed and a
footpath diversion has been provided or a bridge or other possible measures to be
agreed by the Council in writing are in place.

Proximity of proposed development to the operational railway
Due to the proximity of the proposed development to Network Rail land and the
presence of Overhead Line Equipment (OLE), Network Rail strongly recommends
the developer contacts AssetProtectionAnglia@networkrail.co.uk prior to any works
commencing on site, and also to agree an Asset Protection Agreement with us to
enable approval of detailed works. More information can also be obtained from our
websitehttps://www.networkrail.co.uk/running-the-railway/looking-after-therailway/asset-protection-and-optimisation/
Please see Appendix 1 for additional comments the applicant will be required to
comply with to ensure the safety of the operational railway. Network Rail are
committed to ensuring the railway is as safe as reasonably practicable and therefore
would like to discuss the above with the applicant and Uttlesford District Council.
Essex County Council Place Services Archaeological Advice
9.12

The Historic Environment Record shows that the proposed development lies within
a potentially sensitive area of heritage assets. Cropmark evidence to the west (and
east) of the proposed development identifies the potential for preserved
archaeological features. To the west, a trackway and potential enclosure are
located, and flint tools and medieval pottery were also found within this area during
the M11 widening. Archaeological excavations at Stansted Road identified various
features which were Roman and Medieval in date (EHER 48393). There is the
potential for further prehistoric evidence and Roman occupation to be identified
within the development area.
A recognised team of professionals should undertake the archaeological work. The
archaeological work would comprise a programme of archaeological evaluation of
all areas of ground disturbance to fully assess the surviving heritage assets on the
site and record them. This will facilitate discussions on further archaeological
investigation and alterations to designs to protect important archaeological deposits
in situ. The initial phase of work would comprise a trial trenching exercise. A brief
detailing the requirements of this work can be obtained from this office.
RECOMMENDATION: Archaeological Programme of Trial Trenching followed by
Open Area Excavation
1. No development or preliminary groundworks can commence until a programme
of archaeological trial trenching has been secured and undertaken in accordance
with a written scheme of investigation which has been submitted by the applicant,
and approved by the planning authority.
2. A mitigation strategy detailing the excavation/preservation strategy shall be
submitted to the local planning authority following the completion of this work and
before any reserved matters are agreed.
3. No development or preliminary groundworks can commence on those areas
containing archaeological deposits until the satisfactory completion of fieldwork, as
detailed in the mitigation strategy, and which has been signed off by the local
planning authority through its historic environment advisors.

24

Page 35

4. The applicant will submit to the local planning authority a post-excavation
assessment (to be submitted within three months of the
completion of fieldwork, unless otherwise agreed in advance with the Planning
Authority). This will result in the completion of post-excavation analysis, preparation
of a full site archive and report ready for deposition at the local museum, and
submission of a publication report.
Highways England
9.13

After looking at the details and information provided, we find that, although the
location of the proposed development is next to the M11, it is also remote from any
junctions or access to the M11. As such it is unlikely to have a severe impact upon
the Strategic Road Network.
Consequently, we offer no comment.
Additionally, we would recommend consultation regarding this planning application
with local authority highways, with particular attention brought to;
1. The nature of the road (Bedwell Lane) where vehicular access is to be
gained.
2. The possibility that the existing M11 overbridge could limit/obstruct the
view of traffic exiting the proposed development onto Bedwell lane.
3. What infrastructure will be put in place along Bedwell Lane to allow cyclist
and pedestrian travel, safely, to Elsenham train station.

Aerodrome Safeguarding
9.14

The proposed development has been examined for aerodrome safeguarding, this
proposal does not conflict with any safeguarding criteria. Accordingly, Stansted
Airport has no safeguarding objections to the proposal.
Natural England

9.15

We consider that without appropriate mitigation the application has potential to
damage or destroy the interest features for which Hatfield Forest Site of Special
Scientific Interest (SSSI) and National Nature Reserve (NNR) has been notified.
Natural England is working alongside the National Trust in carrying out research into
visitor patterns, impacts and mitigation measures to Hatfield Forest SSSI/NNR. To
date, this work has included winter and summer visitor surveys and identified a Zone
of Influence (ZoI) of 14.6km which has been shared with your authority with the view
of establishing a strategic solution for visitor impacts to the Forest.
On this basis, this application falls within the currently identified ZoI for recreational
impacts to Hatfield Forest SSSI, NNR, whereby new housing within this zone is
predicted to generate impacts and therefore will be expected to contribute towards
mitigation measures, such as a financial contribution.
Whilst we are working towards a strategic solution, Natural England advises that for
the purposes of addressing the interim situation, a bespoke mitigation package

25

Page 36

should be sought for this application, which we suggest is designed in consultation
with the National Trust as site managers.
In the absence of a strategic solution, Natural England would not want to see any
permissions granted that would create a precedent of acceptability for additional
housing developments close to Hatfield Forest SSSI, NNR. As these mitigations
are in the process of being defined in a ‘mitigation package’, we cannot comment
further at this stage of the particulars of a future mitigation strategy.
In order to mitigate these adverse effects and make the development acceptable,
the following mitigation measures are required / or the following mitigation options
should be secured.
National Trust
9.16

The proposed development is approximately 5.8km from the SSSI, National Nature
Reserve areas and ancient woodland of Hatfield Forest which extends over 424
hectares, including Wall Wood and Woodside Green. The area has been owned
and managed by the National Trust since 1924.Of greatest significance is that
Hatfield Forest is the finest surviving example of a small Medieval Royal Hunting
Forest. The Forest's ecological and historic importance is reflected in its
designations - for its considerable ecological significance and especially for its
veteran trees and old growth woodland on undisturbed soils.
The forest is experiencing rapid and unsustainable growth in visitor numbers which
is putting it under considerable pressure and there are signs that the SSSI, NNR
and other designated/protected features there are being damaged. In order to
advance its understanding of these issues as well as an understanding of visitor
numbers, origin and behaviour when visiting the Forest, the Trust, with support from
Natural England (NE), commissioned consultants Footprint Ecology to undertake
visitor surveys and prepare an impact management report to help build a practical
strategy for the Forest going forward. This established a 'Zone of Influence' (ZOI),
within which this site falls. A copy of this report (the Hatfield Forest 'Visitor Survey
and Impact Management Report 2018') has been sent to Uttlesford District Council.
Natural England also wrote to your planning department in April and September
2019 to alert you to this evidence and advise that where relevant, planning decisions
are informed by this.
The Footprint Ecology report describes the issues arising from recreational pressure
in more detail and recommends the development of a strategy to mitigate these
impacts in order that new development can meet planning policy requirements
(including NPPF para.170-175). There are also duties on LPA's under section
28G(2) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 to take reasonable steps as part of
the authority's functions to further the conservation and enhancement of SSSI's.
Furthermore, there is a specific obligation on an authority under section 28I where
it is proposing to permit an operation likely to damage a SSSI, to give Natural
England prior notice.
Having regard to the evidence and in accordance with the above requirements it is
considered that the impacts of the development on Hatfield Forest should be
addressed. New housing development within the ZOI will contribute further (both
individually and cumulatively) towards recreational pressure on the Forest. Whilst it
is acknowledged that this was not an issue when the current Local Plan was adopted
and that the draft new local plan has recently been withdrawn from examination,
there is nonetheless evidence now available which identifies an issue at a SSSI

26

Page 37

which Natural England has identified as warranting mitigation. This evidence formed
part of discussions with the LPA, Natural England and the Planning Inspectorate as
part of the Local Plan process. The Post Stage 1 Hearings letter from PINS to the
LPA (dated 10th January 2020 acknowledged that the Inspector's shared the
concerns raised by NE about a lack of mitigation measures to address recreational
impacts of new housing development on Hatfield Forest and stated that the matter
needed resolving. Although the submission Local Plan was withdrawn, the issue
remains and on the advice of Natural England a bespoke solution should be sought
on a case-by-case basis in the absence of an up to date Plan.
Based on recommendations set out in the 'Visitor Survey and Impact Management
Report', and as referred to in Natural England's letter, the National Trust, in
consultation with Natural England, has prepared a costed Mitigation Strategy. This
includes a costed package of mitigation measures.
For the proposed development we consider the following mitigation would be
appropriate:
On-Site Mitigation
On-site measures which would help relieve the pressure on Hatfield Forest should
be provided.
These should take the form of:
- High-quality, informal, semi-natural areas, to be provided prior to first occupation
of the dwellings
(including a dog walking circuit and dogs off lead area);
- Any other on-site mitigation as advised by Natural England.
However, this alone would not mitigate the impacts of increased recreational
pressure on Hatfield Forest arising from the development. Hatfield Forest offers
other visitor experiences which could not be replicated on a new site. It is used for
a range of recreational activities including jogging, cycling, wildlife watching, family
outings and photography. It also includes visitor infrastructure such as a café, toilet,
shop and education building. This makes it vulnerable to current and future demand.
Even if on-site mitigation is proposed, it is considered that there will still be a residual
recreational impact on Hatfield Forest which needs to be mitigated.
Off-Site Mitigation
A financial contribution of £33,330 to the National Trust for use at Hatfield Forest
towards visitor and botanical monitoring and mitigation works.
The Hatfield Forest Mitigation Strategy is being used by the property team to
address recreational impacts at Hatfield Forest. A copy of this can be provided if
required. The Strategy seeks a proportion of costs to be met through developer
contributions, the rest would met by the National Trust.
In the absence of a tariff setting out a cost per dwelling, a contribution of £33,330
would be proportionate to requests made for other developments within the ZOI,
based on the number of dwellings proposed. Examples of priority works from the
Strategy include veteran tree management, soil decompaction, ride side ditching,
temporary ride closures. Furthermore, now that we have this evidence and baseline
information, fundamental to the monitoring of this will be on-going survey work. This
includes independent visitor surveys every 5 years, annual impact surveys, soil

27

Page 38

compaction analysis and gate counter data. The costed measures are set out on
Pages 13-25 of the Mitigation Strategy.

Environment Agency
9.17

Foul Drainage
We note that Thames Water own the Water Recycling Centre (WRC) that would
treat the sewage for the new 220 houses proposed in this development. Anglian
Water can accommodate the connection to the sewage network, but Thames Water
highlight the need to develop their infrastructure in order to deal with the sewage.
We have reviewed both the Planning Statement and Foul Drainage Assessment
Documents and have the following comments to make:
Planning Statement
We note the following statement: “It is clear from the analysis of both legal and
technical aspects relating to foul drainage, that this development can be effectively
drained without causing detriment to the public sewerage network.” (Page. 16,
Section 3.3.12). This is the opposite of what the application has demonstrated, as
Thames Water themselves are not sure whether their sewer network can function
from the increased load.
Foul Drainage Assessment
The following statement was noted when reviewing the foul drainage assessment:
“… 340 metres downstream from the proposed point of connection, ownership of
public sewers changes to Thames Water (cross-boundary sewers). Thames Water
has identified that improvement works (network reinforcement) may be required to
accommodate additional flows from the Anglian Water system in its network. Once
a planning consent has been granted, Thames Water can complete further
investigations and if deemed necessary, design, plan and implement suitable
network reinforcement.” (Page 5. Executive Summary).
We are pleased to see that contact has been made with the responsible sewage
undertaker, Thames Water. We note that Thames Water provided an estimation of
their standard development timescale for network improvement works (Page 9.
Development Timescales). However, there is no confirmation from Thames Water
that they can provide the network capacity. It is expected that the serving WRC will
be Stansted Mountfitchet. According to the latest The Uttlesford District Water Cycle
Study (2019), Stansted Mountfitchet is estimated to exceed their permitted Dry
Weather Flow (DWF) in 2036, based on the predicted future growth figures.
Therefore, given the current evidence provided, we consider planning permission at
this outline stage could be granted providing the condition below be appended to
any permission granted.
Condition

28

Page 39

No development shall commence until confirmation has been provided by Thames
Water, submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, that their
sewage network can receive the development’s foul drainage proposals.

Reason
To ensure that there is no detrimental impact on the water environment potentially
arising from the increased flows contributing to the network as a result of this
development.
Uttlesford District Council Environmental Health
Land Contamination
9.18

The applicants have submitted a Phase I Geo-Environmental assessment dated
April 2019 prepared by Lees Roxburgh. The proposal site is currently arable with a
small area of shrub, and no potentially contaminative historic usage. The
assessment has concluded that there is a low risk from the site itself, but the railway
and historic sidings to the east and historic tanks discovered on the site present a
potential source of contamination which should be investigated further, due to the
sensitive end use of residential with gardens. A condition is recommended to cover
this, together with a watching brief condition to ensure any unidentified
contamination is addressed if encountered:
No development approved by this permission shall take place until a Phase 2 site
investigation report, as recommended by the previously submitted Phase I GeoEnvironmental assessment dated April 2019 prepared by Lees Roxburgh has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Where found
to be necessary by the phase 2 report a remediation strategy to deal with the risks
associated with contamination of the site shall also be submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The remediation strategy shall include an
options appraisal giving full details of the remediation measures required and how
they are to be undertaken. The strategy shall include a plan providing details of how
the remediation works shall be judged to be complete and arrangements for
contingency action.
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved
development, it shall be reported in writing immediately to the Local Planning
Authority. An investigation and risk assessment shall then be undertaken by a
competent person. A written report of the findings should be forwarded for approval
to the Local Planning Authority. Following completion of remedial measures a
verification report shall be prepared that demonstrates the effectiveness of the
remediation carried out. No part of the development should be occupied until all
remedial and validation works are approved in writing.
Noise
The proposed dwellings would be exposed to significant transport noise. The
Environmental Health Service has concerns that whilst part of the site is suitable for
residential development with regard to noise, detailed design and layout
demonstrating compliance with the principles of good acoustic design are largely

29

Page 40

absent from the outline planning application. Whilst it may be possible to develop
220 dwellings on the site, it is affected by both road and rail noise above the external
design range of 50 - 55 dB LAeq 16hr. Therefore, this service would wish to ensure
that a good acoustic design process is followed when considering the final layout
and design of the development.
A noise assessment report dated June 2019 prepared by Wardell Armstrong has
been submitted in support of the proposal. The assessment has considered noise
impacts on future occupiers of the site from existing noise sources, and confirms
the site is impacted by noise from the M11 motorway to the west, mainline railway
to the east and intermittent aircraft noise contributions.
The assessment has not considered the potential noise source of Golds Nurseries
Business Park immediately to the south of the south east portion of the site. The
indicative site layout shows 2-3 properties with gardens sharing a boundary with the
Business Park, gardens which will also be subject to noise from the M11 and
railway. The Business Park has the potential to be a source of noise with a different
character from transport noise sources, for example early morning/ evening vehicle
movements or other intrusive noise at noise sensitive hours, which may give rise to
complaints.
Also not considered in the assessment is the potential impact of noise from the
operation of the proposed foul water pump station, shown on the layout positioned
in the north east sector of the site close to proposed dwellings.
Whilst both sources are unlikely to be at the levels of the transport sources, their
different character and frequency spectrum must be considered in the specification
for internal sound insulation, and in the design of outdoor amenity areas.
The assessment was informed by a noise survey carried out during two midweek
days in January, when weather conditions were acceptable for monitoring purposes.
Two monitoring points were used, MP1 close to the shared boundary with the M11
and MP2 close to the boundary the site shares with the railway. An Leq 63.4dB16hr
was found at MP1 and 58.9 dB Leq 16hr at MP2, with 75.3 dB LAmax recorded
during night time hours. It is known from noise surveys carried out for similar
development alongside the railway, that night time noise events up to 92 max have
been recorded, usually from passing freight trains.
Guidance on acceptable internal and external noise in gardens and outdoor amenity
space is provided in BS8233:2014 Guidance on sound insulation and noise
reduction for buildings, and within World Health Organisation (WHO) “Guidelines on
Community Noise”, which suggest it is desirable that the external noise level does
not exceed 50 LAeq16hr with 55dB LAeq16hr acceptable in noisier environments.
The report has identified that mitigation measures are needed in order to achieve
desirable internal and external acoustic environments for future occupants. The
carriageway of the M11 is elevated alongside the site, therefore noise levels will be
proportionately higher at a given distance than areas where the carriageway is in a
cutting or level. Also, there is a risk that noise from traffic will increase in future years
with development of the M11 corridor, and the mitigation measures should therefore
be seen as a minimum necessary. Measures include a 50m set back of development
from both the M11 and railway and locating gardens of proposed dwellings closest
to respective noise sources on the screened side of the dwelling. By doing so it is
predicted that LAeq16hr 55 dB or below can be achieved in gardens. The outline
layout shows dwellings in the centre avenue of the site and along the southern
30

Page 41

boundary where orientation of gardens away from each noise source has not been
practically possible, and reliance on orientation in these areas may not be sufficient
to meet the guidance criteria.
A rest/play area has been included close to the centre of the site, where noise levels
will be at their lowest should future occupants choose to escape some noise.
Additional acoustic screening in this area could be provided if found to be necessary
at the detailed stage.
With regard to internal noise levels, the assessment has identified that satisfactory
living conditions can be achieved by use of acoustic insulation measures. The
criteria set out in BS 8233:2014. are for steady external noise sources such as
motorway traffic, and for sites which may be affected by individual noise events such
as passing trains it is more appropriate to use the guidance contained in the WHO
guidelines, which suggest that good sleep will not generally be disturbed if internal
levels of LAF max 45dB are not exceeded more than 10-15 times per night.
The report concludes that up to 33.5 dB of attenuation is needed to ensure that the
occupants of sensitive rooms do not experience unacceptable levels of noise, and
it acknowledges it will be necessary for some dwellings to keep windows closed,
with provision of acoustic ventilation and enhanced glazing. This may be acceptable
where there is overriding need for accommodation, otherwise, and in accordance
with the principles of the Professional Practice Guidance on Planning & Noise
(2017), the design and layout of the development should ensure that internal noise
level guidelines are achieved in noise sensitive rooms with windows open.
With the above in mind, the following conditions are recommended to address the
noise issues identified:
Prior to commencement of development a noise impact assessment and detailed a
noise insulation scheme of the building(s) and or associated plant, shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The
assessment shall have regards to the principles of good acoustic design as outlined
within Professional Practice Guidance on Planning & Noise (2017) and British
Standard 8233:2014 Sound Insulation and noise reduction for buildings. The design
of the development shall ensure that façade noise levels at all bedroom window and
door positions do not exceed 45 dB LAeq (8 hr) and 60dB LAmax between 23:00
and 07:00. Furthermore, noise levels at the façade of living room window and door
positions shall not exceed 50dB LAeq 16hr between 07:00 – 23:00.
Prior to first use of the foul water pumping station commencing, a scheme shall be
submitted for approval to the Local Planning Authority to demonstrate that the rating
level of sound emitted from the operation of the pumping station shall not exceed
the typical background sound level at any noise sensitive premises. All
measurements shall be made in accordance with BS4142:2014 (as amended).
Construction Environmental Management Plan
The proposal site borders existing noise sensitive residential development and
noise impacts from any construction phase have not been addressed within the
report. Noise from the construction can be controlled through the implementation of
best practicable means (BPM) in accordance with recognised standards such as
BS5228:2009. Details would be expected at any detailed stage within a
Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP):

31

Page 42

Prior to the commencement of the development, a detailed Construction
Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority, and the plan shall include the following:
a) The construction programme and phasing
b) Hours of operation, delivery and storage of materials
c) Details of any highway works necessary to enable construction to take place
d) Parking and loading arrangements
e) Details of hoarding
f) Management of traffic to reduce congestion
g) Control of dust and dirt on the public highway
h) Details of consultation and complaint management with local businesses and
neighbours
i) Waste management proposals
j) Mechanisms to deal with environmental impacts such as noise and vibration,
air quality and dust, light and odour.
k) Details of any proposed piling operations, including justification for the
proposed piling strategy, a vibration impact assessment and proposed control
and mitigation measures.
All works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved CEMP thereafter.
Light
Artificial external lighting provided at the proposed development may have an
adverse impact on nearby existing occupiers and future occupiers of the
development. No details have been provided at this stage, and any scheme should
be designed to prevent adverse impact from glare or spillover. The following
condition in the event of approval is suggested:
No fixed lighting shall be installed until a detailed scheme of lighting has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme
shall be include the design of the lighting unit, any supporting structure, the extent
of the area to be illuminated, and the intensity of the lights specified in Lux. All
external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the details approved. The
intensity of illumination of the lighting shall at all times be at the minimum level
necessary to ensure safe and secure operational use of the site.

Air Quality
In light of the additional information provided and further work conducted by our
appointed consultants, I am of the opinion that there is unlikely to be an exceedance
of the annual mean NO2 objective in Stansted arising from the proposed
development. I therefore withdraw the objection as previously recommended by Ann
Lee Moore.
CHH Pipeline System Limited
9.19

Our client, CLH-PS, does not have apparatus situated within the vicinity of your
proposed works, and as such do not have any further comments to make.
ECC Infrastructure

9.20

32

From the information I have received, I have assessed the application on the basis
of 220 houses. Assuming that all o0f these units are homes with two or more

Page 43

bedrooms, a development of this size can be expected to generate the need for up
to 19.80 Early Years and Childcare (EY& C) places; 66.00 primary school, and 44.00
secondary school places.
Early Years and Childcare:
The proposed development is located within the Elsenham and Henham Ward.
According to Essex County Council’s childcare sufficiency data, published in
summer 2019, there are a total of zero unfilled places recorded. For Essex County
Council to meet its statutory duties it must both facilitate sufficient places to meet
free childcare entitlement demand and also ensure a diverse range of places to
meet the demand for this proposal. An additional 19.80 places would be provided at
an estimated total cost of £344,955.60 at April 2019 prices. This equates to
£17,422.00 per place. So, based on the demand generated by this proposal as set
out above, a developer contribution, index linked to April 2019, is sought to mitigate
its impact on local EY&C provision
Primary Education:
This development sites within the priority admissions area of Henham& Ugly
Primary School but, since it is on the edge of Elsenham, Elsenham CE Primary
School would be more accessible to residents. Both schools currently have some
surplus capacity, but I am cognisant of the proposals for 44 homes at Rush Lane
(UTT/19/437); 130 homes West of Hall Road (UTT/19/0462/FUL) and 350 homes
North West of Henham Road (UTT/17/3573/OP). As you will see from the ECC’s
response to the Henham Road application, schools further afield may have to be
expanded if development is permitted. According to figures published in Essex
School Organisation Service’s “Ten Year Plan” to meet demand for school places,
the long-term forecast for the area (Uttlesford Primary Group 2 – Stansted) suggest
there will be 14 (fourteen) surplus Reception places per year. Based on maintaining
the recommended 5% surplus, as set out on page 31 of Essex County Council’s
Developer Guide to Infrastructure Contributions, this equates to capacity for just 7
new houses.
So, based on the demand generated by this proposal as set out above, a developer
contribution of £1,008,546.00, index linked to April 2019, is sought to this proposals
impact on local primary school provision. This equates to £15,281.00 per place.
Secondary Education
With regards to secondary education, the Priority Admissions Area School for the
development would be the Forest Hall School which has a published admission
number of 112. The school has just 8 (eight) unfilled places in Year 7 (the first
secondary year) at the last schools census in May 2019 and a slightly larger cohort
was expected this September. Forecasts set out in the 10 Year Plan suggest that
from 2020/21 additional places will be required to meet local demand.
A project to provide sufficient capacity is, therefore, proposed. The estimated cost
of the project is £1,021,416.00 at April 2019, is sought to mitigate its impact on local
secondary school provision.
Having reviewed the proximity of the site to the nearest primary and secondary
schools, Essex County Council will not be seeking a school transport contribution;
however, the developer should ensure that safe direct walking and cycling routes to
local schools are available.
33

Page 44

In view of the above, I request on behalf of Essex County Council that any
permission for this development is granted subject to a section 106 agreement to
mitigate its impact on childcare, primary education and secondary education. Our
standard formula s106 agreement clauses that ensure the contribution would be
fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development are available from
Essex Legal Services
If your Council were minded to turn down the application, I would be grateful if the
lack of surplus childcare, primary education and secondary education provision in
the area to accommodate the proposed new homes can be noted as an additional
reason for refusal, and that we are automatically consulted on any appeal or further
application relating to the site.

West Essex Clinical Commissioning Group
9.21

To be Reported
Anglian Water
ASSETS

9.22

Section 1 - Assets Affected
Our records show that there are no assets owned by Anglian Water or those subject
to an adoption agreement within the development site boundary.
WASTEWATER SERVICES
Section 2 - Wastewater Treatment
The foul drainage from this development is in the catchment of Not AW owned Water
Recycling Centre which currently does not have capacity to treat the flows the
development site. Anglian Water are obligated to accept the foul flows from the
development with the benefit of planning consent and would therefore take the
necessary steps to ensure that there is sufficient treatment capacity should the
Planning Authority grant planning permission.
Section 3 - Used Water Network
This response has been based on the following submitted documents: FOUL
DRAINAGE ANALYSIS The sewerage system at present has available capacity for
these flows. Please note that the proposed pumped rate of 7l/s is considered
excessive for a development of this size. We would expect a 90mm rising main is
required to serve this development, the self-cleansing velocity of a rising main is
4.8l/s, we expect to see a rate closer to this and will ask for a detailed pump design
and rate at section 106 stage. If the developer wishes to connect to our sewerage
network they should serve notice under Section 106 of the Water Industry Act 1991.
We will then advise them of the most suitable point of connection.
(1) INFORMATIVE - Notification of intention to connect to the public sewer under

34

Page 45

S106 of the Water Industry Act Approval and consent will be required by Anglian
Water, under the Water Industry Act 1991. Contact Development Services Team
0345 606 6087.
(2) INFORMATIVE - Notification of intention to connect to the public sewer under
S106 of the Water Industry Act Approval and consent will be required by Anglian
Water, under the Water Industry Act 1991. Contact Development Services Team
0345 606 6087.
(3) INFORMATIVE - Protection of existing assets - A public sewer is shown on
record plans within the land identified for the proposed development. It appears that
development proposals will affect existing public sewers. It is recommended that the
applicant contacts Anglian Water Development Services Team for further advice on
this matter. Building over existing public sewers will not be permitted (without
agreement) from Anglian Water.
(4) INFORMATIVE Building near to a public sewer - No building will be permitted
within the statutory easement width of 3 metres from the pipeline without agreement
from Anglian Water. Please contact Development Services Team on 0345 606
6087.
(5) INFORMATIVE: The developer should note that the site drainage details
submitted have not been approved for the purposes of adoption. If the developer
wishes to have the sewers included in a sewer adoption agreement with
Anglian Water (under Sections 104 of the Water Industry Act 1991), they should
contact our Development Services Team on 0345 606 6087 at the earliest
opportunity. Sewers intended for adoption should be designed and
constructed in accordance with Sewers for Adoption guide for developers, as
supplemented by Anglian Water’s requirements.
Section 4 - Surface Water Disposal
The preferred method of surface water disposal would be to a sustainable drainage
system (SuDS) with connection to sewer seen as the last option. Building
Regulations (part H) on Drainage and Waste Disposal for England
includes a surface water drainage hierarchy, with infiltration on site as the preferred
disposal option, followed by discharge to watercourse and then connection to a
sewer.
From the details submitted to support the planning application the proposed method
of surface water management does not relate to Anglian Water operated assets. As
such, we are unable to provide comments on the suitability of the surface water
management. The Local Planning Authority should seek the advice of the Lead
Local Flood Authority or the Internal Drainage Board. The Environment Agency
should be consulted if the drainage system directly or indirectly involves the
discharge of water into a watercourse. Should the proposed method of surface water
management change to include interaction with Anglian Water operated assets, we
would wish to be reconsulted to ensure that an effective surface water drainage
strategy is prepared and implemented.

10.

REPRESENTATIONS

10.1

331 Representations have been received. A Site Notice was posted on the 26th
September 2019. The Press Notice was published on the 26th September 2019.

35

Page 46

10.2

Summary of representations received as follows:
































36

Impact on village services and amenities which are already overstretched.
Traffic impacts on narrow country roads
Pollution and noise impacts
Poor road infrastructure; blind bends and limited line of sight
Loss of agricultural land used for food production
Impact upon wildlife
Loss of trees and hedgerows
Elsenham has already accommodated additional housing
Additional impacts upon Grove Hill and Chapel Hill in Stansted Mountfitchet
Traffic impacts upon Pound Lane and New Road
The proposal would create congestion through the village of Ugley Green
Piecemeal form of development
Lack of pedestrian pathways locally
Will exacerbate existing problems of road accidents
Impacts upon rail services
The development will exacerbate indiscriminate parking problems around
Elsenham train station
Impacts upon school provision locally
Impacts upon GP provision locally
Impacts upon health and welfare of future and existing residents
Proposal would lead to further rat running locally
Impacts upon sewerage infrastructure
Unsafe crossing of railway line
Flooding impacts
The development would be a danger to horse riders
Inappropriate scale of development for a rural area
The area is being destroyed by creeping urbanisation
The site will not be served by sustainable transport choices ie lack of bus
service
The site is within the open countryside
Application is being promoted purely on the basis of a lack of 5-year land
supply in Uttlesford
The proposed development is not in the interests of the locally community
Concerns over construction traffic accessing the site

Page 47

APPRAISAL
The issues to consider in the determination of the application are:
A
B
C
D
E
F
G
H
I

Principle of development of this site for residential development (NPPF, ULP
policies S7, S8 and GEN2)
Access, and impact on highway network (ULP Policy GEN1 and NPPF)
Design, and impact on neighbour’s amenity (NPPF and ULP Policies GEN2,
and SPD “Accessible Homes and Playspace”);
Vehicle Parking Standards (ULP Policy GEN8);
Housing Mix (ULP Policy H10);
Affordable Housing, Education Contributions and Health Contributions (ULP
Policies H9 and GEN6);
Flood Risk and Drainage (ULP policy GEN3, NPPF)
Biodiversity and Protection of Natural Environment (ULP policies GEN7,
GEN2, ENV7 and ENV8)
Noise, Pollution and Air Quality (ULP Policies GEN4 and ENV13)

A

Principle of development of this site for residential development (NPPF, ULP
policies S3, S7, and GEN2

11.1

Elsenham is identified in saved ULP Policy S3 as one of 5 Key Rural Settlements,
with this policy going on to explain that within the boundaries of such settlements,
development compatible with the settlement’s character and countryside setting will
be permitted. The application site is located outside the development limits of
Elsenham within open countryside and is therefore located within the Countryside
where ULP policy S7 applies. This specifies that the countryside will be protected
for its own sake and planning permission will only be given for development that
needs to take place there or is appropriate to a rural area. Development will only be
permitted if its appearance protects or enhances the particular character of the part
of the countryside within which it is set or there are special reasons why the
development in the form proposed needs to be there. A review of policy S7 for its
compatibility with the NPPF has concluded that it is partially compatible but has a
more protective rather than positive approach towards development in rural areas.
It is not considered that the development would meet the requirements of policy S7
of the Local Plan and that, as a consequence, the proposal is contrary to policy S7
of the adopted 2005 Local plan

11.2

S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 states that "in dealing with a
planning application the local planning authority shall have regard to the provisions
of the Development Plan so far as is material to the application and to any other
material considerations". S38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act
2004 states that "if regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of
any determination to be made under the Planning Acts, the determination must be
made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
Paragraph 2 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019 (NPPF) reiterates

37

Page 48

this requirement and paragraph 5 confirms that the NPPF is a material planning
consideration. Paragraph 49 of the NPPF confirms that housing applications should
be considered in the context of the presumption in favour of sustainable
development. Relevant policies for the supply of housing should not be considered
up-to-date if the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five-year supply of
deliverable housing sites. In this regard, the most recent housing trajectory identifies
that the Council has a 3.11-year land supply. The Council considers that it is a 5%
buffer authority and that there has not been a persistent under-supply of housing
delivery.
11.3

It is therefore necessary to assess whether the application proposal is sustainable
and presumption in favour is engaged in accordance with paragraphs 7 - 11 of the
NPPF

11.4

The NPPF emphasises that sustainability has three dimensions (Paragraph 8); an
economic role (contributing to building a strong economy), a social role (providing
housing and accessible local services) and an environmental role (contributing to
protecting and enhancing our natural, built and historic environment. Due to the
Council not having a 5 year land supply then the tilted balance of the NPPF would
apply and as a consequence, sites that are located in the countryside are being
considered for residential development by the council to address this shortfall.

11.5

Economic: The NPPF identifies this as contributing to build a strong, responsive and
competitive economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right types is available
in the right places and at the right time to support growth, innovation and improved
productivity, and by identifying and coordinating the provision of infrastructure. The
proposed development would provide economic benefits by the provision of jobs
during the construction phase, although these would be of a temporary nature. The
occupiers of the proposed dwellings could provide some additional support for the
local facilities, such as the shop and pub. However, the proposals would also result
in increased pressures on existing facilities, such as health care and education. The
impacts on local infrastructure could be mitigated by the way of financial
contributions as identified by the consultees and these could be secured by way of
s106 Legal Obligation. As such, the economic benefits have moderate weight in
the planning balance.

11.6

Social: The proposal would deliver social benefits by the way of 220 dwellings,
including 40% affordable houses. This would be a benefit given the lack of a 5-year
housing land supply in the district. The proposals also include areas of open space,
financial contributions towards the provision of the new community centre, and
financial contributions towards health care – to be reported.. In terms of
sustainability, the Transport Statement demonstrates that the site is located near to
existing public bus stops and is served by existing bus routes that give access to
Stansted Airport and Bishops Stortford, Stansted Mountfichet and Saffron Walden.
The proposal would include financial contributions towards improved bus service
serving key destinations including Stansted Mountfitchet, Bishops Stortford and
Stansted Airport. Ultimately it is planned that this contribution, combined with other
contributions, will be used to provide a half hourly service during the week and
enhanced evening services. The site also provides access to Elsenham railway
station and the main line service between Cambridge and London. The village of
Elsenham is also relatively well served with facilities, many of which are within
walking and cycling distance of the application site and development of the site
would allow residents to access facilities by means other than the motor car.

38

Page 49

11.7

Environmental: The environmental role seeks to protect and enhance the natural,
built and historic environment, including making effective use of land, helping to
improve biodiversity, using natural resources prudently, minimising waste and
pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate change, including moving to a low
carbon economy. As stated above, the introduction of 220 dwellings would be
harmful to the rural characteristics of the area.

11.8

It is considered that the weight to be given to the requirement to provide a 5-year
land supply and that the housing provision which could be delivered by the proposal
would outweigh the harm identified in relation to rural restrains set out in ULP policy
S7. The site is relatively sustainable and, in balancing planning merits, taking into
account the many benefits of the proposal, it is considered that the principle of the
development is acceptable. Further, the recent appeal decision to Land east of
Elsenham, to the north of the B1051, Henham Road – included as Appendix 1 to
this Report, is a relevant material consideration to this application off Bedwell Road,
in terms of the tilted balance related to an out-of-date Development Plan, where the
provisions of additional housing in the absence of a 5-year housing supply takes
precedent.

B.

Access and impact on highway network (ULP Policy GEN1 and NPPF)

11.9

Policy GEN1 states: Development will only be permitted if it meets all of the following
criteria:
a) Access to the main road network must be capable of carrying the traffic
generated by the development safely.
b) The traffic generated by the development must be capable of being
accommodated on the surrounding transport network.
c) The design of the site must not compromise road safety and must take
account of the needs of cyclists.
d) It must be designed to meet the needs of people with disabilities if it is
development to which the general public expect to access.
e) The development encourages movement by means other than driving a car.

11.10
1

Several objections and concerns relating to the effect in which the proposed
development would have upon highway safety due to the increased amount of traffic
movements to and from the site resulting in unwanted traffic congestion on the
surrounding highway networks and junctions.

11.11

The application is supported by a Transport Assessment which includes committed
development (development sites for which planning consent has been granted) in
Elsenham and Stansted Mountfitchet, additionally it includes a sensitivity test of the
possible future committed development of 350 residential units on Henham Road.
Cumulative impacts in particular need to be considered in relation to impacts on
Henham Road/ High Street and Lower Street/Grove Hill junctions. Essex Highways,
using contributions from another site, has recently upgraded the Grove Hill junction
and test of the new equipment has shown that the detection of traffic is such that it
will achieve the mitigation needed.

11.12

In view of the above, Highways England have been consulted. They state that
….after looking at the details and information provided, we find that, although the
location of the proposed development is next to the M11, it is also remote from any
junctions or access to the M11. As such it is unlikely to have a severe impact upon
the Strategic Road Network. Further, Essex County Council as Local Highway
Authority are seeking that this development provides a financial contribution to an
improved bus service serving key destinations including Stansted Mountfitchet,

39

Page 50

Bishops Stortford and Stansted Airport. Ultimately it is planned that this contribution,
combined with other contributions, will be used to provide a half hourly service
during the week and enhanced evening services. This will provide an alternative to
the car and it is expected will ultimately result in a reduced impact on the highway
network. The bus service contribution for this site would be £587,787 (index linked
from the date of this application). ~the applicants have agreed to pay a contribution
towards the enhanced bus service, and this would be secured by a S106 agreement
should the application be approved.
11.13

11.14

The proposed access to the site via Bedwell Road/ Snakes Lane/ Pound Lane has
to be widened to ensure the access meets current highway requirements for
adoption. An improved footpath connection will also be provided as part of this new
pedestrian/ cycle link in the vicinity of the site. These improvements are to be made
as part of a contribution by the applicant to the Local Highway Authority.
.
A series of pedestrian access points are located around the site integrating the
development into the wider network of Public Rights of Way

11.15

The proposals have also been considered with regards to their potential impact on
the strategy highway network. This has been considered by Highways England who
confirm that they consider that the proposals would not result in harmful impacts on
the strategic highway network and therefore raise no objections to the proposals.

11.16

Due to the proximity of the proposed residential dwellings, Network Rail is
concerned by the potential impact that this would have on the usage and safety of
the Elsenham Emergency Hut Level Crossing, which is a passive level crossing
where PROW 32 in the parish of Henham crosses the railway line. The development
is highly likely to increase usage of the adjacent public footpath level crossing. As
the crossing is currently temporarily closed, Network Rail request a condition is
attached to any planning permission to ensure the legal permanent closure of
Elsenham Emergency Hut Level Crossing is completed before any dwellings are
occupied.

11.17

In view of the above it is considered that the proposal would comply with the aims
of policy GEN1

C

Design, and impact on neighbour’s amenity (NPPF and ULP Policies GEN2,
and SPD “Accessible Homes and Playspace”);

11.18

Policy GEN2 sets out the design criteria for new development. In addition, section
12 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019 sets out the national policy for
achieving well-designed places and the need to achieve good design. Elsenham is
a small settlement and on its northern edge the building pattern has diverse scale,
style and form as it gradually opens out into the countryside. The site is a sensitive
edge of village location and this development would be a transition between the
built-up confines of Elsenham and the rural lands to its immediate setting. The
southern boundary is defined by residential properties at Spencer Close/ Gold
Close, and the Gold Nursery Business Park; further dwellings are situated to the
south west off Maytree Gardens and Bedwell Road. Existing trees and scrub
landforms the northern boundary of the site. A small area of grass and scrubland is
found to the south west of the application site.

11.19

The outline planning application for the erection of up to 220 dwellings including
affordable housing with public open space, structural planting and landscaping and
sustainable drainage system (SuDS) with vehicular access point from Bedwell

40

Page 51

Road, has been submitted with all matters reserved except for means of access.
The application is however supported by a Development Framework Plan, an
Illustrative Masterplan, a Proposed Movement Strategy, and a Building Heights
Plan.
11.20

The Development Framework Plan provides a broad outline of the road networks
within the application site, the general location of dwellings within blocks within the
site, the location of formal and informal areas of open space, including LAPs and
LEAPs, and the location of SuDs solutions to the periphery of the site, formed by
swales and ditches, planted with aquatic margins, native thicket and tree planting,
to create ecological and wildlife features. Further, the northern part of the site
proposes a community woodland/ conservation area, with native woodland, thicket,
tree planting and wildflower meadows to encourage biodiversity enhancement. In
terms of the Residential Development Area, this equates to 7.08 hectares, with the
Green Infrastructure amounting to 5.84 hectares in area.

11.21

The Illustrative Masterplan indicates an indicative layout of the site in terms of the
type of street patterns within blocks as indicated within the Development Framework
Plan, in terms of avenues, formal squares and informal shared streets. In terms of
allowing the Local Planning Authority and the local community to retain control of
the detailed matters coming forward as reserved matters in the future, it is
suggested that a planning condition should be introduced with this outline planning
approval to control or Code these detailed issues. The wording of the condition
would be such as:
Prior to the submission of the first reserved matters, a site-wide design guide for all
areas of the housing development, public realm and character areas, shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. All reserved
matters submissions shall accord with the approved site wide design guidance,
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority. The agreed
strategy for each area shall be implemented within 12 months of occupation of the
dwellings in each respective phase to which it relates.

11.22

The Proposed Movement Strategy provides an indication of the street layout of the
site, including the location of the main Spine street, the Secondary streets, with the
private lanes/ drives, together with the retained alignment of the Public Footpath
crossing the site, recreational routes and potential future routes.

11.23

In addition, the Building Heights Plan indicates that the proposed dwellings will be
at 2 and 2 ½ storeys in height. Further, the proposal provides some indication of the
levels of building density, and in general terms, the density of development will
graduate from higher densities in the more central parts of the residential
development area to lower densities towards the development’s peripheral areas.
However, within this overall density framework, a range of densities will be
established throughout the site.

11.24

Finally, and whilst Appearance is a Reserved Matter, the application states that the
external appearance of the new homes will respect the local vernacular of Elsenham
and the surrounding villages. Further, and in terms of the proposed palette of
materials, the submitted application indicates that the composition of materials will
generally be red/ buff bricks/ render/ timber cladding to walls, with orange/ brown
plain tiles and pantiles, with slate. Boundary treatments will be a mix of timber picket
fencing and planted vegetation.

11.25

The proposal would therefore comply with the aims of Policy GEN2.

41

Page 52

D

Vehicle Parking Standards (ULP Policy GEN8);

11.26

The proposed application is in outline form only, with detailed matters reserved for
future consideration. Uttlesford District Council has adopted the ‘Parking Standards
Design and Good Practice September 2009’ which was produced by Essex County
Council and is identified in the current Adopted Local Plan (2005) in Policy GEN8.
The standards form a consistent basis for new developments and should be applied
throughout Essex. In accordance with these standards, the following car and cycle
provision will be applied and determined at the Reserved Matters stage as a
minimum. The adopted Essex County Council parking standards require the
provision for one parking space for a one bedroomed dwelling, two parking spaces
per dwelling for two- and three-bedroom dwellings and three parking spaces for
three+ bedroomed properties and additional visitor parking spaces

11.27

In accordance with Supplementary Planning Document – Accessible Homes and
Playspace the proposed dwellings would need to be accessible and designed to
Lifetime Homes Standards. In new housing developments of 20 dwellings or more
the council will require 5% of the dwellings approved by this permission shall be built
to Category 3 (wheelchair user) housing M4(3)(2)(a) wheelchair adaptable. The
remaining dwellings approved by this permission shall be built to Category 2:
Accessible and adaptable dwellings M4(2) of the Building Regulations 2010
Approved Document M, Volume 1 2015 edition and 2016 amendments. In this
respect Part M4 (2) paragraph 2.12 relating to car parking, in order to comply with
the Building Regulations it states:
Where a parking space is provided for the dwelling, it should comply with all of the
following.
a) Where the parking is within the private curtilage of the dwelling (but not within
a carport or garage) at least one space is a standard parking bay that can
be widened to 3.3m
b) Where communal parking is provided to blocks of flats, at least one standard
parking bay is provided close to the communal entrance of each core of the
block (or to the lift core where the parking bay is internal) The parking bay
should have a minimum clear access zone of 900mm to one side and a
dropped kerb in accordance with paragraph 2.13d
c) Access between the parking bay and the principal private entrance or where
necessary, the alternative private entrance to the dwelling is step free.
d) The parking space is level or, where unavoidable, gently sloping
e) The gradient is as shallow as the site permits.
f) The parking space has a suitable ground surface.

11.28

Several of the representations make reference to Highway issues and parking,
however a Transport Statement has been submitted with the application and the
Highway's Department have been consulted and raise no objections, subject to
conditions, to the proposals in highway terms. The proposals therefore satisfy the
requirements of ULP Policy GEN8.

E

Housing Mix (ULP Policy H10);

42

Page 53

11.29

Policy H10 states that all development on sites of 0.1 hectares and above or of 3 or
more dwellings will be required to include a significant proportion of market housing
comprising small properties. All developments on a site of three or more homes
must include an element of small two and three bed homes, which must represent
a significant proportion of the total.

11.30

The proposal relates to the erection of 220 dwellings. This mix of market dwellings
would be determined at the Approval of Reserved Matters stage, in accordance with
Policy. In terms of affordable housing, this would be provided at 40%. in accordance
with adopted Policy H10 and would be a mix of shared equity dwellings and
affordable rent, following guidance from the Councils Housing Enabling Officer.

11.31

The proposals would provide an appropriate mix of housing and as such the
proposals would be able to comply with Policies H9 and H10.

F

Affordable Housing, Education Contributions and Health Contributions (ULP
Policies H9 and GEN6);

11.32

Policy H9 states that the Council will seek to negotiate on a site basis an element of
affordable housing of 40% of the total provision of housing. The Council
commissioned a Strategic Housing Market Area Assessment which identified the
need for affordable housing market type and tenure across the District. As a result
of this the Council will require a specific mix per development proposal.

11.33

The Strategic Housing Market Area Assessment supports the provision of a range
of Affordable Housing: Affordable Housing provision (rounded up to the nearest
whole number) 40% on sites of 15 or more dwellings or sites of 0.5ha or more.

11.34

It is considered that the proposal meets the aims of ULP policy The applicant has
indicated that they are prepared to enter a S106 legal agreement to provide the
affordable housing. Subject to this agreement being completed, the proposal would
comply with the requirements of policy H9

11.35

The proposed development is likely to have an impact on the services of one GP
practice operating within the vicinity of the application site. The GP practice does
not have capacity for the additional growth resulting from this development

11.36

The proposed development will likely have an impact on the NHS funding
programme for the delivery of primary healthcare provision within this area and
specifically within the health catchment of the development.

11.37

Whilst West Essex CCG has been consulted on the application and contact has
been made with them; full details of the likely impacts of the proposed development
have not to date been provided but will be reported to Members in advance of the
Planning Committee meeting.

11.38

Essex County Council Education has also therefore identified a requirement for
additional Early Years and childcare, primary and secondary places to
accommodate the increased number of pupils likely to arise as a result of this
development proposal. This would require financial contributions to offset the
impacts, £344,955.60 for Early Years and Childcare, £1,021,416 in respect of
Secondary provision and also £1,008,546 in respect of Primary provision.

11.39

A planning obligation can only be sought if it is:

43

Page 54

a)
b)
c)

Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms
Directly related to the development; and
Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.

11.40

It is considered that the ECC request is policy compliant.

11.41

The applicant has also made an offer to contribute 52% of the total amount towards
the provision of a new community facility to serve Elsenham, up to a value of
£524,615.

11.42

A section 106 Agreement under the provisions of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990, as amended, is currently being drawn up. Elsenham Parish Council are
actively engaged in this process. It is considered that, subject to the developer
entering a S106 agreement to provide the above contributions, the proposal would
comply with the requirements of ULP policy GEN 6.

G

Flood Risk and Drainage (ULP policy GEN3, NPPF)

11.43

The NPPF states that inappropriate development in areas of high risk flooding
should be avoided by directing development away from areas at highest risk, but
where development is necessary, making it safe without increasing flood risk
elsewhere.

11.44

The built form of the development proposed lies within Flood Zone 1 (low probability
of flooding) as defined by the Environment Agency.

11.45

The application is accompanied by an Environmental Impact Assessment and a
Flood Risk Assessment. The Lead Local Flood Authority, following the submission
of the requested additional information, raises no objections to the proposals
subject to conditions requiring a surface water drainage scheme for the site to be
submitted and approved, a scheme to minimise the risk of offsite flooding caused
by surface water run-off and groundwater during construction works and prevent
pollution to be submitted and approved, a maintenance plan detailing the
maintenance arrangements to be submitted and agreed and for the applicant or any
successor in title must maintain yearly logs of maintenance which must be available
for inspection on request by the Local Planning Authority.

11.46

The proposals have also been considered by Anglian Water who confirm that no
objections provided that the developer follows the sequential approach to the
disposal of surface water. As such, the proposals comply with Policy GEN3 and the
NPPF

11.47

The site is located 6km from Stansted Airport and as such Airport Safeguarding
team stipulate that bodies of open water must be avoided, owing to the possibility
of attracting large numbers of birds, with the consequent risk of aircraft bird strike.
The swales will be grassed depressions and the water will pass through the grass
and are designed not to pond in the worst-case storm events.

H

Biodiversity and Protection of Natural Environment (ULP policies GEN7,
GEN2, ENV7 and ENV8)

11.48

The application site itself is not the subject of any statutory nature conservation
designation being largely an open grassland field with some mature trees and
hedgerows scattered along its boundaries.

44

Page 55

11.49

The application site is located in relatively close proximity to an important and
Ancient Woodland and a Local Wildlife Site (Alsa Wood, Stansted Mountfitchet). In
addition, the site is within the Zone of Influence for development that could
potentially adversely affect Hatfield Forest, which is a Site of Special Scientific
Interest (SSSI) and National Nature Reserve (NNR)

11.50

Policy GEN7 seeks to protect biodiversity, protected species and habitats. The
application is accompanied by an Ecological Impact Assessment as part of the
Environmental Assessment. A water Vole and Otter Survey, Reptile Mitigation
Strategy, Preliminary Ecological Strategy, Arboricultural Impact Assessment,
Badger Survey, a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment and a Recreational
Strategy Plan. There were no records for protected or rare species for the site itself,
although there were numerous records for species within 2km of the site.

11.51

The submitted documents have been assessed by the County Ecologist and they,
now have no objection subject to securing biodiversity mitigation and enhancement.
The Council’s Landscape Officer also has no objections.

11.52

Policies ENV7 and ENV8 seek to protect designated sites for nature conservation
and other landscape elements of importance for nature conservation. Policy ENV8
requires the protection of hedgerows, linear tree belts, and semi-natural grasslands
The site itself does not fall within any designated areas, but does lie within 100m of
a local wildlife site. Given the nature of the proposals and the open space and
ecological measures included in the scheme, it is not considered that the proposals
would result in any significant adverse harm to these areas. As such the proposals
comply with Policies ENV7 and ENV8.

11.53

Natural England and the National Trust have requested that in order to mitigate
against the recreational impacts of the development on Hatfield Forest, SSSI and
NNR that on site mitigation of and off site mitigation are requested:
On-Site Mitigation
On-site measures which would help relieve the pressure on Hatfield Forest should
be provided. These should take the form of:
• High-quality, informal, semi-natural areas, to be provided prior to first occupation
of the dwellings;
• A circular dog walking route within the site to be provided prior to first occupation
of the dwellings;
• A dedicated ‘dogs-off-lead’ area, to be provided prior to first occupation of the
dwellings;
• Educational signage and a ‘Home Pack’ to householders to promote these areas
for recreation, to be provided prior to first occupation/to the first occupants of the
new dwellings.
Off-Site Mitigation
• A financial contribution of £33,000 to the National Trust for use at Hatfield Forest
towards visitor and botanical monitoring and mitigation works.

11.54

45

In summary, the National Trust does not object to the principle of this development.
However, if the LPA is minded approving the application, it is requested that
appropriate mitigation for recreational impacts upon Hatfield Forest SSSI and NNR
are secured through a S106 Agreement. The onsite mitigation can be secured by
an appropriate condition.

Page 56

11.55

With regards to the request for a financial contribution towards mitigation for Hatfield
Forest, this is based on a draft document setting out a 14.1km Zone of Influence
around Hatfield Forest. The relevant authorities involved in the potential
implementation of this strategy are currently working with the National Trust and
Natural England to agree the basis of the full consultation document. The applicant
has agreed to the payment of the contribution via a section 106 agreement.

11.56

As the site is located close to Stansted Airport, any planting on the site, should not
include a high proportion of berry bearing plants that attract birds as this could result
in bird strike and threaten Air safety. This can be addressed by a suitably worded
condition.

11.57

In view of the above, it is not considered that the proposal would have any material
detrimental impact in respect of protected species or biodiversity to warrant refusal
of the proposal and accords with ULP policy GEN7.

I

Noise, Pollution and Air Quality.

11.58

The application site is in close proximity to the M11 motorway, which is elevated
above the application site to the west and also is adjacent to the West Anglia Main
Line railway to the east. The Parish Council have raised concerns in respect of the
dominant noise source affecting the site is the train line along the western boundary
of the site which may require some form of mitigation (glazing and acoustic barriers
etc.) The application is accompanied by an Air Quality Assessment and a Noise
Assessment. The Council’s Environmental Health Officer has considered the
Assessments and subject to a condition requiring a scheme for protecting the
occupants of the proposed dwellings from noise from road and rail traffic to be
submitted and agreed by the Local Planning Authority and a further condition
requiring a Construction Method Statement to be submitted is satisfied that no
adverse impacts will result from the proposals. As such, subject to condition, the
proposals comply with Policy ENV13

11.59

Representations have been received in respect of potential harm in respect of air
pollution. The site is not in an area currently monitored for air quality (AQMA) and
Environmental Health officers have been consulted, who confirm that they are not
concerned in respect of air quality issues and that they have no objections to the
proposal.

11.60

In order to encourage cleaner vehicle usage a condition is recommended for the
provision of electric charging points to be provided. The developer has agreed that
each dwelling will have infrastructure for vehicle electric vehicle charging points.

46

Page 57

12.

CONCLUSION

The following is a summary of the main reasons for the recommendation:
A
B

The principle of residential development is considered acceptable.
The means of access to the site is acceptable and that the proposals would not
result in harmful impacts on the strategic highway network
The design, scale and layout is considered to be appropriate for this edge of
settlement location.
Adequate parking provision would be provided to meet the adopted parking
standards.
The housing mix provision is considered appropriate and in accordance with policy.
The affordable housing provision is acceptable, and contributions are in accordance
with Local Plan policy H9
There would be no increase in flood risk and the proposed drainage subject to
conditions is acceptable.
There would not be any adverse impacts on biodiversity, subject to implementation
of identified mitigation
The proposal is acceptable in respect of noise and pollution and air quality subject
to mitigation measures.

C
D
E
F
G
H
I

RECOMMENDATION – CONDITIONAL APPROVAL SUBJECT TO S106 LEGAL
OBLIGATION:
(I)
The applicant be informed that the Planning Committee would be minded to
refuse planning permission for the reasons set out in paragraph (III) unless the
freehold owner enters into a binding obligation to cover the matters set out below
under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as amended by the
Planning and Compensation Act 1991, in a form to be prepared by the Head of Legal
Services, in which case he shall be authorised to conclude such an obligation to
secure the following:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)

(v)
(vi)
(vii)

47

provision of 40% affordable housing
payment of education contributions
contribution of 51% of cost of community facility up to a maximum of
£524,615
Provision/ completion and long term ongoing maintenance (whether
Elsenham PC or private management company, ) of open space (including
LAP and LEAP
Payment of contribution towards visitor and botanical monitoring and
mitigation works at Hatfield Forest.
Financial contribution to enhance bus services (contribution of £587,787
(index linked from the date of this application)
Financial contribution of £40,700 towards works to mitigate the impact of
additional use of the public right of way and pedestrian network and
improve accessibility on foot or cycle to and in the vicinity of the site (but
not within it). Works to include but not be limited to upgrading,
resurfacing, drainage and signage of the network).

Page 58

(viii)
(ix)
(x)

Contribution towards health care (to be agreed)
Payment of the Council's reasonable legal costs
Payment of monitoring fee

(II)
In the event of such an obligation being made, the Assistant Director Planning
shall be authorised to grant permission subject to the conditions set out below
(III)
If the freehold owner shall fail to enter into such an obligation by 14th October
2021, the Assistant Director Planning shall be authorised to refuse permission in his
discretion anytime thereafter for the following reasons:
(xi)
(xii)
(xiii)
(xiv)
(xv)
(xvi)
(xvii)

inadequate provision of affordable housing
Non-payment of education contribution
Non- payment of the contribution for the community facility.
Non- transfer of land for educational use
Non- provision of open space
lack of suitable long-term maintenance arrangements for the open space
Non- payment of contribution towards monitoring and mitigation works at
Hatfield Forest.
(xviii) Non -payment of public transport contribution towards enhancement of
local bus services.
(xix) Non- payment towards footpath contribution
(xx)
Non- payment towards health care
(xxi) Non- payment of the Council’s reasonable legal costs
(xxii) Non- payment of the monitoring fee

Conditions
.

1. Approval of the details of layout, scale, landscaping and appearance (hereafter
called "the Reserved Matters") must be obtained from the Local Planning Authority
in writing before development commences and the development must be carried
out as approved.
REASON: In accordance with Article 5 of The Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) and
Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51
of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.
2. Application for approval of the Reserved Matters must be made to the Local
Planning Authority not later than the expiration of three years from the date of this
permission.
REASON: In accordance with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act
2004.
3. The development hereby permitted must be begun no later than the expiration of
two years from the date of approval of the last of the Reserved Matters to be
approved.

48

Page 59

REASON: In accordance with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act
2004.
4. No works except demolition shall takes place until a detailed surface water
drainage scheme for the site, based on sustainable drainage principles and an
assessment of the hydrological and hydro geological context of the development,
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The
scheme should include but not be limited to: Limiting discharge rates to 14.6l/s for
all storm events up to an including the 1 in 100 year rate plus 40% allowance for
climate change.








Provide sufficient storage to ensure no off site flooding as a result of
the development during all storm events up to and including the 1 in
100 year plus 40% climate change event. • Demonstrate that all
storage features can half empty within 24 hours for the 1:100 plus
40% climate change critical storm event.
Final modelling and calculations for all areas of the drainage system.
The appropriate level of treatment for all runoff leaving the site, in line
with the Simple Index Approach in chapter 26 of the CIRIA SuDS
Manual C753. A medium pollution risk should be assigned to the site.
Detailed engineering drawings of each component of the drainage
scheme.
A final drainage plan which details exceedance and conveyance
routes, FFL and ground levels, and location and sizing of any
drainage features.
A written report summarising the final strategy and highlighting any
minor changes to the approved strategy.

The scheme shall subsequently be implemented prior to occupation. It should be
noted that all outline applications are subject to the most up to date design criteria
held by the LLFA.
REASON





To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage of/disposal of
surface water from the site.
To ensure the effective operation of SuDS features over the lifetime of the
development.
To provide mitigation of any environmental harm which may be caused to
the local water environment
Failure to provide the above required information before commencement of
works may result in a system being installed that is not sufficient to deal with
surface water occurring during rainfall events and may lead to increased
flood risk and pollution hazard from the site.

5. No works shall take place until a scheme to minimise the risk of offsite flooding
caused by surface water run-off and groundwater during construction works and
prevent pollution has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local
planning authority. The scheme shall subsequently be implemented as approved.
REASON:
The National Planning Policy Framework paragraph 163 and paragraph 170 state
that local planning authorities should ensure development does not increase flood
49

Page 60

risk elsewhere and does not contribute to water pollution. Construction may lead to
excess water being discharged from the site. If dewatering takes place to allow for
construction to take place below groundwater level, this will cause additional water
to be discharged. Furthermore, the removal of topsoils during construction may limit
the ability of the site to intercept rainfall and may lead to increased runoff rates. To
mitigate increased flood risk to the surrounding area during construction there needs
to be satisfactory storage of/disposal of surface water and groundwater which needs
to be agreed before commencement of the development. Construction may also
lead to polluted water being allowed to leave the site. Methods for preventing or
mitigating this should be proposed.
6. Prior to occupation a maintenance plan detailing the maintenance arrangements
including who is responsible for different elements of the surface water drainage
system and the maintenance activities/frequencies, has been submitted to and
agreed, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority. Should any part be maintainable
by a maintenance company, details of long term funding arrangements should be
provided.
REASON:
To ensure appropriate maintenance arrangements are put in place to enable the
surface water drainage system to function as intended to ensure mitigation against
flood risk. Failure to provide the above required information before commencement
of works may result in the installation of a system that is not properly maintained
and may increase flood risk or pollution hazard from the site.
7. The applicant or any successor in title must maintain yearly logs of maintenance
which should be carried out in accordance with any approved Maintenance Plan.
These must be available for inspection upon a request by the Local Planning
Authority.
REASON:
To ensure the SuDS are maintained for the lifetime of the development as outlined
in any approved Maintenance Plan so that they continue to function as intended to
ensure mitigation against flood risk. Any questions raised within this response
should be directed to the applicant and the response should be provided to the LLFA
for further consideration. If you are minded to approve the application contrary to
this advice, we request that you contact us to allow further discussion and/or
representations from us.
8. No development shall take place, including any ground works or demolition, until
a Construction Management Plan has been submitted to, and approved in writing
by, the local planning authority. The approved plan shall be adhered to throughout
the construction period. The Plan shall provide for;
I
I. vehicle routing,
II
II. the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors,
III
III. loading and unloading of plant and materials,
IV
IV. storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development,
V
V. wheel and underbody washing facilities.
VI
VI. Before and after condition survey to identify defects to highway in the
vicinity of the access to the site and where necessary ensure repairs are undertaken
at the developer expense were caused by developer.

50

Page 61

REASON: To ensure that on-street parking of these vehicles in the adjoining streets
does not occur and to ensure that loose materials and spoil are not
brought out onto the highway in the interests of highway safety and Policy DM 1 of
the Highway Authority’s Development Management Policies February 2011.
9. Prior to occupation of the development, the access, shown in principle on
submitted drawing 17033-16-02 shall be provided, including 2 footways minimum
width 2m to link to the existing footways on Bedwell Road and a clear to ground
visibility splays with dimensions of 2.4 metres by 59 metres in both directions, as
measured from and along the nearside edge of the carriageway. Visibility splays to
be kept clear thereafter a Traffic Regulation Order to restrict parking shall be sought
as part of the access arrangement.
REASON:: To ensure that vehicles can enter and leave the highway in a controlled
manner in forward gear with adequate inter-visibility between vehicles using the
access and those in the existing public highway in the interest of highway safety in
accordance with policy DM1 of the Development Management Policies as adopted
as County Council Supplementary Guidance in February 2011.
10. Prior to occupation of the development the enhancement of the public right of
ways 51/14 and 25/32 with appropriate widening to allow cycleways, surfacing
works, signing, and adoption within the proposed layout.
REASON: In the interests of reducing the need to travel by car and promoting
sustainable development and transport in accordance with policies DM9 and DM11
of the Highway Authority’s Development Management Policies, adopted as County
Council Supplementary Guidance in February 2011
11. Prior to commencement a technically approved scheme for the provision of
laybys/widening on Bedwell Road/Snakes Lane/Pound Lane in the area indicated
on drawing number 17033-16-10 to be submitted to the planning authority for
approval, the approved scheme to be implemented prior to first occupation.
REASON: In the interest of highway capacity and safety in accordance with policy
DM1 of the Development Management Policies as adopted as County Council
Supplementary Guidance in February 2011.
12. Prior to first occupation of the proposed development, the Developer shall
submit a residential travel plan to the Local Planning Authority for approval in
consultation with Essex County Council. The plan shall include specific costed
cycling incentives such as bike vouchers/training/promotion together with fund of a
minimum of £200 per household to pay for these initiatives. Such approved travel
plan shall then be actively implemented by a travel plan co-ordinator for a minimum
period from first occupation of the development until 1 year after final occupation. It
shall be accompanied by an annual monitoring fee of £1500 (index linked), to be
paid to Essex County Council. Further, and prior to occupation of the proposed
development, the Developer shall be responsible for the provision and
implementation of a Residential Travel Information Pack per dwelling, for
sustainable transport, approved by Essex County Council, to include six one day
travel vouchers for use with the relevant local public transport operator.
REASON: In the interests of reducing the need to travel by car and promoting
sustainable development and transport in accordance with policies DM9 and DM10
of the Highway Authority’s Development Management Policies, adopted as County

51

Page 62

Council Supplementary Guidance in February 2011, and Uttlesford Local Plan
Policy GEN1.

13. All mitigation measures and/or works shall be carried out in accordance with the
details contained in the revised Ecological Impact Assessment (CSA Environmental,
updated December 2019), as already submitted with the planning application and
agreed in principle with the local planning authority prior to determination. This
includes the creation of approximately 6ha of open space designed to offer high
quality semi-natural habitats, promotion of responsible recreational use of the
nearby Alsa Woods Local Wildlife Site through provision of interpretation board and
information leaflets, compensatory hedgerow planting with native species in addition
to supplementary planting to strengthen existing and retained hedgerows, planting
of a number of native trees to compensate for the loss of trees (mature oak tree (T1)
and a semi-mature goat willow, creation of new swales and ditches (planted with
dense reedbeds to create complex habitat structures of interest to wildlife) in order
to mitigate for the loss of loss of pond P1 and the majority of the existing ditch
network, accordance with BS5837:2012 to avoid impact to off-site woodland and
on-site hedgerows, standard best practice construction phase pollution prevention
and control measures, a bat sensitive external lighting scheme developed for both
the construction and postconstruction phases, prior to commencement of any felling
or pruning works to tree T1 update surveys will be carried - either by an updated full
aerial inspection on the day of felling or alternatively once three emergence/reentry surveys have been undertaken and confirmed no evidence of bats, due
diligence for badgers and nesting birds, reptile mitigation strategy, and bird strike
risk evaluation and avoidance strategy.’
REASON:: To conserve Protected and Priority species and allow the LPA to
discharge its duties under the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 and s40 of the NERC
Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species).
14. A construction environmental management plan (CEMP: Biodiversity) shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
The CEMP (Biodiversity) shall include the following.
a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities.
b) Identification of “biodiversity protection zones”.
c) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working
practices) to avoid or reduce impacts during construction (may be provided as a set
of method statements).
d) The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity
features.
e) The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be
present on site to oversee works.
f) Responsible persons and lines of communication.
g) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works
(ECoW) or similarly competent person.
h) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs.
The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the
construction period strictly in accordance with the approved details, unless
otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority
REASON: To conserve Protected and Priority species and allow the LPA to
discharge its duties under the UK Habitats Regulations 2017, the Wildlife &
52

Page 63

Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats
& species).
15. A Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy for Protected and Priority species shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
The content of the Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy shall include the following:
a) Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed enhancement
measures;
b) detailed designs to achieve stated objectives;
c) locations of proposed enhancement measures by appropriate maps and
plans;
d) timetable for implementation demonstrating that works are aligned with
the proposed phasing of development;
e) persons responsible for implementing the enhancement measures;
f) details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance (where relevant).
The works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and shall
be retained in that manner thereafter.”
REASON: To enhance Protected and Priority Species/habitats and allow the LPA
to discharge its duties under the s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats &
species).
16. A lighting design scheme for biodiversity shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority. The scheme shall identify those features on
site that are particularly sensitive for bats and that are likely to cause disturbance
along important routes used for foraging; and show how and where external lighting
will be installed (through the provision of appropriate technical specification) so that
it can be clearly demonstrated that areas to be lit will not disturb or prevent bats
using their territory.
All external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the specifications and
locations set out in the scheme and maintained thereafter in accordance with the
scheme. Under no circumstances should any other external lighting be installed
without prior consent from the local planning authority.
REASON: To allow the LPA to discharge its duties under the UK Habitats
Regulations 2017, the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the
NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species)
17. A Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) shall be submitted to,
and be approved in writing by, the local planning authority prior occupation of the
development.
The content of the LEMP shall include the following:
a) Description and evaluation of features to be managed.
b) Ecological trends and constraints on site that might influence
management.
c) Aims and objectives of management.
d) Appropriate management options for achieving aims and objectives.
e) Prescriptions for management actions.
f) Preparation of a work schedule (including an annual work plan capable of
being rolled forward over a five-year period).
g) Details of the body or organisation responsible for implementation of the
plan.
53

Page 64

h) Ongoing monitoring and remedial measures.
The LEMP shall also include details of the legal and funding mechanism(s) by which
the long-term implementation of the plan will be secured by the developer with the
management body(ies) responsible for its delivery. The plan shall also set out
(where the results from monitoring show that conservation aims and objectives of
the LEMP are not being met) how contingencies and/or remedial action will be
identified, agreed and implemented so that the development still delivers the fully
functioning biodiversity objectives of the originally approved scheme. The approved
plan will be implemented in accordance with the approved details.
REASON: To allow the LPA to discharge its duties under the UK Habitats
Regulations 2017, the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the
NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species)
18. No dwelling hereby approved shall be occupied so long as of Elsenham
Emergency Hut Level Crossing remains open. Any dwelling may not be occupied
until this rail crossing has been closed and a footpath diversion has been provided
or a bridge or other possible measures to be agreed by the Council in writing are in
place.
REASON: In the interests of the railway safety and ease of movement and in
accordance with Policies GEN1 and GEN2 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted
2005).
19. 1. No development or preliminary groundworks can commence until a
programme of archaeological trial trenching has been secured and undertaken in
accordance with a written scheme of investigation which has been submitted by the
applicant and approved by the planning authority.
2. A mitigation strategy detailing the excavation/preservation strategy shall be
submitted to the local planning authority following the completion of this work and
before any reserved matters are agreed.
3. No development or preliminary groundworks can commence on those areas
containing archaeological deposits until the satisfactory completion of fieldwork, as
detailed in the mitigation strategy, and which has been signed off by the local
planning authority through its historic environment advisors.
4. The applicant will submit to the local planning authority a post-excavation
assessment (to be submitted within three months of the
completion of fieldwork, unless otherwise agreed in advance with the Planning
Authority). This will result in the completion of post-excavation analysis, preparation
of a full site archive and report ready for deposition at the local museum, and
submission of a publication report.
REASON: In the interests of archaeological protection in accordance with Policy
ENV4 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005) and the Planning Policy
Framework 2019.
20. No development shall commence until confirmation has been provided by
Thames Water, submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority,
that their sewage network can receive the development’s foul drainage proposals.
REASON: To ensure that there is no detrimental impact on the water environment
potentially arising from the increased flows contributing to the network as a result of
this development and to ensure suitable drainage for the development, in
accordance with Policies GEN2 and GEN3 Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005).
54

Page 65

21. No development approved by this permission shall take place until a Phase 2
site investigation report, as recommended by the previously submitted Phase I GeoEnvironmental assessment dated April 2019 prepared by Lees Roxburgh has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Where found
to be necessary by the phase 2 report a remediation strategy to deal with the risks
associated with contamination of the site shall also be submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The remediation strategy shall include an
options appraisal giving full details of the remediation measures required and how
they are to be undertaken. The strategy shall include a plan providing details of how
the remediation works shall be judged to be complete and arrangements for
contingency action. In the event that contamination is found at any time when
carrying out the approved development, it shall be reported in writing immediately
to the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment shall then be
undertaken by a competent person. A written report of the findings should be
forwarded for approval to the Local Planning Authority. Following completion of
remedial measures a verification report shall be prepared that demonstrates the
effectiveness of the remediation carried out. No part of the development should be
occupied until all remedial and validation works are approved in writing.
REASON: In the interests of safety, residential amenity and proper planning of the
area, in accordance with Policies GEN2, GEN4 and ENV14 of the Uttlesford Local
Plan (adopted 2005).
22. Prior to commencement of development a noise impact assessment and
detailed a noise insulation scheme of the building(s) and or associated plant, shall
be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The
assessment shall have regards to the principles of good acoustic design as outlined
within Professional Practice Guidance on Planning & Noise (2017) and British
Standard 8233:2014 Sound Insulation and noise reduction for buildings. The design
of the development shall ensure that façade noise levels at all bedroom window and
door positions do not exceed 45 dB LAeq (8 hr) and 60dB LAmax between 23:00
and 07:00. Furthermore, noise levels at the façade of living room window and door
positions shall not exceed 50dB LAeq 16hr between 07:00 – 23:00.
REASON: In the interests of the amenity in accordance with Policies GEN2, GEN4
and ENV11 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005).
23. Prior to first use of the foul water pumping station commencing, a scheme shall
be submitted for approval to the Local Planning Authority to demonstrate that the
rating level of sound emitted from the operation of the pumping station shall not
exceed the typical background sound level at any noise sensitive premises. All
measurements shall be made in accordance with BS4142:2014 (as amended).
REASON: In the interests of the amenity in accordance with Policies GEN2, GEN4
and ENV11 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005).
24. Prior to the commencement of the development, a detailed Construction
Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority, and the plan shall include the following:
a) The construction programme and phasing
b) Hours of operation, delivery and storage of materials
c) Details of any highway works necessary to enable construction to take place
d) Parking and loading arrangements
55

Page 66

e) Details of hoarding
f) Management of traffic to reduce congestion
g) Control of dust and dirt on the public highway
h) Details of consultation and complaint management with local businesses and
neighbours
i) Waste management proposals
j) Mechanisms to deal with environmental impacts such as noise and vibration,
air quality and dust, light and odour.
k) Details of any proposed piling operations, including justification for the
proposed piling strategy, a vibration impact assessment and proposed control
and mitigation measures.
All works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved CEMP thereafter.
REASON: In the interests of the amenity in accordance with Policies GEN2, GEN4
and ENV11 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005).
25. No fixed lighting shall be installed until a detailed scheme of lighting has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme
shall be include the design of the lighting unit, any supporting structure, the extent
of the area to be illuminated, and the intensity of the lights specified in Lux. All
external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the details approved. The
intensity of illumination of the lighting shall at all times be at the minimum level
necessary to ensure safe and secure operational use of the site.

REASON:

In the interests of the amenity of surrounding locality
residential/business premises in accordance with Policies GEN1, GEN2, and GEN4
of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005).
26. 5% of the dwellings approved by this permission shall be built to Category 3
(wheelchair user) housing M4(3)(2)(a) wheelchair adaptable. The remaining
dwellings approved by this permission shall be built to Category 2: Accessible and
adaptable dwellings M4(2) of the Building Regulations 2010 Approved Document
M, Volume 1 2015 edition.
REASON: To ensure compliance with Policy GEN2 (c) of the Uttlesford Local Plan
2005 and the subsequent SPD on Accessible Homes and Playspace
27. Prior to the occupation of the dwellings hereby permitted, Electric Vehicle
Charging Points shall be made available from every dwelling.
REASON: In order to reduce carbon emissions and encourage renewable energy
in accordance with the provisions of Policy EN15 of the Uttlesford Local Plan 2005

56

Page 67

Organisation: Uttlesford District Council
Date: 14th April 2021
Department: Planning
Date:
20th January 2021
© Crown copyright and database rights 2016 Ordnance Survey 0100018688

57

Page 68

Appeal Decision
Inquiry opened on 9 November 2020
Site visit made on 3 November 2020
by David Wildsmith BSc(Hons) MSc CEng MICE FCIHT MRTPI
an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State
Decision date: 22nd December 2020

Appeal Ref: APP/C1570/W/19/3243744
Land east of Elsenham, to the north of the B1051, Henham Road
•
•
•
•

•

The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
against a failure to give notice within the prescribed period of a decision on an
application for outline planning permission.
The appeal is made by Fairfield (Elsenham) Limited against Uttlesford District Council.
The application Ref UTT/17/3573/OP, is dated 7 December 2017.
The development proposed is for up to 350 dwellings (Class C3); a One Form Entry
primary school including Early Years and Childcare Setting for up to 56 places (Class
D1); open spaces and landscaping including provision of junior football pitch and
changing rooms; access from B1051 Henham Road with associated street lighting and
street furniture; pedestrian, cycle and vehicle routes, including streets, squares, lanes
and footpaths along with associated street lighting and street furniture; pedestrian and
cycle link to Elsenham Station and potential pedestrian and cycle link to Hailes Wood;
vehicular and cycle parking; provision and/or upgrade/diversion of services including
water, sewerage, telecommunications, electricity and gas, and service media and
apparatus; on-plot renewable energy measures including photo-voltaics, solar heating
and ground source heat pumps; drainage works, sustainable drainage systems and
ground and surface water attenuation features; associated ground works; and boundary
treatments including construction hoardings.
The inquiry sat for 8 days on 9 to 13 and 16 to 18 November 2020.

Decision
1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for up to 350 dwellings
(Class C3); a One Form Entry primary school including Early Years and Childcare
Setting for up to 56 places (Class D1); open spaces and landscaping including
provision of junior football pitch and changing rooms; access from B1051 Henham
Road with associated street lighting and street furniture; pedestrian, cycle and
vehicle routes, including streets, squares, lanes and footpaths along with associated
street lighting and street furniture; pedestrian and cycle link to Elsenham Station
and potential pedestrian and cycle link to Hailes Wood; vehicular and cycle parking;
provision and/or upgrade/diversion of services including water, sewerage,
telecommunications, electricity and gas, and service media and apparatus; on-plot
renewable energy measures including photo-voltaics, solar heating and ground
source heat pumps; drainage works, sustainable drainage systems and ground and
surface water attenuation features; associated ground works; and boundary
treatments including construction hoardings, on land east of Elsenham, to the north
of the B1051, Henham Road, in accordance with the terms of the application Ref
UTT/17/3573/OP, dated 7 December 2017, subject to the conditions set out in the
attached Schedule.
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 69

Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/19/3243744

Preliminary matters
2. The application was submitted in outline, with only access to be determined at this
stage. Uttlesford District Council (‘the Council’) failed to determine this application
within the appropriate timescale, and the appellant subsequently lodged an appeal
against non-determination, in December 2019.
3. A range of documents accompanied the application, including a Design and Access
Statement (DAS) and a DAS Addendum, which contained a Parameters Plan
designed to ‘fix’ the key parameters of the proposal. The application was supported
by an Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) and Environmental Statement (ES),
which covered a large number of matters including landscape impact1, heritage, air
quality, transportation and flood risk. Additional supporting documents were also
submitted, including Planning and Transport Statements, a Green Infrastructure
Strategy and Open Space Strategy, and a Mineral Resources Plan.
4. The inquiry was originally scheduled to open in April 2020, and in preparation for
this I conducted a telephone case management conference (CMC) with the main
parties in February 2020, to discuss procedural and administrative matters relating
to the running of the inquiry. However, the onset of the coronavirus pandemic
forced the postponement of the inquiry, and I held a second telephone CMC in
September 2020, at which it was agreed that the inquiry would proceed as a virtual
event with the main parties and interested persons making their contributions by
means of video appearances, over the internet.
5. When it submitted its Statement of Case (SoC) in February 2020, the Council,
indicated that if it had been able to determine the application, it would have refused
it for 3 reasons. In summary, these putative reasons for refusal related to concerns
that the proposed development would be located outside the defined development
limits of Elsenham and would fail to protect or enhance the character of the
countryside within which it would be located; that the proposed development would
lead to air quality conditions which would be detrimental to public health; and that
the proposal did not provide any mechanism to secure the infrastructure
requirements arising from the development.
6. In the run-up to the inquiry the appellant agreed several Statements of Common
Ground (SoCG) with various parties:
• Planning: with the Council, signed and dated 6 March 2020;
• Transport and Highways: with Essex County Council (ECC) as local highway
authority, signed and dated 19 March 2020;
• Transport and Highways: with Highways England (HE) as highway authority
for the Strategic Road Network, signed and dated 17 March 2020;
• Transport and Highways: with the Joint Parish Councils of Henham and
Ugley2 (‘the JPC’), signed and dated 7 October 2020;
• Air Quality: with the Council, signed and dated 17 March 2020, with an
Addendum signed and dated 6 November 2020.
7. However, shortly before the inquiry was due to open the Council published its air
quality modelling data for Uttlesford for 2019, which showed an improvement in air
quality compared with the 2018 data. As a result, the Council commissioned its air
quality consultant to prepare an updated assessment of the potential impact of the
1
2

In the form of a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment - LVIA
Who were participating in the inquiry as a Rule 6(6) Party

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 702

Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/19/3243744

appeal proposal on air quality, taken cumulatively with other applications that are
currently proposed in and around Elsenham and which potentially would impact
upon Grove Hill, Stansted Mountfitchet. Having considered the findings of this
assessment the Council indicated that it did not intend to maintain an objection on
air quality grounds, and would not present evidence to defend its second putative
reason for refusal, effectively withdrawing that reason for refusal.
8. Moreover, although the putative reasons for refusal made reference to policies in
the emerging Uttlesford Local Plan3, as well as to saved policies in the Uttlesford
Local Plan (ULP) adopted in 2005, the Council withdrew this emerging Local Plan in
late April 2020. It was therefore agreed at the second CMC that this emerging plan
and its policies had no weight and were not material considerations in this appeal.
Further details of the relevant planning history are given later in this decision.
9. In the week before the inquiry opened I undertook a comprehensive site visit,
unaccompanied, but working to an itinerary4 prepared and agreed by the Council,
the appellant and the JPC. None of the matters raised during the inquiry caused me
to consider that I needed to re-visit the appeal site or the surrounding area, and
the main parties agreed that a post-inquiry site visit was not necessary.
10. After the inquiry had closed, but in accordance with an agreed timescale, the
appellant submitted completed planning obligations in the form of an agreement
and a unilateral undertaking, both made under section 106 (S106) of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990, as amended. I deal with these obligations in more detail
under the fourth main issue.
Site description, surrounding area and details of the appeal proposal
11. Elsenham is identified in saved ULP Policy S3 as one of 5 Key Rural Settlements,
with this policy going on to explain that within the boundaries of such settlements,
development compatible with the settlement’s character and countryside setting
will be permitted. The appeal site comprises some 19.65 hectares (ha) of
predominantly arable agricultural land, sited to the north-east of Elsenham outside
the settlement boundary, and falling within both Elsenham and Henham Parishes.
12. The site is fairly level, with a high point of some 105.65 metres (m) above
Ordnance Datum (AOD) towards its north-eastern corner. An existing hedgerow
runs east/west across part of the site and there is a mature oak tree close to the
site’s western boundary, with an existing pond lying a little to its east. This tree and
pond would be retained within an area of open space, under the appeal proposal.
13. Part of the site’s western boundary is formed by fairly dense vegetation alongside
the West Anglia Railway Line, beyond which lies much of the existing built area of
Elsenham village. A narrow ‘finger’ of the appeal site extends northwards to allow
for a pedestrian and cycle link to Elsenham rail station which lies just beyond the
appeal site to the north-west. The south-western part of the appeal site’s boundary
abuts existing built development which lies to the east of the railway line at Park
Road and Hailes Wood.
14. Further agricultural land bounds the site to the north, whilst an established
hedgerow forms the site’s eastern boundary, with an area of former sand pits lying
further east. The appeal site projects into this former sand pits area to provide a
sustainable drainage (SuDS) feature. A hedgerow also forms much of the site’s
3
4

Which had been submitted to the Secretary of State for examination in January 2019
See detailed site visit itinerary set out at Document (Doc) 11

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

3
Page 71

Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/19/3243744

southern boundary, with an undeveloped treed area and a disused cricket ground
abutting the site to the south of this boundary. Public Footpath 21 crosses this
disused cricket ground in a more or less east/west direction, and a further Public
Footpath, No 15, also referred to as ‘the Farmer’s Line’, runs east/west some
distance to the north of the appeal site.
15. Henham Road, the B1051 lies a little further south, and it is from this road that the
appeal site would take its vehicular access, by means of a proposed priority
junction and a length of road passing into the main part of the appeal site at its
south-eastern corner. This proposed access would be located some 200m to the
east of the existing village entrance, where the speed limit changes from 40mph
outside the village, to 30mph within. A number of Grade II listed buildings5 lie on
the south side of Henham Road, between the proposed site access and the existing
village entrance, with a further Grade II listed building6 at Elsenham rail station,
close to the northern extent of the appeal site.
16. In terms of services and facilities, Elsenham has a small convenience store in the
form of a Tesco Express, located close to the junction of High Street (a continuation
of the B1051 Henham Road) and Station Road, with other shops in the vicinity
being a Post Office, hair salon and take-away food outlet. The Elsenham Church of
England Primary School also lies on High Street, close to the Crown Inn public
house, which is sited at the junction of High Street and Hall Road. In addition
Elsenham has a village hall, which I understand also functions as a place of
worship; St Mary’s Church a little distance outside the village to the south-east; a
General Practitioners’ (GP) Surgery on Station Road; and a Recreation Ground,
Bowls Club and Memorial Hall, accessed from Leigh Drive.
17. The B1051 continues westwards to the larger village of Stansted Mountfitchet, a
mile or so away, which it enters through traffic signals on Grove Hill. Traffic
conditions on Grove Hill are the subject of many of the concerns raised by local
residents and the JPC, as detailed later. Stansted Mountfitchet contains a railway
station and additional services and facilities, including secondary schooling, larger
food stores, a wider range of shops and services, and dental surgeries. Also in the
general locality is the market town of Bishop’s Stortford, and Stansted Airport.
18. Full details of the proposed development are set out in the banner heading for this
decision, but in summary the proposal would provide a residential development of
up to 350 dwellings, open space, landscaping, a junior football pitch and changing
rooms, together with a site for a 1 form entry (1FE) primary school and an Early
Years and Childcare facility. Associated infrastructure is also proposed, such as
SuDS and on-plot renewable energy measures. Some 13.45ha of the overall site
area would comprise built development, with the Parameters Plan showing that the
development would have a maximum height of 12m above finished ground level. In
addition, an Illustrative Master Plan was submitted to show one way in which the
site could be laid out, with most homes noted to be 2 or 2½ storeys, with 2½ and 3
storey buildings marking key nodes and landmarks.
19. Vehicular and pedestrian access is proposed by means of the aforementioned new
priority junction with Henham Road, from where a new footway would be
constructed along the northern side of Henham Road, to link with an existing
footway to the west. A short length of new footway would also be provided on the
south side of Henham Road, to link existing sections of footway. There would also
5
6

Elsenham Place, Gardeners Cottage (also known as Lilac Cottage), and various associated buildings
The Waiting Room on the east side of the railway line

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 724

Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/19/3243744

be a pedestrian and cycle link to Elsenham rail station, at the site’s north-western
corner, with the possibility of a further pedestrian and cycle link to Hailes Wood,
although this latter link is not a firm part of the proposal at appeal.
Background
20. There is a fairly complex planning history relating to this site and the wider area,
and as this was discussed and referred to at the inquiry, I consider it helpful to set
out some of the relevant facts and background before moving on to consider the
main issues in this appeal.
21. Back in 2006 the Council commenced preparation of a Core Strategy to replace the
adopted 2005 ULP, a process which eventually culminated in the submission of the
‘2014 Local Plan’. The appellant’s land interests at Elsenham, which included the
current appeal site, were allocated in this 2014 Local Plan for an urban extension to
the north-east of the village for 2,100 dwellings, with potential future extension to
3,500 homes after 2031. It was against this backdrop that the appellant submitted
an outline planning application7, in August 2013, on a larger site of some 51ha
which included most of the current appeal site.
22. This earlier proposal was for, amongst other things, up to 800 dwellings, a primary
school, up to 0.5ha of employment floorspace, up to 1,400 square metres (sqm) of
retail uses, up to 640 sqm of health centre use and up to 600 sqm of community
buildings, together with appropriate open space and infrastructure. This was
refused by the Council in November 2013 with a single reason for refusal citing the
alleged harmful effect upon the character and appearance of the countryside and
the loss of agricultural land. The refusal was appealed and was determined by the
Secretary of State (SoS), having been called-in for his own determination.
23. This appeal was heard at an inquiry held in late 2014, but before the Inspector
submitted his Report to the SoS in May 2015, the Council formally withdrew the
emerging 2014 Local Plan, following concerns raised by the Inspector who was
examining it. As a result, the Inspector who considered the earlier appeal concluded
that no weight should be given to this withdrawn plan. Overall, he recommended
that the appeal should be dismissed, and in his decision letter of August 2016 the
SoS dismissed the appeal, upholding the Inspector’s conclusions, but with varied
reasons on some matters. To conclude on this matter, the evidence before the
inquiry indicates that the appellant no longer controls the land shown outside of the
appeal site boundary, and is no longer involved in the promotion of this land.
24. Since that time, a further emerging Local Plan has progressed to examination
stage, being submitted to the SoS in January 2019, but as has already been noted
above, this emerging Local Plan was withdrawn by the Council in April 2020,
following the Inspectors’ interim conclusions. As has also been noted earlier, it was
agreed at the second CMC that this emerging Local Plan and its policies have no
weight and are not material considerations in this appeal.
Main issues
25. Once its concerns regarding air quality matters had been addressed, the Council’s
putative reasons for refusal covered 2 main topics: the size, scale and siting of the
proposed development, outside the defined settlement boundary of Elsenham; and
the absence of any mechanism to secure the infrastructure requirements arising
from the development.
7

Reference UTT/13/0808/OP

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

5
Page 73

Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/19/3243744

26. The Council’s putative reasons for refusal did not cover any specific highways or
traffic concerns, but the likely impact of the proposed development on traffic
conditions on local roads, and especially in Stansted Mountfitchet, formed a major
part of the JPC’s case and was raised by many interested persons. With this in
mind, and in light of the evidence presented and the planning policy background set
out above, I consider that the main issues in this case are:
• The effect of the proposed development on the character and appearance of
the surrounding area;
• The effect of the proposed development in traffic and transport terms, on the
safety and convenience of users of the nearby highway network;
• The extent to which the proposed development would be consistent with the
development plan for the area, and the weight to be given to relevant
development plan policies; and
• Whether the submitted planning obligations would satisfactorily address the
impact of the proposed development.
27. Having assessed the main issues, I then look at a number of other matters raised,
before moving on to consider the benefits and disbenefits of the proposal. I then
carry out a final planning balance and reach my overall conclusion.
Reasons
Main issue 1 – The effect on character and appearance
28. The appeal site and surrounding area have already been described in paragraphs 11
to 17, above. Importantly, the site lies outside the settlement boundary of
Elsenham, and is therefore considered to be in the countryside for planning
purposes. In such circumstances, saved ULP Policy S7 applies. Amongst other
things this policy explains that in the countryside, which will be protected for its
own sake, planning permission will only be granted for development that needs to
take place there, or is appropriate to a rural area. It also explains that development
will only be permitted if its appearance protects or enhances the particular
character of the part of the countryside within which it is set, or if there are special
reasons why the development in the form proposed needs to be there.
29. I explore the weight to be given to this policy later in this decision, but it is
sufficient at present to note that all parties accept that the proposal would be at
odds with this policy, and would therefore be in conflict with the development plan.
30. Landscape witnesses for the 3 main parties collaborated to produce a Joint Position
Statement (JPS) on Landscape, Visual and Character Matters. They all agree that
the appeal site and surroundings do not constitute a valued landscape in the
context of paragraph 170(a) of the National Planning Policy Framework (‘the
Framework’). The Council also notes that the area has no statutory designation and
no identified quality in landscape terms in the development plan, but maintains that
this does not mean that the landscape has no value or that it cannot be significantly
harmed by development. The JPC take a similar view, arguing that the site and
surroundings have a local value, containing features and characteristics which are
important to conserve and enhance, as reflected in paragraph 170(b) of the
Framework. The appellant’s view is that the value of the landscape is at the local
level, but that it has no exceptional quality.
31. The JPS provided background and factual information, and assisted in defining the
scope of the discussion which took place between these witnesses at a round table
session (RTS) at the inquiry. This concentrated on a number of topics, under the
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 746

Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/19/3243744

general ‘character and appearance’ heading, and I have based my consideration of
this issue on the most relevant of these topics, summarised under the sub-headings
detailed below. In coming to my conclusions on these matters I have had regard to
the views expressed by each of the landscape witnesses along with the wide variety
of photographic material submitted in evidence, but have also relied on my own
observations of the site and the surrounding area made at my pre-inquiry site visit.
Effects on local landscape character
32. The appeal site lies entirely within the B10 ‘Broxted Farmland Plateau’ Landscape
Character Area (LCA) which is a generally flat, open, elevated agricultural
landscape, with large-scale arable fields, intermittent hedges and rural lanes, and is
considered to be of moderate to high sensitivity. The appeal site shares many of
these characteristics, comprising part of a large arable field and all of the smaller
field to its south. There is, however, a change in landscape character to the south
of the appeal site, north of Henham Road, where the land exhibits a more enclosed
and intimate parkland landscape, with frequent mature trees, along with the
currently unused village cricket ground.
33. This more enclosed and intimate landscape is reflective of the A3 ‘Stort River
Valley’ LCA, which lies to the south of Henham Road, but I am not persuaded that
this influence carries onto the appeal site itself, as maintained by the JPC, or that
the site should be seen as transitional between these 2 landscape types.
34. In landscape terms it is clear that the proposed development would have an
immediate, large-scale, permanent impact on the appeal site itself, by introducing a
significant amount of new residential development onto this presently open area of
slightly rising countryside. Both the Council and the JPC consider this impact to be
high adverse, and it is in the context of the loss of the current agricultural nature of
the existing landscape that the Council argues there would be a conflict with saved
ULP Policy GEN2. Mr Etchells, the Council’s landscape witness, accepts that this
policy is concerned with design rather than landscape protection as such, but
considers the appeal proposal to be at odds with its second criterion, which requires
new development to safeguard important environmental features in its setting.
35. I consider there to be some merit in this view, but I have also noted that the appeal
proposal is accompanied by a Green Infrastructure Strategy and Addendum which
contain objectives and suggested measures, aimed at creating a high quality and
distinctive landscape and public realm setting, while also minimising the impact of
the development. This means that the effects on the site would be mitigated, at
least to some degree, by the retention and enhancement of much of the boundary
vegetation, hedgerows and other features, along with open space provision within
the site and new hedgerow and tree planting along the site’s northern boundary.
36. On this latter point it is clearly the case that at the present time there is no physical
feature defining the northern boundary of the appeal site, but as the 10m wide
green corridor proposed for this boundary would reflect the east/west hedgerow
which borders Footpath 15 a little further north, it would not be out of keeping with
the general character of the area.
37. In addition, the proposed siting of the junior football pitch in the southern part of
the site, with new development generally set back behind it, would help to retain
the more secluded character of the area immediately to the south of the appeal
site. Because of this I am not persuaded that the proposed development would
have an adverse effect on the Stort Valley LCA, or harm the setting of Elsenham

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

7
Page 75

Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/19/3243744

Cross - the historic part of the village located immediately to the south of the
appeal site - both as maintained by the JPC.
38. Furthermore, it is also important to assess the impact of such development not only
on the appeal site itself, but in the wider area and over a longer timescale. In this
regard, and as set out in the JPS, all parties agree that there would only be a slight
adverse impact on the landscape character of the wider area, defined as up to
about 0.5 kilometres (km) from the appeal site. I share that view, having regard to
the overall degree of enclosure of the site – bounded by established hedgerows and
trees on its western, southern and eastern boundaries – along with its proximity to
the existing built-up area. Moreover, the impact of the proposed development
would lessen over time, as the proposed boundary planting matures.
39. I accept that from some viewpoints the proposed development would result in new
built form being seen against the skyline, without the benefit of a wooded
backdrop, which characterises some of the recent new development which has
taken place on the western side of the village. However, it seems to me that the
locations where such views could be obtained are relatively limited, with any views
themselves being filtered by closer vegetation, such as would be the case if the
development was to be viewed from the Farmers Line (Footpath 15) to the north of
the appeal site, as shown in one of the visualisations attached to the JPS.
40. Similarly, whilst the proposed development would bring built form closer to Mill
Road in the east - the location of another JPS viewpoint - I am not persuaded,
having visited the viewpoint and considered the visualisation in the JPS, that the
likely changes would be unacceptably harmful to either character or appearance. In
simple terms the roofs of new houses would be seen at a closer distance than is
currently the case, and would appear to be a little more prominent. But the general
impression would still be one of looking towards a modestly-sized urban area, with
the development largely contained by boundary planting.
41. Finally, I have noted the Council’s concerns that the proposed development would
appear as a visually separate and somewhat discordant new area of development.
But whilst I acknowledge that there would be limited inter-visibility between much
of the existing village and the proposed development area, I do not consider that
this would be unacceptable in landscape character terms, having regard to the
points detailed above.
Effects on the approach to Elsenham
42. The appeal proposal would result in changes to the appearance of a length of
Henham Road, arising from the introduction of the new site access junction and
new sections of footway. However, whilst these would be new features, similar
features already exist in the general vicinity, such that they would not be
unacceptably out of keeping in this setting. Travellers approaching Elsenham on
Henham Road from the east would already have passed a number of residential
properties on the south side of the road, fronted by a length of footway, just before
they would encounter the new junction on the northern side. Once past this new
junction there is an existing footway on the south side of the road along with
further, existing buildings, namely the Grade II listed buildings of Lilac Cottage and
Elsenham Place, with their associated outbuildings and boundary walling. Travellers
would then enter the 30mph area of the village itself, where street-lighting begins.
It is then only a relatively short distance before the existing footway begins on the
northern side of the road, running outside residential properties which continue on
this side of the road up to the Crown Inn.
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 768

Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/19/3243744

43. I acknowledge that the proposed junction would be located outside the current
village development limits, and accept that the junction and its associated street
lighting would result in a more suburban feel to this particular location. However, in
view of the points detailed above, and the presence of existing built development
(albeit somewhat sporadic) between the proposed junction and the existing village
entrance, I do not share the Council’s view that it would be an isolated suburban
feature within a largely rural area, and I do not consider that it would be an
unexpected or atypical feature on the approach to a village like this.
44. For the new junction, I accept that there are level differences of over 2m in places
which would need to be addressed to achieve the necessary 4.5m by 120m visibility
splays, with the clearing and cutting-back of some vegetation. However, I see no
reason why this could not be achieved without unduly urbanising the appearance of
the junction. In this regard I note that the proposed access is more or less identical
to the access proposed at this same location for the earlier 800 dwelling proposal
on this site, referred to above. Despite that scheme being larger than the current
proposal, both the Inspector and SoS who considered that proposal concluded that
impacts on character and appearance only warranted limited weight.
45. Some cutting-back and clearing of vegetation is also likely to be necessary on the
northern side of Henham Road, where existing hedging sits at the back of the
verge, to allow the construction of the new 2m wide footway. No detailed
construction drawings of this proposed footway have been submitted, and I accept
that it may be necessary for some modest retaining structures to be provided at the
back of this footway in some locations, to deal with level differences. But again, I
see no reason why this could not be achieved in a manner characteristic of this
edge of village location, and no firm evidence has been submitted to suggest that
the existing hedgerow could not be largely retained.
46. The new access road would require the removal of about 10 mature trees, including
a group of 5 tall Scots Pines, but the evidence before me is that whilst these trees
are noticeable in the landscape, they are not of high arboreal value. Indeed, the
appellant’s Arboricultural Assessment classes these trees as generally low quality
Category (C), in fair condition, but with a number of defects, such as dead wood,
hanging limbs and dense ivy cover. As replacement trees are proposed in this area,
along with further additional tree planting around this entrance to the site, and
throughout the proposed development, I do not consider that the loss of these
trees would be unduly harmful in character or appearance terms.
47. Furthermore, no development is proposed along the new access road itself until it
enters the main part of the appeal site, meaning that buildings on the site would be
set back some appreciable distance from Henham Road and would not be unduly
noticeable from this road. Whilst the roofs of some of the new dwellings would
undoubtedly be seen above the existing and strengthened boundary vegetation any
impact would be mitigated, at least to some degree, by the intention to limit the
height of the vast majority of new properties to 2 or 2½ storeys. Any impact would
also be limited as the boundary vegetation matures, such that on balance I am not
persuaded that the proposal would result in an unacceptable impact on either the
character or the appearance of this approach into Elsenham.
Relationship of the appeal scheme to Elsenham
48. Part of the Council’s first putative reason for refusal alleged that new built form of
this size and scale would represent a separate physical area of considerable urban
development within the countryside, significantly divorced and isolated from the
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

9
Page 77

Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/19/3243744

settlement of Elsenham. At the RTS the Council elaborated on this view, expressing
particular concern that the proposed development would appear discordant within
an area which presently has a largely rural character, with just limited and filtered
views of the existing village. The Council also maintained that the new dwellings
and school would appear as visually separated from the existing settlement,
leapfrogging the existing containment along the railway line.
49. The JPC echoes many of these views. As well as being critical of the location of the
proposed access some way outside the existing settlement gateway, like the
Council, it contends that the proposed development would be poorly related to the
existing built form of Elsenham and would have limited physical links with the
existing village as it would lie to the east of the railway, which forms a physical
barrier and provides visual screening. As a result, the JPC argue that the proposed
development would be perceived as separate in terms of community.
50. However, whilst I accept that the railway line does form both a physical and visual
barrier, with the majority of development in Elsenham currently lying to its west, it
does not automatically follow that this situation cannot change. Indeed, evidence
before the inquiry indicates that a significant amount of new housing has actually
been approved and/or built east of the railway in recent years. Undisputed figures
put forward by the appellant at the RTS show that of the new housing approved at
Elsenham since the time of the 2013 application, some 27% or 162 units have been
to the east of the railway line, including the new development at Hailes Wood which
some of the currently proposed development would abut.
51. In addition, some key community facilities lie to the east of the railway, namely the
existing primary school and the Crown Inn public house. It is also the case that the
appeal site wraps around the existing cricket ground, and whilst this sports facility
is not currently in use, there was no suggestion from any of the participants at the
inquiry that this facility is not part of the village.
52. In terms of topography, much of the existing built development in Elsenham lies
generally at an elevation of 90-100m AOD, and this would be largely mirrored by
the proposed development, most of which would sit at a similar elevation, with only
the north-eastern corner, earmarked for the primary school buildings and its
associated playing fields, rising above 100m AOD.
53. All of the above points lead me to the view that there should not be any ‘in
principle’ reason why development should not occur to the east of the railway line.
Because of this, and as the proposed development would immediately abut existing
development east of the railway, I do not accept that it would be divorced or
appear visually separated or isolated from the existing settlement.
The effect on visual receptors
54. There was general agreement between the parties that the visual impact of the
proposed development would be limited from the countryside and from the village.
The only receptors likely to experience major/moderate adverse visual effects from
the development in the short and medium term were agreed, in the JPS, to be
individual properties in Henham Road and Hailes Wood, and users of Footpaths 15
and 21. The Council and the JPC also maintained that non-motorised users of
Henham Road would experience moderate adverse visual effects in the short and
medium term, but there was general agreement that the visual impact of the
proposed development at other sites would only be slight or less than slight.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 7810

Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/19/3243744

55. Insofar as long-term effects are concerned, the parties agree that there would be
no permanent major impacts. As existing and proposed boundary planting would
continue to mature over the longer term, I share that view. I note, however, that
the Council and the JPC both contend that there would still be moderate effects on
a number of receptors in the longer-term. These include a small number of
properties at Hailes Wood, users of Footpaths 15 and 21, as well as non-vehicular
users of Henham Road and a collection of properties on Henham Road.
56. In this regard I acknowledge that there would be some views of new dwellings on
the appeal site from existing residential properties at the northern end of Hailes
Wood, which would lose their presently open views across the site. However, these
existing dwellings are set some distance from the boundary of the appeal site, and
the new dwellings themselves are shown on the (admittedly illustrative) Master
Plan, as being set away from the site boundary, separated from it by landscaping
and carriageway. Furthermore, neither the Council nor the JPC suggest that there
would be any unacceptable impacts on the living conditions of occupiers of these
existing dwellings. This matter is reinforced by the putative reason for refusal,
which did not assert any adverse impact on residential amenity.
57. With respect to Footpath 15, I have already noted, above, that in my assessment
views of the proposed development would be limited from this location, especially
in light of the proposed belt of vegetation proposed for the site’s northern
boundary, and the additional planting proposed in the hedgerow to the south of
Footpath 15, which could be secured by condition if planning permission is granted.
As such, any visual impact upon users of this footpath would be restricted by 2
visual barriers and because of this I consider that the harm to users of this footpath
would be less than moderate in the long term.
58. Footpath 21 crosses the disused cricket ground, and new buildings on the appeal
site would lie more than 100m to the north, behind a strengthened belt of
vegetation at the site’s southern boundary. As such I am not persuaded that they
would be unduly noticeable to users of this footpath. I accept that footpath users
would need to cross the new access road, but I do not share the Council’s view that
this would completely change the footpath’s character and the nature and
experience of walking along it. I say this because I saw at my site visit that access
to the western end of this footpath already takes users past dwellings and kerbed
and surfaced parking areas at Hailes Wood; and because the new road would be
crossed at an uncontrolled ‘low-key’ crossing point, amid newly planted trees. For
these reasons I consider that the overall long-term visual impact of the proposed
development on users of this footpath would be less than moderate.
59. Any impact on pedestrians and cyclists using Henham Road would be less than the
impact on users of Footpath 21, as these users would be even further away from
the proposed development, with another layer of screening provided by the hedging
along the northern side of Henham Road. In addition, as the site access would turn
away from the built development on the site, any new buildings would only be likely
to be seen in limited, glimpsed views along this access road. Again I do not
consider that this could reasonably be said to represent a moderate impact. Rather,
any visual impact would only be minimal.
60. Finally, occupiers of the few properties on Henham Road that could look towards
the appeal site would be located further away from the site than users of Footpath
21. As such, the visual impact on such occupiers is likely to be less than that for
users of the footpath – which I have already found to be less than moderate.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

11
Page 79

Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/19/3243744

Summary
61. Drawing all the above points together I conclude that the proposed development
would have a clear and permanent impact on the appeal site itself, but would only
have a minimal adverse effect on the character and appearance of the wider area,
with no moderate or major adverse visual effects in the long term. I take support
for this view from the fact that during the 2 year period from submission of the
planning application to the lodging of the appeal for non-determination, the
Council’s landscape officer raised no objection to the scheme. I have also been
mindful of the fact that for the physically larger scheme which was dismissed at
appeal in 2016, both the Inspector and SoS only gave limited weight to the harm to
character and appearance of the countryside.
62. I acknowledge that the appeal proposal would be at odds with saved ULP Policy S7,
and that there would also be a modest conflict with saved ULP Policy GEN2. I
explore the weight to be given to these policies under the third main issue.
Main issue 2 – Traffic and transport considerations
63. In putting forward no putative reason for refusal relating to traffic or highways
concerns, the Council has had regard to the view of ECC as local highway authority,
set out in the main, Planning SoCG, namely that it considers the proposal to be
acceptable, subject to the imposition of a number of planning conditions. The
agreed conditions and the submitted S106 agreement, discussed later, cover all of
the matters requested by ECC.
64. In addition, HE, as strategic highway authority, accepted that the proposed
development would have only minimal impact on the operation of the Bassingbourn
Roundabout (part of Stansted Airport’s access road system) and, as a result,
agreed that there was no need to assess the impact on Junction 8 (J8) of the M11
motorway. Accordingly HE raised no objection to the appeal proposal and confirmed
this position in a SoCG with the appellant, signed and dated in March 2020.
65. However, opposition to the appeal proposal on a wide range of transport
sustainability and highway impact grounds was put forward at the inquiry by the
JPC. Despite its overall objections, the JPC did complete a SoCG with the appellant
on certain transport and highways matters, mainly agreeing distances from the
centre of the appeal site to various facilities within Elsenham, along with walking
times based on an average speed of 1.33 metres per second. The JPC’s concerns
covered a number of topics, which I deal with under the following sub-headings.
Transport sustainability and accessibility
66. There is no dispute between the parties as to the extent of facilities in Elsenham,
the disagreement arises from how this range of facilities should be viewed, and how
accessible they are considered to be. The evidence before the inquiry, detailed in
paragraph 16 above, is that the village has a GP Surgery, a primary school, a Tesco
Express, a Post Office, a hair salon, a takeaway food outlet, a public house, a
village hall, a Memorial Hall, a Bowls Club and a recreation ground.
67. Mr Watts, the transport witness for the JPC describes this range of facilities as
‘limited’, but it seems to me that these facilities would go a good way to meeting
everyday local needs, such that I favour the Council’s own view that Elsenham is
relatively well served by facilities. This view was expressed in the planning officer’s
report to Committee in late 2019, for a proposal for 130 dwellings and 0.37ha
educational use, on land west of Hall Road, for which Council Members resolved to
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 8012

Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/19/3243744

grant planning permission subject to the completion of an appropriate S106
planning obligation.
68. In terms of accessibility, the SoCG between the appellant and the JPC records the
following agreed distances and walk times from the centre of the appeal site:
• Elsenham Primary School – 920m (11 minutes);
• Elsenham GP Surgery – 1,430m (18 minutes);
• Local shops/Post Office – 1,250m (16 minutes);
• The Crown Inn – 860m (11 minutes);
• Recreation Ground – 1,380m (17 minutes);
• Proposed eastbound bus stop on Henham Road – 590m (7 minutes);
• Proposed westbound bus stop on Henham Road – 550m (7 minutes).
69. The JPC’s view was that many of these facilities lay outside the ‘desirable’ and
‘acceptable’ walking distances set out in the Institution of Highways and Transport
(IHT) document ‘Planning for Journeys on Foot’. The JPC also stated that it is widely
acknowledged that 400m is the maximum acceptable walking distance to bus stops,
as detailed in ‘Buses in Urban Developments’, published by the Chartered
Institution of Highways and Transport (CIHT).
70. However, on the first of these points, the IHT document dates back to the year
2000 and has no formal or other status in local or national planning policy. As an
alternative, the appellant maintained that it was more appropriate to look at what
had until 2012 been national guidance in the form of Planning Policy Guidance 13
(PPG13) ‘Transport’ – now superseded by the Framework. I consider there to be
some merit in this view, as not only was PPG13 a more recent document than that
published by IHT, it also had greater standing and status.
71. Whilst accepting that PPG13 no longer carries any formal weight, no equivalent
guidance on acceptable travel distances is contained within the Framework.
Because of this I consider it reasonable to have regard to the PPG13 guidance,
which stated that walking is the most important mode of travel at the local level
and offers the greatest potential to replace short car trips, particularly under 2km.
All of the facilities within the village, detailed above, fall well within this 2km range.
PPG13 also stated that cycling has the potential to substitute for short car trips,
particularly those under 5km. Clearly, all the aforementioned facilities in Elsenham
also fall well within this cycling range.
72. With regards to the CIHT document referencing a 400m maximum acceptable
walking distance to bus stops, this is again a document that carries no formal or
other status in local or national planning policy. Moreover, as its title suggests, it is
aimed at providing guidance for the layout of developments in urban areas, and it is
unclear how relevant it can be in a rural village area like Elsenham. It is, however,
also the case that the document acknowledges that the acceptability of the walking
distance is not a stand-alone consideration, with people also taking account of
overall journey times, as well as the frequency and directness of the bus service.
73. In this regard I have noted that if planning permission is granted, the appellant
would make a contribution of £935,200 which ECC would use (along with
contributions from other developments8) towards improving the local bus service
7/7A, to provide a half-hourly service operating from early morning to early
8

Such as the Rush Lane, Elsenham development of up to 40 dwellings, granted on appeal in September 2020 (Ref
APP/C1570/W/19/3242550)
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

13
Page 81

Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/19/3243744

evening, 7 days a week, with a lower frequency on Sundays. It would provide a
direct service from Stansted Airport, through Elsenham and Stansted Mountfitchet
and onwards to Bishop’s Stortford, giving improved peak hour services to local
places of employment and education, and would be available to existing residents
in the village and along its route, as well as to residents of the proposed
development. In the context of an improved bus service like this, I see no good
reason why the walk distances from the proposed development to the new bus
stops on Henham Road should not be considered acceptable.
74. There was discussion at the inquiry regarding the proposal to remove the ‘Henham
loop’ from some of these bus journeys, resulting in quicker journey times on some
journeys, but also meaning that some of the bus services would not stop at the new
stops proposed on Henham Road. As a result, these services would be less
accessible to residents of the proposed development. That said, this situation would
likely be addressed, at least to some extent, by ECC’s intention to use some of the
financial contribution to provide new, improved and re-arranged bus stops at the
Crown Inn. Because of this, and as the removal of the ‘Henham Loop’ would only
apply to some of the bus services, I do not consider that this would make the
enhanced bus service unattractive, especially as there would be a clear benefit for
the residents of Elsenham as a whole, and others.
75. There are also bus stops on Station Road, close to the rail station, although these
would not serve those buses which miss out the ‘Henham Loop’. Nevertheless, it
seems to me that these stops would be within a reasonable walking distance from
the dwellings in the northern part of the proposed development, by means of the
intended pedestrian/cycle link which would provide access to the station. I accept
that users of these bus stops would have to be mindful of the fact that the existing
level crossing restricts surface access across the railway lines for about 20 minutes
in every hour, but each closure is usually only for about 3-4 minutes on average.
There is, in any case, a bridge across the railway which is available to all ambulant
persons, although I acknowledge it is a fairly high bridge which would not be easy
to carry a bicycle or pushchair over. Nevertheless these points indicate that if
planning permission is granted, future residents of the proposed development
would have reasonably easy access to an improved frequency local bus service.
76. The proposed pedestrian/cycle link to the station would make rail transport a
realistic and convenient option for future residents of the proposed development,
for both local and longer distance journeys. At present, Elsenham station provides a
peak period service of 2 trains an hour to London, with the journey taking just over
an hour, with services also to Cambridge, Bishop’s Stortford and Harlow. The train
also serves other nearby towns, with evidence before the inquiry indicating that the
station is already well used by pupils travelling to secondary schooling in Stanstead
Mountfitchet. At present I understand that the station attracts a relatively high 13%
mode share of trips, and I see no reason why the proximity of the rail station could
not result in a similar figure for future residents of the proposed development.
77. Reducing single-occupancy car trips and increasing the share of public transport
and other sustainable modes of transport would be the aim of the Residential Travel
Plan, which would be secured through the S106 agreement if planning permission is
granted. This would set a target of a 10% reduction in the number of people
travelling from the appeal site as single-occupant car drivers, with this reduction
being established against the results of an initial travel survey, undertaken at 50%
occupation of the site. The Travel Plan would provide for 3 measures which it is

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 8214

Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/19/3243744

generally accepted can be effective in persuading residents to reduce car use personalised travel planning; travel packs; and ‘taster’ tickets.
78. Mr Watts commented that these aims and measures are little different to those
proposed for the earlier, 800 dwelling scheme for this site, and that the Inspector
who considered that proposal was doubtful whether a 10% mode shift away from
single-occupant car use could be achieved. However, whilst I cannot speak for my
colleague Inspector, as a matter of principle I am satisfied that measures such as
detailed above, if in place at the outset of a new development like this, can, indeed,
be effective in reducing overall car use and promoting the use of more sustainable
modes of travel, especially if well-managed by an effective Travel Plan Coordinator.
This view is reinforced by the fact that Travel Plans are endorsed and promoted in
the national Planning Practice Guidance (PPG), as an important tool in encouraging
sustainable travel.
79. On this topic, I have noted that several of the interested persons who participated
in the inquiry spoke rather disparagingly about bus usage in the local area, and in
this regard I am mindful of the fact that car ownership in Elsenham and Uttlesford
is generally high. But notwithstanding this, not everyone in the district will own or
have the use of a car, and it is car usage which the proposed Travel Plan and
indeed local and national policies are seeking to address and reduce, by promoting
the use of more sustainable non-car modes of transport.
80. Overall, I consider that the proposed development would represent a sustainable
extension to Elsenham, which would provide future residents with acceptable
access to local and more distant facilities by a choice of travel modes. Accordingly I
find no conflict with paragraph 108(a) of the Framework, which requires new
development to ensure that appropriate opportunities to promote sustainable
transport modes can be, or have been taken up; or with that part of saved ULP
Policy GEN1 which requires new development to encourage movement by means
other than driving a car.
The proposed site access junction
81. The JPC maintained that the proposed location of the site access junction, on the
inside of a sharp bend, would be contrary to guidance in the Design Manual for
Roads and Bridges. However, what this guidance actually says is that a priority
junction on the inside of a sharp curve is particularly hazardous as it can restrict
visibility to a much greater degree than on the outside of a curve, and is likely to
create blind spots. Whilst this is sound traffic engineering advice, it will be wellknown to the local highway authority who have approved this junction positioning
and layout, subject to ‘clear to ground’ visibility splays with dimensions of 4.5m by
120m in both directions being provided and retained, free of any obstruction.
82. The independent Road Safety Audit (RSA) confirmed that the proposed junction
required no Departures from Design Standards, and made a small number of
recommendations relating to proposed bus stop positioning, the provision of street
lighting and provision of dropped kerbs and tactile paving to assist pedestrian
movement across the junction. These have all been accommodated in the final
junction design which is before me for approval as part of this proposal.
83. I accept that the visibility splays and street lighting could have some implications in
landscape character terms, but I have already addressed this under the first main
issue and do not consider the junction layout arrangements to be unacceptable in
this regard. I also accept that the visibility requirements would place maintenance

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

15
Page 83

Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/19/3243744

responsibilities on the local highway authority, but as it is this authority that has
requested this standard of visibility splay it is reasonable to assume that it is aware
of and is content with any likely ongoing maintenance implications.
84. The RSA also made reference to the possibility of extending the 30mph speed limit
to include the proposed junction, and this matter forms the subject of one of the
agreed conditions requested by the local highway authority. It is clear that if the
junction lay within a 30mph speed limit area, then visibility requirements would be
lessened. However, for reasons already given above, I am satisfied that the
junction as currently designed and proposed would be safe and fit for purpose. As
such, this is not a matter which weighs against the appeal proposal.
85. Having regard to all the above points I find no conflict with paragraph 108(b) of the
Framework, which requires new development to provide safe and suitable access to
the site for all users, or with the similar requirements of saved ULP Policy GEN1.
Assessment of the traffic impacts of the proposed development
86. To deal with the wide-ranging objections raised by the JPC under this general
heading, I consider it helpful, first, to briefly set out some relevant matters and
conclusions of the Inspector who considered the 2013 proposal, and then
summarise the work carried out by the appellant to respond to these matters in its
assessment of the transport implications of the current proposal.
87. As already noted, the 2013 proposal was for a larger development, with a greater
number of houses and a different development mix to that currently proposed in
the appeal scheme. A Transport Assessment (TA) had been prepared for this
previous scheme, but it is apparent that the Inspector placed little reliance on the
traffic distribution and assignment figures produced by the appellant, because he
had significant doubts that the strategy to route some 90% of traffic from the
proposed development via Hall Road would be successful. This led that Inspector to
conclude that the traffic impact on the highway network through Stansted
Mountfitchet would probably be substantial.
88. That said, the Inspector also concluded that the residual cumulative impacts on
sustainable transport modes, highway safety and the transport network, when
taken as a whole, would not reach the Framework threshold of severe. This meant
that his view – with which the SoS agreed – was that the development should not
be prevented on transport grounds alone. Nevertheless, in recommending to the
SoS that this earlier appeal should be dismissed, the Inspector considered that the
substantial impact on the surrounding road network weighed heavily against the
proposal. The SoS accepted this point, and it clearly was a contributory factor
leading to the SoS’s dismissal of the appeal.
89. In order to respond to the matters raised by the Inspector in the 2016 appeal
decision the appellant had pre-application discussions with ECC to agree the scope
of the transport assessment work which would be necessary. As a result, and in
accordance with paragraph 111 of the Framework, and the additional national
guidance on such matters in the PPG, the appellant produced a 2017 TA, a 2019 TA
Addendum and a number of accompanying Technical Notes.
90. This assessment work included developing a VISSIM9 traffic model, in order to
model traffic conditions in Stansted Mountfitchet, so as to assess the impact of the
9

a multi-modal traffic flow simulation software package, capable of modelling complex vehicle interactions
realistically on a microscopic level
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 8416

Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/19/3243744

development, particularly on the Grove Hill traffic signals junction, and identify
necessary mitigation measures. The VISSIM model included all routes in Stansted
Mountfitchet likely to receive traffic from the proposed development. The TA’s input
data and assessment methodology were agreed with both ECC and HE, with the
VISSIM model being examined and accepted by ECC and its consultants, Jacobs.
91. However, having considered the 2017 TA, ECC raised concerns as to how well the
traffic surveys undertaken in 2017 had captured traffic conditions and behaviour at
the Grove Hill traffic signals, and the extent to which the VISSIM modelling could
therefore be relied upon. In particular, it appeared that the 2017 surveys had failed
to capture the full extent of the secondary queue of traffic on Grove Hill, waiting at
the northern side of the on-street parking bays located on the northern side of
Grove Hill. To address this, additional traffic surveys were undertaken in 2018,
involving an extensive network of 29 video cameras, enabling the VISSIM model to
be updated and recalibrated to ensure that both the primary and secondary
southbound queues on Grove Hill were incorporated into the model.
92. The appellant and ECC’s traffic signal engineers were both content that the
recalibrated VISSIM model fully captured the operating characteristics of the Grove
Hill traffic signals at that time. This recalibrated model was then used to assess the
likely impact of committed development in the area10, with results showing that
traffic from these committed developments would have a significant adverse effect
on the operation of the Grove Hill signals, with traffic queues and delays at the
signals increasing by a sizeable amount.
93. In order to try and remedy this situation, the appellant developed a scheme of
alterations to the traffic signals, aimed at improving queuing and delay at Grove
Hill, particularly for southbound traffic in the morning peak, and agreed this in
principle with ECC. The objective was to improve the operation of the traffic signals
so that this junction could acceptably accommodate not only the traffic from
committed developments, but also the traffic from the appeal proposal, which was
estimated to amount to some 92 vehicles (2-way) in the AM peak hour, and 100
vehicles (2-way) in the PM peak hour.
94. When these improvements to the traffic signals were tested with the VISSIM model,
the results showed that the scheme would reduce queuing and delay at the signals,
with the traffic from committed development and the appeal proposal, to a level
below that predicted for committed development alone, if no junction improvement
was carried out. As such, it was agreed between the appellant and ECC that the
traffic impact from the proposed development on Grove Hill could be satisfactorily
mitigated, and indeed that the mitigation offered by the appeal proposal would
provide significant benefit to all users of the road network in Stansted Mountfitchet.
95. However, separate to the works being suggested by the appellant to mitigate the
likely impacts of the appeal proposal, ECC undertook its own improvement of the
Grove Hill traffic signals in Spring 2019, largely involving the replacement of ageing
traffic signal equipment. Those improvement works have reduced queuing and
delay at the Grove Hill traffic signals, and the appellant’s VISSIM model has
confirmed that the ECC improvements provide a similar level of performance as
would the appellant’s proposed mitigation measures. Because of this, ECC considers
that the mitigation works proposed by the appellant are no longer necessary.

10

The various assessments have considered both 2022 and 2023, and committed development at those years

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

17
Page 85

Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/19/3243744

96. Having set out this background, I now consider the various matters raised by the
JPC. A key part of its case centred round a consideration of dwelling numbers now
proposed, compared to the previous 2013 proposal. Put simply, the JPC argue that
the previous scheme was for 800 homes plus a school, some employment and
retail, and that at that time a further 208 dwellings were considered to be
committed development, giving a total of 1,008 dwellings. The current scheme is
for 350 dwellings and a school, but the total amount of committed development
which the JPC says should now be considered is 548 dwellings, plus the 208
dwellings referred to above, giving a grand total of 1,106 dwellings. In other words,
some 98 more dwellings than at the time of the previous scheme.
97. The JPC then argue that as the additional committed development at Elsenham and
Henham is located so as to be similarly reliant on the Grove Hill route through
Stansted Mountfitchet, the likelihood is that the total cumulative impact on Grove
Hill would be greater than that considered at the previous appeal. However, I
consider there to be a number of shortcomings in the JPC’s approach. Firstly, Mr
Watts simply looks at dwelling numbers for housing proposals and provides no
assessment of likely traffic generation or assignment from these dwellings. It is
therefore not possible with any certainty to say what impact these developments
may have on traffic flows generally, and in Stansted Mountfitchet in particular.
98. Moreover, although Mr Watts claims that a number of small and medium-sized
developments have not been included as commitments in the VISSIM model, the
appellant points out that the sites in question were granted planning permission
between 2012 and 2016, and had been identified as built out at the time of
preparing the TA and TA Addendum. As such, traffic from these sites would have
been captured as existing traffic in the likes of the 2017 and 2018 traffic counts. Mr
Watts’s list also includes 40 dwellings at Rush Lane, but as this site did not receive
planning permission until granted on appeal in September 2020 it would clearly
have been unreasonable to expect it to have been included in the modelling work.
99. Overall I consider that the appellant’s approach of determining the likely traffic
generation from each of the committed developments and then assigning the trips
to the highway network through the VISSIM model is a more appropriate method
than simply relying on basic housing numbers, as Mr Watts appears to advocate. As
such I place greater weight on the outputs from the VISSIM model, that on the
rather more subjective assessments put forward by Mr Watts.
100. The JPC also make a number of criticisms of the survey information used to prepare
the VISSIM traffic model arguing, in particular, that it is impossible to know
whether, and the extent to which, the single survey day in June 2018 was
representative of traffic conditions generally at Grove Hill. However, I place little
weight on this criticism as it is quite normal to base transport assessments on
traffic surveys carried out on a single day – provided that day is in what is
considered a ‘neutral’ month, with no untoward occurrences.
101. The day and date in June 2018 had been agreed with ECC beforehand, and whilst I
acknowledge that a second date in the following week had also been agreed with
ECC, an unexpected event on this date meant that the second day’s survey results
could not be reliably used. ECC was aware of this situation and raised no objections
to the use of the single day’s survey results. In these circumstances I see no
reason to consider the survey data used in the VISSIM model to be unreliable.
102. The JPC also criticise the fact that the maximum southbound queue recorded in the
AM peak period at the Grove Hill traffic signals in the June 2018 surveys was 29
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 8618

Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/19/3243744

vehicles (primary and secondary queues added), equating to about 174m, whereas
the equivalent maximum queue predicted by the VISSIM model was about 142m,
equating to a 32m or about a 5 car difference. The JPC argue that this means that
the modelling tends to underestimate actual maximum queues. However, I do not
consider that any firm conclusions regarding the reliability and accuracy of the
traffic model can be drawn from a single comparison like this, for several reasons.
103. Firstly, the numerical difference between 29 vehicles and 24 vehicles does not, to
my mind, indicate a significant difference that would have any meaningful impact.
Secondly, although the maximum modelled secondary queue is given as 115.3m
(about 19 vehicles), the Technical Note11 which contains this data makes it clear
that the stated maximum figure has been averaged over all simulation runs. An
examination of the individual model run data for this junction ‘stop-line’, contained
in the same Technical Note, clearly shows some maximum modelled secondary
queue lengths in excess of this 115.3m. The key point is that the 115.3m figure is
the average maximum AM peak period queue, determined over a number of ‘days’.
104. Thirdly, the same Technical Note points out that observed queue length data is
particularly susceptible to human error, as the difference between what constitutes
a queue, and what is better termed ‘slow moving traffic’, is difficult to discern, is
extremely subjective and is therefore likely to vary between observers.
105. All of the above points reinforce the fact that a simplistic queue length comparison
as undertaken by the JPC is not an appropriate way to assess whether the traffic
model provides a realistic representation of traffic conditions. That is the role of the
model calibration and validation procedures. The Technical Note explains that these
procedures used validation criteria based on Department for Transport guidelines,
and covered not simply queue lengths, but also turning flows, travel times, and an
assessment of the Grove Hill signal controller.
106. The overall summary of the model validation, set out in the Technical Note, states
that the modelled flows, journey times, queue lengths and green time distributions
compare well to those observed. It concludes that the 2018 base model provides a
good representation of the existing operation of the B1051 through Stansted
Mountfitchet, against which the impact of additional committed development and
vehicle trips from the appeal proposal can be assessed. The JPC has provided no
firm, technically-based information to cause me to dispute this conclusion.
107. The JPC further criticise the fact that some model runs were excluded from the
overall assessment, but these were simply those model runs where an impasse
occurred, with modelled drivers in both directions in the constrained-width section
of Grove Hill being courteous and continuing to give way to one-another, leading to
the build-up of very lengthy queues. VISSIM is unable to resolve such situations, as
it does not model the ‘corrective’ behaviour of drivers reversing, or pulling onto the
kerb, which drivers actually adopt in practise. To retain such model runs would
unrealistically bias the overall assessment, and discarding such runs is a perfectly
appropriate response, as has been confirmed by the developers of VISSIM.
108. Much discussion took place at the inquiry regarding a partly constructed zebra
crossing on Lower Street. The gist of the objection from the JPC and others is that
the crossing is on a particularly busy part of the network, close to Grove Hill, and
may well impact on the operation of the Grove Hill junction, but has not been
factored into the model. However, the judgment of the traffic modellers advising
11

Technical Note 03 Rev C

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

19
Page 87

Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/19/3243744

the appellant, based on a significant number of observations, is that the use of
existing crossings is minimal, such that crossing data could safely be excluded from
the traffic model without invalidating its findings. However, these traffic modellers
further advise that even if the use of pedestrian crossings increased, gaps between
vehicles would still allow pedestrians to cross with little impact on vehicles. In the
absence of any firm, technical evidence to the contrary on this matter, there is no
basis for me to dispute the appellant’s view.
109. Furthermore, although the JPC argued that the ECC alterations to the Grove Hill
traffic signals have not brought about the improvements claimed, the evidence
before the inquiry shows that there has, in fact, been a significant reduction in
southbound queuing at these signals in the AM peak period, with maximum queues
reducing from about 29 vehicles in June 2018, before the improvement scheme was
implemented, to around 14 vehicles in March 2020, after the improvement. This
clearly demonstrates that the ECC improvements have had a positive impact on the
flow of southbound traffic through the Grove Hill traffic signals.
110. In addition, prior to the ECC improvements, southbound traffic approaching the
signals frequently ‘gapped-out’. This describes the situation when northbound
vehicles are still travelling through the on-street parking section of Grove Hill, even
though the southbound signal has turned to green. By the time northbound vehicles
clear the parked cars, and the vehicles at the secondary queue are able to proceed,
the traffic signals have already changed to red. The survey information shows that
this ‘gapping out’ for the southbound AM peak flow occurred less frequently in 2020
than in 2018, providing a significant reduction in the level of secondary southbound
queueing and vehicle delay.
111. The appellant maintains that this improvement can be explained by the increased
range of the signals’ detector. The original detector had a range of only 40m,
whereas the replacement detector has a range of 85m, which means that it can
more easily detect the secondary queue. Although Mr Watts questioned this point,
no contrary technical evidence was placed before me to cause me to disregard the
appellant’s and ECC’s view on this matter, namely that the works undertaken by
ECC have, indeed, brought about a noticeable improvement to the operation of the
Grove Hill traffic signals.
112. Whether the level of improvement is the same as that which would have been
achieved by the ‘Mitigation A’ or ‘Mitigation B’ schemes which had originally been
put forward by the appellant is not a matter for me at this inquiry. It is ECC who
are ultimately responsible for the operation of the local highway network, and it is
for ECC to determine the level and extent of improvement works it considers
appropriate at this junction. My role is just to consider the likely impact of the
proposed development on the operation of the highway network – including, of
course, the Grove Hill traffic signals junction, alongside relevant local and national
policies, and other material considerations.
113. In this regard the TA predicts that total traffic generation from the proposed
development would be 174, 2-way vehicle trips in the AM peak hour, and 187, 2way vehicle trips in the PM peak. Of this traffic, 92 vehicles are predicted to use
Grove Hill in the AM peak (73 southbound, 19 northbound), with 100 vehicles in the
PM peak (64 northbound, 36 southbound). This amounts to just over one extra
vehicle per minute, added to the principal flow direction at the Grove Hill traffic
signals in both peak hours. No technical evidence has been produced by the JPC, or
others, to demonstrate that Grove Hill, or indeed any other part of the local

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 8820

Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/19/3243744

highway network, does not have the capacity to accommodate this level of
additional traffic.
114. For reasons already detailed above, I have not found the JPC’s objections to the
VISSIM traffic model to be persuasive, and I therefore consider that future traffic
conditions in Stansted Mountfitchet generally, and Grove Hill in particular, can best
be assessed by means of this model. In this regard, the appellant tabled a
comparison of modelled journey times between Elsenham and Lower Street,
Stansted Mountfitchet for a number of different scenarios.
115. In summary, these modelled journey times reinforce the point made earlier, that
with the ECC junction improvement in place, and with traffic from committed
development and the appeal proposal, the 2023 peak journey times are longer than
the same journey times in the base year of 2018, but they are appreciably less
than the 2023 scenario with just committed development, and without the ECC
improvement. Again, this demonstrates that traffic generated by the proposed
development could be accommodated on the surrounding road network with no
conflict with criterion (b) of saved ULP Policy GEN1, or with Framework paragraph
108(c). It is also clear that the appeal proposal would not require any additional
improvements at Grove Hill beyond the measures already implemented by ECC.
116. It is right to note, however, that the model predicts that journey times could be
reduced further still with the appellant’s suggested ‘Mitigation A’ or ‘Mitigation B’
schemes, both of which would be compatible with the ECC works already carried
out. On this point, the JPC argued that ECC may have formed a different view of
the acceptability of its own improvement scheme if it had seen this more recent
modelling work. However, the fact remains that ECC was content to sign a SoCG
with the appellant back in March 2020, in which it stated, amongst other matters,
that highway mitigation, beyond the Grove Hill traffic signals improvements which
are already in place, is not required by the proposed development for traffic safety
or highway capacity reasons. None of the matters raised by the JPC cause me to
consider that ECC erred in signing the SoCG.
117. The JPC also assert that ECC is no longer confident about its Grove Hill
improvement works, as it is currently objecting to 3 other housing developments in
Elsenham and Henham, specifically in relation to impacts on Grove Hill. These are
proposals for 220 dwellings at land north of Bedwell Road, Elsenham; 45 dwellings
on land south of Vernon Close, Henham; and 99 dwellings on land to west of Isabel
Drive, Elsenham. However, my understanding of the ECC position on each of these
cases is simply that it is not satisfied, on the basis of the evidence currently before
it, that the development in question would not have an unacceptable impact on the
highway network – including at Grove Hill, Stansted Mountfitchet.
118. This is a perfectly normal, reasonable and indeed expected stance for a local
highway authority to take. In contrast, ECC has been satisfied by the extensive
VISSIM modelling work undertaken by the appellant in the current case, as
witnessed by the SoCG referred to above. For these reasons I give very little weight
to the JPC’s unsubstantiated assertion, and do not consider that it casts any doubt
on the efficacy of the improvement works already carried out, or their ability to
satisfactorily accommodate traffic from the current appeal proposal. To my mind
ECC’s response on these other proposals simply goes to show that each
development needs to be assessed on its own merits.
119. I turn finally, under this topic, to consider the evidence from interested persons,
including that given at the inquiry on behalf of Elsenham Parish Council (PC),
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

21
Page 89

Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/19/3243744

Stansted Mountfitchet PC, the Grove Hill Residents’ Group and a Grove Hill resident.
Much of this evidence criticised the use of traffic models and focussed on first-hand
experiences of the daily traffic situation in Stansted Mountfitchet. In this regard I
accept the point made by Elsenham PC – and others – that traffic incidents occur
throughout the day, and are not simply restricted to the peak periods.
120. The points raised tended to concentrate on the traffic conditions in Grove Hill, but
also recounted problems which arise in the likes of Lower Street and Chapel Hill. I
do not doubt the sincerity and accuracy of these comments and objections, but by
their very nature they are subjective and were often couched in rather general
terms. Whilst valuable, they do not provide the sort of objective evidence needed to
assess wider traffic issues, such as the operation of the local highway network as a
whole, or the detailed performance of individual junctions.
121. A case in point is the significant number of photographs which have been
submitted, showing a variety of traffic-related situations and incidents which clearly
occur on a regular basis, both during peak periods and indeed throughout the day.
But these photographs quite literally represent snapshots of the situation in Grove
Hill and elsewhere. It is clear that many such incidents do occur, and on a regular
basis, but in my assessment these incidents arise primarily as a result of the
physical layout and individual driver behaviour, and do not assist in assessing
whether or not the Grove Hill traffic signal controlled junction is operating at or
over capacity, and whether it can or cannot cope with additional traffic.
122. By far the greater number of submitted photographs show incidents involving large
vehicles/heavy goods vehicles (HGVs). Indeed an appendix attached to the
representation from Elsenham PC is specifically titled ‘Photographic evidence of
large vehicles on Grove Hill, Stansted Mountfitchet’. However, many of the vehicles
shown clearly appear to be contravening the 7.5 tonne gross weight restriction
which dates back to 1987, aimed at preventing such vehicles from entering Grove
Hill from Lower Street. A few vehicles are exempted from this restriction such as
emergency service vehicles, statutory undertakers and others who have business in
connection with adjacent land, but the photographs certainly appear to show that
many of the large vehicles using Grove Hill in the northbound direction do not fall
into any of these categories.
123. As Grove Hill is narrow in places, with narrow footways, and with single-width
sections through the traffic signals and alongside the stretch of on-street parking, it
is not surprising that the use of this road by large vehicles and HGVs gives rise to
problems. But whilst I accept that this will be no great comfort to those who live on
Grove Hill, or who directly experience such incidents, the fact remains that this
existing problem is primarily an enforcement issue. I do not consider it to be a
matter which should carry any significant weight against the current proposal which
would clearly generate car traffic, some of which would use Grove Hill, but would be
unlikely to generate significant numbers of large vehicles or HGVs.
124. In terms of other traffic conditions, closing submissions on behalf of the JPC
comment that amongst other things, the photographs submitted by Mr Watts show
significant secondary queuing. But to expect anything else, certainly during busy
peak periods, is to misunderstand the way in which this stretch of road has to
function. It is self-evident that the existence of the on-street parking bays, so close
to the traffic signals stop-line, means that the need for vehicles to form a
secondary queue is inevitable. This situation could be improved if the on-street
parking was removed, as it is the single-lane section caused by this parking, and

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 9022

Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/19/3243744

the fact that drivers sometimes fail to leave sufficient distance or gaps, which gives
rise to the problems which were presented to the inquiry. But understandably,
Grove Hill residents are reluctant to lose the ability to park outside their homes, as
was made clear in the representation on behalf of the Grove Hill Residents’ Group.
125. To my mind, other than more rigorous enforcement, there is no easy solution to the
problems described above. Secondary queuing does not, in itself, amount to a
particular problem, and there is nothing to suggest that the improvements carried
out by ECC sought to eliminate secondary queueing. Clearly, if the southbound
lights ‘gap out’ less frequently, then more southbound traffic can get through the
junction during each cycle, and this will tend to reduce the extent of secondary
queueing. Notwithstanding the general, subjective comments from interested
persons that the ECC works have not resulted in any significant improvement, this
is not borne out by the detailed evidence presented in the transport Technical Notes
already referred to, above.
126. In summary therefore, whilst I do not dispute the evidence provided to the inquiry
by interested persons in written, oral and photographic form, which was clearly
sincere and heartfelt, this evidence predominantly related to matters that could and
should be dealt with by better enforcement and better and more considerate driver
behaviour. None of the evidence was of a specific, technical nature, or sought to
demonstrate that the highway network in Stansted Mountfitchet generally, and
along Grove Hill in particular, does not have the capacity to deal with the additional
traffic likely to arise from the appeal proposal.
127. Moreover, as I understand it, no-one had suggested that the traffic incidents
currently occurring in Grove Hill would be likely to disappear as a result of the ECC
traffic signals improvements, or even if the appellant’s suggested ‘Mitigation A’ or
‘Mitigation B’ schemes were to be progressed. With these points in mind, I do not
consider that the existing physical constraints presented by this stretch of Grove
Hill, and the traffic signal junction, constitute reasons, in themselves, for
withholding planning permission for this proposal.
Increased traffic on local roads
128. Although the JPC raised general concerns about the adequacy of the local road
network to accommodate traffic from the proposed development, no specific
objection was made, and there was no suggestion that the impact of any such
traffic would be severe. This is understandable as the JPC confirmed that it did not
challenge the traffic assignment, which indicates that only a small amount of traffic
from the proposed development would use many of the local roads referred to.
129. For example, just 1% of the generated traffic (2, 2-way peak hour trips) is
predicted to use the route through Ugley Green, whilst only 8% (14, 2-way peak
hour trips) is predicted to use Old Mead Road to the north. In any case, all the
routes referred to are public roads, and whilst they do have some limitations, such
as being unlit, having narrow carriageways, twisting alignments and numerous
bends, all are currently used by traffic. On this point I again find no conflict with
criterion (b) of saved ULP Policy GEN1, or with Framework paragraph 108(c).
Environmental impacts of generated traffic
130. Finally under this issue, the JPC argued that there had been a number of
shortcomings in the originally submitted ES with regard to the likely environmental
impacts on sensitive receptors, including pedestrians on the rural roads serving the
site, children accessing Elsenham Primary School, pedestrians on footways on
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

23
Page 91

Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/19/3243744

Grove Hill and the high sensitivity of Grove Hill to changes in traffic flows. It is
further argued that these shortcomings add weight to the likelihood that the
impacts of this proposed development have been underestimated.
131. However, it seems that the shortcomings referred to relate primarily to concerns
about the likely environmental impact of traffic from the proposed development on
Elsenham Primary School and on pedestrians in Stanstead Mountfitchet. These
matters were both fully addressed in the evidence to the inquiry from Mr Corrance,
the appellant’s transport witness, with the environmental impact in both cases
being determined to be negligible. This view was not challenged at the inquiry, and
because of this, I see no need to explore this matter further.
Summary
132. As has been outlined above, a significant amount of objection was raised against
this proposal on highways, traffic and transport grounds by the JPC and by a
number of interested persons and bodies. The fact remains, however, that neither
the Council nor the relevant highway authorities have raised objections on these
grounds. My assessment of these concerns leads me to conclude, for the reasons
set out above, that the proposed development would not have an unacceptable
adverse impact on the safety or convenience of users of the local highway network.
133. I therefore find no conflict with the requirements of saved ULP Policy GEN1, or with
policies in Section 9 of the Framework. In particular, there would be no
unacceptable impact on highway safety, and the residual cumulative impacts on the
road network would not be severe.
Main issue 3 - Development plan considerations and the weight to be given to
relevant policies
134. Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires planning
applications to be determined in accordance with the development plan unless
material considerations indicate otherwise. In this case the signed, main Planning
SoCG agreed between the Council and the appellant explains that the operative
development plan for the area includes the saved policies of the ULP adopted in
2005, and the Essex Minerals Local Plan adopted in 2014. This SoCG also sets out
what the Council and appellant consider to be the most important development plan
policies for the determination of this appeal. Having regard to the various matters
set out above these policies, all from the ULP, are:
•
Policy S7 – The Countryside;
•
Policy GEN2 – Design;
•
Policy GEN6 – Infrastructure Provision to Support Development Policy; and
•
Policy H9 - Affordable Housing.
135. I consider the applicability of these policies, and the weight that they should attract
in the assessment of this proposal, later in this section.
136. In addition, the closing submissions for the JPC contend that the proposed
development would also result in clear breaches to the following ULP policies:
•
Policy GEN1 – Access;
•
•

Policy ENV2 – Development affecting Listed Buildings; and
Policy ENV5 – Protection of Agricultural Land.

137. Again, I consider the applicability of these policies, and the weight that they should
attract in the assessment of this proposal, later in this section.
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 9224

Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/19/3243744

138. The Framework, first published in 2012 and last updated in June 2019, is an
important material consideration in this case, providing national policy guidance as
well as clearly setting out the decision-taking process that should be adopted when
considering planning proposals. In particular, it explains in its paragraph 11(c), that
development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan should be
approved without delay. Here, the ULP is clearly time-expired, with the Council
confirming that it was prepared to be in conformity with the Essex Structure Plan
2001, and intended to guide development in the district up to 2011.
139. In such circumstances, regard needs to be had to paragraph 213 of the Framework,
which states that existing policies should not be considered out-of-date simply
because they were adopted or made prior to the publication of the Framework, but
that due weight should be given to them, according to their degree of consistency
with the Framework. The closer the policies in the plan are to the policies in the
Framework, the greater the weight that may be given to them. I assess the
consistency of the aforementioned ULP policies with the Framework shortly, but
there is another factor which also needs to be taken into account, as is made plain
in paragraph 11(d) of the Framework.
140. This is an assessment of whether or not the Council is able to demonstrate a 5 year
supply of deliverable housing sites, with the appropriate buffer. This matter is clearcut in this case, with the Council’s most recent position, set out in its Housing
Trajectory (April 2019) and 5 Year Land Supply Statement (October 2019), being
that it only has a 2.68 year housing land supply (HLS). Accordingly, the
development plan policies which are most important for determining this proposal
are out-of-date, such that the decision-taking process to be applied here is that set
out in paragraph 11(d) of the Framework.
141. This makes it plain that in such circumstances, planning permission should be
granted unless:
i.

ii.

the application of policies in the Framework that protect areas or assets
of particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the
development proposed; or
any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this
Framework taken as a whole.

142. Policies relating to designated heritage assets fall under paragraph 11(d)(i), above,
but in the main Planning SoCG the Council and appellant agree that the proposed
development would result in less than substantial harm to the significance of the
heritage assets identified within the ES, and that this less that substantial harm
would be outweighed by the public benefits of the scheme, having regard to
paragraph 196 of the Framework. I make my own assessment of this matter later
in this decision, under the ‘Other Matters’ heading. Insofar as the matters covered
by paragraph 11(d)(ii) are concerned, I assess the likely impacts of the proposal
through my consideration of the other main issues, and will weigh these against the
benefits of the proposed development in a final planning balance.
143. Dealing with the agreed, most important policies in turn, saved Policy S7 explains
that the countryside to which this policy applies is those parts of the Plan area
beyond the Green Belt that are not within settlement boundaries – as here.
Amongst other things it goes on to explain that in the countryside, which will be
protected for its own sake, planning permission will only be granted for
development that needs to take place there, or is appropriate to a rural area.
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

25
Page 93

Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/19/3243744

Furthermore, it explains that development will only be permitted if its appearance
protects or enhances the particular character of the part of the countryside within
which it is set, or if there are special reasons why the development in the form
proposed needs to be there.
144. Much discussion took place at the inquiry over the weight to be given to conflict
with this policy and the weight to be accorded to the policy itself, with a wide range
of views being expressed. Put simply, Mr Freer for the appellant argued that it
should only be given very limited weight; Mrs Hutchinson for the Council argued for
moderate weight; while Mr Gardner for the JPC maintained that significant weight
should be given to the conflict with this policy in terms of the harm to the
landscape and the impacts on the character and appearance of the area.
145. In support of his position, Mr Freer submitted summary details of 13 previous
appeal decisions covering the period June 2015 to October 2020, most of which
were dismissed, although a couple were allowed, in which various Inspectors and
the SoS gave differing amounts of weight to Policy S7. In attributing weight the
Inspectors and SoS used such descriptors as ‘considerable, ‘significant’, ‘reduced’,
moderate’, ‘limited’, and ‘substantial’.
146. Undertaking a similar exercise Mr Gardner produced a table summarising some 18
appeal decisions (allowing for duplicates), including 9 decisions not referred to by
Mr Freer. Again, these covered a mix of allowed and dismissed appeals (5 allowed
and 13 dismissed), with Inspectors using broadly the same descriptors of weight as
detailed above, with the addition of ‘some’, ‘very limited’, and ‘not full’.
147. As a general point I consider that 2 broad themes can be discerned from these
previous decisions. Firstly, in the 5 allowed appeals, Inspectors gave no more than
‘limited’ weight to Policy S7; and overall, there appears to be a trend of less weight
being given to this policy as the Council’s HLS position has worsened.
148. However, I do not consider it particularly helpful to compare or assess these
previous decisions in detail, not least because they all relate to different proposals
to the current appeal, at different times, for different sites, and with many also
being assessed against a different planning policy background and a different HLS
situation. Even the previous SoS decision relating to the earlier proposal from the
current appellant was for a larger and different mix of development on a larger site,
albeit covering most of the current appeal site, which was part of a housing
allocation in the then emerging Local Plan, and when the Council could demonstrate
a 5 year HLS.
149. But notwithstanding all the above points, I do consider that some useful pointers
can be gleaned from the approach of the Inspectors in some of these previous
appeal decisions. In particular I share the view of my colleague Inspector who
determined the ‘North of Wicken Road, Newport’ appeal for 74 dwellings at an
inquiry in December 201912, and who characterised Policy S7 as having 3 main
elements. The first of these, in effect, identifies settlement boundaries as
‘development limits’, beyond which land is considered to be countryside; the second
element seeks to protect the countryside ‘for its own sake’, with strict control on
new building in such areas; and the third element makes it plain that development
will only be permitted if its appearance protects or enhances the particular
character of the countryside within which it is set, or if there are special reasons
why such development needs to be in that location.
12

Appeal Ref APP/C1570/W/19/3223694

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 9426

Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/19/3243744

150. As a whole, the wording of this policy goes beyond that set out in paragraphs 127
and 170 of the Framework which do not, explicitly, seek to protect countryside for
its own sake. Moreover, as the settlement boundaries in the adopted ULP were
aimed at accommodating housing numbers in the Essex Structure Plan 2001, for
the period up to 2011, they are patently well out of date, restraining development
and causing Policy S7 to be in clear tension with the Framework’s objective of
significantly boosting the supply of homes, set out in its paragraph 59.
151. Nevertheless, the SoS made it clear, in his 2016 decision relating to the previous
application on this site, that that the policy aim of S7, ‘to protect the countryside’,
was consistent with the Framework’s principle, at that time, of ‘recognising the
intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside and supporting thriving rural
communities within it’. Although the 2019 version of the Framework has now
replaced the original 2012 version, current at the time of this previous appeal, the
same broad objective of ‘recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the
countryside’ still features, such that the SoS’s view still stands.
152. Drawing these points together, the only reasonable conclusion is that Policy S7 can
only be considered as being partially consistent with the Framework, and cannot
therefore be given full weight. The first 2 elements of the policy can attract very
limited weight in the context of this appeal. Settlement boundaries are clearly not
inviolable as a matter of principle, nor is it reasonable to consider a blanket
prohibition on new development in the countryside, particularly in a district where
there is a very acute HLS deficit and – in the absence of an up-to-date Local Plan no short or medium term strategy for alleviating this situation.
153. Insofar as the final part of Policy S7 is concerned, the SoS gave this significant
weight in 2016, but this was at a time when the Council could demonstrate a 5 year
HLS, meaning that the pressure to find additional sites for housing would have been
less than is currently the case. It seems self-evident to me that the very acute HLS
shortfall which now exists can only serve to increase the need for the Council to
urgently find additional, suitable housing land and, as a corollary, the weight to be
attached to this final element of Policy S7 should be reduced.
154. In terms of what that weight should be, I place little store by the JPC’s view that it
should still carry significant weight, for the reasons just set out. Moreover, the
appellant’s assertion that the sheer scale of the shortfall in the 5 year HLS only
serves to underline the very limited weight that can be attributed to Policy S7,
seems to me to underplay the important safeguarding role that this policy can still
play, in line with the SoS’s comments set out above. These points lead me to
favour the Council’s position that when its different roles and functions are
considered the policy should, overall, attract moderate weight. I share that view.
155. Turning to saved ULP Policy GEN2, this sets out a number of criteria which new
development should meet. These include that development (a) should be
compatible with the scale, form, layout, appearance and materials of surrounding
buildings; (b) should safeguard important environmental features in its setting,
enabling their retention and helping to reduce the visual impact of new buildings or
structures where appropriate; and (c) should provide an environment, which meets
the reasonable needs of all potential users.
156. The Council’s first putative reason for refusal alleged a conflict with this policy, but
was not specific as to which part or parts of the policy the appeal proposal would be
at odds with. Indeed, there was some discussion and debate at the inquiry as to
whether it was reasonable, as a matter of principle, to assess an outline proposal
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

27
Page 95

Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/19/3243744

such as this against a policy which clearly deals with matters of detailed design.
The Council’s planning witness did, however, argue that the policy’s first 3 criteria,
detailed above, are applicable in this case.
157. In particular the Council argued that the proposed development would be some
distance from existing facilities in Elsenham; would not provide appropriate links for
future residents to existing facilities; and that the proposed school would be located
in the furthest location from existing residents. But whilst these are legitimate
concerns, I am not persuaded that they fall to be assessed under this policy. As the
appellant points out, such matters really relate to transport sustainability and, as
such, should have been raised in the context of saved Policy GEN1. The Council has
alleged no breach of this policy, and it therefore follows that the Council does not
regard these matters as seriously weighing against this proposal. As my conclusions
on the second main issue make plain, I share that view.
158. However, taking design in its wider sense, and having regard to the evidence of the
Council’s landscape witness, dealt with under the first main issue, I can see that
criterion (b) has some relevance in the consideration of this appeal. As noted
earlier, I have concluded that there would be some conflict with this second
criterion, but that this would be tempered by the fact that existing environmental
features such as trees and hedgerows would be retained wherever possible.
159. That said, it is clear to me that saved Policy GEN2 deals more properly with detailed
design matters, and therefore only has very limited relevance in the context of this
proposal for outline planning permission. It is agreed to be one of the most
important development plan policies in the determination of this proposal, but it is
rendered out-of-date by the absence of a deliverable 5 year HLS. I acknowledge
that good design remains an important element of the Framework, noted in its
paragraph 124 as being a key aspect of sustainable development, but in the
context of this appeal I consider that this policy should only carry moderate weight.
160. With regard to the remaining policies that the Council and appellant consider to be
most important in the determination of this appeal, Policy GEN6 states that
development will not be permitted unless it makes provision at the appropriate time
for community facilities, school capacity, public services, transport provision,
drainage and other infrastructure made necessary by the proposed development.
There is no suggestion that this policy should be given anything other than full
weight. I also give full weight to Policy H9, which states that the Council will seek
to negotiate an element of affordable housing of 40% of the total provision of
housing, on a site to site basis, on appropriate allocated and windfall sites.
161. Turning to those policies referred to by the JPC, the first point of note is that the
Council does not allege any conflict with or breach of any of these policies. Policy
GEN1 sets out a number of criteria relating to matters such as access requirements,
highway and junction capacity, highway safety and the transport needs of all users,
all of which proposals for new development should meet. No conflict has been
alleged between this policy and relevant paragraphs in the Framework, dealing with
the transport implications of development proposals, such as paragraphs 108 and
110, and I therefore see no reason why this policy should not be given full weight.
However, I have already concluded, in my consideration of the second main issue,
that the proposed development would not conflict with this policy.
162. Saved Policy ENV2 deals with heritage matters and explains, amongst other things,
that development affecting a listed building should be in keeping with its scale,
character and surroundings, and goes on to state that development proposals that
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 9628

Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/19/3243744

adversely affect the setting of a listed building will not be permitted. This generally
reflects the presumption in favour of protecting listed buildings, as set out in
Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, and
the thrust of Framework paragraphs 193 and 194.
163. It is clearly a relevant policy in this case, as the main Planning SoCG records
agreement between the Council and the appellant that the proposed development
would give rise to some harm to the significance of the listed buildings referred to
earlier. However, the SoCG also indicates agreement between these parties that
this harm would be less than substantial, and it is in this regard that the policy does
not fully accord with the Framework, as Framework paragraph 196 requires any
less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset to be
weighed against the public benefits of the proposal.
164. I deal with this point under the ‘Other matters’ heading later in this decision, but it
is sufficient at this stage for me to simply note that saved Policy ENV2 is only partly
consistent with the Framework, for the reason just given, and I therefore give it
reduced weight, having regard to Framework requirements.
165. Finally, saved Policy ENV5 states that development of the best and most versatile
(BMV) agricultural land will only be permitted where opportunities have been
assessed for accommodating development on previously developed sites or within
existing development limits. It further states that where development of
agricultural land is required, developers should seek to use areas of poorer quality
except where other sustainability considerations suggest otherwise. This policy is
also relevant in this case, as the ES records that all of the appeal site, with the
exception of the access and access road up to the main part of the site, is Grade 3a
agricultural land, thereby falling into the BMV category. I deal with this matter
under the ‘Other matters’ heading later in this decision.
166. The policy is broadly consistent with the Framework which notes in paragraph
170(b) that planning decisions should recognise the economic and other benefits of
BMV agricultural land, whilst the footnote to paragraph 171 states that where
significant development of agricultural land is demonstrated to be necessary, areas
of poorer quality land should be preferred to those of a higher quality. However, the
Framework does not require development proposals to have undertaken an
assessment of alternative sites, as this policy implies, and in this regard the policy
is not fully consistent with the Framework. I therefore give it reduced weight.
167. For completeness I note that from the 2014 Essex Minerals Local Plan, only Policy
S8 has been referred to by any of the parties. This provides for the safeguarding of
mineral resources and mineral reserves, and requires that ECC as the Mineral
Planning Authority (MPA) is consulted on all planning applications for development
of 5ha or more on a site located within a sand and gravel Mineral Safeguarding
Area, as here. In this case the MPA initially lodged a holding objection to the
proposal, but following the submission of further information by the appellant it
removed this objection and indicated that it had no further comment to make on
the application. I therefore do not consider this policy further.
168. In summary, I share the view of the Council and the appellant that the most
important policies in the determination of this proposal are saved ULP Policy S7, to
which I give moderate weight; saved ULP Policy GEN2, to which I also give
moderate weight; and saved ULP Policies GEN6 and H9, to both of which I give full
weight. In terms of other policies, specifically those referred to by the JPC, I
consider that saved ULP Policies GEN1, ENV2 and ENV5 are all relevant, but for
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

29
Page 97

Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/19/3243744

reasons already given above, I am satisfied that there would be no unacceptable
conflict with GEN1. There would be some conflict with both ENV2 and ENV5, which I
explore in more detail under the ‘Other matters’ heading, but for reasons given
above it is my view that each of these policies have to be given reduced weight.
Main issue 4 – Planning obligations
169. The Council’s third putative reason for refusal alleged that the appeal proposal did
not provide any mechanism to secure the infrastructure requirements arising from
the development, including the need for financial contributions towards additional
healthcare facilities, child care, early years, primary and secondary education
requirements or the delivery of 40% affordable housing and the proposed open
space and playing fields and the subsequent maintenance of these areas. As such
the proposal was considered to conflict with saved ULP Policy GEN6, which has
already been discussed above.
170. However, draft planning obligations in the form of both a S106 agreement and a
S106 unilateral undertaking to address these matters were submitted by the
appellant and discussed at the inquiry, with signed and completed versions being
submitted shortly after the inquiry closed, in accordance with an agreed timetable.
171. The S106 agreement makes provision for:
•
Phasing of the development, in accordance with a Phasing Plan to be
agreed with the Council;
•
The provision of up to 40% of the proposed dwellings as affordable
housing units, together with details, in general terms, regarding their
positioning on the site; the tenure mix and type of unit; and how the units
would be allocated and managed;
•
The provision of Public Open Space, together with details of how it would
be maintained;
•
The provision of Changing Rooms and a Junior Sports Pitch, together with
details of how they would be maintained;
•
The provision of Green Areas, together with details of how they would be
maintained;
•
A Health Contribution of £138,000 towards health care services in
Elsenham, Henham and Stansted Mountfitchet, within an approximate
radius of 2km from the development, to increase the capacity of primary
care service provision within that area;
•
The setting up of a Management Company in relation to the Green Areas
and Public Open Space;
•
A Hatfield Forest Contribution of £44,323 for the provision of visitor and
botanical monitoring and mitigation works carried out by or on behalf of
the National Trust at Hatfield Forest;
•
An Education Contribution, made up of an Early Years and Childcare
Contribution, a Primary Education Contribution and a Secondary Education
Contribution, together with a School Transport Contribution, all of which
would be calculated on the basis of the total number of qualifying housing
units and the appropriate cost generators, all as agreed with ECC as LEA;
•
Highway contributions, including a Public Transport Contribution of
£935,200 towards the support or enhancement of a bus service that
provides a half-hourly daytime service, Monday to Saturday to key
facilities including Stansted Mountfitchet, Bishop’s Stortford, Stansted
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 9830

Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/19/3243744

•

Airport, or any variation of the service as agreed with the Council, in
consultation with ECC as local highway authority. Provision is also made
for a study into the feasibility of extending the existing 30mph speed limit
zone on Henham Road to the east of the proposed site access junction; the
promotion of any necessary Traffic Regulation Orders; and the provision of
all necessary works to extend the 30mph zone, if agreed with the local
highway authority, and subject to successful consultation;
A Residential Travel Plan and a Residential Travel Information Pack.

172. As appropriate, all of the above contributions would be index linked.
173. The S106 unilateral undertaking makes provision for land within the site to be
made available for a 10 year period, for an on-site primary school school/early
years centre. I understand that this separate undertaking is only necessary because
ECC was unable to obtain instructions to enter into an agreement on this matter in
the available timescale, before planning obligations needed to be completed as part
of the inquiry process. That said, ECC has commented on the drafting of the
unilateral undertaking, which has been based on its specifications, and is content
with its provisions.
174. In summary therefore, the appeal proposal includes provision for a 1FE primary
school, and the unilateral obligation secures land for that purpose. However, the
proposed development is only expected to generate 0.5FE of demand, which ECC
states is not sufficient to justify or sustain a new school. Accordingly, it has been
agreed with ECC education officers that an appropriate contribution could be made
by means of the S106 agreement to increase overall primary school capacity in the
area, through the expansion of Magna Carta Primary Academy in Stansted
Mountfitchet. In turn, this could result in the freeing-up of additional capacity at the
recently expanded Elsenham Church of England Primary School, as some children
from Stansted Mountfitchet who currently travel to school in Elsenham may not
need to do so if the Magna Carta school were to be expanded.
175. If this arrangement did not release all of the necessary capacity in Elsenham, there
is a primary school transport contribution within the S106 agreement which would
be used to ensure that pupils could travel from Elsenham to Stansted Mountfitchet.
However, to ensure further flexibility in terms of the options for addressing primary
school capacity in the area, the potential for the delivery of primary educational
facilities on the site is retained in the appeal proposal, and the aforementioned
contributions could be redeployed for this purpose if ECC so chooses.
176. Having had regard to the above details, and the submitted Community
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Compliance Schedules relating to the S106 agreement
and the unilateral undertaking, I am satisfied that all of these obligations are
necessary to make the development acceptable and that all meet the requirements
of paragraph 56 of the Framework and Regulation 122 of the CIL Regulations 2010.
The obligations are necessary to make the development acceptable in planning
terms; directly related to the development; and fairly and reasonably related in
scale and kind to the development. I therefore conclude that the submitted planning
obligations would satisfactorily address the impact of the proposed development, and
that the appeal proposal would therefore not be at odds with saved ULP Policy GEN6.
Other Matters
177. In this section I deal briefly with other relevant matters, not covered directly by the
main issues.
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

31
Page 99

Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/19/3243744

Heritage concerns
178. Chapter 9 of the submitted ES concentrates its assessment on those listed buildings
which lie close to the appeal site’s boundaries. These are the Grade II Waiting
Room on the east side of the line at Elsenham Station, and a cluster of Grade II
buildings on the south side of Henham Road, including Elsenham Place and
Gardeners Cottage (also known as Lilac Cottage).
179. The ES assesses both constructional and operational effects and generally considers
the impacts to be low adverse, having a minor adverse impact on the significance
of the assets. The ES also considers the site to have a low potential for
archaeological evidence of prehistoric to medieval activity, with the appeal proposal
potentially having up to a high adverse effect, with the significance of this effect
being classed as potentially up to minor adverse. No authoritative, contrary
evidence has been submitted on these matters, and I therefore see no reason to
dispute the findings and conclusions of the ES.
180. Indeed these findings and conclusions are broadly echoed by the Council’s
Conservation Officer in his consultation response on the application. With regards to
the Grade II Waiting Room he comments that as no development is proposed on
the land to the east of the asset, there would be no change to how the asset’s
significance is experienced.
181. With regard to Gardeners Cottage and the range of thatched, timber framed
outbuildings, and the barn to the west of the cottage, he considers that these would
be impacted as a result of the increased urbanisation of area surrounding the
cottage. However, he further comments that the significance of the cottage resides
predominantly in the historic fabric of the asset, with the level of harm therefore
considered to be at the lower end of the scale. He also considers that there would
be some impact on Elsenham Place and the barns to the west, as a result of the
increased traffic flow, but concludes that any impact would be less than substantial.
182. The Council’s Conservation Officer does not make reference to saved ULP Policy
ENV2 in his consultation response, but summarises the level of harm which would
result from the proposed development as ‘less than substantial’, in Framework
terms and notes that as such, this harm has to be balanced against the public
benefits of the proposal. Again, no authoritative contrary evidence has been
submitted on this matter, and I therefore accept this assessment of the likely harm
and deal with it under the ‘Planning balance’ heading, later in this decision.
183. In terms of the archaeology concerns, all parties agree that these could be
addressed by the imposition of a suitably worded condition requiring a programme
of archaeological evaluation and fieldwork to be carried out.
BMV agricultural land
184. This matter was considered by the Inspector and SoS in the earlier appeal into the
2013 proposal which involved a larger site overall, but which included the current
appeal site. This earlier proposal would have resulted in the loss of just over 51ha
of BMV agricultural land, but this loss was only accorded limited weight by the SoS,
on the basis that there are no substantial areas of lower grade land close to
existing settlements in Uttlesford, and the loss would only amount to a very small
percentage of the overall BMV land in the district. As a result, the SoS only gave
limited weight to the conflict with saved ULP Policy ENV5.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 10032

Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/19/3243744

185. With this in mind, and as the loss of BMV land in the current appeal – at a little
under 19.65ha - would be less than 40% of that in the earlier appeal, I consider
that only very limited weight can be given to this loss, and to the consequent
conflict with saved ULP Policy ENV5.
Air quality
186. The likely effect of the proposed development on air quality in the local area was
raised by some interested persons who spoke at the inquiry, notwithstanding the
fact that the Council had withdrawn its putative reason for refusal relating to this
matter. However, none of those who spoke provided any detailed evidence in this
regard, and there is therefore no reason for me to set aside the latest evidence on
this topic, contained in the SoCG Addendum, submitted in November 2020, shortly
before the inquiry opened.
187. This Addendum records agreement between the appellant and the Council that the
2020 Air Quality Annual Status Report represents the most up-to-date publicly
available information relating to local air quality in Uttlesford, demonstrating that in
2019 no monitoring location in Uttlesford exceeded the Air Quality Objectives for
England for nitrogen dioxide or particulate matter. As a result, both parties further
agree that the proposed development under consideration in this appeal would not
be in conflict with saved ULP Policy ENV13, and that this matter should therefore be
a neutral consideration in the planning balance. In the absence of any persuasive
evidence to the contrary, I accept that view.
Benefits and disbenefits
188. The proposed development would give rise to a number of benefits, which I now
assess and summarise, before moving on to consider the disbenefits, which include
the harm as a result of conflict with the development plan. In assessing the likely
benefits of the proposal, I have also had regard to how they might assist in fulfilling
the economic, social and environmental objectives of achieving sustainable
development, as set out in paragraph 8 of the Framework.
Benefits
189. Firstly, the appeal proposal would deliver up to 350 new homes, giving rise to some
economic benefits as a result of the jobs created during the construction phase and
the increased spending power of new residents within the local economy. I accept
that these benefits would arise from any similar-sized housing development and
that they would therefore not be unique to this proposal. Nevertheless, they do
constitute real economic benefits which should be acknowledged. The proposal also
includes provision for an on-site 1FE primary school and childcare facility which
would have the potential to create an estimated 31 full-time equivalent (FTE) jobs.
190. The provision of new housing would also give rise to additional Council Tax and New
Homes Bonus payments for the Council, but as the Council’s outgoings would have
to rise to provide the necessary services for the additional population it is unclear
whether these last items would result in any net benefit. However, even without
these items, and ignoring the potential new educational jobs as they are by no
means certain, I still consider that these economic benefits should carry moderate
weight, and would go towards satisfying the Framework’s economic objective, in
the context of achieving sustainable development.
191. Clear social benefits would also arise from the provision of up to 350 much needed
new homes. This would result in a substantial increase in the housing stock, which

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

33
Page 101

Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/19/3243744

has to be seen as being of particular importance as the Council can currently only
demonstrate a 2.68 year’s supply of deliverable housing land. Notwithstanding the
Council’s comment that its housing delivery performance has been positive in
recent years, delivering 147% of its need in 2018 and 153% in 2019, it currently
has no short or medium-term strategy to address this significant shortfall from the
required 5 year supply. In these circumstances I consider that the provision of new
homes through this scheme should carry significant weight.
192. In this regard the appellant’s voluntarily suggestion and acceptance of a planning
condition to shorten the deadline for the submission of reserved matters
applications from 3 years to 2 years, would clearly assist further in speeding up
housing delivery.
193. The proposed development would also provide the policy-compliant figure of 40%
affordable units, which in this case would amount to up to 140 new affordable
homes. The evidence before me is that the West Essex and East Hertfordshire
Strategic Housing Market Assessment – Affordable Housing Update (July 2017),
which informed the preparation of the latest, now withdrawn emerging Local Plan,
identified the total need for affordable housing between 2016-2033 in Uttlesford as
2,167 dwellings. No further details have been submitted to show whether this
figure has increased or decreased in recent years, but for reasons already set out
above, the Council clearly has no firm short or medium-term strategy to address
this significant need.
194. The importance placed on providing affordable housing is highlighted by the key
priorities set out in the Council’s Corporate Plan 2020-2024. These include an
objective to ‘Deliver more affordable homes and protect those in need in our
district’. The provision of up to 140 affordable homes through this proposal would
provide almost 6.5% of the need figure identified in 2017. This would be a not
insubstantial contribution to affordable housing. This seems to me to be a
particularly important matter as average house prices in Uttlesford are more than
13 times the workplace based average earnings, compared to the national average
figure of 7.8. There seems to be no real disagreement between the parties that the
provision of this amount of affordable housing should be seen as a significant
benefit. I agree, and accord it significant weight. This would assist in satisfying
the Framework’s social objective of sustainable development.
195. The proposed provision of a substantial amount of additional market and affordable
housing would also assist in supporting the Government’s objective, set out in
paragraph 59 of the Framework, of significantly boosting the supply of homes. This
paragraph goes on to say that it is important that a sufficient amount and variety of
land can come forward where it is needed, so that the needs of groups with specific
housing requirements are addressed and that land with permission is developed
without unnecessary delay. It is because of this that I give little credence to the
JPC’s argument that the weight to be given to the provision of new market and
affordable housing should be reduced, because almost 580 new houses are already
being developed in Elsenham and Henham. This might have been a material
consideration if the position regarding the Council’s HLS deficit was not so grave.
But in light of the current position, already outlined above, I see no good reason to
lessen the weight to be given to new housing of this type and scale.
196. I also consider that the provision of new public open space, including a new junior
football pitch and changing rooms, has to be seen as an overall benefit. The
importance of this benefit is highlighted by the fact that the Council’s Sports

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 10234

Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/19/3243744

Facilities Development Strategy (2016) identifies an immediate demand for 6
additional youth sports pitches across the district, and Mr Jarvis, who spoke at the
inquiry as the Chairman of the Elsenham Youth Football Club, also argued for more
sports pitch provision in the district. The appeal proposal would go some way
towards meeting this need, and as the new junior football pitch and changing
rooms would be available to the wider community, and not just residents of the
proposed development, I consider that this should be seen as a benefit of
moderate weight.
The Green Infrastructure Strategy proposed by the appellant would assist in
securing a number of environmental and ecological enhancement measures,
including new native landscape planting and additional faunal opportunities. This is
seen by the Council as a benefit of the appeal proposal, and such measures clearly
accord with Framework paragraph 170(d), which indicates that planning decisions
should help to provide net gains for biodiversity. Moreover, the provision of safe
and accessible green infrastructure and sports facilities would enable and support
healthy lifestyles, as sought through Framework paragraph 91(c).
At the same time, of course, the proposal would result in the loss of open,
agricultural land, although this is inevitable when development takes place on a
greenfield site like this. Considering this loss alongside the likely environmental and
ecological benefits outlined earlier leads me to the view that, on balance, the
proposal would satisfy the environmental objective of sustainable development and
would result in modest environmental and ecological benefits, to which I accord
modest weight.
197. The additional pressure on education facilities, arising from up to 350 new homes,
would be met through the various contributions in the submitted S106 agreement
and I have already concluded that these would be necessary to make the appeal
proposal acceptable. As such, I do not see these contributions as a specific benefit
of the proposal. However, the fact that the appeal proposal includes land for a 1FE
primary school and an Early Years and Childcare facility, secured for a 10 year
period through the S106 unilateral obligation, would provide the LEA with flexibility
to address future educational needs over the coming years. Further flexibility would
be offered by the fact that the LEA could call for land for the Early Years and
Childcare facility, even if it did not require the land for a primary school.
198. Moreover, if the school was built on the site it would give rise to up to 31 FTE jobs
and the buildings would be available for community uses outside of school hours, as
detailed in the S106 unilateral undertaking. These latter points would both be clear
benefits of the scheme, but as there is no certainty that a new school would be built
on the site it is not reasonable to have regard to them at this stage. Nonetheless,
the offer of the land and the flexibility it would offer to the LEA do constitute real
benefits, which I consider should be given modest weight.
199. Under the second main issue I have already discussed the fact that the appellant
would make a significant contribution of £935,200 towards enhancements to the
7/7A bus service. Although I note that interested persons who spoke at the inquiry
viewed the current bus services as being poorly used, it does not automatically
follow that an enhanced service, as proposed here, would not prove to be more
attractive. Importantly, as this enhanced service would not only be available to new
residents of the proposed development, but also to existing residents living in
Elsenham and elsewhere along its route, I consider it would be a real benefit of this
proposal, to which I give moderate weight.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

35
Page 103

Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/19/3243744

200. The prediction in the TA that the proposed development could deliver a relatively
high 13% mode share by rail primarily arises because of the appeal site’s proximity
to the rail station, but this would be assisted by the intended provision of a direct
pedestrian and cycle link to the station. Locating new homes near a rail station like
this fully accords with saved ULP Policy GEN1(e) and Framework paragraph 108(a),
and overall I consider that these measures to help increase non-car travel should
be seen as a benefit of the proposal, to which I give modest weight.
Disbenefits
201. Disbenefits flow from matters where there is conflict with the development plan or
Framework, as has been detailed above. Under the first main issue I have
concluded that there would be some harm to the character and appearance of the
surrounding area, with a clear and permanent impact on the appeal site itself but
only a minimal adverse effect on the character and appearance of the wider area,
with no moderate or major adverse visual effects in the long term. As such, there
would be conflict with saved ULP Policies S7 and GEN2, but for reasons already
given, I consider that these policies can only carry moderate weight in this appeal.
This leads me, overall to conclude that the harm to the character and appearance
of the countryside should only be given limited weight.
202. There would also be harm to the setting of the listed buildings on Henham Road in
the vicinity of the appeal site, resulting in conflict with saved ULP Policy ENV2.
However, this policy is only partly consistent with the Framework, and therefore
attracts reduced weight. The harm is agreed by the appellant and Council to be
‘less than substantial’. Paragraph 193 of the Framework makes it quite clear that
when considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a
designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation,
irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss
or less than substantial harm to its significance. As a result I consider that great
weight should be given to the heritage harm in this case.
203. Framework paragraph 196 explains that where a development proposal would lead
to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this
harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal. All parties
agree that the public benefits of this proposal would outweigh this level of harm,
and I share that view. This means that the first leg of Framework paragraph 11(d)
does not apply in this case, and that the proposal needs to be assessed using the
‘tilted balance’ detailed in Framework paragraph 11(d)(ii). I carry out this balance
later in this decision, after examining all other harms.
204. The proposal would result in the loss of less than 19.65ha of BMV agricultural land,
and would be at odds with saved ULP Policy ENV5. However, this policy carries
reduced weight as it is not fully consistent with the Framework. Accordingly, and for
reasons given earlier, this loss of BMV land can only be given very limited weight.
205. Although the JPC alleges that the appeal proposal would result in various traffic and
transport-related harms, and thereby be in conflict with saved ULP Policy GEN1, I
have not found this to be the case, following my consideration of the second main
issue. The proposal therefore gives rise to no harm in this regard.
Summary, planning balance and overall conclusion
206. Having regards to the matters detailed above, applying the ‘tilted balance’ set out
in Framework paragraph 11(d)(ii) means that planning permission should be
granted unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 10436

Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/19/3243744

demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this
Framework taken as a whole.
207. I have concluded that the economic benefits should carry moderate weight; and
that significant weight should be given to the provision of up to 350 muchneeded new dwellings, with significant weight also being given to the provision of
up to 140 affordable homes. The provision of new public open space, including a
new junior football pitch and changing rooms carries moderate weight, with
modest weight going to the environmental and ecological benefits. The provision
of land for a primary school, and an Early Years and Childcare facility attracts
modest weight, whilst enhancement of the local bus service attracts moderate
weight. Finally, the provision of a direct pedestrian and cycle link from the
proposed development to the rail station attracts modest weight.
208. Set against these benefits, the harm to the character and appearance of the
countryside carries limited weight; great weight has to be attributed to the
heritage harm; and finally the loss of BMV land attracts very limited weight.
209. In my assessment, balancing the benefits and disbenefits detailed above indicates
quite clearly that the adverse impacts of allowing this proposal would not
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the
policies in this Framework taken as a whole. This means that the appeal proposal
would constitute sustainable development, and this is a weighty material
consideration in the appeal proposal’s favour. In my assessment it is sufficient to
outweigh the conflict with the development plan in this case.
210. With these points in mind my overall conclusion is that this proposal should be
allowed, subject to the imposition of a number of conditions as discussed at the
inquiry, summarised below, and set out in the attached Schedule.
Conditions
211. Condition 1 is the standard condition for outline planning permissions, modified to
require submission of Reserved Matters within 2 years of the date of the
permission, at the request of the appellant. Condition 2 is imposed to provide
certainty and to ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the
approved plans. The JPC requested that this condition makes reference to a future
masterplan, to be submitted as a Reserved Matter, but I do not consider this to be
necessary. As currently drafted, particularly with the inclusion of the Parameter
Plan, I am satisfied that the condition is sufficient to enable the Council to
adequately consider applications for the approval of Reserved Matters.
212. Condition 3 is imposed to ensure the appropriate investigation of archaeological
remains, and Condition 4 is needed in the interests of highway safety and the
control of environmental impacts. Conditions 5, 6, 7 and 8 are all imposed in the
interests of conserving and enhancing biodiversity, and to allow the Council to
discharge its duties under the UK Habitats Regulations 2017; the Wildlife &
Countryside Act 1981 as amended; and section 40 of the Natural Environment and
Rural Communities Act 2006, as appropriate. In addition, Condition 7 is imposed to
conserve the character of the site.
213. Conditions 9, 10 and 11 are necessary in the interests of highway safety, with
Conditions 10 and 11 also being imposed in the interests of accessibility and
reducing the need to travel by car. Condition 12 is necessary to make provision for
the charging of plug-in and other ultra-low emission vehicles. Condition 13 is
imposed in the interests of reducing the need to travel by car and promoting
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

37
Page 105

Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/19/3243744

sustainable transport. Condition 14 seeks to protect the residential amenity of any
future occupiers, with Condition 15 serving a similar purpose in seeking to protect
the amenity of any future occupiers of the school, if it is built on-site. Condition 16
is a further noise condition, imposed to protect the amenity of neighbouring uses
which may be sensitive to noise-sensitive development.
214. Condition 17 is necessary to ensure that the proposed development does not cause
pollution of Controlled Waters or harm to human health, and in the wider interests
of safety and residential amenity, whilst Condition 18 seeks to prevent flooding by
ensuring the satisfactory storage of and/or disposal of surface water from the site.
Condition 19 is imposed to ensure that appropriate maintenance arrangements are
put in place to enable the surface water drainage system to function as intended,
and to ensure the satisfactory drainage of the site.
215. Condition 20 is needed to ensure a high standard of accessibility, while Condition
21 is imposed to ensure that the environmental impacts of the development are
adequately mitigated and in the interests of the amenity of nearby residents and/or
occupiers. Condition 22 is needed in the interests of protecting the amenity value of
existing trees, where possible, and finally, Condition 23 is imposed to ensure that
the environmental impacts of the development are adequately mitigated.
216. All of the above conditions were agreed between the Council and the appellant but
as already noted, the JPC considered that additional wording should be added to
Condition 2 – a matter with which I do not agree, for the reasons set out above.
The JPC also took the view that there should be a condition to secure the
Residential Travel Plan, rather than this being secured through the S106 agreement
as agreed between the Council and the appellant.
217. In this regard I acknowledge the general guidance in paragraph 54 of the
Framework, that planning conditions should be used in preference to planning
obligations. But in view of the complexity of the proposed Residential Travel Plan,
and the fact that money needs to be secured for the likes of monitoring purposes, I
consider that the provision of this Travel Plan could best be secured through a
planning obligation, as proposed. Insofar as the proposed Education Travel Plan is
concerned, the JPC rightly points out that this would only come into being if a
primary school is constructed on the site. However, I do not regard this as a
particular problem. If no school is built on the site, education trips would simply fall
to be covered by the Residential Travel Plan to which I have just referred.
218. Finally, through Mr Gardner, the JPC argued that the wording of several of the
conditions (Nos 5, 9, 10, 12, 14, 19 and 23) should be amended to prevent any
development commencing until the subject of the condition had been discharged or
otherwise dealt with. However, no evidence was submitted to demonstrate that any
unsurmountable problems would arise with the likes of the works sought by these
conditions – such as visibility splays and transport infrastructure - so I see no good
reason why these matters should restrain the start of development.
219. I have had regard to all other matters raised, including the points put forward in
opposition to the proposal on behalf of both Elsenham Parish Council and Stansted
Mountfitchet Parish Council, but find nothing sufficient to outweigh the
considerations which have led me to conclude that this appeal should be allowed.

David Wildsmith
INSPECTOR
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 10638

Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/19/3243744

Schedule of conditions (23 in total)
1)

Approval of the details of layout, scale, landscaping, and appearance (hereafter called
‘the Reserved Matters’) must be obtained from the Local Planning Authority in writing
before that development commences and the development must be carried out as
approved.
Application for approval of the first Reserved Matters must be made to the local planning
authority not later than the expiration of 2 years from the date of this permission. The
development hereby permitted must be begun no later than the expiration of 2 years
from the date of approval of the last of the Reserved Matters to be approved.

2)

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following
approved plans:
•
•
•

3)

No development shall take place until a programme of archaeological work has been
implemented in accordance with a written scheme of investigation which has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall
include an assessment of significance and:
a) The programme and methodology of site investigation and recording.
b) The programme for post investigation assessment.
c) The provision to be made for analysis of the site investigation and
recording.
d)
e)
f)

4)

FFP012-151 Rev B Site Location Plan
FFP012-132 Rev J Parameter Plan
0582.GA.002E Rev F Primary Site Access

The provision to be made for publication and dissemination of the analysis
and records of the site investigation.
The provision to be made for archive deposition of the analysis and
records of the site investigation.
The nomination of a competent person or persons/organisation to
undertake the works.

Prior to the commencement of the development, a detailed Construction Environmental
Management Plan (CEMP) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority, and the plan shall include the following:
a)
b)
c)
d)

Hours of operation, site office locations, delivery, and storage of materials
details.
Vehicle parking, turning, and loading arrangements.

e)

Construction Traffic Management Plan.
Construction Dust Management Plan including wheel washing measures to
control the emission of dust and dirt during construction including on the
public highway.
Waste management plan.

f)

Measures to limit noise and vibration from construction activities.

g)
h)
i)

Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities.
Identification of ‘biodiversity protection zones’.
Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working
practices) to avoid or reduce impacts during construction (may be
provided as a set of method statements).
The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity
features.
The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be
present on site to oversee works.
Responsible persons and lines of communication.

j)
k)
l)

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

39
Page 107

Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/19/3243744

m) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW)
or similarly competent person.
n) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs.
o) A scheme for early structural planting.
p)
q)
r)

Measures to provide temporary localised surface water run-off
management systems for construction stage activities.
A soil management plan for construction stage activities.
A Bird Hazard Management Plan (BHMP) to minimise the risk of bird
strike.

The development must be carried out in accordance with the approved CEMP
5)

A Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) shall be submitted to, and be
approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority prior to the occupation of any
dwelling. The LEMP shall include provision for habitat creation and management during
the life of the development hereby permitted, and shall include the following:
a) Description and evaluation of features to be managed.
b) Ecological trends and constraints on site that might influence
management.
c) Aims and objectives of management.
d)
e)
f)

Appropriate management options for achieving aims and objectives.
Prescriptions for management actions.
Preparation of a work schedule (including an annual work plan capable of
being rolled forward over a 5-year period).

g)

Details of the body or organisation responsible for implementation of the
plan. Ongoing monitoring, remedial/contingency measures triggered by
monitoring to ensure that conservation aims, and objectives are met.
Details of the legal and funding mechanism(s) by which the long-term
implementation of the plan will be secured and the management body or
bodies responsible for its delivery.

h)

The approved plan will be implemented in accordance with the approved LEMP.
6)

Prior to the commencement of development an Invertebrate Mitigation and Management
Plan (IMMP) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The content of the IMMP shall include the following:
a) Review of baseline invertebrate data to inform the design of the
Sustainable Drainage System (SuDS) and appropriate mitigation.
b)

Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities.

c)
d)
e)

Identification of ‘biodiversity protection zones’.
Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working
practices) to avoid or reduce impacts during construction.
Details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance.

f)

Details for monitoring and remedial measures.

The measures and/or works shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved
details and shall be retained in that manner thereafter.
7)

Prior to the installation of any fixed external lighting within the public realm, a lighting
scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The lighting scheme must:
a) identify those areas/features on site that are particularly sensitive for bats
and that are likely to cause disturbance in or around their breeding sites
and resting places or along important routes used to access key areas of
their territory, for example, for foraging; and

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 10840

Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/19/3243744

b)

show how and where external lighting will be installed (through the
provision of a design drawing and a spill light isolux drawing) so that it
can be clearly demonstrated that areas to be lit will not disturb or prevent
the above species using their territory or having access to their breeding
sites and resting places.

c)

provide details of future maintenance of installed fixed lighting.

The lighting scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details.
8)

The Skylark Mitigation Strategy shall be submitted to, and be approved in writing by, the
Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of development. The Skylark
Mitigation Strategy shall be in general accordance with the strategy principles as set out
in Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) Vol 1 (December 2017) and EIA Vol 1
Addendum (May 2019) and include the following details:
a) Mapped details of the proposed location of Skylark nest plots within
appropriate habitat and number of Skylark plots to be provided.
b) Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed Skylark nest plots.
c)

Detailed methodology for the Skylark nest plots following AgriEnvironment Scheme option: ‘AB4 Skylark Plots’.

d)

Details of the persons responsible for the implementation and
management of the Skylark Mitigation Strategy.

The Skylark Mitigation Strategy shall be implemented in accordance with the approved
details and all features shall be retained for a minimum period of 10 years.
9)

Prior to the occupation of any dwelling access from Henham Road shall be provided in
accordance with drawing 0582-GA-002F REVF and shall include visibility splays with
dimensions of 4.5 metres by 120 metres in both directions, as measured from and along
the nearside edge of the carriageway. The vehicular visibility splays shall be retained free
of any obstruction clear to ground at all times thereafter.

10)

Prior to the occupation of any dwelling the transport infrastructure as shown in principle
on drawing number 0582-GA-002F REVF shall be provided:
•

•
•
•
•

Two bus stops, to the specification of Essex County Council and including
poles, flags, timetables, raised kerbs, shelters and appropriate road
markings.
2m wide footway on the north side of Henham Road from the site access
to join with the existing footway to the west.
Footway on the south side of Henham Road to link the existing footways.
Dropped kerb crossing point of Henham Road.
Dropped kerb crossing point of public right of way and associated signing
of Public Right of Way (PROW) 21 (Elsenham).

11)

Prior to the commencement of the development, a scheme showing a footway/cycleway
of minimum width of 3m, linking the development to Old Mead Road (as shown on the
approved Parameter Plan (FFP012-132 Rev J), including details of associated signing and
lighting shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The footway/cycleway shall be constructed in accordance with the approved scheme and
made available for use prior to the occupation of the first dwelling hereby permitted.

12)

Prior to the occupation of any dwelling hereby permitted an electrical vehicle charging
point shall be provided for that dwelling. For houses these shall be accessible from any
on-plot parking spaces associated with that house. For every 25 flats, one or more
parking bays shall be marked out for use by electrical vehicles only. Charging
infrastructure and cabling shall be provided and thereafter maintained and retained.

13)

Prior to the opening of the primary school, an Education Travel Plan must be submitted
to and approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing. The Education Travel Plan
shall then be actively implemented from the opening of the primary school for a
minimum period of 5 consecutive years during which the school is operational.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

41
Page 109

Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/19/3243744

14)

Prior to the occupation of any dwelling hereby permitted a scheme for protecting the
proposed dwellings from rail noise shall be submitted in writing to the Local Planning
Authority for approval. Details shall include the design, layout and acoustic noise
insulation performance specification of the external building envelope, having regard to
the building fabric, glazing and ventilation. The scheme shall be based on insulation
calculations provided in British Standard 8233:2014, and World Health Organisation
(WHO) Guidelines for Community Noise and shall be designed to achieve the following
noise targets: Bedrooms (23.00-07.00 hrs) 30 dB LAeq (8hrs), living Rooms (07.0023.00 hrs) 35 dB LAeq (16hrs) 55 dB LAeq (16hr) for noise levels in the external garden
areas (or part thereof). The scheme shall be implemented as approved.

15)

Prior to the opening of the primary school, a scheme of design and mitigation measures
to achieve BB93 School Acoustics criteria for the specific rooms of the school, and for any
external teaching areas so that noise levels should not exceed 50dB LAeq 30 mins shall
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme
shall be implemented as approved.

16)

Prior to installation of any externally mounted ancillary plant for non-residential
buildings, equipment and servicing a scheme of design and details of any necessary
mitigation to achieve a rating level at the closest noise sensitive receptor from all plant
combined of 5 dB LAeq below the typical background (LAeq 90) level at the nearest noise
sensitive receptor shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The scheme shall be implemented as approved.

17)

No development shall take place until an assessment of the nature and extent of
contamination, based on the findings of the East of Elsenham Preliminary Risk
Assessment (November 2017), has been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.
This assessment must be undertaken by a competent person, and shall assess any
contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the site, and must include: a
survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination; and an assessment of the
potential risks to human health, the water environment, property (existing or proposed),
service lines and pipes, adjoining land and any other receptors identified as relevant. If
found to be necessary, a detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition
suitable for the intended use shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority prior to commencement of development. The scheme must include all
works to be undertaken, proposed remediation objectives, an appraisal of remedial
options, a timetable of works and site management procedures.
The remediation scheme for each phase shall be implemented in accordance with the
approved timetable of works. Within 2 months of the completion of measures identified in
the approved remediation scheme, a validation report demonstrating that the
remediation objectives have been achieved must be submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority.
In the event that contamination that was not previously identified is found at any time
after the development of any phase has begun, development must be halted on that part
of the site affected by the unexpected contamination. The contamination must be
reported in writing within 3 days to the Local Planning Authority. An assessment must be
undertaken in accordance with the requirements of this condition, and where remediation
is necessary a remediation scheme, together with a timetable for its implementation,
must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
measures in the approved remediation scheme must then be implemented in accordance
with the approved timetable. Following completion of measures identified in the approved
remediation scheme a validation report must be submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority.

18)

Prior to the commencement of development a detailed surface water drainage scheme for
the site, based on sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the hydrological
and hydro geological context of the development, shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme should include but not be limited to:

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 11042

Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/19/3243744

a)

b)

Limiting discharge rates partly via infiltration and partly to 9.7l/s for all
storm events up to and including the 1 in 100-year rate plus 40%
allowance for climate change. All relevant permissions to discharge from
the site into any outfall should be demonstrated.
Final modelling and calculations for all areas of the drainage system.

c)

The appropriate level of treatment for all runoff leaving the site, in line
with the simple Index Approach in chapter 26 of the Construction
Industry Research and Information Association (CIRIA) SuDS Manual
C753.

d)

Detailed engineering drawings of each component of the drainage
scheme.

e)

A final drainage plan which details exceedance and conveyance routes,
finished floor levels (FFL) and ground levels, and location and sizing of
any drainage features.
A written report summarising the final strategy and highlighting any
minor changes to the approved strategy.

f)
g)

A programme for the delivery of the surface water drainage scheme
ensuring necessary provision of surface water drainage infrastructure
throughout the construction phase of the development until completion.

The scheme shall subsequently be implemented in accordance with the approved
drainage scheme including the programme for delivery.
19)

Prior to the occupation of any of the dwellings hereby permitted a maintenance plan
detailing the maintenance arrangements including who is responsible for different
elements of the surface water drainage system and the maintenance activities/
frequencies, shall be submitted to and agreed, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority.
Should any part be maintainable by a maintenance company, details of long-term
funding arrangements should be provided.
The applicant or any successor in title must maintain yearly logs detailing the
maintenance of the surface water drainage system which should be carried out in
accordance with the approved Maintenance Plan. These must be available for inspection
upon a request by the Local Planning Authority.

20)

5% of the dwellings approved by this permission shall be built to Category 3 (Wheelchair
user) housing M3 (3)(2)(a) wheelchair adaptable. The remaining dwellings must be built
to Category 2: Accessible and adaptable dwellings M4 (2) of the Building Regulations
2010 Approved Document M, Volume 1 2015 edition.

21)

No development or preliminary groundworks shall commence until an Unexploded
Ordnance Risk (UXO) Assessment has been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The UXO Assessment shall include details of risk mitigation
measures, how mitigation will be implemented, details of the procedures should high risk
UXO not previously identified be encountered and the reporting regime. The mitigation
shall be undertaken in accordance with the approved scheme.

22)

Prior to commencement a detailed arboricultural method statement shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The statement shall identify
trees to be retained as part of the development and shall include details of measures to
protect and manage those trees during and after the construction stage of the
development. The development shall be undertaken in accordance with the approved
statement.

23)

Prior to the occupation of any dwelling a scheme for hedgerow gap planting in the
hedgerow to the south of Footpath 15 shall be submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. The hedgerow gap planting shall be undertaken in
accordance with the approved scheme.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

43
Page 111

Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/19/3243744

APPEARANCES
FOR THE COUNCIL
Mr Josef Cannon of Counsel
He called:
Mr Jon Etchells
MA BPhil CMLI
Mrs Alison Hutchinson
MRTPI

instructed by the Solicitor to Uttlesford
District Council
Director, Jon Etchells Consulting Limited
Partner, Hutchinsons

FOR THE APPELLANT
Mr James Maurici QC
He called:
Mr Colin Goodrum
BSc(Hons) DipLA FLI
Mr Gerry Corrance
CEng MICE FCIHT
Mr Nicholas Freer
MSc MRTPI

instructed by David Lock Associates
Director, LDA Design
Technical Director, WSP
Chairman and Partner, David Lock Associates

FOR THE JOINT PARISH COUNCILS OF HENHAM AND UGLEY - RULE 6(6)
PARTY
Ms Jenny Wigley of Counsel
instructed by the Joint Parish Councils
She called:
Ms Alison Farmer
Director, Alison Farmer Associates Ltd
BA MLD CMLI
Mr Simon Watts
Director, SW Transport Planning Ltd
CEng MICE MCIHT
Mr Geoffrey Gardner
Director, Gardner Planning
MSc MRTPI DMS MCIWM
INTERESTED PERSONS OPPOSING THE PROPOSAL
Dr Graham Mott
Cllr Geoffrey Sell

Ms Diane Macfarlane
Mr Jonathan Fox
Mr David Morson

Chairman, Elsenham Parish Council
On behalf of Stansted Mountfitchet Parish
Council
Resident of Stansted Mountfitchet, on behalf
of the Grove Hill Residents’ Group
Resident of Grove Hill, Stansted Mountfitchet
Local resident
Local resident

Mr Paul Jarvis

Chairman, Elsenham Youth Football Club

Mr Raymond Woodcock

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 11244

Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/19/3243744

CORE DOCUMENTS
Document Document Title
Number
List 1: Application Documents and Plans
1.1
Site Features Plan (Drawing: FFP012/153 Rev B)
1.2
Planning Statement (December 2017)
1.3
Design and Access Statement (December 2017)
1.4
Transport Assessment (December 2017)
1.5
Framework Residential Travel Plan (December 2017)
1.6
EIA Vol 1 (December 2017), pertinent chapters
1.7
EIA Vol 2 (December 2017), pertinent appendices
1.8
EIA Vol 3 Non-Technical Summary
List 2: Additional/Amended Reports and/or Plans submitted after
validation
2.1
Registered Primary Care Surgeries Briefing Note (11 July 2018)
2.2
Agent’s Letter – Revised and Additional Documents (20 May 2019)
2.3
Site Location Plan (DWG Ref: FFP012/151 Rev B)
2.4
Primary Site Access Plan (DWG Ref: 0582-GA-002F)
2.5
Parameter Plan (DWG Ref: FFP012-132 Rev J)
2.6
Planning Statement Addendum (May 2019)
2.7
Design and Access Statement Addendum (May 2019)
2.8
Transport Assessment Addendum (February 2019)
2.9
EIA Vol 1 Addendum (May 2019), pertinent chapters:
2.10
EIA Vol 2 Addendum (May 2019), pertinent appendices
2.11
EIA Vol 3 Addendum Non-Technical Summary
2.12
Addendum to Technical Note 3 - Stansted Mountfitchet
Microsimulation Modelling Revision C (3 July 2019) (WSP)
2.13
Technical Note 4 - Results of additional sensitivity tests (air quality)
(3 July 2019) (WSP)
List 3: Consultee Responses
3.1
NHS England (17 January 2018)
3.2
Environment Agency (22 January 2018)
3.3
Natural England (22 January 2018)
3.4
Sport England (26 January 2018)
3.5
Environmental Health (2 May 2018)
Elsenham Parish Council and Village Joint Parish Council Steering
3.6
Group (11 May 2018)
3.7
Environmental Health (20 August 2018)
Gardner Planning on behalf of Elsenham, Henham and Ugley Parish
3.8
Councils (3 September 2018)
Technical Note: Development East of Elsenham – Air Quality (31
3.9
August 2018) (Brook Cottage Consultants Ltd – Dr Claire Holman)
3.10
Historic England (19 July 2019)
3.11
Highways England (25 July 2019)
3.12
Natural England (2 August 2019)
3.13
Essex County Council Minerals & Waste Planning (7 August 2019)
3.14
Environmental Health (4 September 2019)
Technical Note: Development East of Elsenham – Air Quality (8
3.15
September 2019) (Brook Cottage Consultants Ltd. – Dr Claire
Holman)
3.16
Heritage & Conservation (13 September 2019)
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

45
Page 113

Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/19/3243744

Gardner Planning on behalf of Elsenham, Henham and Ugley Parish
Councils (23 September 2019)
3.18
ECC Ecology (26 September 2019)
3.19
ECC Highways (7 January 2020)
3.20
ECC SuDS (18 February 2020)
List 4: Appeal Documents
4.1
Appeal form (20 December 2019)
4.2
Appellant’s Statement of Case (20 December 2019)
4.3
Uttlesford District Council’s Statement of Case (18 February 2020)
Geoff Gardner Planning on behalf of Joint Parish Councils (Henham
4.4
and Ugley Parish Councils) Statement of Case (18 February 2020)
Case Management Telephone Conference Inspector’s Pre-Conference
4.5
Note (21 February 2020)
Appellant’s response to LPA’s and Rule 6 Party’s Statement of Case,
4.6
including Technical Note 5 as an enclosure (24 February 2020)
Appellant’s Position Statement for the Case Management Telephone
4.7
Conference (25 February 2020)
Case Management Telephone Conference Inspector’s Summary Note
4.8
(26 February 2020)
Signed Statement of Common Ground between the appellant and
4.9
Uttlesford District Council on all matters excluding landscape and air
quality (6 March 2020)
The Council’s Technical Note: Development East of Elsenham – Air
4.10
Quality (Brook Cottage Consultants) (6 March 2020)
Signed Statement of Common Ground between the appellant and
4.11
Uttlesford District Council on air quality matters (17 March 2020)
Signed Statement of Common Ground between the appellant and
4.12
Highways England (17 March 2020)
Signed Statement of Common Ground between the appellant and
4.13
Essex County Council (19 March 2020)
Statement of Common Ground between the appellant and Rule 6
4.14
Party on Highways Matters (7 October 2020)
4.15
Joint Landscape Position Statement (9 October 2020)
Case Management Telephone Conference Inspector’s Summary Note
4.16
(11 September 2020)
List 5: Planning Policies/the Development Plan
5.1
Secretary of State’s direction and schedule of saved policies (21
December 2007)
5.2
Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 - National Planning Policy Framework
Compatibility Assessment (July 2012)
5.3
Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 Policies Map
5.4
Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 Policies and relevant paragraphs
5.5
Essex Minerals Local Plan 2014 Policies and relevant paragraphs
3.17

List 6: Emerging Development Plan
6.1
6.2
6.3
6.4
6.5

Exam Doc 82 – Inspectors’ letter post stage 1 hearings (10 January
2020)
Exam Doc 83 – Timetable for the Council’s response to Inspectors’
letter (14 February 2020)
Document number not in use
Document number not in use
Uttlesford Draft LDS 2020 for LPLG August 2020

List 7: National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance
7.1
7.2

Document number not in use
Planning Practice Guidance Relevant Paragraphs

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 11446

Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/19/3243744

List 8: Relevant Appeal Decisions
8.1
8.2
8.3
8.4
8.5
8.6

Secretary of State Decision and Inspector’s Report
APP/C1570/A/14/2219018 (25 August 2016): Fairfield Site, Station
Road, Elsenham (UTT/13/0808/OP).
Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/18/3209655 (15 February 2019): Land
South of Wicken Road, Newport (UTT/17/2868/OP).
Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/18/3213251 (8 August 2019):
agricultural land west of Great Canfield Road, Takeley, Uttlesford,
Essex (UTT/18/0318/OP)
Secretary of State Decision and Inspector’s Report
APP/U4230/A/11/2157433 (16 July 2012): Land at Burgess Farm,
Hilton Lane, Worsley, Manchester, M28 3TL (10/58745/OUTEIA)
Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/19/3242550 (4 September 2020):
Land south of Rush Lane, Elsenham, CM22 6TF (UTT/19/0437/OP)
Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/19/3243727 (4 September 2020):
Land to the south of The Street, Takeley, CM22 6LY
(UTT/18/2049/FUL)

List 9: Relevant Judgements
9.1
9.2

9.3
9.4
9.5

Paul Newman New Homes Ltd v Secretary of State for Housing
Communities and Local Government and Aylesbury Vale District
Council [2019] EWHC 2367 (Admin) (06.09.2019)
Court of Appeal Suffolk Coastal District Council v Hopkins Homes
Limited v Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government
and Richborough Estates Partnership LLP v Cheshire East Borough
Council v Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government
[2016] [2016] EWCA Civ 168 (17.03.2016)
Supreme Court Suffolk Coastal District Council v Hopkins Homes
Limited v Richborough Estates Partnership LLP v Cheshire East
Borough Council [2017] UKSC 37 (10.05.2017)
Gladman Developments Ltd v SSHCLG & Corby BC & Uttlesford DC
[2020] EWHC 518 (Admin) (06.03.2020)
Court of Appeal Hallam Land v Secretary of State for Communities
and Local Government [2018] EWCA Civ 1808 (31.07.2018)

List 10: Technical Guidance
10.1.1
10.1.2
10.2.1
10.2.2
10.2.3
10.2.4
10.2.5
10.2.6
10.2.7
10.2.8
10.2.9
10.2.10

Planning Policy Guidance 13: Transport (first published March 2001,
updated January 2011) (Superseded) – Paragraphs 74 and 77
Guidelines for the Environmental Assessment of Road Traffic –
Institute of Environmental Assessment (1994) – Paragraphs 3.14 to
3.20
The Air Quality (England) Regulations 2000 (Made 6 March 2000,
Coming into force 6 April 2000)
Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs (DEFRA): The Air
Quality Strategy for England, Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland
(2007)
DEFRA: Clean Air Strategy (2019)
DEFRA: Local Air Quality Management Technical Guidance (TG16)
(2018)
Part IV the Environment Act 1995
European Ambient Air Quality Directive (2008/50/EC) (European
Commission, 2008)
Air Quality Standards Regulations 2010
Environmental Protection UK (EPUK)/ Institute of Air Quality
Management (IAQM): Land-Use Planning & Development Control:
Planning for Air Quality (2017)
IAQM: Dealing with Uncertainty in Vehicle NOx Emissions within Air
Quality Assessments (July 2018)
Uttlesford District Council Air Quality Action Plan 2017 – 2022

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

47
Page 115

Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/19/3243744

10.2.11
10.2.12
10.2.13

10.2.14
10.3.1

10.3.2
10.3.3

10.3.4
10.3.5

Uttlesford District Council: Air Quality Technical Guidance (2018)
Health matters: air pollution, guidance from www.gov.uk, accessed
20 March 2020
Cambridge Environmental Research Consultants (CERC), 2018, Best
practice air quality modelling using ADMS, presentation by Dr Jenny
Stocker the Institute of Air Quality Management’s Routes to Clean Air
Conference, 29 October2018, Birmingham
Uttlesford District Council: 2019 Air Quality Annual Status Report
(2019)
Guidelines for Landscape and Visual Assessment, Third Edition.
Routledge/LI /IEMA 2013. (Published book. Due to copyright
restrictions it is not possible to provide a digital copy, instead a hard
copy will be available for all parties to view during the Inquiry)
Natural England: South Suffolk and North Essex Clayland Character
Area profile (2014)
Natural England – Web extract: Landscape Character Typology for the
East of England Map; Settled Chalk Valleys Landscape Character Type
Summary; and Wooded Plateau Farmlands Landscape Character Type
Summary
Braintree, Brentwood, Chelmsford, Maldon and Uttlesford Landscape
Character Assessment (2006): Figure 7.1 and Pages: 278, 279, 280,
281, 305, 306 and 307
Essex & Southend-on-Sea replacement structure Plan review – Essex
Landscape Character Assessment (2003), Pages: 32, 33, 34, 45, 46,
47, 48, 49, 50, 51, 67, 68, 75, 76, 77, 78 and 79

List 11: Miscellaneous
11.1
11.2

Housing Trajectory and 5-year land supply position (1 April 2019)
2014 Emerging Local Plan Inspector’s Report (19 December 2014)

DOCUMENTS SUBMITTED AT THE INQUIRY, AND SHORTLY BEFORE
Document
Document
Document

1
2
3

Document
Document
Document

4
5
6

Document
Document
Document
Document
Document

7
8
9
10
11

Document

12

Document
Document

13
14

Document

15

Document

16

Opening submissions on behalf of the appellant
Opening submissions on behalf of the Council
Opening submissions on behalf of the Joint Parish Councils of
Henham and Ugley
Statement from Dr Mott on behalf of Elsenham Parish Council
Statement from Cllr Sell, on behalf of Stansted Parish Council
Statement and Report from Mr Woodcock on behalf of the
Grove Hill Residents’ Group
Statement from Ms Macfarlane
Statement from Mr Fox
Statement from Mr Morson
Statement from Mr Jarvis
Bundle of documents comprising details of the suggested
unaccompanied site visit itinerary, and plans, agreed between
the Council, the appellant and the JPC
Extracts from the Green Infrastructure Strategy Addendum,
submitted by the appellant
Air Quality SoCG Addendum between the appellant and Council
Technical Note: Fairfield, Elsenham – Cumulative Air Quality
Impacts, submitted by the Council
Bundle of additional docs relating to highways and transport
matters, submitted by the JPC
Extract from CD 123 ‘Geometric design of at-grade priority and

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 11648

Appeal Decision APP/C1570/W/19/3243744

Document

17

Document

18

Document

19

Document

20

Document

21

Document

22

Document

23

Document

24

Document

25

Document
Document
Document
Document
Document

26
27
28
29
30

signal-controlled junctions’ from the Design Manual for Roads
and Bridges, relating to Major and Minor roads, submitted by
the JPC
Extracts from transport proofs of evidence and rebuttal proofs
of evidence for Appeal Ref APP/C1570/A/2219018 from 2014,
submitted by the appellant
Bundle of 2 emails from interested persons, relating to traffic
conditions on Grove Hill, Stansted Mountfitchet, dated 11
November 2020
Email from Mr Woodcock dated 17 November 2020, relating to
the proposed zebra crossing at Lower Street, Stansted
Mountfitchet
Signed and completed S106 Agreement, completed 27
November 2020
Signed and completed unilateral undertaking, submitted by the
appellant, completed 24 November 2020
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Compliance Schedule
relating to the S106 Agreement, submitted by the Council
CIL Compliance Schedule relating to the S106 Unilateral
Undertaking, submitted by the appellant
Final schedule of proposed conditions, agreed between the
Council and the appellant
Comments from the JPC on the final schedule of proposed
conditions
Closing Statement from Dr Mott
Closing Statement from Mr Woodcock
Closing Submissions on behalf of the JPC
Closing Submissions on behalf of the Council
Closing Submissions on behalf of the appellant

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

49
Page 117

Planning Application for 220 dwellings by Gladman
Site North of Bedwell Road, Henham
Application ref UTT/19/2266/0P

Objection on behalf of the Henham, Ugley and Elsenham Parish Councils (v2)

Project reference

GP 064

Date

19 November 2019

Gardner Planning Ltd
Down Ampney
Bendlowes Road
Great Bardfield
Essex
CM7 4RR
07887 662166
geoff@gardnerplanning.com
COPYRIGHT
The contents of this document must not be copied or reproduced in whole or in part without the written consent of Gardner Planning
Ltd.

Page 118

Objection on behalf of the Joint PCs
Planning Application by Gladman
UTT/19/2266/0P
Site at Bedwell Rd, Henham

Contents
1. Introduction
2. Housing Land Supply
3. History
4. Policy
5. Planning Objections to the Application
a. Development Plan, NPPF and appeal decisions
b. Housing Land Supply
c. Spatial Strategy
d. Sustainable Development
e. Transport Sustainability and Impact
f. Protection of the Countryside
g. Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land
6. Executive Summary and Conclusion

Appendices
1.

Railton Report on Transport and Highways

2.

Emerging Local Plan Elsenham sites

3.

Planning application 800 dwellings UTT/13/0808/OP site plan

4.

Planning applications around Elsenham

Page 119

2

Objection on behalf of the Joint PCs
Planning Application by Gladman
UTT/19/2266/0P
Site at Bedwell Rd, Henham

1.0
1.1

INTRODUCTION
Gardner Planning Ltd (GPL) is instructed by Henham, Ugley and Elsenham Parish
Councils (the Joint Parish Councils - JPC) to assess and make representations on this
application. After examining and assessing the proposals, this Report submits several
serious objections to the application. The Railton Report (RR)1 contains the detailed
objection on transport sustainability, impact on Ugley Green and other matters. It is
appended to this Report and should be read in full, although key findings and
conclusions are included in this Report.

1.2

The Report focusses on the ‘policy framework’ which includes the National Planning
Policy Framework (NPPF), the Adopted Local Plan (2005) (ALP), the Emerging Local
Plan (ELP) a previous Elsenham planning appeal, and other matters. A separate
report on highways and transportation has been produced by Railton TPC Ltd (Bruce
Bamber) and is attached.

1.3

The site is located to the north of the village of Elsenham, between that village and
the hamlet around Old Mead Lane to the north. It is within the Parishes of Henham
and Ugley, between the M11 and the railway line (London to Cambridge). It lies
beyond the settlement boundary of Elsenham and is in open countryside in
agricultural use2.

1.4

This is an outline application with all matters reserved, except access, for up to 220
dwellings. The proposed access is3 shown as a detailed design for a single road access
to Bedwell Road, very close to the eastern abutments for the M11 bridge.

1.5

An outline of the objection is as follows:
i.

The proposals should be considered against the relevant policies of the
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise in

RR Appendix 1 to this Report
application form
3 shown on the Stirling Maynard drawing 1703-16-02
1
2

Page 120

3

Objection on behalf of the Joint PCs
Planning Application by Gladman
UTT/19/2266/0P
Site at Bedwell Rd, Henham

accordance with Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act
2004. The proposed development is contrary to the policies of the Adopted
Local Plan (ALP). It is also contrary to the Policies of the Emerging Local Plan
(ELP) to which moderate weight should be given. It is contrary to the former
Local Plan 2014 Inspector’s Report and contrary to the Secretary of State’s 2016
appeal decision (APP/C1570/A/14/2219018, UTT/13/0808/OP).
ii.

Whilst the NPPF para 11 'tilted balance' is engaged, significant and
demonstrable harm would be caused which outweighs any benefit.

iii.

Further development at Elsenham would be contrary to the spatial strategies of
the ALP and ELP. The latter also identifies sites which would collectively meet
the housing need, of which the application site is not one. Elsenham and
Henham have already accommodated a significant and excessive quantum of
housing development within the Emerging Plan period which is well above that
envisaged in the spatial strategy up to 2033. New development on such a scale
as proposed should be plan-led.

iv.

Elsenham is an unsustainable settlement to accommodate this major new
development. The site fails to meet the transportation sustainability tests of
the Development Plan and NPPF. Traffic from the site would substantially
access from the west passing through Ugley Green, which is wholly unsuitable
and would cause harm.

v.

The development would be contrary to policy and cause harm to the
countryside.

vi.

The development would cause the loss of BMV agricultural land, and the
application has failed to carry out the site searching exercise required in the
Development Plan and NPPF.

1.6

The focus of the Railton Report is the unsustainability of the location in
transportation terms including the unsuitability of the road system. Access to
Elsenham and its main facilities by walking or cycling is an excessive distance. The
availability of the railway station is of little benefit and accounts for only a small
number of existing trips.

Page 121

4

Objection on behalf of the Joint PCs
Planning Application by Gladman
UTT/19/2266/0P
Site at Bedwell Rd, Henham

1.7

The Joint Parish Councils made representations on the 2014 UDC Local Plan,
specifically objecting to the over-provision of housing and the inclusion of the large
site at North East Elsenham (Elsenham Policy 1). This proposal was rejected by the LP
Inspector and UDC subsequently withdrew its LP. Whilst the application is for a
smaller site with lower housing numbers, the same principles (which resulted in the
rejection) apply.

Page 122

5

Objection on behalf of the Joint PCs
Planning Application by Gladman
UTT/19/2266/0P
Site at Bedwell Rd, Henham

2.0
2.1

HOUSING LAND SUPPLY
A frequent example of ‘material considerations indicate otherwise’ is the position on
the 5-year housing land supply. This is the basis of the main justification put forward
by the Applicants to support the proposals.

2.2

UDC cannot demonstrate a 5-year housing land supply, which means that new NPPF
paragraph 11 d) ii is engaged such that justification for refusal of planning permission
for housing must show that the adverse impacts, which are significant and
demonstrable, outweigh the benefit of providing housing. Such impacts need not be
tightly defined on site specific matters (such as poor access or design) but can be
policy based on other parts of the NPPF or the development plan. Overall, the first
test (before engaging in the ‘balancing exercise’) is whether the development is
‘sustainable’.

2.3

Lack of a 5-year supply does not mean that all housing proposals must automatically
receive planning permission. NPPF para 11 effectively indicates in this circumstance
that any benefit of extra housing will be outweighed if the impacts are significant and
demonstrable, which they are.

2.4

In weighing the ‘tilted balance’ of the then NPPF 2012 para 14 (substantially
unaltered in the 2019 para 11 version) the clear judgement and conclusion of the S78
Inspector, endorsed by the SoS, was that even if there were a lack of housing land
supply the harm outweighed any benefit that extra housing would bring (see 3.2
below).

Page 123

6

Objection on behalf of the Joint PCs
Planning Application by Gladman
UTT/19/2266/0P
Site at Bedwell Rd, Henham

3.0

HISTORY
2013 Planning Application

3.1

The application proposal follows a previous planning application in April 2013 for 800
dwellings on a larger site4 (UTT/13/0808/OP). That site included part of this
application site, albeit for sewage works and a SUD. An appeal against the decision
by UDC to refuse planning permission was dismissed by the SoS on 25.8.16, after an
Inquiry beginning in September 2014.

3.2

Extracts are provided below in order to highlight the objections to that original site.
This Report submits that the objections raised by the Inspector are material in
consideration of this application which (in any event) is still a major development in a
village context. The Inspector’s conclusions (extracts below, with emphasis in bold)
were endorsed by the SoS (the Appeal B is the Elsenham site):
15.111 Against the three dimensions in the NPPF, the balance would mean that
neither scheme would amount to sustainable development. Without a 5 year HLS,
more weight should be given to the need for market housing which would tip the
balance in favour of Appeal A. Regardless of the conclusions on HLS, the substantial
impact on the surrounding road network would still weigh sufficiently heavily
against Appeal B so that the adverse impacts as a whole would significantly and
demonstrably outweigh the benefits. Consequently, the Appeal B scheme would
not amount to sustainable development in any event.5

3.3

The Secretary of State, in dismissing the appeal, concluded 6 (emphasis in bold):
The Secretary of State agrees with the Inspector that the substantial impact on the
surrounding road network weighs heavily against the proposal (IR15.111). He
gives significant weight to the conflict with Policy S7, and further limited weight to
the conflict with Policy ENV5.
The Secretary of State concludes, in agreement with the Inspector (IR15.111) that
the adverse impacts of this proposal would significantly and demonstrably
outweigh the benefits when assessed against the policies in the Framework taken

Appendix 3 2013 application location plan
SoS and Inspector’s Report 25.8.16 para 15.111,
6 SoS letter 16.8.16 paras 52, 53
4
5

Page 124

7

Objection on behalf of the Joint PCs
Planning Application by Gladman
UTT/19/2266/0P
Site at Bedwell Rd, Henham

as a whole (IR 15.111) and as such the proposal does not amount to sustainable
development. The Secretary of State therefore concludes that the appeal should fail.
2014 Local Plan
3.4

The April 2014 Local Plan proposed an urban extension to north-east Elsenham for
some 2,100 dwellings7. This also included the current application site and the 2013
application site. The Inspector’s Report (19.12.14) was highly critical of the site
allocation, amongst other things, and the Plan was withdrawn by UDC in January
2015. The following extracts are provided to illustrate why Elsenham is not a
sustainable location for major development, and 220 dwellings remains a major
development especially in the context of the village.

3.5

Extracts are as follows (with emphasis in bold)
2.3 Bearing in mind the siting of the strategic allocation, ULP effectively proposes a
major village expansion; the earlier tag ‘new settlement’ is not really an apt
description. Looking at the present context of Elsenham, other ULP proposals
(Elsenham 3-6) are already mostly commitments. These will add about 550 homes
to a village which in 2001 (according to EX117) had 922 households. Adding a
further 2,100 homes to a village of perhaps about 1,500 existing and committed
homes (on the basis of the above figures) would bring Elsenham to a total of about
3,600 homes. Potential future extension of the allocation to 3,500 homes after 2031
would increase the overall size of the village to as much as 5,000 homes. Expansion
on either of these scales would bring major change in Elsenham’s place in the
hierarchy of Uttlesford’s settlements. Before embarking upon any part of the
Elsenham policy 1 proposals it is therefore crucial to ensure that this is an
appropriate location for such expansion.
2.16 It is therefore a major disadvantage of the plan’s policy for Elsenham that the
village lies at some distance from the strategic network in a location embedded
within a network of rural roads acknowledged as currently unfit to serve
expansion on the scale proposed. Public transport is available and can be improved
to some degree and the planned growth of local facilities would help to reduce
transport demands. Benefits of the latter point would increase with the scale of the
planned development. Nonetheless, the development would place substantial
increased pressures upon existing unsuitable rural routes. Various proposed
mitigation measures and solutions have been proposed for overcoming this
disadvantage but these have not been shown either to be clearly able to secure

7

Appendix 2 2014 Local Plan extract

Page 125

8

Objection on behalf of the Joint PCs
Planning Application by Gladman
UTT/19/2266/0P
Site at Bedwell Rd, Henham

their objectives or to be deliverable. My overall conclusion on the evidence is that
there are severe doubts that Elsenham could overcome the connectivity
disadvantages of its location sufficiently to be regarded as consistent with
national policy or effective in being able to secure sustainable development.
3.6

The application Planning Statement makes little reference to the dismissed appeal,
and no reference to the withdrawn Local Plan Inspector’s Report.

3.7

The relevant points that are applicable to the current application from the decision
on the previous appeal scheme (800 dwellings) and the more general assessment of
the location in the Local Plan Report are summarised as follows,


Elsenham and the site are not sustainable locations for new development.
Access is a particular problem.



Development in this area would ‘cause harm to both the landscape and to views
across it’ and be contrary to ALP Policy S7, which should be accorded 'significant
weight'.



Regardless of the position on housing land supply, adverse impacts significantly
and demonstrably outweigh any benefits.

3.8

Other planning applications are pending to the east and west of Elsenham (as shown
in Appendix 4).

3.9

Fairfield submitted an application in December 2017 (UTT/17/3573) for 350 dwellings
at the southern section of the 2016 dismissed site. The JPC has lodged objections.

3.10

Wallace submitted an application for 99 dwellings in October 2019 (UTT/19/2470) for
99 dwellings.

3.11

Collectively there are undetermined applications for 669 dwellings at Elsenham.
Although submitted by different developers at different times it is essential that
UDC must consider their cumulative impact before determining the individual
applications.

Page 126

9

Objection on behalf of the Joint PCs
Planning Application by Gladman
UTT/19/2266/0P
Site at Bedwell Rd, Henham

4.0
4.1

POLICY
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that the
application falls to be considered against the relevant policies of the development
plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

4.2

The Development Plan comprises the saved policies of the UDC Local Plan 2005 (ALP).
There is also an Essex County Council Minerals Plan (original 1997, new 2014) but this
is not of relevance to the consideration of the application.

4.3

Other material considerations in the decision process include the guidance given in
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and Planning Practice Guidance
(PPG).

4.4

The Emerging Local Plan (ELP) reached the stage of ‘Regulation 22 Submission’ on 18
January 2019 and Examination Hearings took place in July 2019. It allocates sites
including those to accommodate the updated required number of new homes,
and contains similar policies on the same topics as in the ALP, with relevant
policies referred to in Section 5 below.

4.5

It is unrealistic not to recognise that things have moved on. Plan making both sets
out constraints (such as the countryside), but also has a primary purpose to match
the supply of allocated sites to satisfy housing need.

4.6

NPPF para 48 is relevant:
Local planning authorities may give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans
according to:
a) the stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced its
preparation, the greater the weight that may be given);
b) the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies (the less
significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that may be given);
and
c) the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to this
Framework (the closer the policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the
Framework, the greater the weight that may be given)

Page 127

10

Objection on behalf of the Joint PCs
Planning Application by Gladman
UTT/19/2266/0P
Site at Bedwell Rd, Henham

4.7

The ELP is a material consideration and can be given moderate weight because it has
reached the sixth stage (out of 8) of preparation - the stage of ‘Regulation 24
Examination'. Examination Hearings were held in July 2019.

4.8

The Inspector in the recent Newport Countryside appeal decision 30.8.198 confirmed
this level of weight (my emphasis in bold):
25. Although not referred to in the reasons for the refusal of planning permission,
the Council is currently preparing a new local plan. This emerging local plan (ELP)
was submitted to the Secretary of State on 19 January 2019 for examination. The
Planning SoCG confirms that there are objections to the ELP on many topics which
need to be resolved. Notwithstanding these objections, the ELP has reached a
relatively advanced stage in the plan making process. Taking into account the
requirements of paragraph 48 of the Framework, I have attached moderate
weight to the policies contained therein.

4.9

The ELP significantly increases the housing requirements of Uttlesford and allocates
sites including those to accommodate the required number of new homes, but
proposes no changes which are relevant to the determination of the application. It
also contains similar policies on the same topics as in the ALP.

4.10

The importance of attaching weight to the ELP is that:


it has essentially re-established the spatial strategy of the ALP (whilst adding
'new settlements')



it identifies the higher scale of growth now required and identifies locations
according to the spatial strategy

4.11

Having been now submitted and examined, the ELP should be accorded ‘moderate
weight’ in the decision making process in accordance with NPPF para 48.

4.12

8

The Elsenham and Newport appeal decisions are also material considerations.

APP/C1570/W/3209655 30.8.19 para 25

Page 128

11

Objection on behalf of the Joint PCs
Planning Application by Gladman
UTT/19/2266/0P
Site at Bedwell Rd, Henham

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
4.13

The current NPPF was published in February 2019, relevant paragraph references are
given in Section 5 below.

Page 129

12

Objection on behalf of the Joint PCs
Planning Application by Gladman
UTT/19/2266/0P
Site at Bedwell Rd, Henham

5.0
5.1

PLANNING OBJECTIONS TO THE APPLICATION
This Report presents the planning objections on behalf of the Joint Parish Councils,
and cross refers to the highways and transport objections contained in the Railton
Report attached.

The Development Plan and NPPF
5.2

The starting point is that UDC must make a decision based on Section 38(6) of the
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 which requires that the application is in
conformity with the relevant policies of the development plan, unless material
considerations indicate otherwise.

5.3

Whilst the Adopted Plan (2005) remains as the ‘Development Plan’ (ALP), UDC has
submitted a Regulation 22 Emerging Local Plan (ELP) in January 2019 which has been
the subject of Examination in July 2019 (Regulation 24). The ELP is a ‘material
consideration’, which in a recent appeal decision9 "has reached a relatively advanced
stage in the plan making process. Taking into account the requirements of paragraph
48 of the Framework, I have attached moderate weight to the policies contained
therein." (my emphasis)

5.4

The new National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published by Government in
February 2019.

Housing Land Supply
5.5

One of these ‘material considerations’ is the position on the 5-year housing land
supply.

Newport appeal decision 30.8.19 Appeal Ref: APP/C1570/W/18/3209655 Land south of Wicken Road, Newport, Saffron
Walden
9

Page 130

13

Objection on behalf of the Joint PCs
Planning Application by Gladman
UTT/19/2266/0P
Site at Bedwell Rd, Henham

5.6

It is known that UDC cannot demonstrate a 5-year housing land supply which means
that new NPPF paragraph 11 d) ii is engaged such that justification for refusal of
planning permission for housing must show that the adverse impacts, which are
significant and demonstrable, outweigh the benefit of providing housing. Such
impacts need not be tightly defined on site specific matters (such as poor access or
design) but can be policy based on other parts of the NPPF or the development plan.
Overall, the first test (before engaging in the ‘balancing exercise’) is whether the
development is ‘sustainable’.

5.7

The ‘benefit’ of additional housing needs to be weighed in the balance. The harms
identified in this Report are 'significant and demonstrable' so outweighing any
benefit.

Spatial Strategy
5.8

In the ALP the strategy is to locate new development in the the existing main
settlements of Great Dunmow, Saffron Walden and Stansted Mountfitchet, along the
A120 corridor and in selected rural settlements (para 2.2.1 - 2.2.3). Elsenham is a ‘key
rural settlement’ where 'some further limited employment or residential development
is proposed'10 .

5.9

ALP Policy S3 (Other Development Limits) requires that new development should be
confined to the identified settlement boundaries, and be compatible with the
settlement’s character and countryside setting. Clearly, as a matter of fact, the site is
outside the identified limits and proposals are contrary to S3.

5.10

ALP Policy H1 (Housing Development) indicates the pattern and location of
development which reflects the spatial strategy but development of the site is clearly
not in accordance with the spatial strategy or hierarchy of settlements.

10

ALP para 2.2.3

Page 131

14

Objection on behalf of the Joint PCs
Planning Application by Gladman
UTT/19/2266/0P
Site at Bedwell Rd, Henham

5.11

ALP Policy H3 (Houses within Development limits) not only applies to settlements
with Development Limits, but also includes criteria which are applicable to all
'windfall sites' (such as the application site) and requires such sites to meet all of the
following criteria:
a) The site comprises previously developed land;
b) The site has reasonable accessibility to jobs, shops and services by modes other
than the car, or there is potential for improving such accessibility;
c) Existing infrastructure has the capacity to absorb further development, or there
is potential for its capacity to be increased as necessary;
d) Development would support local services and facilities; and
e) The site is not a key employment site.
f) Avoid development which makes inefficient use of land.

5.12

There can be no dispute that the application proposal is not 'within the development
limits' nor 'infilling'. If it is categorised as 'windfall' then it meets few of these criteria,
when 'all' must be met to satisfy the policy.

5.13

The ELP's Spatial Strategy is expressed in Policy SP2 and is to reinforce the role of the
main settlements (Saffron Walden and Gt Dunmow), and there is provision for ‘new
garden settlements’. Lower down the hierarchy, Key Villages have a minor role.

5.14

UDC has calculated housing need over the plan period of 2011 - 2033, and proposed
allocations to meet that need. ELP Policy SP3 then demonstrates how this provision
will be made, including provision for 170 additional dwellings on 2 sites in Elsenham
between 2017 and 2033 (ELS1, ELS2), plus a third site of 20 (ELS3) which was
permitted in 2016, making 190 houses in total allocated in the ELP. However, the
Rush Lane site (40 dwellings) was refused planning permission (UTT/19/0437/OP) on
6.11.19 so that the net contribution by ELP allocations to additional housing at
Elsenham is currently 150 dwellings. Clearly that would increase if the Rush Lane site
were to be permitted.

5.15

Significantly the application site is not allocated.

5.16

Elsenham is already making a significant contribution to the ELP's housing land
supply. In addition to the net 150 houses in the ELP allocations, other non-allocated

Page 132

15

Objection on behalf of the Joint PCs
Planning Application by Gladman
UTT/19/2266/0P
Site at Bedwell Rd, Henham

sites in Elsenham have been permitted (and mostly already completed) in the Plan
period (2011 - 2033), amounting to some 450 dwellings - so 600 additional dwellings
in total at Elsenham. This substantial contribution by Elsenham to the District's
housing supply certainly eases the pressure on this Key Village to accommodate
more, and illustrates why Elsenham is already considered to be at the limit, and
unable to accept more housing. The Table of unallocated, but permitted, sites is as
follows:
site
Orchard Crescent
Hailes Wood
Elsenham Nurseries
Land North of
Stansted Road
Land South of
Stansted Road

5.17

planning permission
UTT/1500/09/OP
25.11.12
UTT/13/2917 1.7.14
UTT/15/1121 8.12.15
UTT/14/2991/OP
UTT/14/3279 1.5.15

housing numbers
53

UTT/13/1790 23.12.13

165

TOTAL

450

35
42
155

Although the site is close to Elsenham, it is actually in the Parishes of Henham and
Ugley. Henham has also accommodated new housing since 2011 (the beginning of
the ELP plan period) on a scale well above its status in the ALP and ELP.

5.18

Henham is identified in the ALP in Policy H3 as a village with a development limit, and
also defined in the ALP as one of the 'other villages'11 where 'There is some limited
potential within these boundaries on small previously developed sites ...

5.19

In the ELP Henham is a Type A village12. The spatial strategy is set out in ELP Policy
SP2 which states for Type A and B villages that development will be limited.

5.20

ELP Policy SP3 shows where the required housing numbers are to be located. The
Policy indicates that only 134 dwellings13 will be provided in the 19 Type A and 23
Type B Villages in the plan period (2011-2033) but it also states that for Type B

ALP para 2.2.4
ELP para 3.38 table
13 ELP para 3.67 and Table
11
12

Page 133

16

Objection on behalf of the Joint PCs
Planning Application by Gladman
UTT/19/2266/0P
Site at Bedwell Rd, Henham

villages there will be no new allocations for housing14. So the 19 Type A villages
would accommodate an average of 10 new dwellings each.
5.21

Planning permission has actually been give for 88 dwellings in Henham since
September 2012, thus Henham has already made a material (and over-proportionate)
contribution to Uttlesford's housing needs.

5.22

The proposals are contrary to the spatial strategy for Uttlesford and contrary to ALP
policies S3, H1 and H4, and ELP Policies SP2 and SP3. Development on the
application site would cause significant and demonstrable harm which outweighs
any benefits of the development.

Sustainable Development
5.23

The NPPF provides “three dimensions to sustainable development”15, as below
(emphasis added), followed by this Statement’s comment on an assessment whether
the proposals meet these tests:



an economic role – contributing to building a strong, responsive and competitive
economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right type is available in the right
places and at the right time to support growth and innovation; and by identifying
and coordinating development requirements, including the provision of
infrastructure;

Comment: the site is unsustainable, a greenfield site on the edge of Elsenham located in the
countryside and between the M11 and a mainline railway, not what would be described as
‘the right type in the right place’.


a social role – supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by providing the
supply of housing required to meet the needs of present and future generations; and

14
15

ELP para 3.39
The NPPF para 8

Page 134

17

Objection on behalf of the Joint PCs
Planning Application by Gladman
UTT/19/2266/0P
Site at Bedwell Rd, Henham

by creating a high quality built environment, with accessible local services that
reflect the community’s needs and support its health, social and cultural well-being;
Comment: the location does not have accessible local services (e.g. retailing, secondary
schools, any significant employment)


an environmental role – contributing to protecting and enhancing our natural, built
and historic environment; and, as part of this, helping to improve biodiversity, use
natural resources prudently, minimise waste and pollution, and mitigate and adapt to
climate change including moving to a low carbon economy

Comment: the site involves development of a greenfield site in the countryside where car
travel in and out will be the realistic norm.
5.24

The Railton Report (Appendix 1 to this Report) assesses the sustainability of the site in
terms of accessibility for sustainable transport.

5.25

NPPF para 15 says that 'the planning system should be genuinely plan-led'. This
opportunistic planning application is the opposite of that principle.

5.26

In summary, the site is not a sustainable location for development and new
residents would be reliant on private car travel contrary to ALP Policy GEN1 and
NPPF paras 108, 110.

Transportation Sustainability and Impact

Page 135

18

Objection on behalf of the Joint PCs
Planning Application by Gladman
UTT/19/2266/0P
Site at Bedwell Rd, Henham

5.27

These topics are covered by the Railton Report (RR)16 but the key findings and
conclusions are included in this Report for convenience.

5.28

The Conclusion on Sustainable Access are summarised in the RR at para 2.26
Contrary to the assertion in the TA that states, ‘this is clearly a sustainable
development’, a fair and reasonable assessment of the opportunities for
sustainable travel show the site to offer extremely limited opportunities to walk,
cycle or use the bus and the station offers limited benefit due to its distance from
the site and the cost and lack of flexibility of train travel.

5.29

Acceptable walking distances from the centre of the site are wrongly described in
Section 5 of the submitted Transport Assessment to be up to 2km. However the
Manual for Streets uses 'up to about 800m' as the acceptable limit. The TA uses 'crow
fly' distances whereas the actual distances by footway are longer, compounded by
the access to the site at its south-west corner which is the furthest from facilities.
This location means that walk distances of all site residents to facilities would be
higher than all existing Elsenham residents. The walking distance to the primary
school is 2km in reality, not 1.2km. Indeed, the majority of local facilities are beyond
the maximum walking distance. RR Fig 1 shows walking distances.

5.30

Cycling to the nearest settlement with more facilities, Stansted Mountfitchet,
involves a distance of 4 - 5km, but the route along local roads is unsafe for cyclists so
would deter all but the most experienced and determined. Less than 1% of Elsenham
residents currently cycle to work (2011 Census).

5.31

The TA says that the nearest bus stop is approximately 600m away, but is actually
990m from the centre of the site - the Essex Design Guide says that no dwelling
should be more than 400m from a bus stop. The service (7/7A) is hourly only, and
none to Bishops Stortford between 8 and 9 am, and ends by early or mid-evening so
useless for work or leisure travel.

16

Appendix 1 of this Report

Page 136

19

Objection on behalf of the Joint PCs
Planning Application by Gladman
UTT/19/2266/0P
Site at Bedwell Rd, Henham

5.32

The train station is not 550m from the site access (TA) it is 570m, but the nearest
dwelling is 800m from the station and others on the site 1,150m. Walking is unlikely.
The SoS, dismissing the appeal on the larger site in 2016, agreed with the Inspector's
findings 'In particular, he did not give significant weight to the train station as few
journeys are undertaken by train, public transport connectivity and journey times to
facilities are poor, and the line itself is an obstacle to integration'.17

5.33

RR Appendix 1 shows 2011 Census results of 'Method of Travel to Work' e.g. by train
12.9%, bus 1.3%, bicycle 0.9%, car 79.7%.

5.34

The RR conclusion on the impact on Ugley Green (the adjoining village to the west) is
If the Transport Chapter of the ES were undertaken in accordance with relevant
guidance, the route through Ugley Green would have been identified as a sensitive
route and as such subject to more stringent standards of assessment (i.e. lower
magnitudes of impact will lead to a higher significance of impact). The failure in
the methodology employed invalidates the conclusion that there would be no
significant adverse impact resulting from the additional traffic generated by the
development.

5.35

The TA indicates that 78.2% of development traffic will travel to and from the west
requiring it to pass through Ugley Green, 133 movements in the AM peak hour (62%
increase) and 136 PM peak hour (57% increase). The route comprises a narrow
country lane (typically 4.5m wide, but 4m in places). In Ugley Green there is only 1
narrow footpath along the route to the B1383, elsewhere pedestrians must walk on
the carriageway.

5.36

The TA assigns all traffic to Pound Lane to access the B1383 whereas for traffic
from/to the south the route via Snakes Lane and Alsa Street is 50% shorter, and these
roads are of a very low standard and even more unsuitable.

5.37

The RR also finds
The environmental impact of the very significant increase in traffic through Ugley
Green is dismissed as insignificant on the basis that ‘the overall level of flow is very

17

SoS and Inspector’s Report 25.8.16 para 7.42

Page 137

20

Objection on behalf of the Joint PCs
Planning Application by Gladman
UTT/19/2266/0P
Site at Bedwell Rd, Henham

modest’ (para. 5.5.7 of ES). The author of the Transport Chapter demonstrates a
disturbing ignorance of the process of environmental assessment'18 and 'Since the
Transport Chapter of the ES fails entirely to consider sensitivity, it cannot provide
any meaningful conclusions on the significance of impacts19.'
5.38

On other matters the RR finds:
It is concluded that the effect of the Travel Plan would only be marginal at best
and it is in no way reasonable to rely on the Travel Plan to compensate for the
inherent transport sustainability deficiencies of the site.20
and
These suggested hours are significantly longer than would typically be acceptable in
sensitive areas such as this. The route of construction traffic would take HGVs past
Elsenham Primary School and the suggested hours of operation conflict with school
opening and closing times.21

5.39

The full conclusions are set out in the RR at paras 5.1 - 5.12, ending 'Overall it is
concluded that the transport supporting work is flawed and unreliable. The site has
poor transport sustainability and is likely to lead to an adverse impact on Ugley
Green.'

5.40

ALP Policy GEN1 is as follows (emphasis in bold)
Development will only be permitted if it meets all of the following criteria:
a) Access to the main road network must be capable of carrying the traffic
generated by the development safely.
b) The traffic generated by the development must be capable of being
accommodated on the surrounding transport network.
c) The design of the site must not compromise road safety and must take
account of the needs of cyclists, pedestrians, public transport users, horse
riders and people whose mobility is impaired.
d) It must be designed to meet the needs of people with disabilities if it is
development to which the general public expect to have access.
e) The development encourages movement by means other than driving a
car.

RR para 3.5
RR para 3.7
20 RR para 4.3
21 RR para 4.4
18
19

Page 138

21

Objection on behalf of the Joint PCs
Planning Application by Gladman
UTT/19/2266/0P
Site at Bedwell Rd, Henham

5.41

Relevant ELP Policies are:
Policy TA1 - Accessible Development
Development and transport planning will be co-ordinated to reduce the need to
travel by car, increase public transport use, cycling and walking and improve
accessibility and safety in the District while accepting the rural nature of the
District. The overall need to travel (especially by car) to meet the day to day
service needs will be minimised. Development proposals will be located in close
proximity to services and make use of sustainable forms of travel (walking,
cycling and public transport) to fulfil day to day travel needs as a first
requirement. To achieve this:
 The capacity of the access to the main road network and the capacity of the
road network itself must be capable of accommodating the development
safely and without causing severe congestion;
 Development will be managed so that it improves road safety and takes
account of the needs of all users, including mobility impaired users;
 New development should be located where it can be linked to services and
facilities by a range of transport options including safe and well designed
footpaths and cycle networks, public transport and the private car;
 Existing rights of way, cycling and equestrian routes (designated and nondesignated routes and, where there is evidence of regular public usage,
informal provision) will be protected and, should diversion prove
unavoidable, provide suitable, appealing replacement routes to equal or
enhanced standards ensuring provision for the long-term maintenance of
any of the above
 Travel Plans and Transport Assessments/ Statements will be required for
specific development proposals to demonstrate how a reduction in car travel
will be achieved/sustainable travel behaviour a priority.
 Appropriate and safe networks will be provided to allow for increasingly
independent travel by vulnerable road users to allow such individuals to
provide for their own travel needs.
Policy TA2 - Sustainable Transport
Sustainable modes of transport should be facilitated through new developments
to promote accessibility and integration into the wider community and existing
networks. Priority should be given to cycle and pedestrian movements and access
to public transport. Development proposals should provide appropriate provision
to maximise modal shift potential for all the following transport modes:
 Pedestrian (including disabled persons and those with impaired mobility),
through safe, accessible, direct and convenient design and layout of routes
within the new development and wider pedestrian network. Safeguarding
existing Public Rights of Way and promoting enhancements to the network,
where appropriate, to offer multi-user routes for walking, cycling, horse
riders and recreational opportunities;

Page 139

22

Objection on behalf of the Joint PCs
Planning Application by Gladman
UTT/19/2266/0P
Site at Bedwell Rd, Henham








5.42

Cycling, through safe design and layout of routes integrated into the new
development and contributing towards the development and enhancement
of the cycle network and provision of secure cycle parking and where
appropriate, changing and shower facilities;
Public transport, through measures that will improve and support public
transport and provide new public transport routes;
Community transport, through measures that will promote car pools, car
sharing and voluntary community buses, community services and cycle
schemes;
Servicing, refuse and emergency vehicles where viable and practical; and
Facilities for charging plug-in and other ultra-low emission vehicles (see
Policy SP5 below)

These Policies are entirely compatible with the NPPF and the concept that
development should be located where it can be best served by sustainable
transportation and infrastructure, e.g.
103. The planning system should actively manage patterns of growth in support of
these objectives. Significant development should be focused on locations which are or
can be made sustainable, through limiting the need to travel and offering a genuine
choice of transport modes. ...
108. In assessing sites that may be allocated for development in plans, or specific
applications for development, it should be ensured that:
a) appropriate opportunities to promote sustainable transport modes can be – or
have been – taken up, given the type of development and its location;
b) safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users; and
c) any significant impacts from the development on the transport network (in terms of
capacity and congestion), or on highway safety, can be cost effectively mitigated to
an acceptable degree.
110. Within this context, applications for development should:
a) give priority first to pedestrian and cycle movements, both within the scheme and
with neighbouring areas; and second – so far as possible – to facilitating access to
high quality public transport, with layouts that maximise the catchment area for bus
or other public transport services, and appropriate facilities that encourage public
transport use;
b) address the needs of people with disabilities and reduced mobility in relation to all
modes of transport;
c) create places that are safe, secure and attractive – which minimise the scope for
conflicts between pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles, avoid unnecessary street clutter,
and respond to local character and design standards;

Page 140

23

Objection on behalf of the Joint PCs
Planning Application by Gladman
UTT/19/2266/0P
Site at Bedwell Rd, Henham

d) allow for the efficient delivery of goods, and access by service and emergency
vehicles; and
e) be designed to enable charging of plug-in and other ultra-low emission vehicles in
safe, accessible and convenient locations.
5.43

The proposals are contrary to ALP Policy GEN1, ELP Policies TA1 and TA2 and NPPF
paras 103, 108 and 110. The development proposals, whilst poorly assessed in the
TA, would cause significant and demonstrable harm in terms of lack of sustainability
and traffic impact.

Protection of the Countryside
5.44

The site is beyond the settlement limits for Elsenham identified in the relevant maps
in both the ALP and ELP. It is thus in the countryside to which ALP Policy S7 and ELP
Policy S10 apply. This is a matter of fact which is not disputed, and the PS para 5.3.6
confirms that the proposals are contrary to ALP Policy S7. The setting of villages such
as Elsenham in the surrounding countryside is a key feature of their identity. The
countryside is a resource which cannot be 'time limited' and is so identified in the
NPPF para 170.
170. Planning policies and decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural
and local environment by:
b) recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside, and the wider
benefits from natural capital and ecosystem services – including the economic and
other benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural land, and of trees and
woodland;

5.45

NPPF para 213 states that due weight should be given to DP policies which are
consistent with its content, and the position on the 'intrinsic character and beauty of
the country-side' (NPPF 170b) is clearly fully supportive of Policy S7 (and ELP SP10).

5.46

Policy S7, The Countryside is as follows (emphasis in bold):
The countryside to which this policy applies is defined as all those parts of the
Plan area beyond the Green Belt that are not within the settlement or other site
boundaries. In the countryside, which will be protected for its own sake, planning

Page 141

24

Objection on behalf of the Joint PCs
Planning Application by Gladman
UTT/19/2266/0P
Site at Bedwell Rd, Henham

permission will only be given for development that needs to take place there, or is
appropriate to a rural area. This will include infilling in accordance with paragraph
6.13 of the Housing Chapter of the Plan. There will be strict control on new
building. Development will only be permitted if its appearance protects or
enhances the particular character of the part of the countryside within which it is
set or there are special reasons why the development in the form proposed needs
to be there.
5.47

The ELP includes the following policy which restricts development to within the
Development Limit and protect the countryside (my emphasis):
ELP Policy SP10 - Protection of the Countryside
The Countryside is defined as land outside the development limits ...
... The Countryside will be protected for its intrinsic character and beauty ...

5.48

The SoS (my emphasis in bold) in dismissing the Fairfield appeal in 2016 concluded
(and note that NPPF March 2012 para 17 is repeated in NPPF February 2019 at para
170):
“considers that the policy aim of LP Policy S7, to protect the countryside, is
consistent with the fifth bullet of Paragraph 17 of the Framework, that indicates
the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside should be recognised, while
supporting thriving communities within it. He therefore attaches significant
weight to this.”22

5.49

A recent appeal decision in Newport of 30.8.1923 also strongly supports ALP Policy S7
(my emphasis in bold):
Whilst the Framework takes a positive approach, rather than a protective one, to
appropriate development in rural areas, Policy S7 is identified by the Council as
being the only policy in the ULP that deals with development in the countryside. It
seeks to protect and enhance the natural environment, an important part of the
environmental dimension of sustainable development in the Framework. Taking
into account these factors, I consider that Policy S7 should be afforded significant
weight when considering development proposals in the countryside.

22
23

SoS letter on appeal para 31
Inspector's decision Appeal Ref: APP/C1570/W/18/3209655 Land south of Wicken Road, Newport, Saffron Walden

Page 142

25

Objection on behalf of the Joint PCs
Planning Application by Gladman
UTT/19/2266/0P
Site at Bedwell Rd, Henham

5.50

There is strong protection of the countryside from development. The proposals are
contrary to ALP Policies S7, ELP Policy SP10, and NPPF para 170 and would cause
significant and demonstrable harm to the countryside outweighing any claimed
benefit.

Loss of Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land (BMV)
5.51

The site is in agricultural use24 PS confirms that the land is grade 3a25 which falls
within the definition of BMV26. A Soils and Agricultural Report is mentioned in the PS,
but does not seem to be one of the submitted application documents.

5.52

Policy ENV5 seeks to protect ‘best and most versatile’ agricultural land (BMV).
ENV5 Development of the best and most versatile agricultural land will only be
permitted where opportunities have been assessed for accommodating
development on previously developed sites or within existing development limits.
Where development of agricultural land is required, developers should seek to use
areas of poorer quality except where other sustainability considerations suggest
otherwise.

5.53

Policy ENV5 seeks to protect ‘best and most versatile’ (BMV) agricultural land which is
defined in the NPPF as grades 1, 2 and 3a27. The Policy requires that developers
should first evaluate whether land of lesser quality is available elsewhere. The NPPF
states that such land should be protected and where ‘significant’ development is
‘demonstrated to be necessary’ -it should use land of ‘poorer quality’28.

5.54

The PS does not take the site's status of BMV land seriously. Neither NPPF para 17
b) footnote 53 or Policy ENV5 are even mentioned, let alone addressed. No
evidence is presented in the application documents that “opportunities have been

Application form section 6
PS para 3.3.14
26 NPPF Annex 2
27 The NPPF Annex 2
28 NPPF para 170 b) and footnote 53
24
25

Page 143

26

Objection on behalf of the Joint PCs
Planning Application by Gladman
UTT/19/2266/0P
Site at Bedwell Rd, Henham

assessed for accommodating development on previously developed sites or within
existing development limits”29.
5.55

The proposals are contrary to Policy ENV5, NPPF para 17 and the loss of BMV land
which is in agricultural use would be a serious and demonstrable harm outweighing
and benefit from the development.

29

ENV5

Page 144

27

Objection on behalf of the Joint PCs
Planning Application by Gladman
UTT/19/2266/0P
Site at Bedwell Rd, Henham

6.0
6.1

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION
This Report presents the planning objections on behalf of the Joint Parish Councils,
and cross refers to the highways and transport objections contained in the Railton
Report attached.

The Development Plan and NPPF
6.2

The starting point is that UDC must make a decision based on Section 38(6) of the
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 which requires that the application is in
conformity with the relevant policies of the development plan, unless material
considerations indicate otherwise.

6.3

As well as the Adopted Local Plan (ALP), the Emerging Local Plan (ELP) is a ‘material
consideration’, which should be given moderate weight.

Housing Land Supply
6.4

It is known that UDC cannot demonstrate a 5-year housing land supply which means
that new NPPF paragraph 11 d) ii is engaged such that justification for refusal of
planning permission for housing must show that the adverse impacts, which are
significant and demonstrable, outweigh the benefit of providing housing.

6.5

The ‘benefit’ of additional housing needs to be weighed in the balance. The harms
identified in this Report are 'significant and demonstrable' so outweighing any
benefit.

Spatial Strategy
6.6

In both the ALP and ELP the strategy is to locate new development in the main
settlements or in new settlements. Elsenham is a Key Village or 'key rural settlement’
whose role in the location of new development is very (or relatively) minor.

6.7

'Windfall sites' (such as the application site) must meet all of the criteria of ALP Policy
H3, but the application fails on at least 3 (not brownfield land, does not have

Page 145

28

Objection on behalf of the Joint PCs
Planning Application by Gladman
UTT/19/2266/0P
Site at Bedwell Rd, Henham

reasonable access to jobs, shops and services, local infrastructure does not have the
capacity to absorb it).
6.8

ELP Policy SP3 reassesses need for housing in the District and makes provision for 170
additional dwellings in Elsenham up to 2033.

6.9

Elsenham is already making a significant contribution to the ELP's housing land
supply. In addition to the net ELP allocations of 150 dwellings, other non-allocated
sites in Elsenham have been permitted and mostly already completed in the Plan
period (2011 - 2033), amounting to some 450 dwellings. At 600 dwellings, Elsenham
is already making a substantial (and over proportionate) contribution to housing
need.

6.10

Although the site is close to Elsenham, it is actually in the Parishes of Henham and
Ugley. Ugley does not have a development limit so is in the lowest category in the
hierarchy30. Henham has also accommodated new housing since 2011 (the beginning
of the ELP plan period) on a scale well above its status in the ALP and ELP, Planning
permission has actually been given for 88 dwellings in Henham since September
2012.

6.11

Henham is identified in the ALP in Policy H3 as a village with a development limit, and
also defined in the ALP as one of the 'other villages'31 where 'There is some limited
potential within these boundaries on small previously developed sites ...

6.12

The proposals are contrary to the spatial strategy for Uttlesford and contrary to ALP
policies S3, H1 and H4, and ELP Policies SP2 and SP3. Development on the
application site would cause significant and demonstrable harm which outweighs
any benefits of the development.

30
31

ALP para 2.2.4
ALP para 2.2.4

Page 146

29

Objection on behalf of the Joint PCs
Planning Application by Gladman
UTT/19/2266/0P
Site at Bedwell Rd, Henham

Sustainable Development
6.13

The NPPF provides “three dimensions to sustainable development”32.

6.14

For the 'economic role': the site is unsustainable, a greenfield site on the edge of
Elsenham located in the countryside and between the M11 and a mainline railway,
not what would be described as ‘the right type in the right place’. For the social role:
the location does not have accessible local services (e.g. retailing, secondary schools,
any significant employment). For the environmental role: the site involves
development of a greenfield site in the countryside where car travel in and out will be
the realistic norm.

6.15

In summary, the site is not a sustainable location for development and new
residents would be reliant on private car travel contrary to ALP Policy GEN1 and
NPPF paras 108, 110.
Transportation Sustainability and Impact

6.16

These topics are covered by the Railton Report (RR)33 but the key findings and
conclusions are included in this Report for convenience.

6.17

The Conclusion on Sustainable Access are summarised in the RR at para 2.26
Contrary to the assertion in the TA that states, ‘this is clearly a sustainable
development’, a fair and reasonable assessment of the opportunities for
sustainable travel show the site to offer extremely limited opportunities to walk,
cycle or use the bus and the station offers limited benefit due to its distance from
the site and the cost and lack of flexibility of train travel.

6.18

Walking distances from the centre of the site are in excess of the limit in Government
guidance. the walking distance to the primary school is 2km in reality, not 1.2km.

6.19

Cycling to the nearest settlement with more facilities, Stansted Mountfitchet, involves
a distance of 4 - 5km, but the route along local roads is unsafe for cyclists so would

32
33

The NPPF para 8
Appendix 1 of this Report

Page 147

30

Objection on behalf of the Joint PCs
Planning Application by Gladman
UTT/19/2266/0P
Site at Bedwell Rd, Henham

deter all but the most experienced and determined. Less than 1% of Elsenham
residents currently cycle to work (2011 Census).
6.20

The nearest bus stop is approximately not 600m away as claimed, but is actually
990m from the centre of the site - the Essex Design Guide says that no dwelling
should be more than 400m from a bus stop.

6.21

The train station is not 550m from the site access (TA) it is 570m, but the nearest
dwelling is 800m from the station and others on the site 1,150m. Walking is unlikely.
The SoS, dismissing the appeal on the larger site in 2016, agreed with the Inspector's
findings 'did not give significant weight to the train station as few journeys are
undertaken by train, public transport connectivity and journey times to facilities are
poor'.34

6.22

The application indicates that 78.2% of new traffic will travel to and from the west
requiring it to pass through Ugley Green which will cause a severe adverse impact on
the village

6.23

The application assigns all traffic to using Pound Lane to access the B1383 whereas
for traffic from/to the south the route via Snakes Lane and Alsa Street is 50% shorter,
and these roads are of a low standard and even more unsuitable.

6.24

The full conclusions are set out in the RR at paras 5.1 - 5.12, ending 'Overall it is
concluded that the transport supporting work is flawed and unreliable. The site has
poor transport sustainability and is likely to lead to an adverse impact on Ugley
Green.'

6.25

The proposals are contrary to ALP Policy GEN1, ELP Policies TA1 and TA2 and NPPF
paras 103, 108 and 110. The development proposals, whilst poorly assessed in the
TA, would case significant and demonstrable harm in terms of lack of sustainability
and traffic impact.

34

SoS and Inspector’s Report 25.8.16 para 7.42

Page 148

31

Objection on behalf of the Joint PCs
Planning Application by Gladman
UTT/19/2266/0P
Site at Bedwell Rd, Henham

Protection of the Countryside
6.26

The site is beyond the settlement limits for Elsenham identified in the relevant maps
in both the ALP and ELP. It is thus in the countryside to which ALP Policy S7 and ELP
Policy S10 apply. This is a matter of fact which is not disputed. The setting of villages
such as Elsenham in the surrounding countryside is a key feature of their identity.
The countryside is a resource which cannot be 'time limited' and is protected in the
NPPF at para 170.

6.27

Policy S7, The Countryside includes:
countryside, which will be protected for its own sake, ... There will be strict control
on new building. Development will only be permitted if its appearance protects or
enhances the particular character of the part of the countryside within which it is
set or there are special reasons why the development in the form proposed needs
to be there.

6.28

ELP Policy SP10 also includes - The Countryside is defined as land outside the
development limits ... The Countryside will be protected for its intrinsic character and
beauty ...

6.29

The SoS in dismissing the Fairfield appeal in 2016 concluded “considers that the policy
aim of LP Policy S7, to protect the countryside, is consistent ... [with the NPPF]
therefore attaches significant weight to this.”35

6.30

A recent appeal decision in Newport of 30.8.1936 also strongly supports ALP Policy S7:
Policy S7 should be afforded significant weight when considering development
proposals in the countryside.

6.31

There is strong protection of the countryside from development. The proposals are
contrary to ALP Policies S7, ELP Policy SP10, and NPPF para 170 and would cause
significant and demonstrable harm to the countryside outweighing any claimed
benefit.

35
36

SoS letter on appeal para 31
Inspector's decision Appeal Ref: APP/C1570/W/18/3209655 Land south of Wicken Road, Newport, Saffron Walden

Page 149

32

Objection on behalf of the Joint PCs
Planning Application by Gladman
UTT/19/2266/0P
Site at Bedwell Rd, Henham

Loss of Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land (BMV)
6.32

The site is in agricultural use37 the application confirms that the land is grade 3a38
which falls within the definition of Best and Most Versatile (BMV)39.

6.33

Policy ENV5 seeks to protect BMV agricultural land and the NPPF states that such land
should be protected and where ‘significant’ development is ‘demonstrated to be
necessary’ -it should use land of ‘poorer quality’40.

6.34

The PS does not take the site's status of BMV land seriously. Neither NPPF para 17 b)
footnote 53 nor Policy ENV5 are even mentioned, let alone addressed. No evidence is
presented in the application documents that “opportunities have been assessed for
accommodating development on previously developed sites or within existing
development limits”41.

6.35

The proposals are contrary to Policy ENV5, NPPF para 17 and the loss of BMV land
which is in agricultural use would be a serious and demonstrable harm outweighing
and benefit from the development.

Conclusion
6.36

It has been shown that this application is contrary to ALP S3, S7, H1, H3, H4, GEN1
and ENV5. It is contrary to ELP SP2, SP3, SP10, TA1 and TA2. It is contrary to NPPF
paras 11, 17, 103, 108, 110 and 170. It is also contrary to the former Local Plan 2014
Inspector’s Report and contrary to the Secretary of State’s 2016 appeal decision
(APP/C1570/A/14/2219018, UTT/13/0808/OP).

6.37

The development is therefore contrary to the Development Plan and the NPPF.
Although the lack of a 5-year housing supply means that NPPF para 11 is 'triggered'
such that the 'tilted balance' applies, the development is not sustainable and the final

Application form section 6
PS para 3.3.14
39 NPPF Annex 2
40 NPPF para 170 b) and footnote 53
41 ENV5
37
38

Page 150

33

Objection on behalf of the Joint PCs
Planning Application by Gladman
UTT/19/2266/0P
Site at Bedwell Rd, Henham

test is that the permission for the development should be refused because the
'adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole'.

Page 151

34

Planning Application for 220 dwellings by Gladman, Site North of Bedwell Road, Henham
Application ref UTT/19/2266/0P
GPL Appendix:
1.

Railton Report on Transport and Highways

Page 152

Railton
Land North of Bedwell Road, Elsenham
Objection on Transport and Highways
Grounds on behalf of Elsenham, Henham
and Ugley Parish Councils

Railton TPC Ltd

41 York Road
Newbury
Berkshire RG14 7NJ
T. 07500 557255
E. brbamber@hotmail.com
Railton TPC Ltd ref:
Planning Authority Ref:
Author:
Date:

Land North of Bedwell Road 01C
19/2266
Bruce Bamber BSc MA MSc CMILT MCIHT
02/11/2019

Page 153

Railton
Table of Contents
1.
2.

Introduction .................................................................................................................... 1
Transport Sustainability.................................................................................................. 2
Walking ............................................................................................................................. 2
Level Crossing................................................................................................................... 4
Access by Bicycle.............................................................................................................. 4
Access by Bus................................................................................................................... 5
Access by Train................................................................................................................. 5
Conclusion on Sustainable Access.................................................................................... 6

3.
4.

Impact on Ugley Green .................................................................................................. 7
Other Matters ................................................................................................................. 9
Travel Plan ........................................................................................................................ 9
Construction Traffic ........................................................................................................... 9

5.

Conclusion ................................................................................................................... 10

Figures
Figure 1: Walk Distances

Appendices
Appendix 1:

2011 Census Travel to Work Data

Appendix 2:

Extract from Essex Design Guide (walk distance to bus stops)

Appendix 3:

Extract from IEA Guidelines (assessment periods)

Appendix 4:

Extract from LA 104 Environmental Assessment and Monitoring
(DMRB)

Page 154

Railton
1. INTRODUCTION
1.1. Railton TPC Ltd is instructed by Elsenham, Henham and Ugley Parish Councils to
review the transport work submitted in support of a planning application for up to 220
dwellings on land north of Bedwell Road, Elsenham (Uttlesford District Council (UDC)
reference 19/2266). All matters are reserved apart from access.
1.2. The following documents have been reviewed:
•

Transport Assessment (TA), Stirling Maynard, June 2019;

•

Framework Travel Plan (FTP), Stirling Maynard, May 2019;

•

Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA), Wardell Armstrong, July 2019
(Chapter 5 Transport).

1.3. The key areas of concern identified from a review of the transport supporting work
relate to access by sustainable modes, the potential impact on sensitive areas to the
west of the site (Ugley Green) and the weakness of the proposed Travel Plan. These
concerns are discussed in further detail in the following sections.
1.4. A summary of the findings of the review are set out in the final section of this report.

1

Page 155

Railton
2. TRANSPORT SUSTAINABILITY

Walking
2.1

Section 5 of the TA deals with the transport sustainability of the site. This provides a
biased and misleading assessment of the site’s accessibility.

2.2

It is suggested in Section 5.1 that Section 4.4 of Manual for Streets (MfS) states that a
‘Walkable Neighbourhood’ is defined by walk trips up to 2km in length. The wording
from Manual for Streets is the following:
4.4.1 Walkable neighbourhoods are typically characterised by having a
range of facilities within 10 minutes’ (up to about 800 m) walking distance
of residential areas which residents may access comfortably on foot.

2.3

The TA goes on to quote MfS that refers to the now withdrawn PPG13 that indicated
that, ‘walking offers the greatest potential to replace short car trips, particularly those
under 2 km’. It is both misleading and disingenuous to suggest that a 2km walk
distance is an acceptable threshold to use when assessing the accessibility of a site
on foot. The Institution of Highways and Transportation’s (IHT’s) ‘Guidelines for
Providing for Journeys on Foot’ (IHT, 2000) provides the most widely accepted
thresholds for assessing the likelihood and convenience of journeys being undertaken
on foot. Table 3.2 of the document provides a summary:
Table 1: Suggested Acceptable Walking Distances
Town centres
(m)

Commuting/School/
Sight-Seeing (m)

Elsewhere (m)

Desirable

200

500

400

Acceptable

400

1,000

800

Preferred Maximum

800

2,000

1,200

Source: Table 3.2 of Guidelines for Providing for Journeys on Foot, IHT, 2000

2.4

The TA, at Figure 2a provides only crow-fly distances from the centre of the site. This
is an unacceptable and unprofessional approach that cannot be relied upon to provide
a realistic assessment of the accessibility of local facilities on foot. It is particularly
misleading given the site’s lack of pedestrian access points. Figure 1 attached
provides a reliable assessment of walking distances based on the available routes
from the centre of the site. Even a cursory comparison with Figure 2a of the TA
reveals a very sharp contrast.

2.5

Access to local facilities from the site on foot is made difficult for two main reasons.
The first is that only one point of pedestrian access is provided and this is located at
the site’s south-west corner, the point where the site is furthest from local facilities.
2

Page 156

Railton
Second, the presence of the railway line introduces a significant barrier to east-west
pedestrian movement. A crossing is provided at the railway station but this is of no
use in relation to other local facilities. The only other available point to cross the
railway is at the High Street. A crow fly distance of 1.2km between the centre of the
site and the primary school is thus increased to 2.0km when measured along the most
direct available walking route.
2.6

The TA provides a list of local facilities and states that these are all within walking
distance of the site. The list is reproduced below with an assessment of the degree to
which they are accessible on foot from the centre of the site via the most convenient
available walking route:
Table 2: Assessment of Walk Distances
Facility

2.7

Walk Distance

IHT Assessment

Railway Station

1,000m

Within preferred maximum

GP Surgery

1,500m

Over preferred maximum

Post Office/Store

1,700m

Over preferred maximum

Primary School

2,000m

Preferred maximum

Pub

2,100m

Over preferred maximum

Golds Nursery Business Park

900m

Acceptable

Recreation Ground

1,650m

Over preferred maximum

It can be seen that the majority of local facilities are beyond the preferred maximum
walking distance (GP surgery, post office/store, pub, recreation ground). The primary
school is at the limit of the preferred maximum walking distance, being 2,000m from
the centre of the site. The railway station is within the preferred maximum walking
distance. Only the Golds Nursery Business Park lies within an acceptable walking
distance. There are no facilities that lie within a desirable walking distance of the
centre of the site.

2.8

The peripheral location of the site and the poor pedestrian access arrangements mean
that walk distances for all residents within the proposed development to the facilities
within the centre of the village will be higher than the walk distances of all existing
residents within Elsenham.

2.9

It is concluded that the site suffers from very poor access on foot.

3

Page 157

Railton
Level Crossing
2.10 There is currently an uncontrolled pedestrian level crossing linking a public right of way
with Old Mead Road approximately 350m north of the railway station. The level
crossing is currently (October 2019) closed and has been closed for some time. A
sign states that the closure is for safety reasons.
2.11 Section 2.0 of the TA states that Network Rail is proposing to close the crossing
permanently and that the Inspector’s Report following a Public Inquiry dealing with this
and other closures is awaited.
2.12 If the crossing were to remain open and the proposed development were to be
permitted, the crossing would likely constitute an unacceptable safety risk since its use
would dramatically increase since it provides a much shorter pedestrian route between
the site and many local facilities. The route to the station and any other facilities
accessed via Station Road, for example would be around 450m shorter via this
crossing than via the pedestrian access on Bedwell Road.
2.13 It is concluded that the acceptability of the proposed site is contingent upon the closure
of the level crossing. It is noted that the TA does not identify this closure as an
essential part of the site access strategy.

Access by Bicycle
2.14 Apart from local facilities within Elsenham, cycling provides theoretical access to
Stansted Mountfitchet with a journey distance of between 4km and 5km. The
attractiveness of cycling does, however, depend on much more than just distance.
There are no designated cycle facilities between the site and Stansted Mountfitchet
and local roads are narrow and winding, carrying high traffic flows, including heavy
goods vehicles travelling at high speeds in some areas. The road environment
between Elsenham and Stansted Mountfitchet is not conducive to cycling and would
certainly not be attractive to any but the most experienced and determined cyclists.
2.15 All other local service centres (Bishops Stortford, Stansted Airport) lie beyond 5km of
the site and thus beyond what is generally considered a convenient cycling distance.
2.16 Given the lack of any proposals for additional facilities for cyclists outside the proposed
site, it is likely that the level of cycling associated with the site will be very similar to
that in the rest of Elsenham. A review of the relevant 2011 Census Data reveals that
less than 1% of residents within Elsenham currently cycle to work. The data are
attached as Appendix 1.

4

Page 158

Railton
2.17 It is concluded that cycling will not offer a convenient or realistic mode of travel to any
more than a tiny minority of residents within the proposed development.

Access by Bus
2.18 The TA states that the bus stop on Station Road is ‘approximately 600 metres away’
(section 5.3). The bus stop, in reality, is 990m from the centre of the site via the only
reasonable pedestrian route.
2.19 The Essex Design Guide states that for new residential developments no dwelling
should be more than 400m from a bus stop. The relevant extract is attached as
Appendix 2. The closest bus stop is almost two and half times the maximum distance
required by the Essex Design Guide. It should be noted that the distance to bus stop
requirement is not just desirable to make buses more convenient but reflects the fact
that many people are physically unable to walk significant distances to reach bus
stops.
2.20 It is concluded that the proposed development fails to meet relevant standards in
terms of distances to bus stops and, by any other standards provides very poor access
to local buses.
2.21 The bus service 7/7A provides roughly an hourly service between Bishops Stortford
and Stansted Airport although bus departure times are not a constant number of
minutes past the hour. An hourly service makes it difficult to use the bus for most
appointments and highly inconvenient for many trips that involve a short stay at the
destination. There is no service to Bishops Stortford arriving between 08:00 and 09:00
so it is not possible to access most full-time employment in Bishops Stortford by bus.
The service ends in the early to mid-evening and is thus useless for many leisure and
recreational purposes. There is no service on Sundays. It is concluded that even for
those who are prepared to walk the distance to and from the bus stop the service is of
limited value.

Access by Train
2.22 The TA states that the railway station is 550m from the site access. This is incorrect
as the station is 570m from the site access. The TA fails to acknowledge that no
houses are proposed at or near the site access. The nearest dwelling is another 230m
from the site access or 800m from the station. The northern and south-eastern parts
of the site are around 1,150m from the station. The station is therefore far less
convenient than assumed in the TA. For some people the distance to the station will
make walking to or from the station impossible.
5

Page 159

Railton
2.23 As a consequence of lack of pedestrian access, the northern and south-eastern parts
of the proposed site are, in terms of distance to the railway station, comparable with
the other existing parts of Elsenham that are most distant from the station.
2.24 Travel by train is convenient for some journeys but is inconvenient for many since the
range of destinations is limited. Train travel is also costly.
2.25 It is concluded that the railway station provides limited opportunities for sustainable
movement due to its distance from much of the site and the inherent lack of flexibility
and cost of train travel.

Conclusion on Sustainable Access
2.26 Contrary to the assertion in the TA that states, ‘this is clearly a sustainable
development’, a fair and reasonable assessment of the opportunities for sustainable
travel show the site to offer extremely limited opportunities to walk, cycle or use the
bus and the station offers limited benefit due to its distance from the site and the cost
and lack of flexibility of train travel.

6

Page 160

Railton
3. IMPACT ON UGLEY GREEN
3.1

It is proposed to provide vehicle access onto Bedwell Road immediately east of the
M11 overbridge. The TA indicates that 78.2% of development traffic will travel to and
from the west via Bedwell Road via Ugley Green (see Figure 23 of TA). This equates
to 83 additional two-way vehicle movements in the AM peak hour and 78 additional
two-way vehicle movement sin the PM peak hour.

3.2

The only traffic flow data provided by the applicant for Bedwell Road west of the site
access comprises an automatic traffic count (ATC) undertaken over a week in August
2018. Details are provided in Appendix 3 of the TA. Although the flows cannot be
treated as representative, having been undertaken during the school Summer holiday
period, they indicate a two-way flow of 133 vehicle movements in the AM peak hour
and 136 vehicle movements in the PM peak hour. The development traffic represents
an increase of 62% in the AM peak hour (83/133 x 100%) and an increase of 57% in
the PM peak hour (78/136 x 100%). These are significant increases.

3.3

The route through Ugley Green (Bedwell Road and Snakes Lane) comprises a narrow
country lane with tight bends with very restricted forward visibility. The route typically
has a width of 4.5m and is as low as 4.0m. The whole New Road/Bedwell
Road/Snakes Lane/Pound Lane route is subject to a 6’ 6” width restriction. The route
to the west of the site passes through the centre of the small village of Ugley Green.
There is only one short (100m) section of narrow footway along the entire route to the
B1383. Pedestrians are obliged to walk in the carriageway through the remainder of
the route. The route is also used by equestrians. Riding stables are located some
200m west of the M11 overbridge.

3.4

All traffic using the route through Ugley Green has been assigned to Pound Lane to
access the B1383. However, for traffic travelling to and from the south, the route via
Snakes Lane west and Alsa Street is around 650m shorter (50% shorter from the point
of divergence) than the route via Pound Lane. Snakes Lane and Alsa Street are of a
very low standard and even more unsuitable to accommodate any significant increase
in traffic than Pound Lane. Pedestrians and equestrians also use this section of road.
There has been no assessment of the possible impact of the proposed development
on this very sensitive area.

3.5

The environmental impact of the very significant increase in traffic through Ugley
Green is dismissed as insignificant on the basis that ‘the overall level of flow is very
modest’ (para. 5.5.7 of ES). The author of the Transport Chapter demonstrates a
disturbing ignorance of the process of environmental assessment. The Transport
7

Page 161

Railton
Chapter of the ES refers to the Institution of Environmental Assessment (IEA)
Guidelines (see paragraph 5.3.2 of ES) and even quotes ‘Rule 1’ that requires the
assessment of all links where traffic flows will increase by more than 30% (see
paragraph 5.3.4 of ES). It is clear that the proposed development will lead to
increases in traffic flows through Ugley Green well in excess of the IEA Guidelines
threshold.
3.6

Paragraphs 3.7 and 3.8 of the IEA Guidelines make it quite clear that it is not sufficient
to consider only weekday peak hours when assessing potential transport
environmental impacts. The relevant section of the IEA Guidelines is attached as
Appendix 3. The Transport Chapter fails to acknowledge this and fails to provide
anything but a weekday peak hour assessment.

3.7

In order to assess the significance of a transport environmental impact it is necessary
to identify those people and areas that are sensitive to changes in traffic flow (sensitive
receptors). The Transport Chapter of the ES does not even mention the word
‘sensitivity’ and there is an absolute absence of any evidence of work that has been
undertaken to identify those groups that could be adversely affected by changes in
traffic flow. The necessity to consider both sensitivity to changes in traffic flow and the
magnitude of those changes is clearly explained in the IEA Guidelines but is made
more explicit in Design Manual for Roads and Bridges (DMRB) Volume 11. This
includes a table showing how sensitivity and magnitude interact to define the level of
significance of a change. The relevant extract is attached as Appendix 4. Since the
Transport Chapter of the ES fails entirely to consider sensitivity, it cannot provide any
meaningful conclusions on the significance of impacts.

3.8

If the Transport Chapter of the ES were undertaken in accordance with relevant
guidance, the route through Ugley Green would have been identified as a sensitive
route and as such subject to more stringent standards of assessment (i.e. lower
magnitudes of impact will lead to a higher significance of impact). The failure in the
methodology employed invalidates the conclusion that there would be no significant
adverse impact resulting from the additional traffic generated by the development.

8

Page 162

Railton
4. OTHER MATTERS

Travel Plan
4.1.

In relation to the potential of a Travel Plan to compensate for the site’s lack of
sustainable access it is worth referring to the report of an Inspector in 2014 in
relation to a proposed development east of Elsenham (application ref. 13/0808).
The proposals were closer to the railway station than the current proposed
development. The Inspector stated:
With regard to modal shift, the sustainability of the site relies on a travel
plan (TP). The success of this would be hampered by the limitations of
the site location. If the TP is ineffective, little can be done. That is why
NPPF 34 addresses location [see para. 103 of current version of NPPF].
Uttlesford residents are more likely to own and use cars for a longer
commute than the national average. Travel by train forms a very small
percentage of resident commutes. Car ownership in Elsenham is even
higher than at the district level and without adequate measures it is likely
that there would be a significant increase in traffic on local roads. Coupled
with the limited local facilities, the site is not in an inherently sustainable
location and this will limit the success of the TP measures. (Inspector’s
Report, para. 10.25)

4.2.

This view is entirely in accordance with the review of the opportunities to use
sustainable modes set out above.

4.3.

It is concluded that the effect of the Travel Plan would only be marginal at best and it
is in no way reasonable to rely on the Travel Plan to compensate for the inherent
transport sustainability deficiencies of the site.

Construction Traffic
4.4.

It is noted that paragraph 5.6.2 of the ES states that during construction normal
operational hours for deliveries will be 07:00-19:00 Monday to Friday and 07:0013:00 Saturday. These suggested hours are significantly longer than would typically
be acceptable in sensitive areas such as this. The route of construction traffic would
take HGVs past Elsenham Primary School and the suggested hours of operation
conflict with school opening and closing times.

9

Page 163

Railton
5. CONCLUSION
5.1.

This report sets out a review of the transport work that has been submitted in
support of the proposed development of 220 dwellings on land north of Bedwell
Road, Elsenham (Uttlesford District Council (UDC) reference 19/2266).

5.2.

The transport supporting work includes errors and misleading and biased
assessments and fails to provide the level of supporting evidence that would be
expected from transport professionals.

5.3.

The site suffers from poor pedestrian accessibility. All housing within the new
development would be further from the centre than any existing housing within the
village. The majority of facilities are in excess of the Institution of Highways and
Transportation’s preferred maximum walking distance and no facilities lie within a
desirable walking distance.

5.4.

The existing level crossing adjacent to the site would constitute an unacceptable
safety hazard should the site be developed. Its closure would need to be a
precondition of development.

5.5.

Although Stansted Mountfitchet is theoretically accessible by bicycle the nature of
the local highway network and the lack of any existing or proposed cycle facilities
between the site and Stansted Mountfitchet restrict this mode of travel to only a tiny
minority of experienced and confident cyclists. Less than 1% of existing residents in
Elsenham currently cycle to work.

5.6.

The nearest bus stop is two and a half times further from the centre of the site (1km)
than the maximum distance required by the Essex Design Guide (400m). The site
therefore suffers from very poor bus access. Further, bus services would be entirely
inaccessible on foot for those with mobility impairments. Even for those who are
able and willing to walk to and from bus stops, the level of service is poor and it is
not possible to access most full-time employment in Bishops Stortford since there
are no buses arriving in Bishops Stortford between 08:00 and 09:00.

5.7.

The railway station provides limited opportunities for sustainable movement due to
its distance from much of the site and the inherent lack of flexibility and cost of train
travel.

5.8.

The overall level of sustainable access is succinctly expressed by an Inspector who
was considering a site to the east of the railway line that was slightly more
accessible than the current proposal. He stated that, ‘the site is not in an inherently
sustainable location’.
10

Page 164

Railton
5.9.

Given the lack of sustainable alternatives, any Travel Plan, however well
implemented, will inevitably achieve, at best, marginal changes in travel behaviour.

5.10.

The suggested delivery periods during construction are unacceptable as they fail to
avoid conflict between HGVs and vulnerable highway users such as children arriving
at and leaving Elsenham Primary School.

5.11.

The Applicant expects the vast majority (78.2%) of development traffic to travel
through Ugley Green, a highly sensitive route. No assessment of the adverse
impacts of this traffic has been undertaken in the Transport Assessment. The
Transport Chapter of the ES is fundamentally flawed in that it fails to assess any
time period other than weekday peak hours and omits any assessment of sensitive
receptors making any assessment of the significance of transport environmental
impacts impossible. The transport environmental work is fatally flawed for this
reason and none of the conclusions set out in the Transport Chapter of the ES are
therefore reliable or justifiable.

5.12.

Overall it is concluded that the transport supporting work is flawed and unreliable.
The site has poor transport sustainability and is likely to lead to an adverse impact
on Ugley Green.

11

Page 165

Figures

Page 166

Figure 1: Walk Distances

site
400m
1,600m
Railway
station

800m

Page 167

1,200m

1,600m

doctor

school

2km

shop

2km

Appendices

Page 168

Appendix 1: 2011 Census Travel to Work Data

Page 169

QS701EW - Method of travel to work
ONS Crown Copyright Reserved [from Nomis on 8 October 2019]
population
units
area type
area name
rural urban

All usual residents aged 16 to 74
Persons
2011 super output areas - lower layer
E01022063 : Uttlesford 005B
Total

Method of Travel
2011
to Work
Train
101
Bus, minibus or coach
10
Motorcycle, scooter or moped
6
Driving a car or van
591
Passenger in a car or van
40
Bicycle
7
On foot
27

782

%
12.9%
1.3%
0.8%
75.6%
5.1%
0.9%
3.5%
100.0%

Page 170

Appendix 2: Extract from Essex Design Guide (walk distance to bus stops)

Page 171

Page 172

Appendix 3: Extract from IEA Guidelines (assessment periods)

Page 173

Page 174

Page 175

Page 176

Appendix 4: Extract from LA 104 Environmental Assessment and Monitoring
(DMRB)

Page 177

Design Manual for Roads and Bridges

Sustainability & Environment
Appraisal

LA 104
Environmental assessment and monitoring
(formerly HA 205/08, HD 48/08, IAN 125/15, and IAN 133/10)
Revision 1
Summary
This document sets out the requirements for environmental assessment of projects, including
reporting and monitoring of significant adverse environmental effects.

Application by Overseeing Organisations
Any specific requirements for Overseeing Organisations alternative or supplementary to those given in this document
are given in National Application Annexes to this document.
Feedback and Enquiries
Users of this document are encouraged to raise any enquiries and/or provide feedback on the content and usage
of this document to the dedicated Highways England team. The email address for all enquiries and feedback is:
Standards_Enquiries@highwaysengland.co.uk
This is a controlled document.

Page 178

LA 104 Revision 1

3. Environmental assessment methodology

Table 3.4N Magnitude of impact and typical descriptions
Magnitude of impact
(change)

Typical description

Adverse

Loss of resource and/or quality and integrity of resource; severe
damage to key characteristics, features or elements.

Beneficial

Large scale or major improvement of resource quality; extensive
restoration; major improvement of attribute quality.

Adverse

Loss of resource, but not adversely affecting the integrity; partial
loss of/damage to key characteristics, features or elements.

Beneficial

Benefit to, or addition of, key characteristics, features or elements;
improvement of attribute quality.

Adverse

Some measurable change in attributes, quality or vulnerability;
minor loss of, or alteration to, one (maybe more) key
characteristics, features or elements.

Beneficial

Minor benefit to, or addition of, one (maybe more) key
characteristics, features or elements; some beneficial impact on
attribute or a reduced risk of negative impact occurring.

Adverse

Very minor loss or detrimental alteration to one or more
characteristics, features or elements.

Beneficial

Very minor benefit to or positive addition of one or more
characteristics, features or elements.

Major

Moderate

Minor

Negligible

No loss or alteration of characteristics, features or elements; no
observable impact in either direction.

No change

Assigning significance
3.5

The significance of effects must be reported within ESs, in accordance with the EIA Directive [Ref 4.N].

3.6

The significance of effects shall be reported within non-statutory environmental assessment reports.

3.7

The descriptions for significance (as outlined in Table 3.7) shall be applied by the project.
Table 3.7 Significance categories and typical descriptions
Significance category

Typical description

Very large

Effects at this level are material in the decision-making process.

Large

Effects at this level are likely to be material in the decision-making
process.

Moderate

Effects at this level can be considered to be material decision-making
factors.

Slight

Effects at this level are not material in the decision-making process.

Neutral

No effects or those that are beneath levels of perception, within normal
bounds of variation or within the margin of forecasting error.

NOTE 1

Where relevant, individual environmental factors can set out variations in significance description
requirements.

NOTE 2

The approach to assigning significance of effect relies on reasoned argument, the professional
judgement of competent experts and using effective consultation to ensure the advice and views of
relevant stakeholders are taken into account.

Page 179
14

LA 104 Revision 1

3. Environmental assessment methodology

NOTE 3

Significant effects typically comprise residual effects that are within the moderate, large or very large
categories.

3.8

The approach to deriving effects significance from receptor value and magnitude of impacts shall be
based on Table 3.7 and set out in the methodology section of the environmental assessment.

3.8.1

Where Table 3.8.1 includes two significance categories, evidence should be provided to support the
reporting of a single significance category.
Table 3.8.1 Significance Matrix
Magnitude of impact (degree of change)

Environmental
value
(sensitivity)

3.9

No
change

Negligible

Minor

Moderate

Major

Very high

Neutral

Slight

Moderate
or large

Large or
very large

Very large

High

Neutral

Slight

Slight or
moderate

Moderate
or large

Large or
very large

Medium

Neutral

Neutral
or slight

Slight

Moderate

Moderate
or large

Low

Neutral

Neutral
or slight

Neutral
or slight

Slight

Slight or
moderate

Negligible

Neutral

Neutral

Neutral
or slight

Neutral or
slight

Slight

The assessment of the significance of environmental effects shall cover the following factors:
1) the receptors/resources (natural and human) which would be affected and the pathways for such
effects;
2) the geographic importance, sensitivity or value of receptors/resources;
3) the duration (long or short term); permanence (permanent or temporary) and changes in significance
(increase or decrease);
4) reversibility - e.g. is the change reversible or irreversible, permanent or temporary;
5) environmental and health standards (e.g. local air quality standards) being threatened; and
6) feasibility and mechanisms for delivering mitigating measures, e.g. Is there evidence of the ability to
legally deliver the environmental assumptions which are the basis for the assessment?

Defining the baseline scenario
3.10

The baseline environmental conditions must be defined and described without the project in place
(baseline scenario) in accordance with the EIA Directive [Ref 4.N].

3.10.1

The baseline scenario should include a description of the site location and the surrounding area as far
as environmental effects are anticipated.

3.10.2

The baseline scenario should define existing land-uses and environmental receptors/resources
relevant to the environmental factor.

3.10.3

A description should be provided of the likely evolution of the current state of the environment without
implementation of the project i.e. 'future baseline scenario', with reasonable effort on the basis of the
availability of environmental information and scientific knowledge.

3.10.4

When describing the future baseline scenario, readily available information such as local plans,
designated site management plans and climate change scenario data should be utilised to provide a
description of the natural changes in the local environment over an appropriate timescale that the
datasets support.

Page 180
15

Planning Application for 220 dwellings by Gladman, Site North of Bedwell Road, Henham
Application ref UTT/19/2266/0P
GPL Appendix:
2. Emerging Local Plan Elsenham sites

Page 181

Regulation 19 Local Plan

Elsenham 63

Gr ee ns lee

The Sm

ve s

ithy

s

The Fuchias

Honey me ade

Blak eney

House

St B ru

Woodla nds

Maple

Kedr on

Ly nwood

Ga ble

War d B
dy

M 11

1.2 2 m R
H

rs

leigh

ge
Thorn Cotta

Home

The B ea

Hill

Brookf ie ld

Mar ch

Aspe n
House

Gr afton

Gr ee n

ur els

rne ss

uillins

The La

The C

The Wilde

Olv ar

en

d H ouse

Kism et

Pond

The H av

FB
Old Mea d

Or char

±

LB

Signa l Pos t

Hazelmoor Common

The Shieling

Tra

Uttlesford Pre-Submission Local Plan 2018
Elsenham Inset Map
Pa th (u m
)

FB

The C eda rs

The B ar n

Pond

FB

MP 3 6 .0

Byc ulla

ck

Hilltop

Tr a ck

87 .5 m

Dra

in

Fi eld g ate F a rm H o us e

Works

1.2 2 m R H

Spur ga te

The Fa rm
House

Maughans

Dr a in

Is s ue s
Pum p H ous e

OLD M EAD R

FIELD GATE

SP

OAD

The R ee

Tr a ck

1.2 2 m R
H

LAN E
95 .4 m

ds

Pa th
Bee ch
a low
Bung

(u m

)

Tr a ck

Ru in

Little H uds on Far m

Bedwell
Common

1.2 2 m R
H

Dr a in

The
Bell House

Hu d so n s
Fa rm

Tr a ck
Dr a in

De f

87 .6 m

Pond
4

The C halet

Dr a

(u m

)

Dr a

Pa th

in

1

MP 0 .7 5

in

89 .0 m

ELSE 4

Ugley Green

Pond

95 .8 m

Dis

ntle

d

Ra ilwa

Po nd

De

BB

f

FF

H
m R
1.2 2
FB

FB

in

War d

y

Kee ble s

Dra

B dy

ma

New Me ads

1.2 2 m

RH

Dr a in
Fox tons
Fa rm

s

Pond
92 .7 m

Tu pl in s

Ho us e

40

39

ry
Nu rse k
Golds ess Par
Bu sin

5

34

32
31
7

1

47
28

2

1

2

n Ho

1

tio
Sta

8

7

45
18

16
10

Sta
LC

us
e

JEN KINS D RIVE
6

3

7

TC B

3

4

M11

9

88 .9 m

1

2
8
9
7
16
15

ROA D

Hu n ters
Co u rt

10
14

18

22

Lavander Cottage

26
28

8

32

48

34

56

38

2

62

45

24

54

44

RD

Oa k Leigh

1

S
EN

8

37

6

32

ALSA LEYS

2

26

10

19

Ceda

Goldfie

Un d

lds
20 a

36

18

CRA NM ORE CLOSE

rwood

The Olive s

The Tre

63

es
Le

25

Os ma ry

Touque

21

26

t

20

13

12

8

Th e
Br am b le s

low

Ber ries

19
30
24

32

37

Ly ndhurs

t

1

BROO

7

2a

1

43

30

7

9

11

12

Pen n in g to n H al l

nd
93 .4 m

Pond

21
11

1

0.9

23

Ridle y
Court

18

13

9

S Po

d

2

17

1to

Un

D
FAR M ROA

M

7

23

6

89 .9 m

Sta
El Sub

Sew ag e
Ppg
Sta

Un d

OAD

ENT

13

C RESC

MR

10

AR D

FF

LA NK ESTER
CLOSE

m

Ly nc roft

73

20

le

M FAR

22

35

5

22

27

Oa kda

Wy ndha

2

OR CH

BROO

Oa ka moor

53

43

1

)

32

2

4

(u m

2

Fe nma n C our t

7

GA

11

Pond

De f

Pa th

1

4

unga

3

ALSA

The B

13

.5

Tyr one

Ems cot

7

35

Th e
Ho us e

f

1

De f

RH

MP

n

or d

i
Mon Abr

s

De

Quindo

Durnsf

Is s ue
El Sub Sta

1

NEW

67

6
14

45

47

1

AD

90 .3 m

4
12

33

7

2 3
11 10

RO

5
13

EL
L

79

1.2 2 m

FB

LB
SP

21

BE
DW

Else n ha m
Sta ti o n

Jeff
& E d di es

8

19

9

5

22

13

11

SE

25

Tr a ck

Ca r Pa r k

b

5

LOS E

GOLD CLO

31

EMP1

Su

The Pa ddoc ks

AD

Ta nk

st

RO

De pot

Ma

EL
L

Arc adia
Villas

5

El

SPENC ER C

MAYT REE G DN S

Ho m e stead F a rm

18

BE
DW

in

35

13 14

5

4

in

38
36 to

De f

EMP1

3

She rwood

Dr a

Dr a

Pond

Old Home ste ad

88 .1 m

42

41

De

f

1

Is s ue s

43

97 .0 m

Old

Sch o ol

1m

RH

15

63

26

2

1

Par kfield

HA M
HEN
93

39
29

32

19

44
44 a

3

1

Old
Hall
House

AD

Co

i lia
Cam

Moa t House

Ye w T ree
Co tta g es

New C otta ge

EN
D
E
EB
GL

36

d
ea

er
un
Br
dg
He
e
Th

Els en ha m C of E

2

94 .2 m

RO

Elsenham
Cross

Els enham
Cros s
Cottage

So
Co ph tt ag
tta ies e
ge

3 2

26

od

Els enham
Pla ce

o od

AM
NH
HE

Tinke rs C ottage

m

1

The Lodge

1

s
ow

(VC ) P r im a r y Sc hool

88 .9 m

Old Vic ar age C ot tage

Bar

31

20

6

k wo

g ew

44 c

2

Co ro n atio n
Co tta g es

17

Ash v ale

1
6
4

8

1

46

4

1a

93 .3 m

Ga ble End

Rowan House

Syc am or e
Lodge

29

8

45

4

1

2

35

28

27

SA
UN
DE
RS

El
Sub
Sta

16

Ashwood
House

Li m es

7

1

1a

1

2

6

5

34

26
25

1

2

31

5

38

40
44

47

46

14

20
19

16

21

2

3

38

DR IVE

Gran

n
Crowage
Cott

Nurs e's
Bunga low

13

12

4

Bar ke r Row

93 .0 m
1

2

BE L

1

OD

ISA

54

46

WO

15

73

60

1

49

2

2

52

ES

10

e

Gl eb

ra ig

La ne

22

1

1
B 105

St A nthony

Lodge
Cottage

Field
Vie w
(PH)

4

le be

ac

Old
Fr anks
91 .9 m

El
Sub
Sta

15

s
7

ge

nc otes

8

IVE
DR

La u re ls

Tra

ck

7

ta

Gr ee

H

C ot

Cat t's

94 .0 m

Th e C row n

2 1

3

4

Th e

ag

Als

ey

1

B

Als

lb

Fr ia r s

SE

1

TC

Gi

Par k House

HIGH STREE T

Th e Ol d
Bak er y

41

CLO

Par k Vie w

Curm es
Res t

1

32

)

r
C orne

HAIL

S
AY

16

(u m

9

RW

23

m)

IG
LE

Pa th

1

38

(u

2

th

PO

le

Vie w

Ga rdene rs
Cottage

HAILES WOOD
CLOSE

Chauc er

The
The Old Villa
PO

Littleton

91 .4 m

br ose

Am
Ga s
Gov

93 .4 m

South View

Par kdale

Th e
Co tt ag e

Gr ailings

Har leigh
House

ngda

94 .8 m

65

in
Dra Haz eldene

Elsto n
Cot tag e

Me m l

91 .9 m

41

31

18

Pa

War

FOU

ELSE 3

Penncotte

30

m)

AD

(u

RO

th

Little
Gle be

10

Is s ue s

85

16

Mor tua r y
Ch ape l

Bri dg e H ou s e

Pa

RD

Sub

PA GET C OUR T

FO
ND
SA

Path (um)

El

s

59

18 a 18

18

17

OFT

CR

Play Area

PA RK R OAD

11

5

ne

ie

Penni
ngton

93 .2 m

Playing Field

87

Maples

Hea ther
Dee p

12

CR

Alsa de ne

Henda ye H ous e

Sta

Spr ingland

nt C ottage

5

14

16

22

Cemetery

Salcom be

Newha ven

LEIGH DRIVE

ELSE 4

10

TH E

Sim ons
Cros sway s

The H ollies

Ba lan ci n g
Po nd

GG

37

D

o6

)

7

The St oc ks

49

75

5

Mea dow House

Sunni

Inve rur

83

La bur num s
Oa k Gate s
Birc he s

1

Co urt s

Rose dene

Th e
La n te rn s

Li tt le
Ga bl es

Oa k
Lodge

Recreation Ground

Pond

LLS
KWE

27

R OA

1t

(u m

MAR

67

16
1

8

15

5

3

1

Holly dene

Bo wling Gr ee n

Te nnis

Pa th (u m )

ROA
D

34

14

1t

41

6

16

37

LE
ND EVIL

4

th

Dr a in

Pa

14

16

24

DER D RIVE

8

ain

Dr a in

18

91 .5 m
Els enham
Sur ger y

Chalfo

Roxby

Pa v ilion

Pond

Sudorpoc ha

CORR IAN

33

Turner H ouse

Or well H ous e

Pond

Footbr idge

26

Y
WA

LEY

Kinros
s

Pond

Aspe ns

MA

Dr

BAR

Elsenham

Pa th

5

38

17

1

H ous ES S
e

Balancing Pond

Gr ee nwa ys

El Sub Sta

Wy nde

Key stone
We stc roft

S

DE

H ET
FITC

IER

Alcuin

OVE

ELSE 4
1

OZ

1

31

Tr a ck

26

53

Broom fie ld
House

Mas t

10 3 .2m

La mor na

SP

5 .2
MP 3

ROAD

9

GR

Pond

Alsa Wood Fa rm

The Gr ange

11

13
11

17

Bar ley

Tr a ck

ION

OS

23

21

85

S CL
OW

STAT

E
OV
S GR

E

10

AW W

Alsa
Wood

LL
DE

Gilvus Oa k

39

1

OK

NG

75

16

W

AW

8

2

18

BRO

S PRI

2

Ponds

S

13

1

d

41

23

65

NDRIVE

Un

35

DEN

51

LOSE
ELM C

GAR

o6

55

53

2

34

Or char d
House

EY

in

RIDL

War d B dy

Dr a

4

YDE
CLA

12

8

12

18

1

22

2

kdor
s

6

5

8

7

6

Jac

15

15

29
6

2

5

S
RU

16

E
OS

H

NE
LA

40

84 .1 m

4

1

23

18

CL

1
6

20
22

3

ELSE 1

20

9

CL

8

L

Dr
ain

2

s

1

22

31

24

FR

AN

KLI

ND

E
RIV

Vi ew

82 .0 m

Wo

od

Vie

The Paddocks

FB

e
Pond

w

The St ables

All otm e nt Ga rd en s

80 .3 m

The Paddocks

78 .3 m
Wor ks

Me m or ial
Hall Cotta ge

87 .7 m

L ROA

37

FB

96 .0 m

96 .7 m

33

D

JO

CHU RC

2

HN
SO
N
AD
RO

1

4

94 .7 m

Coac h H ous e

St Ma ry's Ch u rch

HAL

26

27

Old Mill
Fa rm H ouse

97 .4 m

The
tag
Cot

Th e Vill a

2

AD

EL
RC
PU

29

RO
1

Dr a in
Ford

Me ad o w

25

2

)

ELSE 4
El Sub Sta

The C ross ings

s

Y
ILE
BA

1

10

E
C LOS

8

EW

8a

ASK

The
Bee
che

8

1

4

7

E
OS

Lake

Da isy
Ma ys Fa rm

Brook
Stansted

Eas t
Le e
We st
Ly nne

20

8

17

NT
SA

a ck

RO

E
OS
CL

7

15

10

lk (Tr
ED

ER

21

1

y Wa
ST

LM

Abbotsford
Bridge
80 .3 m

Kr ith ia

11

11
13

Ru sh
Co tt ag e

2

17

27

ES S

ELSE 2

We lls
Cottage s

4

1

PA

n

M1

Old
Fa rm
Co tts

Ast on
Lodge

a rd
Or ch
Bar n

1

ER

9

RN

s
Fuller
t
Cour

Dai to

Her m it s

)

ai

r

2

E
OS

88 .9 m

15

TU

Dr

51

CL

32

(u m

5

a
oc
Av

ee

10

Old
Mill Farm

Ma
AN
ST

Sta

Pa th

3

d
ea
ym

ind
Re

ox

w
e
Th alo
ng

Bu

B

L

El Sub

5

E
OS
CL

2

AD

MIL

E
OS

2

20

14
16

1

97 .0 m

CL

GG

rd
Ba

La ngton

TT

The Old Vic ar age

10

1

nn
Su

d
ea
llm
Be

oft
lcr
ts
Hil
en e
rdw sid
Co od
t
Wo
on
rd
lm
Be dfo h
yc
Be
re
rw
me
Cla
ck git
Cu nra
w
Du
Vie
uth
So
sa
Ail ge
tta
Co

1

LE

D

Ll am a do g

3

AY

30

RO

8

The Glebe

AD

ED

s

Ma jo r
Oa k

ROA

ST

Co bw eb

H OOD

AN
ST

7

Pin es

2

AD

MP 3 5 .0

RO

96

m)

ROBIN

(u

Ced a rs

.4m

23

th

LL
HA

Pa

St

st
an

ed

ok

B roMP

Els enham
Sawmill
Tim b er Ya rd

0.7 5

Els en ha m H o use

H LAN

E

Gr oom s C ott age

Chauffe ur s
Cottage

Pond

79 .7 m

White
Cottage

The Av iary

1to6

Broom fie ld
Cottage

95 .1 m
Spr ing
Cottage

96 .5 m

The Ga te House

Mill House

93 .8 m
GP

dy
dB

CR

War

86 .9 m

Po nd

Elsenham Stud

(u

m

)

88 .3 m

th

North
Cottage

Pa
Pp

Dr

ain

The

Th e D ow n
Fa rm

Lit

tle

Co

tta

ge

Fuller's End
The C ottage
LB

10 0 .0m

Fa rndale
Cottage

Jia

Cottage
Fuller's End
Cottage

Fr es h Fields

Pa
th

MP 0 .5

(u

91 .3 m

The low
ga
Bun

Po nd

Inniscr one
10 3 .5m

Tr a ck

Po nd

Mill Wood

Ga rden C otta ge

Par k House

Apple Tre e H ous e

TYE GR EEN
R

SL

OAD

m)

Pond

92 .4 m

Pat

h (u

m)

Ta nk

El
Sub S ta

Is s ue s

Tra

ck

Stanst ed House

Kirk royd

Mea dowc our t

Dra

in

.25

ai

n

)

Dr

(u m

ck

M 11

92 .6 m

Tra

Cricket Ground

Pa th

34

Tr a ck

S Ga ntr y

MP

Pa v ilion

CR

Tr a

ck

W
Crown Copyright all rights reserved.
Uttlesford District Council 100018688 (2018)
rd
Wa

Bd

y

Pat

sted
Stan

h (u

m)

k
oo
Br

Sluic e

Long Plantation

Subw ay

Subw ay

Ma s t (te le c om m unic a tion)

War d B dy

m)
Pa th (u

FB

Scale: 1:10,000

Jubilee
Cottage

W

90 .8 m

Page 182

327

Planning Application for 220 dwellings by Gladman, Site North of Bedwell Road, Henham
Application ref UTT/19/2266/0P
GPL Appendix:
3. Planning application 800 dwellings UTT/13/0808/OP site plan

Page 183

M11

MEA
DR

OAD

Planning Application
Boundary

OLD

Other Land Under the
Applicant's Control

NE
A
L
D

EA
M
OLD

L
MIL
D
ROA

OLD
D RO

MEA

M11

AD

BE
RO D W
AD ELL

AD
O
R
NEW

STAT
AD

O
ION R

ELSENHAM

M
HA

D
A
O

R

N
E
H

HIGH STREET

D
A
O

ED

T
S
N
A
ST

R

GREATER ANGLIA
RAILWAY LINE
N
0m

100m
50m

Do NOT scale from this drawing.
All dimensions are to be checked on site and any discrepancies should be
immediately reported to the originator of the drawing.
All information is copyright protected and may not be used or reproduced
without prior permission.

N

27/08/2013 1:2,500 @ A0
DG

Designed

Checked

RAL PC

Approved

Drawing Number

FFP012-040-800

150m

300m

400m

500m

250m

Land North-East of Elsenham

Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of HMSO.
2012
All rights reserved.
Ordnance Survey Licence number 100017720

Drawn

200m

Rev

SITE LOCATION PLAN

DAVID LOCK ASSOCIATES LIMITED
50 NORTH THIRTEENTH STREET, CENTRAL MILTON KEYNES, MK9 3BP
TEL : 01908 666276 FAX : 01908 605747 EMAIL : mail@davidlock.com
www.davidlock.com

E
Page 184

Planning Application for 220 dwellings by Gladman, Site North of Bedwell Road, Henham
Application ref UTT/19/2266/0P
GPL Appendix:
4. Planning applications around Elsenham

Page 185

Page 186
Ordnance Survey © Crown Copyright 2019. All Rights Reserved.
Licence number 100022432
Plotted Scale - 1:9000. Paper Size - A3

Agenda Item 4
UTT/20/0422/FUL
(Major application) Deferred for members site visit.
PROPOSAL:

Erection of 12 no. dwellings including new access and associated
landscaping. Creation of parking area for adjacent playing field.

LOCATION:

Land North of Cox Ley, Hatfield Heath, Herts,

APPLICANT:

Hastoe Housing Association

AGENT:

Miss Amy Wilson

EXPIRY DATE:

21.05.2020 (Extension of time agreed to 19.02.2021).

CASE OFFICER:

Madeleine Jones

1.

NOTATION

1.1

Outside Development Limits. Metropolitan Green Belt. Tree Preservation orders.
Within 6km of Stansted Airport. Public Right of Way.

2.

DESCRIPTION OF SITE

2.1

This application relates to a parcel of land of 0.6 hectares adjacent to the existing
housing development of Broomfields and Cox Ley. The land is located directly to
the north of the development limits of Hatfield Heath, within the Metropolitan
Green Belt.

2.2

The site is mainly level. There is a mature vegetation screen along the western
boundary of the plot. There are allotments to the north and a football pitch to the
east. The land is a redundant and is overgrown scrubland.(The site does not form
part of the football pitch)

2.3

The dwellings directly to the west of the land are single-storey bungalows. They
are situated around an existing open green area. These properties mostly have
on street parking provision, although there is an existing informal parking area to
the north of the dwellings, adjacent to the application site

2.4

The dwellings directly to the west of the land are single-storey bungalows. They
are situated around an existing open green area. These properties mostly have
on street parking provision, although there is an existing informal parking area to
the north of the dwellings, adjacent to the application site

2.5

Other properties on Broomfield's are two-storey, mainly terraced dwellings or flats.
Properties in Cox Ley (to the south of the site) are mainly semi-detached
properties.

2.6

There is an electricity substation adjacent (to the west) of the site access.
There is an area close to the access that is used informally as parking for the
football pitch

2.7

To the north of the site are allotment gardens.

Page 187

2.8

To the north west of the site is a new development for affordable housing that was
granted planning permission under planning reference UTT/12/5349/FUL

2.9

There is a public right of way that extends east from the access along the southern
perimeter of the football pitch.

3.

PROPOSAL

3.1

This proposal is for the erection of 12 no. dwellings including new access and
associated landscaping. Creation of parking area for adjacent playing field.

3.2

The housing mix would consist of 1 x 1 bedroom house, 6 x 2 bedroom houses, 3
x 3 bedroom houses and 1 x 4 bedroom house. The buildings would be arranged
either side of the new access road.

3.3

The proposed buildings would be a mixture of 1 and a half and two-storey
dwellings. The dwellings would be divided in terms of external material. Some
would have rendered walls, some would be finished in timber weatherboarding
cladding and some brick. The roofs would be finished in slate or red/brown plain
tiles.

3.4

Access to the site would be from the existing road that serves Cox Ley.

3.5

Each new dwelling would have two parking spaces with minimum dimensions of
2.9m by 5.5m. Each dwelling would have a private rear garden area. Hard and soft
landscaping is proposed along the site boundaries and between the dwellings.

3.6

Ten of the dwellings would be provided as affordable housing and two of the plots
are to be market housing.

3.7

A car park would be provided for the existing football pitches.

4.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT

4.1

The proposal is not EIA development and an environmental assessment is not
required to assess the environmental impacts of the development whereby the site
does not fall within a “sensitive area”.

5.

APPLICANT’S CASE

5.1

The following documents have been submitted in support of the application:
 Design and Access Statement
 Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy
 Great Crested Newt Survey
 Preliminary Ecology Appraisal
 Transport Assessment
 Bird Survey
 Reptile survey
 Completed Biodiversity Questionnaire.
 Bat survey

6.

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

Page 188

6.1

UTT/13/2313/OP: Outline planning permission for the erection of 5 No. dwellings
with all matters reserved. Refused. Dismissed at appeal.

6.2

UTT/13/1119/OP: Outline application for the erection of No. 5 dwellings with all
matters reserved. Refused.

6.3

UTT/0290/84: Change of use of agricultural land to football pitch/playing field.
Approved with conditions.

6.4

UTT/0808/86: Outline application for a medical centre and alteration of an existing
access. Refused.

6.5

UTT/1193/87: Retention of building for use as changing room. Unconditional
approval.

7.

POLICIES
National Policies

7.1

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
Uttlesford Local Plan (2005)

7.2

ULP Policy S6– Metropolitan Green Belt
ULP Policy ENV3 – Open spaces and trees
ULP Policy GEN1 – Access
ULP Policy GEN2 – Design
ULP Policy GEN4 – Good Neighbourliness
ULP Policy GEN7 – Nature Conservation
ULP Policy GEN8 – Vehicle Parking Standards
ULP Policy GEN3 – Flood Protection
ULP Policy ENV14 – Contaminated Land
ULP Policy H9 – Affordable Housing
ULP Policy H10 – Housing mix
ULP Policy H11 – Affordable Housing on “ exception sites”
ULP Policy LC3 – Community Facilities
Supplementary Planning Documents/Guidance

7.3

Accessible Homes and Playspace.
Other Material Considerations

7.4

ECC Parking Standards – “Design and Good Practice” (September 2009)
UDC Parking Standards (adopted February 2013)
National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG)
Essex Design Guide

8.

PARISH COUNCIL COMMENTS

8.1

Agree with STRONG Conditions

8.2

In general the Parish Council recognise and agree with this proposal for affordable
housing but only on condition that an improved access and egress plan is
constructed and agreed and a vi-able long term surface and foul water plan is

Page 189

constructed and demonstrated.'
Voting was 6 for this statement, 1 against with 1 abstention
We have had further discussions on the subject since the meeting and met with
various representatives from Cox Ley at our forum on Saturday at which we
discussed the following:
The residents would prefer NOT to have the road opened up between Cox Ley
and Broomfields
(The Close) and indeed petitioned FOR them in the early days to prevent people
using the system as a racetrack.
Issues raised by them were:
Over-development of this side of the village adding to the strain on all the services
and in particular the road system, but also the already overloaded foul water
drainage system.
Concern about the adequacy of the surface water drainage arrangements.
Concern about site contamination
Concern about the impact on climate change.
In view of the above I propose that we amend our statement to the proposal as
follows.
'In general the Parish Council recognise and agree with this proposal for
affordable housing but only on condition that a viable long term surface and foul
water plan is constructed and demonstrated to have no impact on the existing
systems and residences and that a robust plan is published
to address the site contamination issues in full.
9.

CONSULTATIONS
ECC Highways

9.1

From a highway and transportation perspective the impact of the proposal is
acceptable to the Highway Authority, subject to conditions.
Place Services (Ecology)

9.2

No objections subject to securing biodiversity mitigation and enhancement
measures.
Lead Local Flood Authority)
(revised comments received 4th January 2021):

9.3

Following on from previous advice, having reviewed the flood risk assessment and
associated documents, we do not object to the granting of planning permission,
subject to conditions.
Sport England

9.4

Thank you for sending me the plan showing the proposals for relocating the
football pitch as an alternative to installing a ball stop netting/fencing solution
along the boundary of the proposed residential development to address the ball
strike risk issue.
I would be supportive in principle because a distance of 30+ metres between the
football pitch and the closest dwelling would be expected to be sufficient to
minimise the risk of ball strike from the pitch and therefore negate the need for ball
strike fencing/netting of a suitable height along the eastern boundary of the
development i.e. the proposed 1.8m close boarded fence would be adequate.

Page 190

information is formally submitted in support of the planning application:
1. Football Pitch Dimensions: Before you finalise the plans, can I request that you
check that the size of the relocated football pitch meets the needs of Hatfield
Heath FC. The FA recommended dimensions of a senior football pitch suitable for
adult use are 100 x 64 metres while the recommended dimensions of a youth
football pitch (under 15/16 age group) are 91 x 55 metres. The existing/proposed
dimensions of the pitch are approximately 91 x 63 metres which falls between the
two sizes. If the club need a football pitch for adult use, the relocation of the pitch
should be used as an opportunity to provide a pitch which will meet the
recommended dimensions although this would require the length of the pitch to be
extended.
I expect that the Football Foundation will query this so it would be helpful to
understand what size pitch the club needs. The submission will need to confirm
that the club have been consulted and the proposed dimensions meet their
requirements.
2. Site Plan: The site plan you have provided showing the existing and proposed
siting of the football pitch subject to any amendments made to adjust the pitch
dimensions of the relocated football pitch as set out above will need to be
submitted. As the proposal to relocate the football pitch will now form part of the
application (and we would seek a planning condition requiring the relocation of the
pitch) you may need to either extend the red line of the planning application to
include the whole of the proposed playing field or include the playing field within a
blue line to show the playing field is also within the control of the applicant if this is
the case.
3. Relocated Football Pitch Feasibility Study and Construction Specification: As
part of the relocated football pitch will be on scrubland that has not been used for
playing pitch use before, a feasibility study will be required to be prepared to
assess the ground conditions and advise how a suitable quality football pitch can
be constructed. The scope of the feasibility study and construction specification
will need to cover the whole area of the relocated football pitch to ensure that both
the existing and new areas of the pitch are constructed or enhanced to the same
standard. At this stage, only a commitment to prepare such a feasibility study and
construction specification for submission/approval as a pre-commencement
requirement will be required as this matter can be addressed through a planning
4. Relocated Football Pitch Phasing: Confirmation that the football pitch will be
relocated prior to first occupation of the residential development at the latest.
Ideally, it should be relocated earlier in the construction programme to minimise
any conflicts between the use of the football pitch and construction activities given
the close proximity of the pitch to the construction site. The construction
specification for the relocated football pitch will need to include an implementation
programme for the pitch works that accords with this phasing requirement.
5. Proposed Car Park Phasing: As the proposed residential development will
displace the existing informal car parking area near the site entrance used by
football pitch users, details of how the development will be phased to avoid a
scenario where there is no on site car parking for supporting use of the football
pitch during the construction period. While the application makes provision for a
new car park to serve the playing field which is welcomed, it is unclear whether
this would be provided as the first phase of the development in advance of the
informal parking area being lost or whether an area of informal car parking would

Page 191

be retained until the new car park is completed. A phasing scenario where there is
no on site car parking for football pitch users during the whole construction period
should be avoided as this may cause residential amenity issues in the surrounding
residential area which in turn may prejudice the use of the football pitch
Sport England’s position on the application would remain as a holding objection
until the above information has been submitted.
Thames Water
9.5

We would expect the developer to demonstrate what measures will be undertaken
to minimise groundwater discharges into the public sewer. Groundwater
discharges typically result from construction site dewatering, deep excavations,
basement infiltration, borehole installation, testing and site remediation. Any
discharge made without a permit is deemed illegal and may result in prosecution
under the provisions of the Water Industry Act 1991. Should the Local Planning
Authority be minded to approve the planning application, Thames Water would like
the following informative attached to the planning permission: “A Groundwater
Risk Management Permit from Thames Water will be required for discharging
groundwater into a public sewer. Any discharge made without a permit is deemed
illegal and may result in prosecution under the provisions of the Water Industry Act
1991. We would expect the developer to demonstrate what measures he will
undertake to minimise groundwater discharges into the public sewer. Permit
enquiries should be directed to Thames Water’s Risk Management Team by
telephoning 020 3577 9483 or by emailing trade.effluent@thameswater.co.uk .
Application forms should be completed on line via www.thameswater.co.uk.
Please refer to the Wholesale; Business customers; Groundwater discharges
section.
With regard to SURFACE WATER drainage, Thames Water would advise that if
the developer follows the sequential approach to the disposal of surface water we
would have no objection.
Thames Water would advise that with regard to WASTE WATER NETWORK and
SEWAGE TREATMENT WORKS infrastructure capacity, we would not have any
objection to the above planning application, based on the information provided.
Aerodrome Safeguarding

9.6

No objections.
Housing Enabling Officer

9.7

The delivery of affordable housing is one of the Councils’ corporate priorities and
will be negotiated on all sites for housing. The Councils policy requires 40% on all
schemes over 0.5 ha or 15 or more units.
I am pleased to confirm that this site will be a Rural Exception Site for housing for
local people to the Parish of Hatfield Heath with a cascade to neighbouring
Parishes where applicable.
The 10 homes for affordable rent will help meet an evidenced housing need in this
Parish and will help local residents stay in the area they require.
Two market dwellings are proposed to cross subsidise the cost of delivery.
This scheme is a combination of partnership working between the community, the
Council’s Housing Strategy Team and Hastoe Housing Association.
I confirm the house sizes and location meet the Council’s policy.

Page 192

Crime Prevention Officer
9.8

The applicant has entered into consultation with us with a view to achieving a
Secured by Design award in respect of this development

10.

REPRESENTATIONS

10.1

Neighbouring properties have been notified in writing and site notice displayed.
Expiry date 31st December 2020. 37 representations have been received and a
petition signed by local residents objecting to the proposal.

10.2

Summary of representations received as follows:




















11.

The land should be safeguarded from encroachment and unrestricted
sprawl of large built up areas.
Contamination
Overdevelopment
Traffic- congestion
Highway Safety
Impact on ecology
Pollution and noise
Flooding and drainage
Inappropriate development in the Metropolitan Green Belt
The development would prejudice the use of the playing fields
Impact on character of village
Loss of privacy
There are more appropriate sites for affordable housing in the village
Dangerous access
Insufficient parking in village
Overshadowing of bungalows to east.
Impact on climate change.
Loss of agricultural land
Inadequate infrastructure

APPRAISAL

The issues to consider in the determination of the application are whether:
A
B
C
D
E
F
G
H
A

The development of this site for residential purposes is appropriate in this
location.(NPPF, ULP policies S7, S6, LC1,GEN2,H9,H10,H11, and ENV3)
Design, scale and layout (ULP policies GEN2 and SPD “Accessible Homes and
Playspace”)
Highway safety and parking provision (ULP Policies GEN1 and GEN8);
Impact on residential amenity (ULP Policies GEN2 and GEN4);
Impact on biodiversity (ULP Policies ENV3 and GEN7).
Flooding and Drainage (ULP policy GEN3)
Contamination (ULP policy ENV14)
Other material considerations. The development of this site for residential purposes is appropriate in this
location.(NPPF, ULP policies S6, LC1,GEN2,H9,H10,H11,and ENV3)

Page 193

11.1

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states that
planning applications must be determined in accordance with the planning policies
set out in the Adopted Development Plan, unless material considerations indicate
otherwise. The adopted development plan for Uttlesford comprises the Uttlesford
Local Plan which was adopted in 2005.

11.2

In policy terms the site is located outside the development limits for Hatfield Heath
as defined by the adopted Uttlesford Local Plan 2005.

11.3

S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 states that "in dealing with a
planning application the local planning authority shall have regard to the
provisions of the Development Plan so far as is material to the application and to
any other material considerations". S38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004 states that "if regard is to be had to the development plan for
the purpose of any determination to be made under the Planning Acts, the
determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless material
considerations indicate otherwise. Paragraph 2 of the NPPF reiterates this
requirement and paragraph 3 confirms that the NPPF is a material planning
consideration.

11.4

The NPPF stresses that the purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the
achievement of sustainable development. The Framework also sets out objectives
for achieving this aim. Paragraph 8 of the NPPF confirms the ‘presumption in
favour of sustainable development’ and explains that there are three dimensions
to sustainable development, namely, economic; social; and environmental.

11.5

Paragraph 11 of the NPPF confirms that housing applications should be
considered in the context of the presumption in favour of sustainable development.
Relevant policies for the supply of housing should not be considered up-to-date if
the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable
housing sites. In this regard, the most recent housing trajectory identifies that the
Council has a 3.1 year land supply.

11.6

Paragraph 11d) of the NPPF states that where there are no relevant development
plan policies, or the policies which are the most important for determining the
application are out of date, the LPA should grant planning permission unless (i)
the application of policies in the Framework that protect areas or assets of
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development or (ii)
any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh
the benefits when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a
whole. One of these protected areas is land designated as Green Belt.

11.7

This site is located in the Metropolitan Green Belt and as such needs to be
assessed under Metropolitan Green Belt policies within the NPPF within section
13 and ULP policy S6.

11.8

Policy S6 states that development will only be permitted it if accords with national
policy on Green Belts.

11.9

Development permitted should preserve the openness of the Green Belt and its
scale, design and siting should be such that the character of the countryside is not
harmed.

Page 194

11.10

The revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published in July
2018 and updated in February 2019. It provides the statutory guidance for
determining planning applications at a national level. It represents the most up to
date central government planning policy guidance and as such is a material
consideration for the determination of planning applications.

11.11

The National Planning Policy Framework (2019) attaches great importance to
Green Belts whereby a fundamental aim is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping
land permanently open.
The National Planning Policy Framework (2019) attaches great importance to
Green Belts whereby a fundamental aim is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping
land permanently open.

11.12

The essential characteristics of Green Belts are their openness and their
permanence (Paragraph 133). Paragraph 144 states that when considering any
planning application, local planning authorities should ensure that substantial
weight is given to any harm to the green belt. Paragraph 143 states that
inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt and should
not be approved except in very special circumstances.

11.13

The NPPF confirms that when considering any planning application, local planning
authorities should ensure that substantial weight is given to any harm to the Green
Belt. ''Very special circumstances' will not exist unless the potential harm to the
Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, is clearly outweighed by other
considerations.

11.14

The proposed erection of dwellings in this location is by definition harmful to the
Green Belt.

11.15

Paragraph 145 of the NPPF states that a local planning authority should regard
the construction of new buildings as inappropriate in the Green Belt. Exceptions to
this are;
o Buildings for agriculture and forestry;
o Provision of appropriate facilities (in connection with the existing use of land or a
change of use) for outdoor sport, outdoor recreation and for cemeteries and burial
grounds and allotments, as long as the facilities preserves the openness of the
Green Belt and does not conflict with the purpose of including land within it;
o The extension or alteration of a building provided that it does not result in
disproportionate additions over and above the size of the original building;
o The replacement of a building, providing the new building is in the same use and
not materially larger than the one it replaces;
o Limited infilling in villages
Limited affordable housing for local community needs under policies set out in the
development plan (including policies for rural exception sites) and
o Limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously developed
land, whether redundant or in continuing use which would not have a greater
impact on the openness of the Green Belt than the existing development or not
cause substantial harm on the openness of the Green Belt, where the
development would re- use previously developed land and contribute to me
meeting an identified affordable housing need within the area of the local planning
authority.

11.16

Several references have been made to the previously refused scheme on the site
which was also dismissed at appeal. This proposal differs from that application in
that this is predominantly for affordable housing and has the added benefit of the

Page 195

provision of a village car park.
11.17

ULP policy H11 states that a development of affordable housing will be permitted
outside settlements on a site where housing would not normally be permitted if it
would meet all of the following criteria; (a) 100% of the dwellings are to be
affordable and provided through a registered Social landlord; (b) The development
will meet a particular local need that cannot be met in any other way; (c) The
development is of a scale appropriate to the size, facilities and character of the
settlement; and (d) The site adjoins the settlement. This proposal complies with
criteria b,c and d of the above, however, only 83% (rather than 100%) of the
proposed dwellings would be affordable, and as such the proposal would not be
viewed as an exception site as defined by Local Plan Policy H11.

11.18

The development would also provide benefits in terms of delivering additional
dwellings to boost housing supply, although twelve homes would only have a
limited benefit. There would be minor benefits to the local economy in relation to
short term employment in the construction industry and longer term support for
local shops and businesses, although due to the limited scale of the development
these benefits carry limited weight.

11.19

The Councils Housing Officer has been consulted on the application and has
stated that they feel that the site will be a Rural Exception site for housing local
people to the parish of Hatfield Heath with a cascade to neighbouring parishes
where applicable. The 10 homes for affordable rent will help an evidenced housing
need in the parish and will help local residents stay in the area they require. The
two market dwellings are proposed to cross subsidise the cost of delivery.
This scheme is a combination of partnership working between the community, the
council’s Housing Strategy Team and Hastoe Housing Association.
A survey of possible sites was undertaken. Alternative option sites have been
investigated. Given development obstacles at the other sites, including ecology
and access problems, it was considered that this site was the most developable.
The development is low key, considered to be of an appropriate scale to respect
the size and character of the settlement. The design and scale of the dwellings is
discussed below. The site adjoins the existing Hatfield Heath settlement area, it
forms an end of a larger field and this, coupled with its proximity to the existing
settlement, offers the opportunity for development to provide land for
demonstrated need for affordable housing without a significant loss of Metropolitan
Green Belt land.

11.20

The principle of this form of development, is partly contrary to National and Local
Plan Policy. However, subject to the detail of the development proposals meeting
the criteria of other policies in the Local Plan this development is considered to be
on balance, appropriate, in view of the affordable housing provision and additional
benefit of the car parking provision for the villagers.

B

Design, scale and layout (ULP policies GEN2, H10 and SPD “Accessible
Homes and Playspace”)

11.21

Policy GEN2 sets out the design criteria for new development. In addition, section
12 of the NPPF sets out the national policy for achieving well-designed places and
the need to achieve good design

Page 196

11.22

All of the units would have private amenity spaces. The Essex Design Guide
recommends that dwellings or 3 bedrooms or more should have private amenity
spaces of 100sqm+.and 2 bedroom properties 50 sq.m+. Each plot would have
adequate private amenity space to accord with the requirements of the Essex
Design Guide

11.23

Broomfields comprises an array of dwelling type, including two-storey terraces and
semis, flats, and the properties closest to the application site are semi-detached
bungalows. Given this variety of existing dwelling type, it is considered that the
proposed development would not have any adverse impact on the character of the
layout or arrangement of the existing locality. The dwellings would be one and a
half or two-storey and therefore differ from the adjacent bungalows, however they
would be divided by mature existing vegetation and proposed landscaping.
Properties to the south in Cox Ley are mainly semi-detached properties.

11.24

The dwellings would be divided in terms of external material. Some would have
rendered walls, some would be finished in timber weatherboarding cladding and
some brick. The roofs would be finished in slate or red/brown plain tiles.

11.25

Policy H10 states that all development on sites of 0.1 hectares and above or of 3
or more dwellings will be required to include a significant proportion of market
housing comprising small properties. All developments on a site of three or more
homes must include an element of small two and three bed homes, which must
represent a significant proportion of the total. The proposal would comply with ULP
policy H10.

11.26

The proposed dwellings have been positioned and designed so that there would
not be any material detrimental impact by way of overlooking, overshadowing or
overbearing impact to neighbours amenity.
The proposed layout of the development takes into account the position and
orientation of the existing adjacent properties and the distances set out in the
Essex Design guide to prevent any overlooking and loss of amenity to the
occupiers of existing properties.

11.27

The proposal is considered to be of acceptable design and scale. The proposal
would therefore comply with the requirements of ULP Policies GEN2 and GEN4

C

Highway Safety and Parking provision (ULP Policies GEN1, GEN8)

11.28

ULP Policy GEN1 states amongst other things that a) Access to the main road
network must be capable of carrying the traffic generated by the development
safely, and b) The traffic generated by the development must be capable of being
accommodated on the surrounding transport network.

11.29

Following a holding objection from Essex County Council Highway officers, further
information was submitted and the holding objection removed.

11.30

The proposed properties are a mixture of one, two, three, and four bedroom
dwellings. The adopted Uttlesford District Council parking standards require the
provision of two parking spaces per dwelling for two and three bedroom dwellings
and three parking spaces for three+ bedroomed properties and additional visitor
parking spaces.

11.31

In accordance with Supplementary Planning Document – Accessible Homes and
Playspace the proposed dwellings would need to be accessible and designed to

Page 197

Lifetime Homes Standards. In new housing developments, the dwellings approved
by this permission shall be built to Category 2: Accessible and adaptable dwellings
M4 (2) of the Building Regulations 2010 Approved Document M, Volume 1 2015
edition and 2016 amendments. In this respect Part M4 (2) paragraph 2.12 relating
to car parking, in order to comply with the building regulations it states:
Where a parking space is provided for the dwelling, it should comply with all of the
following.
a) Where the parking is within the private curtilage of the dwelling (but not
within a carport or garage) at least one space is a standard parking bay
that can be widened to 3.3m
b) Where communal parking is provided to blocks of flats, at least one
standard parking bay is provided close to the communal entrance of each
core of the block (or to the lift core where the parking bay is internal) The
parking bay should have a minimum clear access zone of 900mm to one
side and a dropped kerb in accordance with paragraph 2.13d
c) Access between the parking bay and the principal private entrance or
where necessary, the alternative private entrance to the dwelling is step
free.
d) The parking space is level or, where unavoidable, gently sloping
e) The gradient is as shallow as the site permits.
f) The parking space has a suitable ground surface.
11.32

All of the dwellings would have sufficient parking provision to meet the adopted
parking stands. Visitor parking spaces would be provided within the proposed car
parking area.

11.33

A transport statement has been submitted with the application. In view of the
comments received, Essex County Council Highways Authority have been
consulted on the proposal and have raised no objection. Several representations
raised concerns that the proposal would allow for a rat run between Cox Ley and
Broomfields. The proposal does not allow for vehicles to exit the site to the west
into Broomfields. The proposals therefore satisfy the requirements of ULP Policies
GEN8 and GEN1

D

Impact on residential amenity (ULP Policies GEN2 and GEN4)

11.34

The proposed dwellings have been positioned and designed so that there would
not be any material detrimental impact by way of overlooking, overshadowing or
overbearing impact to neighbours amenity.
The proposed layout of the development takes into account the position and
orientation of the existing adjacent properties and the distances set out in the
Essex Design guide to prevent any overlooking and loss of amenity to the
occupiers of existing properties. The development is quite minor in nature and
would not result in significant noise and pollution to warrant refusal of the scheme.

11.35

The proposal would therefore comply with the requirements of ULP Policies GEN2
and GEN4

E

Impact on Biodiversity (ULP Policies ENV3 and GEN7).

11.36

Policy GEN7 and paragraph 118 of the NPPF require development proposals to
aim to conserve and enhance biodiversity. Appropriate mitigation measures must
be implemented to secure the long-term protection of protected species

Page 198

11.37

The applicant has submitted a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (Geosphere
Environmental Ltd, November 2018), a Great Crested Newt and Amphibian
Survey (Geosphere Environmental Ltd, June 2019), Bat Activity Survey
(Geosphere Environmental Ltd, September 2019), a Badger Survey Report
(Geosphere Environmental Ltd, April 2019), a Reptile Survey (Geosphere
Environmental, June 2019) and a Breeding Bird Survey (Geosphere
Environmental, July 2019).

11.38

The Great Crested Newt and Amphibian Survey (Geosphere Environmental Ltd,
June 2019) advised GCN Surveys within 500 metres of the proposed development
site recorded a low population of GCN within the surrounding areas. No GCN were
recorded in Ponds located 50m, 240m and 300 m from the site boundary. The
Great Crested Newt and Amphibian Survey has therefore recommended that a
Protected Species Method Statement will be required to prevent impacts to GCN.

11.39

The Bat Activity Survey (Geosphere Environmental Ltd, September 2019) has
advised bat activity was predominantly recorded along the scattered trees
surrounding the perimeter of the site. Bats were noted near sunset and sunrise
where the static detector was installed, and as such it is likely the roosts for these
species are likely to be in close proximity to the site. The proposed landscaping
within the final design comprising of scattered trees and hedgerow and a wildlife
corridor to the west of the site will allow for commuting and foraging opportunities
for bats.
The Bat Activity Survey has recommended that a lighting scheme should be
developed with regards to best practice guidance during the detailed design stage.
This can be secured as a condition of any consent

11.40

The Breeding Bird Survey (Geosphere Environmental, July 2019) advised a total
of 39 species were recorded during the bird survey visits, out of which, 25 were
considered to hold breeding territories on the site. The scrub and hedgerows
provide roosting/shelter opportunities for foraging birds and are considered
important on a local scale. The constraints to development onsite will be the
removal of small areas of the hedgerow and scrub which will impact species of
conservation concern, such as Yellowhammer. Therefore, the Breeding Bird
Survey (Geosphere Environmental, July 2019) advises compensation and
mitigation will be required to prevent impacts to nesting birds from this scheme.

11.41

The development site is situated within the Impact Risk Zone for Hatfield Forest
Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI)/National Nature Reserve (NNR) as shown
on MAGIC map (www.magic.gov.uk). Therefore, Natural England’s revised interim
advice to Uttlesford DC (ref: HatFor Strategic Interim LPA, 5 April 2019) should be
followed to ensure that impacts are minimised to this site from new residential
development. As this application is less than 50 or more units, Natural England do
not, at this time, consider that is necessary for the LPA to secure a developer
contribution towards a package of funded Strategic Access Management
Measures (SAMMs) at Hatfield Forest.

11.42

Specialist Ecologists have been consulted and they have no objections subject to
securing biodiversity mitigation and enhancement measures.
They state that the mitigation measures identified in the submitted ecological
documents should be secured and implemented in full. This is necessary to
conserve protected and Priority Species. Therefore, measures should be outlined
within a Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP – Biodiversity).
This should include protection of trees and hedgerows according to ‘BS 5837:
2020’, compensation for loss of trees and scrub, compensation for loss of bat

Page 199

foraging habitat, non-licenced method statement for GCN, precautionary
measures to prevent use of the site by reptiles, due diligence for badgers, and
general mitigation and compensation measures for breeding birds.
They also support the proposed reasonable biodiversity enhancements within the
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (Geosphere Environmental Ltd, November 2018),
Bat Activity Survey (Geosphere Environmental Ltd, September 2019 Reptile
Survey (Geosphere Environmental, June 2019) and Breeding Bird Survey
(Geosphere Environmental, July 2019), which have been recommended to secure
measurable net gains for biodiversity, as outlined under Paragraph 170d of the
National Planning Policy Framework 2019. The reasonable biodiversity
enhancement measures should be secured via a separate Biodiversity
Compensation and Enhancement Strategy. This should include compensation for
loss of habitats utilised by protected and Priority species. In addition to the
inclusion of bat boxes and bat bricks and night scented flowers, installation of
integrated and external bird boxes designed to target a mix of species recorded
during the surveys, hedgehog gaps in fencing and the planting of native
trees/hedgerows as part of the landscaping scheme.
This will enable LPA to demonstrate its compliance with its statutory duties
including its biodiversity duty under s40 NERC Act 2006.
As such subject to conditions the proposal would comply with the aims of ULP
policy GEN7
F

Flooding and Drainage ((ULP Policy GEN3; NPPF)

11.43

Policy GEN3 requires development outside flood risk areas to not increase the
risk of flooding through surface water run-off. The NPPF requires development to
be steered towards areas with the lowest probability of flooding. In addition, it
should be ensured that flood risk is not increased elsewhere. The comments
received from the Parish Council and numerous concerns regarding flooding and
drainage have been noted. Following a holding objection for additional information,
the Local Lead Flood authority now have no objections to the proposal subject to
the conditions application would comply with Policy GEN3 and the NPPF

G

Contamination (ULP policy ENV14)

11.44

Policy ENV14 states that before development, where a site is known or strongly
suspected to be contaminated, and this is causing significant harm, or pollution of
controlled waters a site investigation, risk assessment, proposals and timetable for
remediation will be required.

11.45

The constraints list does not show that the site is located in previously
contaminated land and it not considered that the proposal would result in
significant harm.

H

Other Material Considerations

11.46

The proposal includes a public benefit of an additional 28 parking spaces to
provide public parking for the adjacent football pitch. Sport England’s comments
have been noted, however the football pitch is an existing provision and does not
form part of this application.
Representations have been received in respect of the school and surgery being
oversubscribed, however, there are no planning policies that require
contributions/provision in respect of health and education for a proposal of this
scale.

Page 200

12.

CONCLUSION

The following is a summary of the main reasons for the recommendation:
A
B

The proposal, on balance is acceptable in principle.
The design and scale of the proposal is considered to be acceptable. The housing
mix for the development is also considered to be acceptable. Adequate amenity
space would be provided for all of the dwellings.
It has been demonstrated that sufficient parking provision can be accommodated
on the site to comply with ULP policy GEN8. The proposal would comply with ULP
policy GEN1.
The proposal would not result in any material detrimental impact by way of
overlooking, overshadowing or over bearing impact on neighbours amenity.
The application provides sufficient information and evidence to demonstrate that
the proposals (subject to conditions) would not adversely affect protected species.
As such the proposals comply with policy GEN7
The proposal would not give rise to flooding issues subject to appropriate
conditions and complies with policy GEN3.

C

D
E

F

RECOMMENDATION – CONDITIONAL APPROVAL WITH S106 AGREEMENT
(I)
The applicant be informed that the Planning Committee would be minded to
refuse planning permission for the reasons set out in paragraph (III) unless the
freehold owner enters into a binding obligation to cover the matters set out below
under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as amended by the
Planning and Compensation Act 1991, in a form to be prepared by the Head of Legal
Services, in which case he shall be authorised to conclude such an obligation to
secure the following
(i)
Provision of 10 affordable housing units
(ii)
Payment of the Council's reasonable legal costs
(iii)
Payment of monitoring fee
(II)
In the event of such an obligation being made, the Assistant Director
Planning shall be authorised to grant permission subject to the conditions set out
below
If the freehold owner shall fail to enter into such an obligation by 29th March 2021 the
Assistant Director Planning shall be authorised to refuse permission in his
discretion anytime thereafter for the following reasons:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)

Inadequate provision of affordable housing
Non Payment of the Council’s reasonable legal costs
Non payment of monitoring fee

Conditions
1.

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 3 years
from the date of this decision.
Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004.

2.

No works except demolition shall takes place until a detailed surface water
drainage scheme for the site, based on sustainable drainage principles and an

Page 201

assessment of the hydrological and hydro geological context of the development,
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The
scheme should include but not be limited to:
• Limiting discharge rates to 1l/s for all storm events up to and including the 1 in
100
year rate plus 40% allowance for climate change. Where this results in an outfall
smaller than 50mm, significant sediment and debris removal, in line with what is
discussed in section 2.9 of the Flood Risk Assessment REV03 191490, should be
utilised. All relevant permissions to discharge from the site into any outfall should
be demonstrated.
• Provide sufficient storage to ensure no off site flooding as a result of the
development during all storm events up to and including the 1 in 100 year plus
40% climate change event.
• Demonstrate that all storage features can half empty within 24 hours for the 1 in
30 plus 40% climate change critical storm event.
• Final modelling and calculations for all areas of the drainage system.
• The appropriate level of treatment for all runoff leaving the site, in line with the
Simple Index Approach in chapter 26 of the CIRIA SuDS Manual C753.
• Detailed engineering drawings of each component of the drainage scheme.
• A final drainage plan which details exceedance and conveyance routes, FFL and
ground levels, and location and sizing of any drainage features.
• A written report summarising the final strategy and highlighting any minor
changes to the approved strategy.
Reason: To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage of/disposal of
surface water from the site. To ensure the effective operation of SuDS features
over the lifetime of the development. To provide mitigation of any environmental
harm which may be caused to the local water environment. Failure to provide the
above required information before commencement of works may result in a
system being installed that is not sufficient to deal with surface water occurring
during rainfall events and may lead to increased flood risk and pollution hazard
from the site.
3

No works shall take place until a scheme to minimise the risk of offsite flooding
caused by surface water run-off and groundwater during construction works and
prevent pollution has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local
planning authority. The scheme shall subsequently be implemented as approved.
Reason: The National Planning Policy Framework paragraph 163 and paragraph
170 state that local planning authorities should ensure development does not
increase flood risk elsewhere and does not contribute to water pollution.
Construction may lead to excess water being discharged from the site. If
dewatering takes place to allow for construction to take place below groundwater
level, this will cause additional water to be discharged. Furthermore the removal of
topsoils during construction may limit the ability of the site to intercept rainfall and
may lead to increased runoff rates. To mitigate increased flood risk to the
surrounding area during construction
there needs to be satisfactory storage of/disposal of surface water and
groundwater which needs to be agreed before commencement of the
development. Construction may also lead to polluted water being allowed to leave
the site. Methods for preventing or mitigating this should be proposed.

4

Prior to occupation a maintenance plan detailing the maintenance arrangements
including who is responsible for different elements of the surface water drainage
system and the maintenance activities/frequencies, has been submitted to and

Page 202

agreed, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority.
Should any part be maintainable by a maintenance company, details of long term
funding arrangements should be provided.
Reason: To ensure appropriate maintenance arrangements are put in place to
enable the surface water drainage system to function as intended to ensure
mitigation against flood risk.
Failure to provide the above required information prior to occupation may result in
the installation of a system that is not properly maintained and may increase flood
risk or pollution hazard from the site.
5

The applicant or any successor in title must maintain yearly logs of maintenance
which should be carried out in accordance with any approved Maintenance Plan.
These must be available for inspection upon a request by the Local Planning
Authority.
Reason: To ensure the SuDS are maintained for the lifetime of the development
as outlined in any approved Maintenance Plan so that they continue to function as
intended to ensure mitigation against flood risk.

6

Prior to occupation of the development, the access arrangement as shown in
principle on DWG no. HA-839-P01 Rev. A (Site Plan), to connect into Cox Ley,
shall be provided.
Reason: To ensure vehicles enter and leave the highway in a controlled manner
and that appropriate access is provided, in the interests of safety. This condition is
required to ensure that the development accords with the Highway Authority’s
Development Management Policies, adopted as County Council Supplementary
Guidance in February 2011 and Uttlesford Local Plan Policy GEN1.

7

No dwelling shall be occupied until the associated parking and/or turning head
indicated on the approved plans has been provided. The vehicle parking and
turning heads shall be retained in this form at all times.
Reason: To ensure that on street parking of vehicles in the adjoining streets does
not occur in the interest of highway safety and that appropriate parking is
provided. This condition is required to ensure that the development accords with
the Highway Authority’s Development Management Policies, adopted as County
Council Supplementary Guidance in February 2011 and Uttlesford Local Plan
Policy GEN1.

8

Cycle parking shall be provided in accordance with the EPOA Parking Standards.
The approved facility shall be secure, convenient, covered and provided prior to
occupation and retained at all times.
Reason: To ensure appropriate cycle parking is provided in the interest of highway
safety and amenity. This condition is required to ensure that the development
accords with the Highway Authority’s Development Management Policies, adopted
as County Council Supplementary Guidance in February 2011 and Uttlesford
Local Plan Policy GEN1.

9

Prior to occupation of the proposed development, the Developer shall be
responsible for the provision and implementation of a Residential Travel
Information Pack per dwelling, for sustainable transport, approved by Essex
County Council, to include six one day travel vouchers for use with the relevant

Page 203

local public transport operator.
Reason: In the interests of reducing the need to travel by car and promoting
sustainable development and transport. This condition is required to ensure that
the development accords with the Highway Authority’s Development Management
Policies, adopted as County Council Supplementary Guidance in February 2011
and Uttlesford Local Plan Policy GEN1.
10

No development shall take place, including any ground works or demolition, until a
Construction Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by
the local planning authority. The approved Plan shall be adhered to throughout the
construction period and shall provide for the following all clear of the highway:
i. Safe access into the site;
ii. The parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;
iii. Loading and unloading of plant and materials;
iv. Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development;
v. Wheel and underbody washing facilities.
vi. Comphensive highway condition survey before and after construction from
Broomfield junction with A1060 Stortford Road to the application site, and
reinstatement / repair to the satisfaction of the Highway Authority
Reason: To ensure that on-street parking of these vehicles in the adjoining streets
does not occur and to ensure that loose materials and spoil are not brought out
onto the highway in the interests of highway safety. This condition is required to
ensure that the development accords with the Highway Authority’s Development
Management Policies, adopted as County Council Supplementary Guidance in
February 2011 and Uttlesford Local Plan Policy GEN1.

11

No unbound material shall be used in the surface treatment of the vehicular
access within 6 metres of the highway boundary.
Reason: To avoid displacement of loose material onto the highway in the interests
of highway safety. This condition is required to ensure that the development
accords with the Highway Authority’s Development Management Policies, adopted
as County Council Supplementary Guidance in February 2011 and Uttlesford
Local Plan Policy GEN1.

12

All mitigation and enhancement measures and/or works shall be carried out in
accordance with the details contained in the - Preliminary Ecological Appraisal
(Geosphere Environmental Ltd, November 2018), the Great Crested Newt and
Amphibian Survey (Geosphere Environmental Ltd, June 2019), Bat Activity Survey
(Geosphere Environmental Ltd, September 2019), the Badger Survey Report
(Geosphere Environmental Ltd, April 2019), Reptile Survey (Geosphere
Environmental, June 2019) and Breeding Bird Survey (Geosphere
Environmental, July 2019) as already submitted with the planning application and
agreed in principle with the local planning authority prior to determination.
This includes the protection of trees and hedgerows according to ‘BS 5837: 2020’,
compensation for loss of trees and scrub, compensation for loss of bat foraging
habitat, non-licenced method statement for GCN, precautionary measures to
prevent use of the site by reptiles, due diligence for badgers, and general
mitigation and compensation measures for breeding birds.
Reason: To conserve and enhance Protected and Priority species and allow the
LPA to discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species

Page 204

Regulations (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended and
s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species) in accordance with ULP
policy GEN7
13

Prior to commencement a construction environmental management plan (CEMP:
Biodiversity) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority.
The CEMP (Biodiversity) shall include the following.
a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities.
b) Identification of “biodiversity protection zones”.
c) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working
practices) to avoid or reduce impacts during construction (may be provided as a
set of method statements).
d) The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity
features.
e) The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be
present on site to oversee works.
f) Responsible persons and lines of communication.
g) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works
(ECoW) or similarly competent person.
h) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs.
The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the
construction period strictly in accordance with the approved details, unless
otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority
Reason: To conserve Protected and Priority species and allow the LPA to
discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations
2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of
the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species) in accordance with ULP policy
GEN7.

14

Prior to commencement a Great Crested Newt Method Statement shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. This will
contain precautionary mitigation measures and/or works to reduce potential
impacts to Great Crested Newts during the construction phase.
The measures and/works shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the
approved details and shall be retained in that manner thereafter.
Reason: To conserve Protected and Priority species and allow the LPA to
discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations
2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of
the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species) in accordance with ULP policy
GEN7

15

Prior to slab level a Biodiversity Compensation and Enhancement Strategy for
protected and Priority species shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
local planning authority.
The content of the Biodiversity Compensation and Enhancement Strategy shall
include the following:
a) Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed enhancement
measures;
b) detailed designs to achieve stated objectives;
c) Timetable for implementation demonstrating that works are aligned with

Page 205

the proposed phasing of development.
d) locations of proposed enhancement measures by appropriate maps and
plans;
e) persons responsible for implementing the enhancement measures;
f) details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance (where relevant).
The works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and shall
be retained in that manner thereafter.
Reason: To enhance Protected and Priority Species/habitats and allow the LPA to
discharge its duties under the s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats &
species) in accordance with ULP policy GEN7
16

Prior to occupation A lighting design scheme for biodiversity shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme shall identify
those features on site that are particularly sensitive for bats and that are likely to
cause disturbance along important routes used for foraging; and show how and
where external lighting will be installed (through the provision of appropriate
technical specification) so that it can be clearly demonstrated that areas to be lit
will not disturb or prevent bats using their territory.
All external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the specifications and
locations set out in the scheme and maintained thereafter in accordance with the
scheme. Under no circumstances should any other external lighting be installed
without prior consent from the local planning authority.
Reason: To allow the LPA to discharge its duties under the Conservation of
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside
Act 1981 as amended an and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats &
species) in accordance with ULP policy GEN7.

Page 206

Agenda Item 5
UTT/20/2175/DFO (Saffron Walden)
(Major Application)
PROPOSAL:

Details following outline approval UTT/17/3426/OP (approved
under appeal APP/C1570/W/19/3227368) for extra care housing
(Use Class C2) together with associated infrastructure including
road, drainage and access - details of appearance, landscaping,
layout and scale.

LOCATION:

Land South Of Radwinter Road, Saffron Walden, Essex

APPLICANT:

McCarthy and Stone Retirement Lifestyles Ltd

AGENT:

The Planning Bureau

EXPIRY DATE:

15th April 2021

CASE OFFICER:

Chris Tyler

1.

NOTATION

1.1

Outside Development Limits

2.

DESCRIPTION OF SITE

2.1

The application site is roughly a rectangular parcel of land which sits between
Tesco’s to the west and Wild Hedges located to the west of the site. To the south of
the site is the residential development of Portsmouth Close, which forms part of the
wider Linden Homes development. The application site has main road frontage
facing Radwinter Road and main access from Leverette Way.

3.

PROPOSAL

3.1

This application considers the details following outline approval UTT/17/3426/OP
(approved under appeal APP/C1570/W/19/3227368) for extra care housing (Use
Class C2) together with associated infrastructure including road, drainage and
access - details of appearance, landscaping, layout and scale.

3.2

The proposal for a total of 72 units of specialised ‘extra care’ accommodation units
and includes:
31 x 1 bed apartments,
25 x 2 bed apartments,
7 x 1 bed bungalows,
9 x 2 bed bungalows

4.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT

4.1

Town and Country Planning (Environmental Assessment):
The proposal has been previously screened and is not a Schedule 1 development,
nor does it exceed the threshold criteria of Schedule 2, and therefore an
Environmental Assessment is not required.

Page 207

And
Human Rights Act considerations:
There may be implications under Article 1 and Article 8 of the First Protocol
regarding the right of respect for a person’s private and family life and home, and
to the peaceful enjoyment of possessions; however, these issues have been
taken into account in the determination of this application
5.

APPLICANT’S CASE

5.1

The applicant has provided an extensive number of documents in support of the
planning application to illustrate the process that has led to the development
proposal and to explain and justify the proposal in a structured way. Also included
with the application:











Transport statement,
Tree survey,
Site contamination investigation report,
Noise impact statement,
Landscape design statement,
Foul and surface water strategy,
Energy and sustainability statement,
Design statement.
Extra care use statement
Sustainability Policy Statement

5.2

The application provides two elements of built form, an apartment block and a
grouping of bungalows. Both are to be provided on the same basis of extra care,
that McCarthy and Stone provide under their ‘Retirement Living Plus’ product. This
will provide high quality accommodation within a community with 24/7 staff presence
and care tailored to suit the individual needs of residents.

5.3

The apartment block is a 3-storey flat roof building, located at the northern parcel of
the site. The building forms an ‘L-shape’ that addresses Radwinter Road, and turns
within the site to also address the access road at the east of the site. The outline
application parameter plan noted 2.5 / 3 storey with a pitched roof, therefore the
proposals fall within this site parameter constraint.

5.4

The bungalows are located at the southern parcel of the site where the ground level
is higher, hence the lower building height allows a reduction in the physical impact of
the development where the ground level is higher. The bungalows are formed in a
‘U-shaped’ layout that compliments to the layout of the apartment building to form a
central focus for the development based around large landscaped communal garden
areas.

5.5

The bungalows will have access to small rear gardens as well as a central courtyard.
Ground floor apartments will have access to a terrace, with some upper floor
apartments having access to balconies. There is also a large communal garden and
terrace. The rear gardens to the bungalows will have close boarded fence to the
boundaries, with much of the site having estate railings to the boundary.

5.6

The proposed scheme is a Class C2 use by nature of the care provision it provides
to residents. The McCarthy and Stone ‘Extra Care’ Accommodation is aimed at
providing independent living for the frail elderly, with day to day care in the form of

Page 208

assistance and domiciliary care tailored to the owners’ individual needs. It provides
purpose built, specifically designed accommodation in a safe and secure
environment including companionship whilst allowing an independent lifestyle.
Safety, security and companionship reduces anxieties and maintains health and
general well-being. It also provides a form of housing which meets better the on-set
and increasing problems of mobility/frailty while maintaining an independent lifestyle.
5.7

Extra Care has been developed over the last 25 years and can take a variety of
forms in both the public and the private sector from purpose-built blocks of flats to
bungalows with the provision of some care. Extra Care has been developed across
all tenures. Public Sector provision remains the vast majority of UK Extra Care
developments. McCarthy & Stone is now the Country’s leading provider of market
Extra Care accommodation with over 100 such developments aimed at the majority
of older people who are homeowners who neither should, nor wish to place
additional burden on public provision to meet their housing and care needs in later
life. In this respect too, the need to meet the needs of all older people is critical – the
effects of loneliness, social isolation and not being able to access care has no
barriers across the social spectrum.

5.8

Extra Care is at the forefront of the Government’s strategy to address the housing
and care needs of the rapidly ageing UK population. It is a concept which has
evolved over time as policy, which requires a range of solutions across the social
spectrum and provision has developed. It is complimentary to the Government’s
aspiration to allow people to live in their own homes for as long as possible. Whilst
the June 2019 PPG amendment introduces a definition, the widely accepted
definition in care terms dates from 2009.

5.9

A type of specialised housing that provides independence and choice to adults with
varying care needs and enables them to remain in their own home. Extra Care
Housing should be able to provide most residents if they so desire, with a home for
the remainder of their life regardless of changes in their care needs. Services are
provided in a purpose-built, housing environment with care and support delivered to
meet the individual resident’s needs. This type of housing provides 24-hour support,
meals, domestic help, leisure and recreation facilities and a genuinely safe
environment to its residents. The approach of the extra care use is that the residents
can live in their own homes for as long as possible, maintaining the sense of
independence and wellbeing that comes with that but with the help and care they
need to be able to do so.

6.

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

6.1

UTT/17/3426/OP
Outline application, with all matters reserved except for access, for Extra Care
Housing (Use Class C2) together with associated infrastructure including road,
drainage and access.
REFUSED- 12/3/2019 for the following reasons;
The applicant has failed to complete the necessary Section 106 Obligation and has
therefore failed to secure the following important contributions to infrastructure and
the
necessary safeguards to mitigate the impacts of this development and its cumulative
impact in consideration of UTT/17/3429/OP and UTT/13/3467/OP;
(i) Education contribution and securing provision of 1.2ha of land for the provision of
primary school
(ii) Provision of open space and Transfer of open space

Page 209

(iii) Financial contribution towards NHS Healthcare Facilities
(iv) Carrying out of highway works required by the Essex Highways Assessment
(v) Financial contribution towards highway works and public transport
(vi) A financial contribution towards the implementation/construction of the Wenden
Road cycle path link scheme
(vii) Contribution to District Council to provide and enhance sport and recreation
facilities
(viii) Contribution towards the maintenance of open space for 20 years
(ix) Provision of 40% affordable housing
(x) Travel Plan and monitoring fee
The proposal is therefore contrary to Policy H9, GEN1, GEN2 and GEN6 of the
Uttlesford Local Plan adopted 2005, and the NPPF.
APPEAL ALLOWED -29/11/2019
UTT/13/3467/OP
Outline planning application for either a residential development of up to 230
dwellings; Class B1 Business floorspace, extra care housing within Class C2,
provision of public open space or for development of up to 200 dwellings, Class B1
Business floorspace, extra care housing within Class C2, provision of public open
space, provision of land for a one form entry primary school; together with associated
infrastructure including roads, drainage, access details from Radwinter Road and
Shire Hill, with all matters reserved except access
Approved subject to conditions and S106 Agreement 26th May 2015
7.

POLICIES

7.1

National Policies
National Planning Policy Framework (2019)

7.2

Uttlesford Local Plan (2005)
- S7 – The Countryside
- GEN1 – Access
- GEN2 – Design
- GEN3 – Flood Protection
- GEN4 – Good Neighbourliness
- GEN5 – Light Pollution
- GEN6 – Infrastructure Provision to Support Development
- GEN7 – Nature Conservation
- GEN8 – Vehicle Parking Standards
- ENV11– Noise Generators
- ENV13 – Exposure to poor air quality
- H9 – Affordable Housing
- H10 – Housing Mix

7.3

Supplementary Planning Documents/Guidance
Uttlesford Local Residential Parking Standards (2013)
Essex County Council parking Standards (2006)
Essex Design Guide
Uttlesford Interim Climate Change Policy (2021)

Page 210

8.

PARISH COUNCIL COMMENTS

8.1

No Objections.

9.0

CONSULTATIONS
The Highways Authority

9.1

From a highway and transportation perspective the impact of the proposal is
acceptable subject to the imposition of conditions, including:
Construction management plan,
Provision of parking spaces,
Provision of cycle and buggy spaces.
Ecology

9.2

No Objections subject to the imposition of conditions for biodiversity mitigation and
enhancement measures.
Natural England

9.3

No objections.
Environmental Health

9.4

No objections subject to the imposition of condition for noise insulation.
Essex Police

9.5

No objections.
NHS- West Essex Clinical Commissioning Group

9.6

A developer contribution will be required to mitigate the impacts of this proposal.
West Essex CCG calculates the level of contribution required, in this instance to be
£22,230. Payment should be made before the development commences.
National Air Traffic

9.7

No objection.
BAA Aerodrome Safeguarding

9.8

No objection.
Environment Agency

9.9

No objection.
Lead Local Flood Authority

9.10

No objection.

Page 211

Anglian Water
9.11

No objection.
UDC Housing Enabling Officer

9.12

I note that the application relates to an extra-care scheme within Saffron Walden and
as it now relates to reserved matters only there is no requirement for affordable
housing provision to be provided. I therefore have no comments/observations
regarding this application

10

REPRESENTATIONS

10.1

It is noted the proposed scheme has been revised during the application to provided
amended external materials and enhanced landscaping. As such the all statutory
consultees and neighbours have been re-consulted.
4 letters of objections have been received, comments include:
Not a requirement of the development,
Loss of a green space,
Poor transport links,
Oversubscribed GP services within the town,
Highway impacts,

10.2

All material planning matters will be considered in the follow report, however it is
advised this application considers the details of details of appearance, landscaping,
layout and scale as the outline planning permission for the development has been
established under application UTT/17/3426/OP and UTT/13/3467/OP.

11

APPRAISAL
The issues to be considered in the determination of this application are:

A
B
C
D
E
F
G
H
I

The principle of the development of this site for residential (ULP Policy S7 and
the NPPF)
Character and appearance (S7, GEN2, GEN5 and the NPPF)
Amenity (GEN2, GEN4, GEN5, ENV11, NPPF)
Landscaping (ULP Policies S7, GEN2 and the NPPF)
Whether the proposed access and parking arrangements would be appropriate
(ULP Policies GEN1 and GEN8)
Nature Conservation (ULP Policy GEN7)
Affordable Housing, Education Contributions, Housing Mix (ULP Policies H9,
H10, GEN6)
Flood Risk and drainage (ULP Policy GEN3; NPPF)
Climate Change (UDC Interim Climate Change Policy 2021)

A

The principle of the development of this site for residential (ULP Policy S7 and
the NPPF)

11.1

The principle of the development of the care home has been established through the
outline planning permission UTT/13/3467/OP and UTT/17/3426/OP also subsequent
allowed appeal for all matters reserved except access, for Extra Care Housing (Use
Class C2) together with associated infrastructure including road, drainage and
access.

Page 212

11.2

The proposal accords with the approved use of extra care housing (Use Class C2),
the applicant has provided a great level of information to demonstrate this and
clarifies that extra care use includes:








Purpose-built, accessible building design that promotes independent living
Fully self-contained properties where occupants have their own front doors,
and tenancies or leases which give them security of tenure and the right to
control who enters their home
Office for use by staff serving the scheme and sometimes the wider
community
Some communal spaces and facilities
Access to care and support services 24 hours a day
Community alarms and other assistive technologies
Safety and security often built into the design with fob or person-controlled
entry

The Extra Care concept therefore comprises self-contained accommodation and
further promotes independent living through care being readily available to help
people remain in their own home environment. This approach also fully accords with
the changed emphasis of government in the Care Act 2014 which seeks to transform
the provision of adult social care with a new emphasis on wellbeing, prevention &
integration.
11.3

Taking into consideration the extant 2017 outline planning permission and the
demonstrated use of the development this is in line with the approved principle of
development, in accordance with ULP Policy S7 and the NPPF.

B

Character and appearance (S7, GEN2, GEN5 and the NPPF)

11.4

With regards to the character and appearance of the development, ULP Policy GEN2
seeks quality design ensuing that the development is compatible with the scale form
and layout, appearance and materials of the area. The Policy aims to protect the
amenity value of the area it is set in seeking high quality design. The development
includes two elements of built form, an apartment block and grouping of bungalows.

11.5

The apartment block is a 3-storey flat roof building, located at the northern parcel of
the site. The building forms an ‘L-shape’ that addresses Radwinter Road, and turns
within the site to also address the access road at the east of the site. The outline
application parameter plan noted 2.5 / 3 storey with a pitched roof, therefore the
proposals fall within the approved outline planning consent constraint.

11.6

The apartment block will be front facing Radwinter Road. The building will inevitably
result in the introduction of a large mass of built form, however this part of the site is
at a lower site level set a significant distance from the residential properties to the
rear of the site. It is recognised the appearance of the building will be evident when
approaching the site along Radwinter Road, however as demonstrated on the
submitted scene street plans this would only be apparent on when in immediate
proximity to the application site. The design has been amended to minimise this in
terms of height and the use of materials.

11.7

The external appearance of the apartment block will nonetheless be similar to the
care home to the north west of the site (Cornells Court) which also includes a similar
contemporary three storey design. That being said the proposed building will be set

Page 213

back further within the site and will include significant landscaping to the front and
along Radwinter Road to help soften and enhance the appearance of the building.
The apartment block will include external materials of brick and cladded facing walls
under flat roof design.
11.8

The bungalows are located at the southern parcel of the site where the ground level
is higher, hence the lower building height allows a reduction in the physical impact of
the development where the ground level is much higher. The bungalows are formed
in a ‘U-shaped’ layout that compliments the layout of the apartment building to form a
central focus for the development based around a large landscaped communal
garden area. The external materials of the bungalows include brick facing walls
include buff brick and cladding facing walls under a pitched tiled roof.

11.9

The layout of the development will include private amenity space provided to each of
the bungalows and a shared communal space located within the centre of the site.
This is considered an appropriate level of communal amenity space within the site for
both residents and visitors and in accordance with the aims of the Essex Design
Guide.

11.10

A condition is recommended for the submission of details of materials prior to the
commencement of the development. Taking into account the assessment of the
proposed development it is considered the appearance, scale and layout of the
proposed care home is appropriate and in the context of the site and surrounding
area and therefore in accordance with ULP Policies S7, GEN2, GEN5 and the NPPF.

C

Amenity (GEN2, GEN4, GEN5, ENV11, NPPF)

11.11

Due consideration should be made to the layout of the site and whether it will have
any harmful impact to the amenity of neighbouring properties. To the south of the site
is the residential areas of Portsmouth Close and Fairfax Drive however there is
significant distance between the main apartment block and surrounding neighbouring
dwelling to not cause a significant if any loss of daylight or over shadowing.
Furthermore, there would be no harmful overbearing effects or disturbance from
vehicle movements.

11.12

The distance between the application site and neighbouring residential properties will
be significant, also due to the bungalow design of the properties at the rear of the
site it is considered the proposal will not result in any harmful impact from loss of
privacy or overlooking. It is concluded that the proposal accords with the above
policies insofar as they relate to amenity, subject to the use of a condition to secure
full details of any external lighting.

11.13

In regards to noise, the application includes a Noise Impact Statement which
identifies the noise created by the development. The Councils Environmental Health
Officer has been consulted and does not make any objection to the proposal subject
to conditions for the submission of a noise insulation scheme. Taking into account
the comments of the Environmental Health Officer and imposition of conditions it is
considered that there would be no unacceptable significant impacts on the amenity
of neighbouring residents from noise.

D

Landscaping (ULP Policies S7, GEN2 and the NPPF)

11.14

This reserve matters application provides details of landscaping, the application
includes the following within the landscape scheme;

Page 214







1.1m black railing estate fence,
Shrub planting,
Native hedge planting,
Tree planting,
Communal gardens and terrace area

11.15

The existing site is an open plot of land that does not include any significant
landscaping features albeit the site does include some hedgerow screening to the
north and west boundary of the site. The enhancement of the landscape features
has ensured a sensitive approach to the development allowing the proposals to be
integrated within its setting and although visually prominent the landscaping will allow
to soften and mitigate any visually harmful impact. The Council’s Landscape Officer
has been consulted in regards to the proposal, no objections or further
recommendation have been made. As such it is considered the proposed
landscaping scheme is appropriate and in accordance with ULP Policies ULP
Policies S7, GEN2 and GEN7 and the NPPF.

E

Whether the proposed access and parking arrangements would be appropriate
(ULP Policies GEN1 and GEN8)

11.16

Local Plan Policy GEN1 seeks sustainable modes of transport which is reflected
within the NPPF. Local plan policy GEN1 advised development will only be
permitted if it meets the following criteria:
a) Access to the main road network must be capable of carrying the traffic
generated by the development safely.
b) The traffic generated by the development must be capable of being
accommodated on the surrounding transport networks.
c) The design of the site must not compromise road safety and must take
account of the needs of other users of their highway.
d) It must be designed to meet the needs of people with disabilities
e) The development encourages movement by other means other than driving
car

11.17

The site is accessed from the existing bell-mouth junction off Leveret Way which is
located 70m south of the junction with Radwinter Road. The site is bound by
Radwinter Road to the north, Leveret Way to the east and south. The application
includes a Transport Statement setting out the site accessibility including road and
pedestrian networks.

11.18

Taking into account the comments of the Highway Authority, it is considered that the
proposal would not have an adverse effect on highway safety or its efficiency. In
particular.The level of parking provision has been assessed and found to be
sufficient, in combination with relatively good sustainable transport options, to
prevent unacceptable impacts on highway safety from on-street parking. It is
therefore concluded that the proposal accords with the above transport policies.

11.19

The Highway Authority have recommended staff and resident travel plans to be
secured prior to the occupation of the development. The travel plan is to minimise
the impact of travel on the environment, and can help to reduce emissions of
greenhouse gases, improve local air quality, minimise health risks and reduce
congestion. Encouraging staff and residents to carry out their everyday activities in a
more sustainable manner can also contribute to improvements in the local
environment. The implementation of the travel plan and monitoring fee was secured
by conditions and legal agreement in the outline planning permission allowed by

Page 215

appeal.
11.20

The Transport Statement has assessed the anticipated trip generation from the care
home, and concludes that the increase in peak hour vehicle trips due to the
proposed development would be negligible and would not have a material effect on
the operation of the surrounding highway network. The proposed development is
anticipated to generate 11 fewer trips in the AM peak and 7 fewer trips in the PM
peak than the consented care home and therefore the proposals are anticipated to
lead to a betterment to the operation of the local road network. This is nonetheless
in accordance with what has been approved as part of the outline planning
permission.

11.21

ULP Policy GEN8 requires parking provision to be in accordance with current
adopted standards. The most relevant parking standard is Class C2 Residential Care
Home which is set out within ECC’s ‘Parking Standards Design and Good Practice.

11.22

The standards advise that residential care homes should include 1 space per full
time equivalent staff + 1 visitor space per 3 beds. The total number of beds spaces is
106, together with 15 full time staff this will calculate to a requirement of 50 parking
spaces in total. 56 parking spaces are provided and therefore it is considered the
development meets this criteria.

11.23

A travel plan would be adopted by the operator with measures implemented from the
first opening, this will encourage staff to walk, cycle, car share an use public
transport to get to work. On the basis of this information the proposed parking
provision would be satisfactory to meet the likely parking demand. This would
contain all development related parking within the site and not result in overspill
parking on the local roads, in accordance with Local Plan Policy GEN8 and ECC
Parking Standards (2009). No objections have been raised by Highways as a result
of this.

F

Nature Conservation (ULP Policy GEN7)

11.24

Policy GEN7 seeks to ensure that development would not have a harmful effect on
wildlife and Biodiversity. The previously approved outline planning application
(UTT/17/3426/OP) included significant details of ecology, protected species and
habitat. This current reserved matters application includes a subsequent updated
ecology appraisal which has been assessed by the Council’s Ecology Consultant.
No objection have been made subject to conditions, as such it is considered the
proposed development will not have a harmful impact on protected species or
biodiversity and is in accordance with ULP Policy GEN7 and the National Planning
Policy Framework.

G

Affordable Housing, NHS Contributions, (ULP Policies H9, GEN6)

11.25

The proposed development relates to a reserved matters application extra care
home, as such here is no requirement for affordable housing to be provided, this has
been confirmed by the Council’s Housing enabling Officer.

11.26

The West Essex Clinical Commission Group have requested a developer
contribution of £22,230 to mitigate the impacts of this proposal. It is confirmed this
was secured by legal agreement as part of the outline planning permission for the
wider development UTT/13/3467/OP.

H

Flood Risk and drainage (ULP Policy GEN3; NPPF)

Page 216

11.27

Policy GEN3 requires development outside flood risk areas to not increase the risk of
flooding through surface water run-off. The NPPF requires development to be
steered towards areas with the lowest probability of flooding. The site is not in an
area that is identified as at risk of flooding. However, the proposal is a ‘major
development’ so it would be necessary to include a sustainable drainage system
(SuDS) as an integral part of the design.

11.28

The application includes a foul and surface water strategy, from the consultation
response by the Lead Local Flood Authority and Environment Agency it is
considered that subject to conditions the development will include appropriate
drainage and will not give rise to an increase in flooding and in accordance with ULP
Policy GEN3.

I

Climate Change (UDC Interim Climate Change Policy 2021)

11.29

Following the recently adopted UDC Interim Climate Change Policy 2021 due
consideration should be made by developer to demonstrate the path that their
proposals take towards achieving net – zero carbon by 2030, and all the ways their
proposal is working towards this in response to planning law, and also to the
guidance set out in the NPPF and Planning Policy Guidance. The applicant has
included a statement demonstrating how the proposal accords with this policy.

11.30

The location of the site is part of a planned sustainable urban extension to Saffron
Walden, the site will have undergone extensive assessment to ensure the most
suitable and sustainable location for growth, as per the approved outlined planning
permission. The minimising of carbon emissions through the development itself are
demonstrated in the following paragraphs.

11.31

The proposal takes into consideration the existing Landscape working with the
existing topography of the site to avoid regrading of the site and the need to export
land from the site, this limits the impacts on climate change.

11.32

The drainage solution adopted for the site make suitable provision to ensure no
detriment to local water supply. The units are designed achieve average water
consumption.

11.33

The building utilises an all-electric scheme for heating, ventilation and kitchen supply,
therefore no emission will be omitted from the site to ensure there is no detriment to
local air quality.

11.34

The proposed landscaping scheme include extensive planting of native trees, shrubs
and areas of open grassland as well as extensive hedgerow planting which provides
a net gain. In biodiversity terms there is a 448.54% gain in habitat provided in the
proposed landscape scheme.

11.35

The nature of the development focuses on two main elements, offering a means to
retain an element of independence, to achieve this an element of higher density is
required in order to realise the objectives of creating a community and the
economies for the provision of care. In design terms the site layout has been
designed to link the bungalows and apartments together and also outside of the site.

11.36

The development will include an extensive array of photo voltaic panels to be
installed to the apartments and bungalows. The conclusion of the energy strategy is
that the development significantly reduces the buildings CO2 emissions when

Page 217

compared to the baseline target through a combination of passive measures and
building fabric design improvements.
11.37

The development has been designed to improve daylight habitable spaces to
improve the health and welling being of residents. Heat loss will be mitigated through
good construction detailing providing adequately sealing and techniques to minimise
the amount of air infiltration’s the buildings will include mechanical ventilation with
heat recovery and low energy lighting.

11.38

All materials are to be sources as locally as possible to reduce carbon cost of
transport. While contractors will be encouraged to manage recycling and waste
efficiently the developer is committed to a policy framework for waste management.

11.39

In promoting sustainable travel, the development will provide appropriate storage for
cycle and motorises scooters. The development is located within a sustainable
location in terms of being close to local amenities and transport links which will also
be supported by a travel plan.

11.40

Electric charging points are provided for each of the bungalows and 20% of the
unallocated parking spaces. The provision also includes ducting for future
installation. The proposed development therefore accords with policy in this respect.

12

CONCLUSION

A

The principle of the development of the care home has been established through the
outline planning permission UTT/17/3426/OP and subsequent allowed appeal for all
matters reserved except access, for Extra Care Housing (Use Class C2) together
with associated infrastructure including road, drainage and access.

B

The proposed scheme would provide the mix of extra care housing sought under
paragraphs 60 and 61 of the NPPF to meet the needs of an older generation and
people care requirements. The proposed use of the site would make more effected
use of the large plot and although not part of a key employment site will provide
significant economic growth. There is a need for a care facility of which the need will
grow further over the coming years. The development accords with ULP Policies S7,
GEN2 and the NPPF.

C

The layout, scale, appearance and landscaping of the development is considered
appropriate. The size of amenity areas and parking provisions are acceptable. The
development accords with ULP Policies S7, GEN2, GEN8 and the NPPF.

D

The layout, scale and siting of the proposal is not considered to have any harmful
impact to the residential amenity of neighbouring properties in terms of loss of
privacy, overlooking, overbearing, light pollution, noise and disturbance. The
development is in accordance with ULP Policies (GEN2, GEN4, GEN5, ENV11,
NPPF)

E

The proposal would not be harmful to protect/priority species subject to conditions
and in accordance with ULP Policy GEN7 and the NPPF.

F

The proposal will not give rise to flooding subject to conditions and in accordance
with ULP Policy GEN3

G

Due consideration has been made to the UDC Interim Climate Change Policy 2021

Page 218

and how the developer has demonstrated the path that their proposals take towards
achieving net – zero carbon by 2030.
H

The applicant has been consulted on all ‘pre-commencement’ conditions, in
accordance with The Town and Country Planning (Pre-commencement
Conditions) Regulations 2018.

RECOMMENDATION – APPROVAL WITH CONDITIONS
Conditions
1

No development shall take place, including any ground works until a Construction
Management Plan has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local
planning authority. The approved Plan shall be adhered to throughout the
construction period. The Plan shall provide for:
i. the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors
ii. loading and unloading of plant and materials
iii. storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development
iv. wheel and underbody cleaning facilities
v. Routing of construction vehicles
REASON: To ensure that on-street parking of these vehicles in the adjoining streets
does not occur and to ensure that loose materials and spoil are not brought out onto
the highway in the interests of highway safety and Policy DM 1 of the Highway
Authority’s Development Management Policies February 2011 and in accordance
with ULP Policy GEN1.

2

The proposed development shall not be occupied until such time as the vehicle
parking area indicated on the submitted drawing LSE-2686-02-AC-001 Rev B,
including any parking spaces for the mobility impaired, has been hard surfaced,
sealed and marked out in parking bays. The vehicle parking area, including the
number of unallocated spaces, and associated turning area shall be retained in this
form at all times. The vehicle parking shall not be used for any purpose other than
the parking of vehicles that are related to the use of the development unless
otherwise agreed with the Local Planning Authority.
REASON: To ensure that on street parking of vehicles in the adjoining streets does
not occur in the interests of highway safety and that appropriate parking is provided
in accordance with Policy DM8 of the Development Management Policies as adopted
as County Council Supplementary Guidance in February 2011 and in accordance
with ULP Policy GEN1 and GEN8.

3

The cycle and buggy parking facilities as shown on the approved plan are to be
provided prior to the first occupation of the development and retained at all times
thereafter.
REASON: To ensure appropriate bicycle parking is provided In accordance with
Policy DM8 of the Development Management Policies as adopted as County Council
Supplementary Guidance in February 2011 and in accordance with ULP Policy
GEN1.

4

All mitigation measures and/or works shall be carried out in accordance with the
details contained in the Updated Survey Appraisal (Aspect Ecology Ltd, March 2020)
as already submitted with the planning application and agreed in principle with the

Page 219

local planning authority prior to determination including, but not limited to, the
perseveration of permeable boundary features, and due diligence for nesting birds.
REASON: To conserve and enhance protected and Priority species and allow the
LPA to discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species
Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended
and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species) and in accordance with
ULP Policy GEN7.
5

Prior to the commencement of the development a Biodiversity Method Statement,
particularly for mobile creatures, shall been submitted to and approved in writing by
the local planning authority. This will contain precautionary mitigation measures and
include the presence of an Ecological Clerk of Works (ECoW) during any works likely
to impact nesting birds, and installation of the protection zone for the hedgerow to be
retained.
The measures and/works shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the
approved details and shall be retained in that manner thereafter.
REASON: To conserve protected and Priority species and allow the LPA to
discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations
2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the
NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species) and in accordance with ULP Policy
GEN7.

6

Prior to slab level of the development hereby approved a Biodiversity Enhancement
Layout, providing the finalised details and locations of the enhancement measures
contained within The Landscape Design Statement (ACD, March 2020), including
location any native/wildlife friendly planting in wildflower grassland and landscaping,
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
The enhancement measures shall be implemented in accordance with the approved
details and all features shall be retained in that manner thereafter.
REASON: To enhance protected and Priority Species and allow the LPA to
discharge its duties under the s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species)
and in accordance with ULP Policy GEN7.

7

Prior to the occupation of the development hereby approved a lighting design
scheme for biodiversity shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. The scheme shall identify those features on site that are
particularly sensitive for bats and that are likely to cause disturbance along important
routes used for foraging; and show how and where external lighting will be installed
so that it can be clearly demonstrated that areas to be lit will not disturb or prevent
bats using their territory.
All external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the specifications and
locations set out in the scheme and maintained thereafter in accordance with the
scheme. Under no circumstances should any other external lighting be installed
without prior consent from the local planning authority.
REASON: To allow the LPA to discharge its duties under the Conservation of
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside
Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species)
and in accordance with ULP Policy GEN7.

Page 220

8

The development hereby approved shall be in accordance with noise assessment
submitted (Cass Allen RP01-20226, 27/3/2020) and shall achieve internal noise
levels recommended in British Standard 8233:2014 Sound Insulation and noise
reduction for buildings.
REASON: To protect the amenity of the resident of the development from noise
impact and in accordance with ULP Policies ENV11 and GEN4.

19

Prior to commencement of works above slab level, details of the following external
finishes (including samples and/or photographs as appropriate) must be submitted to
and approved in writing by the local planning authority:
- Walls
- Roof
- Windows
- Doors
The development must be carried out in accordance with the approved details shall
not be changed without prior written approval from the Local Planning Authority.
REASON: To ensure compatibility with the character of the area, in accordance with
Policy GEN2 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005) and the National Planning
Policy Framework.

10

The proposed electric vehicle charging points including a single charging point for
each of the bungalows and charging points for 20% of the unallocated parking
spaces shall be provided, fully wired and connected, ready to use before first
occupation of the development. The provision of ducting for future installation shall
also be included.
REASON: The requirement of the charging points are required to mitigate the harm
for poor air quality due to the increase in vehicle movement and being within and in
accordance with ULP ENV13 the adopted Interim Climate Change Policy 2021 and
paragraph 105 of the NPPF.

11

Prior to slab level of the development hereby approved details of the solar panels to
be included on the bungalows shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
local planning authority. Thereafter the development shall be implemented in
accordance with the approved details.
REASON: These measures are required to identify suitable areas for renewable and
low carbon energy sources, and supporting infrastructure in accordance with
paragraph 151 (b) of the NPPF (2019) and the adopted Interim Climate Change
Policy 2021.

Page 221

Organisation: Uttlesford District Council
Department:

Planning

Date:

30th March 2021

Page 222

Agenda Item 6
UTT/20/3016/FUL (Widdington)
(Referred to Planning Committee for the following reasons:
The development is contrary to the following national and local policies:
- NPPF paragraphs 8, 127, 108, 110, 170b, 189 and 192
- ULP Polices: S7, GEN1, GEN2 and ENV9)

PROPOSAL:

Conversion of existing single storey agricultural
building to 4 no. residential units

LOCATION:

Land Rear of Malt Place, Cornell’s Lane,
Widdington, CB11 3SP

APPLICANT:

Mr M King, 5 Bell Hill, Bishops Stortford, CM23 2QR

AGENT:

Mr Christopher Pelham, Pelham Structures Ltd, 3
Brice’s Yard, Butts Green, Langley Upper Green
Clavering, Saffron Walden, CB11 4RT

EXPIRY DATE:

13th January 2021 (Extension of time until 31st
January 2021)

CASE OFFICER:

Nathan Makwana

1.

NOTATION

1.1

Outside Development Limits

2.

DESCRIPTION OF SITE

2.1

The site is located off Cornell’s Lane, near Widdington. It comprises agricultural
land that is occupied by vacant poultry sheds and associated structures.

3.

PROPOSAL

3.1

Planning permission is sought for the conversion of existing single storey
agricultural building to 4 no. residential units.

4.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT

4.1

Town and Country Planning (Environmental Assessment): The proposal is not a
Schedule 1 development, nor does it exceed the threshold criteria of Schedule 2,
and therefore an Environmental Assessment is not required.

4.2

Human Rights Act considerations: There may be implications under Article 1 and
Article 8 of the First Protocol regarding the right of respect for a person's private
and family life and home, and to the peaceful enjoyment of possessions;
however, these issues have been taken into account in the determination of this
application.
;;

Page 223

5.

APPLICANT’S CASE

5.1

The applicant has provided a planning statement in support of the planning
application to illustrate the process that has led to the development proposal and
to explain and justify the proposal in a structured way.

5.2

Also submitted with this planning application are detailed plans and elevations to
reflect the above changes.

6.

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

6.1

UTT/21/0043/PAQ3 - Prior Notification of change of use of agricultural building to
4 no. dwellings – Prior Approval Not Required on 26.02.2021

6.2

UTT/20/21543/FUL - Conversion of Existing agricultural buildings to 5no.
dwellings with associated parking and landscaping. – Refused on 19.10.2020

6.3

UTT/20/0860/FUL - Demolition of existing agricultural buildings and erection of 4
no. dwellings with associated parking and landscaping – Refused on 12.06.2020

6.4

UTT/20/0876/FUL - Replacement of Existing Single Storey Agricultural Building
with 1no. dwelling (Revised scheme to approved UTT/17/2960/PAP3Q) –
Approved on 11.06.2020

6.5

APP/C1570/W/19/3233328 – Appeal for Demolish existing agricultural buildings
and replace with 4 no. detached dwellings with associated parking and
landscaping – Dismissed on 13.12.2019

6.6

UTT/18/3523/FUL - Demolish existing agricultural buildings and replace with 4
no. detached dwellings with associated parking and landscaping – Refused on
01.05.2019.

6.7

UTT/18/2129/PAP3Q - Prior Notification of change of use of agricultural building
to 4 no. dwellings – Prior Approval Not Required, Granted on 20.09.2018

6.8

UTT/18/1408/PAP3Q - Prior Notification of change of use of agricultural building
to 4 no. dwellings - Prior Approval Not Required, Granted on 16.07.2018

6.9

UTT/17/2960/PAP3Q - Prior notification of change of use of agricultural building
to 1 no dwelling house, Granted on 15.12.2017
POLICIES

7.

National Policies
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (June 2019)
National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG)
Uttlesford Local Plan (2005)
7.1

S7 – The Countryside
GEN1 – Access
GEN2 – Design
GEN3 – Flood Protection
GEN4 – Good Neighbourliness
GEN5 – Light Pollution
GEN7 – Nature Conservation

Page 224

GEN8 – Vehicle Parking Standards
ENV2 – Development affecting Listed Buildings
ENV3 – Open Spaces and Trees
ENV11 – Noise Generators and Exposure to Noise
ENV14 – Contaminated Land
H1 – Housing Development
H6 – Conversion of rural buildings to residential use
Supplementary Planning Documents/Guidance
7.2

SPD – Accessible Homes and Play space (2005)
Other Material Considerations

7.3

Essex Design Guide
ECC Parking Standards (2009)
UDC Parking Standards (2013)

8.

PARISH COUNCIL COMMENTS

8.1

Widdington Parish Council

8.2

Widdington Parish Council object to the application proposal. Their full objection
letter has been added as an appendix to this committee report.

9.

CONSULTATIONS
ECC Highways

9.1

From a highway and transportation perspective the impact of the proposal is
acceptable to the Highway Authority, subject to conditions relating to visibility
splays, provision of access arrangements and no use of unbound material for
vehicle access.
ECC Ecology

9.2

No objection subject to securing biodiversity mitigation and enhancement
measures.
UDC Environmental Health

9.3

The development site is outside of the Stanstead, M11 and other arterial road
noise contours and the Air Quality Management Zone and it is considered that
the development will not negatively impact neighbouring properties. I recommend
a precautionary contaminated land condition as the site has had previous
development. I therefore have no in principle objections to the application, subject
to an Unsuspected Contamination condition being attached to any consent, if
granted.

10.

REPRESENTATIONS

Page 225

10.1

52 Neighbour Representations have been received, all objecting to the
application proposal.
A site notice was displayed at the application site on the 23rd December 2020 and
expired on the 13th January 2021.
The neighbour notification period expired on the 13th January 2021.

10.2

Summary of representations received as follows:

-

-

-

-

-

-

The proposal would harm the character and appearance of the area
contrary to policies S7 and ENV9 of the Uttlesford Local Plan which look
for development to enhance the character of the countryside and protect
local historic landscapes, as well as the National Planning Policy
Framework.
The proposal fails to accord with ULP policy S7 which protects the
countryside for its own sake and restricts development to that which
needs to take place there and also policy GEN1 which seeks to promote
sustainable transport modes.
Widdington is a category B village that has no employment opportunities
or amenities for residents of these homes.
Residents would be required to travel for all purposes including work,
school, shopping, healthcare and leisure.
The site is remote and unsafe for future residents as it is located on an
unlit country lane without footpaths.
Widdington only has limited, daytime public transport opportunities and
the nearest bus stop is 1.2km from the site along an unlit, mostly 60mph,
single-track country lane.
The low ceiling height of the proposed homes would make them largely
unsuitable for human habitation.
Approval of this application would set a precedent for subsequent
development of the remainder of the site and potentially other sites in the
village.
The speed limit at this point on Cornell’s Lane is 60mph not the 30mph
quoted in the applicant's Design Statement and the road is a single-track
country lane so proposed visibility splays are clearly inadequate.
The site is outside the village's development boundaries and in direct
conflict with the Widdington Design Statement.

10.3

The above is a summary of the representations received. Full versions are
available via the online public access system.

11.

APPRAISAL

The issues to consider in the determination of the application are:
A
B
C
D
E
F

The Principle of development – Location of Housing (NPPF, ULP Policies
S7, H6, GEN2, NPPF)
Character, Appearance, Amenity and Heritage (ULP Policies S7, H6, GEN2,
ENV9, NPPF)
Access and Transport (GEN1, GEN8, NPPF)
Residential Amenity (GEN2, NPPF)
Ecology (GEN6, NPPF)
Land Contamination (ENV14, NPPF)

Page 226

A

The Principle of development – Location of Housing (NPPF, ULP Policies
S7, H6, GEN2, NPPF)

11.1

The proposal is located outside of any development limits, within the countryside.
As a result, Local Plan Policy S7 applies. This states that the countryside will be
protected for its own sake and that planning permission will only be given for
development that needs to take place there or is appropriate to the rural area,
with development only being permitted if its appearance protects or enhances the
particular character of the part of the countryside within which it is set or there are
special reasons why the development in the form proposed needs to be there.

11.2

ULP Policy H6 considers the conversion of rural building to residential use and
advises that substantial building reconstructions or extension will not be
permitted.
The following criteria apply:
a) It can be demonstrated that there is not significant demand for business uses,
small scale retail outlets, tourist accommodation or community uses
b) They are in sound structural condition.
c) Their historic, traditional or vernacular form enhances the character and
appearance of the rural area.
d) The conversion works respect and conserve the characteristics of the building.
e) Private garden areas can be provided unobtrusively

11.3

ULP Policy H6 adds that substantial reconstructions or extensions will not be
permitted, that conversions will not be permitted to residential uses on isolated
sites in the open countryside located well away from existing settlements and that
conditions regulating land use or development rights associated with proposals
may be necessary. In addition, the National Planning Policy Framework 2019
(NPPF) as the overarching national planning guidance, has a presumption in
favour of sustainable development.

11.4

The principle of development has previous been established under previous prior
approval planning applications (UTT/18/2129/PAP3Q and UTT/18/1408/PAP3Q)
which allowed that a change of use from an agricultural building into four
dwellings.

11.5

Of relevance in supporting this position is mentioned is Mansell v Torridge, a
Court of Appeal case hence, established authority which clarifies the position with
regard to the floor area of buildings with Class Q permitted development rights
and the approach taken by planning officers of considering a “realistic fallback
provision” when advising councillors on a planning application. It is considered
sensible to quote the guidance of this case in your reports to Committee.

11.6

Mansell v Tonbridge And Malling Borough Council [2017] EWCA Civ 1314
This case clarified when a ‘fallback’ development may be a material planning
consideration for an alternative development scheme. The court also reexamined the correct interpretation of Class Q general permitted development
rights (i.e., agricultural building to residential dwelling)

11.7

This alternative GPDO development (i.e. Class Q) was considered a ‘fallback’
position and given material planning consideration by the council in granting the
permission. Specifically, the planning officer advised the council’s planning
committee that:

Page 227

“a scheme confined to taking advantage of permitted development would, in my
view, be to the detriment of the site as a whole in visual terms…the current
proposal therefore, in my view, offers an opportunity for a more comprehensive
and coherent redevelopment of the site as opposed to a more piecemeal form of
development that would arise should the applicant seek to undertake to
implement permitted development rights”.
11.8

Fallback Position
The challenge by the appellant concerned whether there was a ‘real prospect’ of
development under the Class Q GPDO rights on the lack of contemporaneous
evidence that the landowner had contemplated such development.
Lindblom LJ confirmed the legal considerations in determining the materiality of
a fallback position as a planning judgement were:
 the basic principle is that for a prospect to be a “real prospect”, it does
not have to be probable or likely: a possibility will suffice;


there is no rule of law that, in every case, the “real prospect” will depend,
for example, on the site having been allocated for the alternative
development in the development plan or planning permission having been
granted for that development, or on there being a firm design for the
alternative scheme, or on the landowner or developer having said
precisely how he would make use of any permitted development rights
available to him under the GPDO. In some cases that degree of clarity
and commitment may be necessary; in others, not. This will always be a
matter for the decision-maker’s planning judgment in the particular
circumstances of the case in hand.



He then concluded that the clear desire of the landowner to develop, and
maximise the value of, the site was sufficient to demonstrate there was a real
prospect to the Class Q GPDO fallback position in this case. Therefore, the
council made no error in law in giving material weight to such fallback position.
11.9

The case also gave significant guidance on the interpretation of the class Q.
Class Q Interpretation
What is the correct interpretation of Class Q GPDO rights? Specifically, whether
the exclusion of such rights in paragraph Q.1(b)&(h) to agricultural buildings
exceeding 450sqm in cumulative floorspace applied:


(i) only to the extent of that part of the building changing use to a
residential dwelling(s) (i.e. where a building exceeds 450sqm in
floorspace then only such part upto 450sqm is permitted to change use
under class Q. In this case the barn measured 600sqm); or
 (ii) to the whole building meaning no building over 450sqm qualified for
the Class Q GPDO rights.
The council had applied interpretation (i) above in determining the fallback
position.
Lindblom LJ agreed with the council, and the first instance judge, that
interpretation (i) above was the correct approach. He stated:

Page 228

“This restriction is stated to be a restriction on the change of use, not on the size
of the building or buildings in which the change of use occurs. Sub-paragraph
Q.1(b) relates to a single act of development in which the building in question, or
part of it, is “changing use”. The floor space limit set by it relates not to the total
floor space of the building or buildings concerned. It relates, as one would expect,
to the permitted development rights themselves, which apply to the “cumulative”
amount of floor space actually ‘changing use under Class Q’”.
11.10

Of further consideration is debating as to whether or not the site is considered
Isolated. Reference has been made to the Bramshill Case. It is an important
judgment, because the appeal raised questions on the interpretation and
application of policies in the National Planning Policy Framework against the
development of “isolated homes in the countryside” and on the assessment of
harm and benefit to “heritage assets”. It is important to note that there are no
heritage assets impacted by this development,

11.11

Applying Braintree District Council v Secretary of State for Communities and
Local Government [2018] 2 P. & C.R. 9, the Court of Appeal supported the
Inspector’s approach to the question of “isolated homes in the countryside”,
saying (at [32]) that the decision maker must consider, “whether [the
development] would be physically isolated, in the sense of being isolated from a
settlement”. What is a “settlement”, and whether the development would be
“isolated” from a settlement are both matters of planning judgment for the
decision-maker on the facts of the particular case.

11.12

Paragraph 79 of the NPPF states that Planning policies and decisions should
avoid the development of isolated homes in the countryside unless one or more
of the following circumstances apply, Criterion C being relevant:
c) the development would re-use redundant or disused buildings and
enhance its immediate setting;

11.13

It is the professional planning opinion and judgement of this officer that the
site is not considered to be isolated. The planning history associated with
this planning application already permits four dwellings. This application is
simply for larger gardens and parking spaces. It is the professional view of
this officer that the development would re-use redundant or disused
buildings and that this application would enhance its immediate setting.

11.14

It is once again considered that the proposal accords with ULP Policy S7 and the
relevant criteria outlined within ULP Policy H6 as the principle of development
has been established mitigating criteria a. The structural integrity of the unit has
been established, the rural appearance would be retained, and private gardens
can be provided. Furthermore, the site has not been identified as being
unsustainable as noted by the planning inspector above.

11.15

Therefore, the principle of development has been established and the proposal
accords with ULP Policies S7, H6 and GEN2 of the Uttlesford Local Plan 2005
and the NPPF.

B

Character, Appearance, Amenity and Heritage (ULP Policies S7, H6, GEN2,
ENV9, NPPF);

11.16

The site is part of a former poultry farm and is located on the eastern outskirts of
the Village of Widdington, which is located 1.5 miles south of Newport, 1.5 miles

Page 229

east of the M11 and 4.5m north of Stansted Mountfitchet. On the site there are 3
substantial agricultural buildings, as well as several smaller structures. Two of the
larger buildings benefit from prior approval for change of use to residential
dwellings. The site is well screen by woodland and existing vegetation and there
are limited views into the site.
11.17

There are no changes to the form of the building as approved under the Prior
Approval. The amount of amenity space allowed under prior approval is limited.
The current application proposes to increase the size of the garden areas to the
west, provide allocated parking and bin store for the units. As shown on the
submitted plans, two parking spaces are proposed to be created to the south of
unit 4 accessed from the existing road that serves the building to the south that is
to be demolished and replaced by a single dwelling as approved under
UTT/20/0876/FUL. It is also proposed to create parking for the other units to the
north off the drive that provides access to the existing agricultural building to the
east, which is to be retained.

11.18

The scale appearance is unchanged from that previously approved
(UTT/18/1408/PAP3Q). Existing vegetation will be retained on the site and native
hedgerows will be planted around the proposed garden, car parking and bin
stores.

11.19

ULP Policy ENV9 states that development proposals likely to harm significant
local historic landscapes, historic parks and gardens and protected lanes as
defined on the proposals map will not be permitted unless the need for the
development outweighs the historic significance of the site.

11.20

The site is identified within the Braintree, Brentwood, Chelmsford, Maldon and
Uttlesford Landscape Character Assessment (2006) as being within the Debden
Farmland Plateau and defined in the Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 (LP)as being a
Historic Landscape. The historic land use identifies a predominance of pre18thcentury irregular fields and that the main historic landscape features include
a number of areas of ancient woodland. An area of which is annotated on the
submitted plans as being adjacent to the site. This wooded area provides both a
backdrop to the site and screening. There are a number of existing small
agricultural buildings/sheds located within the wooded area.

11.21

In his reporting on the appeal , the Planning Inspector noted that the fallback
scheme would be of a smaller scale and would retain the agricultural character of
the site. The submission of this application to incorporate larger domestic
gardens and parking would not fundamentally be different than that of the
previously approved prior approval scheme. A condition requiring further details
of hard and soft landscaping will be included on any granted permission.

11.22

The proposed amendments and revisions in this application to include larger
gardens and a parking area do not result in significant changes to the overall
layout of the previously approved scheme. The proposal therefore accords with
ULP Policies S7, GEN2, H6 and ENV9 of the Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 and the
NPPF.

C

Access and Transport (GEN1, GEN8, NPPF)

11.23

The application site is already served by an existing vehicular access, which will
be widened to serve the proposed dwelling, which has previously been approved
under UTT/18/1408/PAP3Q.

Page 230

11.24

Seven parking spaces are to be provided which accords with the parking
standards for one- and two-bedroom dwellings.

11.25

Essex County Council Highways have been consulted and raise no objections
from a highway safety perspective, subject to the inclusion of conditions.

11.26

The application proposal is therefore considered to accord with ULP Policies
GEN1 and GEN8 of the Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 and the NPPF.

D

Residential Amenity (GEN2, NPPF)

11.27

The proposed gardens exceed the recommended garden size as outlined within
the Essex Design Guide. No concerns are raised regarding residential amenity
impact to future occupiers. The proposal therefore accords with ULP Policy GEN2
of the Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 and the NPPF.

E

Ecology (GEN7, NPPF)

11.28

The Ecology Officer has been consulted and raises no objection to the application
proposal, subject to conditions securing biodiversity mitigation and enhancement
measures. The proposal therefore accords with ULP Policy GEN7 of the
Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 and the NPPF.

F

Land Contamination (ENV14, NPPF)

11.29

The Uttlesford District Council Environmental Health Officer has been consulted
and raises no objections subject to a condition reporting any land contamination
found during the development of the site. The proposal therefore accords with
ULP Policy ENV14 of the Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 and the NPPF.

12.

CONCLUSION

The following is a summary of the main reasons for the recommendation:
A

The principle of development has been established by virtue of the previously
approved prior approval applications and therefore the proposal accords with
ULP Policies S7, H6 and GEN2 of the Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 and the NPPF

B

The proposed amendments and revisions in this application to include larger
gardens and a parking area do not result in significant changes to the overall
layout of the previously approved scheme. The proposal therefore accords with
ULP Policies S7, GEN2, H6 and ENV9 of the Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 and the
NPPF .

C

Essex County Council Highways have not objected on highway safety grounds
and the relevant parking spaces have been provided that accord with the
Uttlesford Local Plan parking spaces. The application proposal is therefore
considered to accord with ULP Policies GEN1 and GEN8 of the Uttlesford Local
Plan 2005 and the NPPF.

D

The proposed gardens exceed the recommended garden size as outlined within
the Essex Design Guide. No concerns are raised regarding residential amenity

Page 231

impact to future occupiers. The proposal therefore accords with ULP Policy GEN2
of the Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 and the NPPF.
E

The Ecology Officer has been consulted and raises no objection to the application
proposal, subject to conditions securing biodiversity mitigation and enhancement
measures. The proposal therefore accords with ULP Policy GEN7 of the
Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 and the NPPF.

F

The Uttlesford District Council Environmental Health Officer has been consulted
and raises no objections subject to a condition reporting any land contamination
found during the development of the site. The proposal therefore accords with
ULP Policy ENV14 of the Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 and the NPPF.

RECOMMENDATION – APPROVAL WITH CONDITIONS
Conditions
1.

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 3
years from the date of this decision.
REASON: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved plans as set out in the Schedule.
REASON: For the avoidance of doubt as to the nature of the development hereby
permitted, to ensure development is carried out in accordance with the approved
application details, to ensure that the development is carried out with the
minimum harm to the local environment, in accordance with the Policies of the
Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005) as shown in the Schedule of Policies

3.

Notwithstanding the details submitted, before development commences full
details of both hard and soft landscape works shall be submitted to and approved
in writing by the local planning authority. Subsequently, these works shall be
carried out as approved. The landscaping details to be submitted shall include:
a) proposed finished levels [earthworks to be carried out]
b) means of enclosure
c) hard surfacing, other hard landscape features and materials
d) existing trees, hedges or other soft features to be retained
e) planting plans, including specifications of species, sizes, planting centres,
number and percentage mix
f) details of planting or features to be provided to enhance the value of the
development for biodiversity and wildlife
g) details of siting and timing of all construction activities to avoid harm to all
nature conservation features
h location of service runs
i) management and maintenance details
REASON: To ensure compatibility with the character of the area, in accordance
with Policy S7 and Policy GEN2 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005) and
the National Planning Policy Framework. This condition must be 'pre-

Page 232

commencement' to ensure that the development is only carried out in accordance
with the above details.
4.

All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details. The works shall be carried out before any part of the
development is occupied or in accordance with the programme agreed with the
local planning authority
REASON: To ensure compatibility with the character of the area, in accordance
with Policy S7 and Policy GEN2 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005) and
the National Planning Policy Framework.

5.

Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved details of the
materials to be used in the construction of the buildings shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The development shall be
constructed using the approved materials, unless otherwise agreed in writing by
the local planning authority.
REASON: To ensure compatibility with the character of the area, in accordance
with Policy S7 and Policy GEN2 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005) and
the National Planning Policy Framework. This condition must be 'precommencement' to ensure that the development is only carried out in accordance
with the above details.

6.

In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the
approved development, it shall be reported in writing immediately to the Local
Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment shall then be
undertaken by a competent person, in accordance with 'Model Procedures for the
Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11'. A written report of the findings
should be forwarded for approval to the Local Planning Authority. Following
completion of remedial measures, a verification report shall be prepared that
demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried out. No part of the
development should be occupied until all remedial and validation works are
approved in writing.
Reason: To ensure that no future investigation is required under Part 2A of the
Environmental Protection Act 1990 and in accordance with ULP Policy ENV14 of
the Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 and the NPPF.

7.

Prior to first occupation of the dwelling, an electric car charging facility shall be
installed at the property and retained as such unless the written consent of the
local planning authority is given to any alteration.
REASON: In the interest of sustainable development and in accordance with
Policy GEN2 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005) and the provisions of
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019.

8.

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking or re-enacting that
Order with or without modification), no development within Classes A to F of Part
1 of Schedule 2 and Class A of Part 2 of Schedule 2 of the Order shall take place
without the prior written permission of the local planning authority.

Page 233

REASON: To prevent the site becoming overdeveloped and in the interests of
the amenity of the occupiers of adjoining dwellings and buildings, in accordance
with Policies GEN2 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005) and NPPF.
9.

All ecological mitigation & enhancement measures and/or works shall be carried
out in
accordance with the details contained in the Ecology Report (A R Arbon, May
2020), as already submitted with the planning application and agreed in principle
with the local planning authority prior to determination.
This includes, but is not limited to, the development of a Construction
Environmental
Management Plan (CEMP) Biodiversity to define protection methods for
ecological features and enabling mitigation of any potential impacts on protected
and Priority species & habitats.
Reason: To conserve and enhance Protected and Priority species and allow the
LPA to
discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations
2017 (as
amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the
NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species) and in accordance with ULP Policy
GEN7 of the Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 and the NPPF 2019.

10.

Prior to the commencement of works, a construction environmental management
plan (CEMP: Biodiversity) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
local planning authority.
The CEMP (Biodiversity) shall include the following.
a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities.
b) Identification of “biodiversity protection zones”.
c) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices)
to avoid
or reduce impacts during construction (may be provided as a set of method
statements).
d) The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity
features.
e) The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be present on
site to
oversee works.
f) Responsible persons and lines of communication.
g) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW) or
similarly
competent person.
h) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs.
The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the
construction period strictly in accordance with the approved details, unless
otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: To conserve protected and Priority species and allow the LPA to
discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations
2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of
the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species) and in accordance with ULP
Policy GEN7 of the Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 and the NPPF 2019.

Page 234

11.

Prior to works commencing above slab level, a Biodiversity Enhancement
Strategy for protected and Priority species shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority.
The content of the Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy shall include the following:
a) Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed enhancement
measures.
b) detailed designs to achieve stated objectives.
c) locations of proposed enhancement measures by appropriate maps and plans.
d) persons responsible for implementing the enhancement measures.
e) details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance (where relevant).
The works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and
shall be retained
in that manner thereafter.
Reason: To enhance Protected and Priority Species/habitats and allow the LPA
to discharge its duties under the s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats &
species) and in accordance with ULP Policy GEN7 of the Uttlesford Local Plan
2005 and the NPPF 2019.

12.

Prior to first occupation, a lighting design scheme for biodiversity shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme
shall identify those features on site that are particularly sensitive for bats and that
are likely to cause disturbance along important routes used for foraging; and
show how and where external lighting will be installed so that it can be clearly
demonstrated that areas to be lit will not disturb or prevent bats using their
territory.
All external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the specifications and
locations set out in the scheme and maintained thereafter in accordance with the
scheme. Under no circumstances should any other external lighting be installed
without prior consent from the local planning authority.
Reason: To allow the LPA to discharge its duties under the Conservation of
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside
Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species)
and in accordance with ULP Policy GEN7 of the Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 and
the NPPF 2019.

13.

Prior to occupation of the development the visibility splays, as shown on DWG
no. 493x20C (dated 17/11/2020), shall be provided and retained free of any
obstruction in perpetuity.
Reason: To provide adequate inter-visibility between vehicles using the access
and those in the existing public highway in the interest of highway safety and in
accordance with ULP Policy GEN1 of the Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 and the
NPPF 2019.

14.

Prior to the first occupation of the development the access arrangements, vehicle
parking and turning areas as indicated on the approved plans shall be provided,
hard surfaced, sealed and marked out. The access, parking and turning areas
shall be retained in perpetuity for their intended purpose.

Page 235

Reason: To ensure that appropriate access, parking and turning is provided and
in accordance with ULP Policy GEN1 of the Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 and the
NPPF 2019.
15.

No unbound material shall be used in the surface treatment of the vehicular
access within 6 metres of the highway boundary.
Reason: To avoid displacement of loose material onto the highway in the
interests of highway safety and in accordance with ULP Policy GEN1 of the
Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 and the NPPF 2019.

Site Map

Page 236

© Crown copyright and database rights 2016 Ordnance Survey 0100018688

Organisation: Uttlesford District Council
Department: Planning
Date: 26 February 2021

Page 237

Appendix 1 – Waddington Parish Council Comments

Page 238

Page 239

Page 240

Page 241

Page 242

Page 243

Page 244

Page 245

Page 246

Page 247

Page 248

Page 249

Page 250

Page 251

Page 252

Page 253

Page 254

Page 255

Page 256

Page 257

Page 258

Page 259

Page 260

Page 261

Page 262

Page 263

Page 264

Page 265

Page 266

Agenda Item 7
UTT/20/2486/FUL
The application has been deferred from the January Planning Committee for the
Members to visit the site. The report has been amended to reflect this as a result.
(Call-in request by Cllr Gregory if recommended for approval – Reasons: Impact of the
development on the Elmdon Conservation Area and views on the countryside / Impact on
parking / Greenfield and small site and position of development in relation to the host
dwelling)
PROPOSAL:

Proposed 2 no. semi-detached dwellings.

LOCATION:

North of Laburnham View, High Street, Elmdon, Essex

APPLICANT:

Mr D Turner

AGENT:

Mrs Adri Visagie / Space+ Ltd

EXPIRY DATE:

25 Dec 2020 (extension of time agreed to 30 Apr 2021)

CASE OFFICER:

Mr Avgerinos Vlachos

1.

NOTATION

1.1

Outside Development Limits / Within Conservation Area (‘Elmdon Conservation
Area’) / Setting of Listed Building (‘The Bangles’ – Grade II) / Setting of Listed
Telephone Kiosk (‘Street Record/K6 Telephone Kiosk’ – Grade II)

2.

DESCRIPTION OF SITE

2.1

The application site comprises part of the curtilage of a 2-storey detached
dwelling called ‘Laburnham View’ (host dwelling), located outside development
limits in southern Elmdon in the eastern side of High Street. The site is within the
Elmdon Conservation Area, close to heritage assets, such as ‘The Bangles’ to the
north (Grade II listed building) and a Grade II listed telephone box. There is a
gated access on the front site boundary, with a track road leading to agricultural
land and buildings to the rear of the site. Immediately to the rear there is also a
paddock currently in use. The area contains linear development with dwellings on
both sides and rural land to their rear, following a pattern of housing pockets
scattered along the lane. The overall area contains no distinct residential type
with varying architectural styles and scales, with the high-quality architecture and
materials, reflective of the local vernacular, being the common feature. Boundary
treatments include mature green screening to the rear, front and northern site
boundaries along with post and rail fencing to the southern boundary. Opposite
the road to the west there is a sharply elevated verge with mature hedging on top,
and on the neighbouring site to the north there is a large outbuilding (parallel to
the road), both obscuring countryside views. The ground is sloping up slightly
eastwards. The site currently has lawn and is open without any structures.

Page 267

3.

PROPOSAL

3.1

The proposal includes:
 Erection of 2 no. semi-detached 3-bedroom dwellings;
 Minor alterations to the existing access;
 Associated landscaping and parking/turning area;
 Retain access road to the farmland to the back (west) of the site;
 Materials: Rendered walls on a red brick plinth, plain tiled roof, stained
timber windows and doors, black UPVC gutters and downpipes.

4.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT

4.1

The development does not constitute 'EIA development' for the purposes of the
Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations
2017.

5.

APPLICANT’S CASE

5.1

The application includes the following documents:








Photographs
Design and access statement
Ecological survey
Pre-app advice
Access appraisal
Transport statement
Biodiversity checklist.

6.

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

6.1

No relevant planning history.

7.

POLICIES
National Policies
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF, 2019)
S72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
S66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
S70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended)
S38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004

Uttlesford Local Plan (2005)
ULP Policy S7 – The Countryside
ULP Policy ENV1 – Design of Development within Conservation Areas
ULP Policy ENV2 – Development affecting Listed Buildings
ULP Policy ENV4 – Ancient Monuments and Sites of Archaeological Importance
ULP Policy ENV7 – The Protection of the Natural Environment - Designated Sites
ULP Policy ENV8 – Other Landscape Elements of Importance for Nature
Conservation

Page 268

ULP Policy ENV14 – Contaminated Land
ULP Policy GEN1 – Access
ULP Policy GEN2 – Design
ULP Policy GEN4 – Good Neighbourliness
ULP Policy GEN7 – Nature Conservation
ULP Policy GEN8 – Vehicle Parking Standards
Supplementary Planning Documents/Guidance
Supplementary Planning Document ‘Accessible Homes and Playspace’
Other Material Considerations
Uttlesford Local Residential Parking Standards (2013)
Essex County Council Parking Standards: Design and Good Practice (2009)
8.
8.1

PARISH COUNCIL COMMENTS










9.

Objections.
Greenfield site within Elmdon Conservation Area; certainty required about
style, size, materials.
Small site for 2 no. dwellings.
Position in relation to the host dwelling; cramped form of development.
Shared access will lead to more on road parking.
Reference to sustainable location due to the proximity to a bus stop; no
regular bus services to village.
UDC document “Elmdon Conservation Area Appraisal and Management”
(Dec 2014) points out that the historic environment cannot be replaced
and that the relationship of the buildings, the quality of the spaces
between them and the views that unite or disrupt them are important.
Village Design Statement: (a) Infill development for low density housing
must ensure that the overall character of a small rural village and adjacent
buildings are not adversely affected or overlooked; (b) brownfield sites
should be prioritised for development of more than one dwelling; (c) new
dwellings should protect views of the countryside from the rear or between
dwelling.

CONSULTATIONS
ECC Highways

9.1

From a highway and transportation perspective the impact of the proposal is
acceptable to the Highway Authority, subject to the following measures:
1. Prior to occupation of the development, the access at its centre line shall be
provided with a clear to ground visibility splay with dimensions of 2.4 metres by
43 metres, as measured from and along the nearside edge of the carriageway.
Such vehicular visibility splays shall be provided before the access is first used by
vehicular traffic and retained free of any obstruction at all times. Reason: To
provide adequate intervisibility between vehicles using the access and those in
the existing public highway in the interest of highway safety.

Page 269

2. Prior to the occupation of any of the proposed dwellings, the proposed private
drive shall be constructed to a width of 5.5 metres for at least the first 6 metres
from the back of carriageway and provided with an appropriate dropped kerb
crossing of the verge. Reason: To ensure that vehicles can enter and leave the
highway in a controlled manner and to ensure that opposing vehicles can pass
clear of the limits of the highway, in the interests of highway safety.
3. No unbound material shall be used in the surface treatment of the vehicular
access within 6 metres of the highway boundary. Reason: To avoid displacement
of loose material onto the highway in the interests of highway safety.
4. Any gates provided at the vehicular access shall be inward opening only and
shall be set back a minimum of 6 metres from the back edge of the carriageway.
Reason: To enable vehicles using the access to stand clear of the carriageway
whilst gates are being opened and closed in the interest of highway safety.
5. The proposed development shall not be occupied until such time as the vehicle
parking area indicated on the approved plans has been provided. The vehicle
parking area and associated turning area shall be retained in this form at all
times. Reason: To ensure that on street parking of vehicles in the adjoining
streets does not occur in the interests of highway safety and that appropriate
turning is provided.
6. Cycle parking shall be provided in accordance with the EPOA Parking
standards. The approved facility shall be secure, convenient, covered and
provided prior to occupation and retained at all times. Reason: To ensure
appropriate cycle parking is provided in the interest of highway safety and
amenity.
The above conditions are required to ensure that the development accords with
the Highway Authority’s Development Management Policies, adopted as County
Council Supplementary Guidance in February 2011 and Uttlesford Local Plan
Policy GEN1.
ECC Place Services (Ecology)
9.2

No objection subject to securing biodiversity mitigation and enhancement
measures.
Summary
We have reviewed the Ecological Survey and Assessment (Essex Mammal
Surveys, September 2020), relating to the likely impacts of development on
designated sites, protected and Priority species & habitats.
We are satisfied that there is sufficient ecological information available for
determination.
This provides certainty for the LPA of the likely impacts on protected and Priority
species & habitats and, with appropriate mitigation measures secured, the
development can be made acceptable. This includes due diligence for nesting
birds, Hedgehog and amphibians.

Page 270

The mitigation measures identified in the Ecological Survey and Assessment
(Essex Mammal Surveys, September 2020), should be secured and implemented
in full. This is necessary to conserve and enhance protected and Priority Species.
We also recommend that a Wildlife Friendly Lighting Strategy is implemented for
this application. Therefore, technical specification should be submitted prior to
occupation, which demonstrates measures to avoid lighting impacts to foraging /
commuting bats, which are likely present within the local area. This should
summarise the following measures will be implemented:
• Light levels should be as low as possible as required to fulfil the lighting need.
• Warm White lights should be used at <3000k. This is necessary as lighting
which emit an ultraviolet component or that have a blue spectral content have a
high attraction effects on insects. This may lead in a reduction in prey availability
for some light sensitive bat species.
• The provision of motion sensors or timers to avoid the amount of ‘lit-time’ of the
proposed lighting.
• Lights should be designed to prevent horizontal spill e.g. cowls, hoods, reflector
skirts or shields.
We also support the proposed reasonable biodiversity enhancements, which
have been recommended to secure measurable net gains for biodiversity, as
outlined under Paragraph 170d of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019.
The reasonable biodiversity enhancement measures should be outlined within a
Biodiversity Enhancement Layout. This includes permeable boundaries for
hedgehogs and toads, two bird nesting boxes to be sited on trees at the site, a
Hedgehog nesting box to be located at the base of the northern boundary hedge
and two solitary beehives to be sited in the grounds of the site.
This will enable LPA to demonstrate its compliance with its statutory duties
including its biodiversity duty under s40 NERC Act 2006.
Impacts will be minimised such that the proposal is acceptable subject to the
conditions below based on BS42020:2013.
Submission for approval and implementation of the details below should be a
condition of any planning consent.
ECC Place Services (Heritage)
9.3

Built Heritage Advice pertaining to an application for the proposed erection of two
semi-detached dwellings.
The site affected by this application is located within the Elmdon Conservation
Area, an area with many buildings of historic and architectural interest. To the
north of the site is The Bangles, a Grade II listed sixteenth century hall house now
divided into cottages (list entry number: 1112349). In front of the site is a K6
Telephone Kiosk, Grade II listed (list entry number: 1239844).
Upon review of the submitted information, I have no objection to the proposals. I
do not consider the proposed semi-detached dwellings to detract from or harm
the character and appearance of the Conservation Area or the setting of the listed

Page 271

buildings. Were permission to be granted, I request the following conditions are
attached:
• Construction of the dwellings shall not be commenced until a schedule of the
types and colour of the materials to be used in the external finishes has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The
development shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details.
(additional comments received 27 Nov 2020):
9.4

Please see further clarification upon the scheme and how it has followed pre-app
advice below.
The existing parcel of land does not, in my opinion, contribute to the significance
of the Elmdon Conservation Area. As identified in pre-application advice Elmdon
retains a semi-rural appearance with a fairly loose grain of development. Any new
dwellings on this site would have a minimal impact upon the street scene and a
minimal impact upon the Conservation Area. Sensitive development in this
location would read as the natural continuation of the built form along the High St.
It was identified in pre-application advice that the design and layout of the
proposed dwellings should be revised to a pair of semi-detached houses in a T
plan, any dormers or rooflights should be omitted. Furthermore, the listed
telephone box and its setting should be protected and preserved by the retention
of the existing hedgerow. The proposed scheme (UTT/20/2486/FUL), is
consistent with this advice. There is a slight deviation in the plan form as
suggested however it does not result in any harm to the significance of the
Conservation Area or the adjacent heritage assets. In my opinion, the proposed
semi-detached dwellings are a sympathetic addition to the built form within the
Conservation Area that of appropriately vernacular by design. The use of highquality materials such as timber windows and doors is included in the scheme,
which would contribute to a high-quality development. The ridge height of the
proposed dwellings is below that of the adjacent dwelling, to the south, which
preserves the stepped appearance and rhythm of the built form along the High St
as the incline along the road increases.
To conclude, I feel, the submitted scheme has successfully implemented previous
advice and would not result in any harm to, or loss of, the significance of the
Conservation Area or adjacent heritage assets.
I agree with you that the parking could be more sympathetic and an opportunity
has been missed there. However, it would not result in an adverse impact upon
the heritage assets. Subject to a robust landscaping plan and suitable
driveway materials this could be further mitigated.
ECC Place Services (Archaeology)

9.5

The Historic Environment Advisor of Essex County Council has identified the
above application from the weekly list.
The following recommendation is in line with the new National Planning Policy
Framework.
RECOMMENDATION: An Archaeological Programme of Trial Trenching followed
by Open Area Excavation

Page 272

1. No development or preliminary groundworks of any kind shall take place until a
programme of archaeological investigation has been secured in accordance with
a written scheme of investigation which has been submitted by the applicant and
approved in writing by the local planning authority.
2. No development or preliminary groundworks of any kind shall take place until
the completion of the programme of archaeological investigation identified in the
WSI defined in 1 above.
3. The applicant will submit to the local planning authority a post excavation
assessment (to be submitted within six months of the completion of the fieldwork,
unless otherwise agreed in advance with the Planning Authority). This will result
in the completion of post excavation analysis, preparation of a full site archive and
report ready for deposition at the local museum, and submission of a publication
report.
Reason for Archaeological recommendation
The Historic Environment Record identifies the proposed for development as
being within an area of potentially sensitive archaeological deposits. The
proposed development is located towards the south of the nucleated historic
settlement of Elmdon between a fifteenth century farmstead and a sixteenth
century timber framed house (EHER 35867, 35866). Elmdon was a significant
medieval settlement in the eleventh/twelfth century with a Scheduled ringwork
fortification (SM 1011780). This defensive structure and the manor were located
to the north of Heydon Lane and Ickleton Road (EHER 3879). A number of
medieval moats and a mill mound are also protected as Scheduled Monuments in
Elmdon and are scattered throughout the settlement. There is the potential
therefore for medieval and post medieval archaeological remains being impacted
on by the proposed development.
The archaeological work would comprise initial trial trenching to identify the extent
and depth of archaeological deposits followed by open area excavation if
archaeological deposits are identified. All archaeological work should be
conducted by a professional recognised archaeological contractor in accordance
with a brief issued by this office.
UDC Landscape Officer
9.6

The site provides a visual connection between the High Street and the agrarian
landscape beyond; enriching the character of this part of the conservation area.
The retention of the farm access track as part of the proposals is considered
sufficient to maintain the visual link to the farmland.
Any approval should be subject to conditions requiring the retention and
protection of existing trees and hedges on the site.
UDC Environmental Health

9.7

I have no adverse comment.

10.

REPRESENTATIONS

Page 273

10.1

4 no. representations received. Neighbour consultation expired on 23 Nov 2020.
Site notice expired on 03 Dec 2020. Advertisement expired on 03 Dec 2020.

10.2

Summary of representations:














11.

Harm to the countryside by reason of appearance, size and greenfield
character (agricultural land/farmland still used site for agricultural purpose,
and a window into the countryside).
Harm to the conservation area (not an optimal viable use, not preserving
or enhancing the quality of the area).
Not sustainable location (fails sustainable development objectives):
Elmdon currently has no local services with almost non-existent public
transport (pre-booked bus service, mostly used by school bus).
Fails the Village Design Statement.
Loss of privacy, loss of light, overbearing effects.
Fails parking standards because parking spaces are to the front and
streets must not to be dominated by parking in front of dwellings.
Harm on wildlife and biodiversity by removing an uncultivated land parcel
(not normally used for crops).
Fails to protect valued landscapes. / The countryside is in the middle of
the village on High Street.
Not an infill development. / Part of a larger greenfield, incorporating a
heavily used farm vehicle track and grassland.
Several sites around the village where farmland is located between
houses.
The Design Statement failed to justify why the houses must be built.
Safety issues: farm track used by heavy machinery and no fence.
The proposal fails ULP Policies S7, GEN2, ENV1, GEN1, GEN8, GEN7,
ENV8, and parking standards. / Fails paragraphs 8, 78, 103, 105, 117,
127(c) and 170(a)-(b) of the NPPF.

APPRAISAL

The issues to consider in the determination of the application are:
A
B

E
F
G

Principle (S7, GEN2, NPPF);
Design and character / heritage impacts (S7, GEN2, ENV1, ENV2, Essex
Design Guide, and the NPPF);
Amenity (GEN2, GEN4, Nationally Described Space Standards, Essex
Design Guide);
Access and parking standards (GEN1, GEN8, parking standards, and the
NPPF);
Nature conservation and biodiversity (GEN7, ENV7, ENV8, and the NPPF);
Contamination (ENV14, and the NPPF);
Archaeology (ENV4, and the NPPF).

A

Principle (S7, GEN2, NPPF);

11.1

The Case Officer performed a site visit on 05 Dec 2020. In addition, photographs
were submitted upon request on 30 Nov 2020. Also, a site notice was erected on
site and expired on 03 Dec 2020, the neighbours were consulted and the
application was advertised in the press.

C
D

Page 274

11.2

The proposal is located outside development limits, in the countryside. The site is
adjacent to the host dwelling to the south, but there is some distance between the
site and the neighbouring properties to the north. Therefore is not considered to
be ‘infill development’ and it will be considered under Policy S7 (countryside),
which was subject to a Framework Compatibility Assessment (Jul 2012)
concluding it is partly consistent with the NPPF:


S7 takes a more protective approach to countryside development, unlike
NPPF’s positive stance, but the aim to protect the countryside remains
entirely relevant and consistent with the NPPF in recognising the intrinsic
character and beauty of the countryside while identifying opportunities for
villages to grow, especially where this would support local services.
Development will be strictly controlled, and isolated houses will need
exceptional justification; the policy test would be about:
(1) ‘isolation’ (i.e. spatial/physical separation from a settlement);
(2) ‘proximity to services’;
(3) ‘impact on the countryside’.

11.3

In social and environmental terms, the site is within Elmdon, approx. 200m (as
the crow flies) outside its development limits to the north-east, 1.4km from
Chrishall to the west and 7km from Saffron Walden to the east (as the crow flies).
The site is not at a walking distance to the High Street with the nearest
supermarkets being in Saffron Walden. Elmdon and Chrishall offer limited
services. The nearest bus stops (infrastructure) are located just outside the site,
which is stated to offer limited services according to neighbouring occupiers.

11.4

For the ‘isolation’ issue, the site is not isolated from a spatial/physical point of
view (the test of this is established in case law), as it is located within a
settlement. Paragraph 79 of the NPPF discourages new isolated homes in the
countryside unless there are special circumstances to justify that location. Thus,
paragraph 79 of the NPPF is not applicable on this occasion.

11.5

For the ‘impact on the countryside’ issue, it is assessed whether the ‘tilted
balance’ could be invoked in favour of the scheme by not triggering paragraphs
11(d)(i)-(ii) of the NPPF that seek to protect important areas and assets and to
make sure benefits outweighs harm. On balance, the scheme is acceptable due
to the following points:




Firstly, in terms of housing supply, housing policies are not up to date if a
5-year housing land supply cannot be demonstrated (para 11(d) of the
NPPF). The current figure is at 3.11 years (Jan 2021), rendering the Local
Plan out-of-date in terms of housing delivery, but it does not necessarily
follow that housing policies per se are out of date. In an Inspector’s words
(APP/C1570/A/14/2220272 et al., para 13) “the implications of an absence
of a 5-year housing supply would not apply more generally to the
Council’s approach to regulating development in the countryside”.
Therefore, 2 no. new dwellings would be a modest contribution to the
social strand of sustainable development and the housing figure.
Secondly, heritage and ecological impacts are acceptable (see Section B
and Section E), complying with paragraph 11(d)(i) of the NPPF. The
proposal will benefit the Elmdon Conservation Area by reason of its high

Page 275



quality and vernacular design, whilst there will be net gains for
biodiversity.
Thirdly, the proposal complies with paragraph 11(d)(ii) of the NPPF, as it
will not result in significant harm to the distinctive rural countryside
character of the area and benefits will outweigh the harm:
-

There is linear development with dwellings along both sides of High
Street and rural land further to their rear to the east and west. This
form of development follows a dual pattern with housing pockets of
higher density scattered along the lane: (a) a pocket in the middle of
the lane comprising 2 no. listed buildings, facing each other across the
road; (b) another pocket to the north and (c) a pocket to the south
including the host dwelling. A key feature of the area is the gaps
between the housing pockets, but these gaps fail to act as
‘windows’ to the countryside: there is high mature hedging to the
front of the site and a row of trees to the rear, as well as a sharply
elevated verge with mature hedging on top right across the street,
obscuring views to the countryside to the east and west. In addition,
there is a large outbuilding (parallel to the road) on the neighbouring
site to the north, obstructing countryside views. Therefore, open
views (‘windows’) to the countryside are not part of the local
character. The proposal will slightly extend one of the housing
pockets, but its semi-detached form and subordinate scale (see
Section B), and the above visual constraints, will minimise countryside
impacts and enhance the local character, complying with Policies S7
and GEN2.

-

The host dwelling has a large curtilage of its own and the site is
already separated from it (via post and rail fencing), and thus no
material intensification of use will occur.

-

The proposal will be set back from the building line of the host
dwelling, which adheres to the prevailing form of development in the
area and ensures it will not compete with the host dwelling.

-

Residential gardens in the countryside are considered Previously
Developed Land (PDL), but other policies and local circumstances still
apply, meaning that the PDL argument holds some weight, and the
proposal complies with paragraphs 117, 118 of the NPPF.

11.6

For the ‘proximity to services’ issue, the site location is not ideal (as day-to-day
services are not within walking distances). On the other hand, 2 no. new
dwellings within a settlement would modestly support local services in nearby
villages (on this occasion, Chrishall and Saffron Walden), complying with
paragraph 78 of the NPPF.

11.7

Therefore, on balance, the location is sustainable to a certain degree and suitable
for residential development insofar as the proposal will be in keeping with the
area (design, etc.).

11.8

In economic terms, the proposal will potentially provide a small contribution
towards the wider local economy during construction, via employment for local
builders and suppliers of materials, and post-construction via reasonable use of
local services.

Page 276

11.9

Overall, the ‘tilted balance’ is invoked in favour of the scheme and the principle of
the development is acceptable, and thus the proposal accords with ULP Policies
S7, GEN2, and the NPPF.

B

Design and character / heritage impacts (S7, GEN2, ENV1, ENV2, Essex
Design Guide, and the NPPF);

11.10

In terms of heritage impacts, the Conservation Officer was consulted to assess
impacts on the character and appearance of the Elmdon Conservation Area, the
setting of a neighbouring listed building (‘The Bangles’ - Grade II) and a Grade II
listed Telephone Kiosk on the front verge. The Conservation Officer reported that
the proposal would not detract from the character and appearance of the
conservation area or the setting of the listed buildings. He also reported that the
site does not contribute to the Conservation Area and any new dwellings on it
would have a minimal impact upon the streetscene and the Conservation Area
itself. The Conservation Officer stated the proposal is consistent with the pre-app
advice, and most importantly “the proposed semi-detached dwellings are a
sympathetic addition to the built form within the Conservation Area that is
of appropriate vernacular by design. The use of high-quality materials such as
timber windows and doors is included in the scheme, which would contribute to a
high-quality development. The ridge height of the proposed dwellings is below
that of the adjacent dwelling, to the south, which preserves the stepped
appearance and rhythm of the built form along the High Street”. Therefore, the
Conservation Officer raised no objections subject to a (pre-commencement)
condition about materials, as the proposal will enhance the character and
appearance of the conservation area and the setting of the adjacent listed
buildings, in accordance with s66(1) and s72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings
and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, ULP Policies GEN2, ENV1, ENV2, and
paragraph 193, 196 of the NPPF.

11.11

Following advice from the Case Officer, the applicant submitted revised
plans/landscaping to remove the parking spaces in front of the proposed
dwellings and relocate them to the (northern) side of Plot 1 (using permeable
paving materials), as well as to include a visitor’s space immediately off the
driveway, increasing green space to the front yard of the dwellings. Nonetheless,
a condition would be required to secure this should planning permission be
granted.

11.12

In terms of size and scale, the proposed dwellings will be subordinate to the host
dwelling and area. In terms of design, layout and form, the proposal will have a
positive impact on the area/streetscene, considering the Conservation Officer’s
comments. Therefore, the proposal is acceptable, as it complies with paragraphs
127 and 170(b) of the NPPF and policies GEN2, ENV1, ENV2 and S7.

11.13

In terms of landscape, the Landscape Officer raised no objections subject to
conditions (including the retention and protection of the existing trees and hedges
on site).

11.14

A condition is necessary to ensure construction in accordance with Optional
Requirement M4(2) (Accessible and adaptable dwellings) of the Building
Regulations 2010 Approved Document M, Vol. 1 (2015 edition), to accommodate
the needs of all potential users.

Page 277

11.15

Overall, the proposal is acceptable and of subservient size, scale, design, form
and layout, and thus it accords with ULP Policies S7, GEN2, ENV1, ENV2, the
SPD Accessible Homes and Playspace, the Essex Design Guide, and the NPPF.

C

Amenity (GEN2, GEN4, Nationally Described Space Standards, Essex
Design Guide);

11.16

In terms of the residential amenity of the future occupants, the dwellings would be
2-storey and of 3 no. bedrooms-5 no. persons (3B5P) occupancy and they will
have a gross internal area of more than the minimum standard, which is set at
93m2 for a property of this size (bedrooms, bed spaces/persons, storeys),
according to the Technical Housing Standards – Nationally Described Space
Standard. In terms of amenity space (garden size), the proposed dwellings will
have adequate amenity space of more than the 100m2 threshold for properties of
this size (see Essex Design Guide).

11.17

In terms of noise, dust and other disturbances, the Environmental Health Officer
raised no objections unconditionally.

11.18

In terms of the amenity of neighbouring occupiers and the future occupants, given
that:






Any FF side-facing windows will not belong to habitable rooms;
There are no properties directly to the front and rear of the proposed
dwellings;
The Design test set out in the Essex Design Guide for ‘rear privacy’ will be
adhered to;
The 45-degree tests for overshadowing are adhered to;
The proposed boundary treatments will be sufficient and secured via a
condition;

No material overlooking, overshadowing, or overbearing effects are considered.
11.19

Overall, the proposal will not materially harm the amenity of future occupants nor
of neighbouring occupiers, and thus it accords with ULP Policies GEN2, GEN4,
the Nationally Described Space Standard, and the Essex Design Guide.

D

Access and parking standards (GEN1, GEN8, parking standards, and the
NPPF);

11.20

It should be noted that there is currently an existing access used on site. From a
highway and transportation perspective, the Highway Authority raised no
objections subject to conditions in the interests of highway and pedestrian safety,
in accordance with parking standards, the adopted Essex County Council
Supplementary Guidance – Development Management Policies (Feb 2011) and
Policy GEN1. The conditions refer to visibility splays, the private drive’s
dimensions, surface treatment of the access, gates, parking provision and cycle
parking.

11.21

Parking arrangements will include 2 no. parking spaces for each dwelling of
appropriate dimensions to the (northern) side of Plot 1 and 1 no. visitor’s parking
space immediately off the driveway (see revised plans), plus 2 no. covered cycle
spaces to the rear. There will be a 6m long turning area to the back of parking
spaces allowing safe turning and exit to the highway in a front gear. The

Page 278

proposed dwellings will have 3 no. bedrooms, and according to local parking
standards, the required provision for properties of this size would be 2 no. off
street parking spaces. Therefore, there is no need for additional parking spaces
and parking standards are met.
11.22

A condition is necessary for charging points for electric vehicles to minimise air
quality impacts, in accordance with paragraph 105 of the NPPF.

11.23

Overall, the proposal is acceptable in terms of access and parking, and thus it
accords with ULP Policies GEN1, GEN8, parking standards, and the NPPF.

E

Nature conservation and biodiversity (GEN7, ENV7, ENV8, and the NPPF);

11.24

A biodiversity questionnaire has been submitted with the application. The Ecology
Officer raised no objections to the proposal subject to biodiversity mitigation and
enhancement measures to enhance protected and priority species and habitats
(including conditions about compliance with the ecological appraisal
recommendations, a biodiversity enhancement layout and a lighting scheme).

11.25

Overall, the proposal is acceptable in ecological terms, and thus it accords with
ULP Policies GEN7, ENV7, ENV8, and the NPPF.

F

Contamination (ENV14, and the NPPF);

11.26

In terms of land contamination, the Environmental Health Officer raised no
objections to the proposal unconditionally.

11.27

Overall, the proposal is acceptable in contamination terms, and thus it accords
with ULP Policy ENV14, and the NPPF.

G

Archaeology (ENV4, and the NPPF).

11.28

The Council’s Specialist on Archaeology raised no objections subject to
conditions about trial trenching to protect potential archaeological remains. The
conditions include a programme of archaeological investigation with a written
scheme of investigation (pre-commencement) and a post excavation assessment.
It should be noted that the site is not part of an archaeological site, but it is within
an area of potentially sensitive archaeological deposits.

11.29

Overall, the proposal is acceptable in archaeological terms, and thus it complies
with ULP Policy ENV4, and the NPPF.

12.

CONCLUSION

The following is a summary of the main reasons for the recommendation:
A

B
C
D

The principle of the development is acceptable as the site is sustainable: it is not
isolated, it has a minimal impact on the countryside, and it respects the local
character and form of development.
The proposal will positively contribute to the heritage assets, according to Place
Services.
The proposal will not harm residential or visual amenities of neighbouring
occupiers.
The proposed parking arrangements are acceptable and parking standards are
met.

Page 279

E
F
G

The proposal will benefit nature conservation and biodiversity.
The site is not contaminated.
The proposal will preserve potential archaeological remains.

RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL WITH CONDITIONS
Conditions
1.

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 3
years from the date of this decision.
REASON: To comply with the requirements of s91 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 as amended by s51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase
Act 2004.

2.

Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved, all hard and soft
landscape details and works, as well as the boundary treatments, shall be carried
out in accordance with the details hereby approved (i.e. Revised Proposed
Landscaping, ref. 125-SP-07 A, 10 Dec 2020), and thereafter, the implemented
details and works shall be maintained as such in perpetuity.
REASON: To ensure compatibility with the countryside character of the area and
to ensure no harm to the residential amenity of the neighbouring occupiers and
the occupants of the approved dwellings, in accordance with the adopted
Uttlesford Local Plan Policies S7, GEN2, and the National Planning Policy
Framework (2019).

3.

All existing trees, shrubs and hedges on site shall be retained and protected at all
times in perpetuity. If any tree, shrub or hedge is removed, uprooted or destroyed
or dies, another one shall be planted at the same place and that tree, shrub or
hedge shall be of such size and species, and shall be planted at such time, as
may be specified in writing by the local planning authority.
REASON: To the countryside character of the area and visual amenities, in
accordance with the adopted Uttlesford Local Plan Policies S7, GEN2, and the
National Planning Policy Framework (2019).

4.

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) Order 1995 (or any Order revoking or re-enacting that
Order with or without modification), no development within Classes A to F of Part
1 of Schedule 2 and Class A of Part 2 of Schedule 2 of the Order on any part of
the site without the prior written permission of the local planning authority.
REASON: To avoid over-development of the site, to protect the countryside and
the heritage assets, in accordance with the adopted Uttlesford Local Plan Policy
S7, GEN2, ENV1, ENV2, the Essex Design Guide, and the National Planning
Policy Framework (2019).

5.

Prior to commencement of the development hereby approved, no demolition,
development or preliminary groundworks of any kind shall take place until a
programme of archaeological investigation has been secured in accordance with
a Written Scheme of Investigation (WSI) to be submitted by the applicant and
approved in writing by the local planning authority.
REASON: To preserve in situ potential archaeological remains, in accordance

Page 280

with the adopted Uttlesford Local Plan Policy ENV4, and the National Planning
Policy Framework (2019).

6.

Prior to commencement of the development hereby approved, no development or
preliminary groundworks of any kind shall take place until the completion of the
programme of archaeological investigation identified in the Written Scheme of
Investigation (WSI) as defined in Condition 5 above.
REASON: To preserve in situ potential archaeological remains, in accordance
with the adopted Uttlesford Local Plan Policy ENV4, and the National Planning
Policy Framework (2019).

7.

Within six (6) months (or any other time period agreed in advance and in writing
by the local planning authority) a post excavation assessment shall be submitted
to the Local Planning Authority. This will result in the completion of post
excavation analysis, preparation of a full site archive and report ready for
deposition at the local museum, and submission of a publication report.
REASON: To preserve in situ potential archaeological remains, in accordance
with the adopted Uttlesford Local Plan Policy ENV4, and the National Planning
Policy Framework (2019).

8.

Prior to commencement of the development hereby approved, a schedule of the
types and colours of the materials to be used in the external finishes shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. Thereafter,
the development shall be implemented strictly in accordance with the approved
materials and shall be maintained as such in perpetuity.
REASON: In the interests of visual amenity, to ensure compatibility with the
character of the area, to protect and enhance the character and appearance of
the Elmdon Conservation Area and the setting of the designated heritage assets
nearby (‘The Bangles’ and ‘Street Record/K6 Telephone Kiosk’ – both Grade II
listed), in accordance with the adopted Uttlesford Local Plan Policies S7, GEN2,
ENV1, ENV2, the Essex Design Guide, s66(1) and s72(1) of the Planning (Listed
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, and the National Planning Policy
Framework (2019).

9.

Prior to occupation of the dwelling(s) hereby approved, the access at its centre
line shall be provided with a clear to ground visibility splay with dimensions of 2.4
metres by 43 metres, as measured from and along the nearside edge of the
carriageway. Thereafter, such vehicular visibility splays shall be provided before
the access is first used by vehicular traffic and shall be retained free of any
obstruction at all times. Any amendments shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority.
REASON: To provide adequate intervisibility between vehicles using the access
and those in the existing public highway in the interest of highway and pedestrian
safety, in accordance with the adopted Uttlesford Local Plan Policies GEN1,
GEN8, the adopted Uttlesford Local Residential Parking Standards (2013), the
adopted Essex County Council Parking Standards: Design and Good Practice
(2009), and the National Planning Policy Framework (2019).

Page 281

10.

Prior to occupation of the dwelling(s) hereby approved, the proposed private
drive(s) shall be constructed to a width of 5.5 metres for at least the first 6 metres
from the back of the carriageway and shall be provided with an appropriate
dropped kerb crossing of the verge. Thereafter, amendments shall be submitted
to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
REASON: To ensure that vehicles can enter and leave the highway in a
controlled manner and to ensure that opposing vehicles can pass clear of the
limits of the highway in the interest of highway and pedestrian safety, in
accordance with the adopted Uttlesford Local Plan Policies GEN1, GEN8, the
adopted Uttlesford Local Residential Parking Standards (2013), the adopted
Essex County Council Parking Standards: Design and Good Practice (2009), and
the National Planning Policy Framework (2019).

11.

No unbound material shall be used in the surface treatment of the vehicular
access within 6 metres of the highway boundary. Thereafter, any amendments
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
REASON: To avoid displacement of loose material onto the highway in the
interests of highway and pedestrian safety, in accordance with the adopted
Uttlesford Local Plan Policies GEN1, GEN8, the adopted Uttlesford Local
Residential Parking Standards (2013), the adopted Essex County Council Parking
Standards: Design and Good Practice (2009), and the National Planning Policy
Framework (2019).

12.

Any gates provided at the vehicular access shall be inward opening only and shall
be set back a minimum of 6 metres from the back edge of the carriageway.
Thereafter, any alterations shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
local planning authority.
REASON: To enable vehicles using the access to stand clear of the carriageway
whilst gates are being opened and closed in the interest of highway and
pedestrian safety, in accordance with the adopted Uttlesford Local Plan Policies
GEN1, GEN8, the adopted Uttlesford Local Residential Parking Standards
(2013), the adopted Essex County Council Parking Standards: Design and Good
Practice (2009), and the National Planning Policy Framework (2019).

13.

Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved and notwithstanding any
details or plans indicating otherwise, the vehicle parking area and drive(s) shall
be constructed strictly in accordance with the Revised Proposed Block Plan Parking (ref. 125-SP-08 A, 10 Dec 2020), the Revised Proposed Landscaping
(ref. 125-SP-07 A, 10 Dec 2020) and the Revised Proposed Street View (ref. 125SP-09 B, 10 Dec 2020). Thereafter, the vehicle parking area and associated
turning area shall be retained in this form in perpetuity. Any amendments shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
REASON: To ensure that appropriate parking and turning areas are provided and
that on street parking of vehicles in the adjoining streets does not occur, in the
interest of highway and pedestrian safety, in accordance with the adopted
Uttlesford Local Plan Policies GEN1, GEN8, the adopted Uttlesford Local
Residential Parking Standards (2013), the adopted Essex County Council Parking
Standards: Design and Good Practice (2009), and the National Planning Policy
Framework (2019).

Page 282

14.

Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved, cycle parking shall be
provided in accordance with the EPOA Parking Standards. Thereafter, the
approved facility shall be secure, convenient and covered and shall be retained
as such in perpetuity. Any amendments shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority.
REASON: To ensure that appropriate cycle parking is provided, in the interest of
highway and pedestrian safety and in the interest of amenity, in accordance with
the adopted Uttlesford Local Plan Policies GEN1, GEN8, the adopted Uttlesford
Local Residential Parking Standards (2013), the adopted Essex County Council
Parking Standards: Design and Good Practice (2009), and the National Planning
Policy Framework (2019).

15.

All ecological mitigation and enhancement measures and/or works shall be
carried out in accordance with the details contained in the Ecological Survey and
Assessment (Essex Mammal Surveys, Sep 2020), as already submitted with the
planning application and agreed in principle with the local planning authority prior
to determination. This includes due diligence for nesting birds, Hedgehog and
Amphibians. Thereafter, the enhancement measures and/or works shall be
carried out strictly in accordance with the approved details and shall be
maintained as such in perpetuity. Any amendments shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority.
REASON: To conserve and enhance protected and priority species and habitats
and allow the local planning authority to discharge its duties under the
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), the
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), s40 of the Natural Environment
and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 2006 (priority habitats & species), s17 of the
Crime and Disorder Act 1998, in accordance with the adopted Uttlesford Local
Plan Policies GEN7, ENV7, ENV8, and the National Planning Policy Framework
(2019).

16.

Prior to slab level, a Biodiversity Enhancement Layout, providing the finalised
details and locations of the enhancement measures contained within the
Ecological Survey and Assessment (Essex Mammal Surveys, Sep 2020) shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
Thereafter, the enhancement measures shall be implemented in accordance with
the approved details and shall be retained in that manner in perpetuity. Any
amendments shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority.
REASON: To conserve and enhance protected and priority species and habitats
and allow the local planning authority to discharge its duties under the
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), the
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), s40 of the Natural Environment
and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 2006 (priority habitats & species), s17 of the
Crime and Disorder Act 1998, in accordance with the adopted Uttlesford Local
Plan Policies GEN7, ENV7, ENV8, and the National Planning Policy Framework
(2019).

17.

Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved, a lighting design
scheme for biodiversity shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. The scheme shall identify those features on site that are
particularly sensitive for bats and that are likely to cause disturbance along

Page 283

important routes used for foraging; and show how and where external lighting will
be installed (through the provision of appropriate technical specifications) so that
it can be clearly demonstrated that areas to be lit will not disturb or prevent bats
using their territory.
Thereafter, all external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the
specifications and locations set out in the scheme and shall be maintained in
accordance with the scheme in perpetuity. Under no circumstances should any
other external lighting be installed without prior consent in writing from the local
planning authority.
REASON: To conserve and enhance protected and priority species and habitats
and allow the local planning authority to discharge its duties under the
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), the
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), s40 of the Natural Environment
and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 2006 (priority habitats & species), s17 of the
Crime and Disorder Act 1998, in accordance with the adopted Uttlesford Local
Plan Policies GEN7, ENV7, ENV8, and the National Planning Policy Framework
(2019).
18.

Prior to occupation of the dwellings hereby approved, an electric vehicle charging
point shall be provided for each dwelling. Thereafter, the charging point shall be
fully wired and connected, ready to use and shall be remained as such in
perpetuity. Any changes shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority.
REASON: To encourage the use of electric vehicles for better air quality in
accordance with paragraph 105 of the National Planning Policy Framework
(2019).

19.

The development hereby permitted must be built in accordance with Optional
Requirement M4(2) (Accessible and adaptable dwellings) of the Building
Regulations 2010 Approved Document M, Volume 1 2015 edition. Thereafter, the
dwelling(s) shall be maintained as such in perpetuity unless otherwise agreed in
writing by the local planning authority.
REASON: To ensure compliance with the adopted Uttlesford Local Plan Policy
GEN2, and the adopted Supplementary Planning Document ‘Accessible Homes
and Playspace’.

Page 284

© Crown copyright and database rights 2016 Ordnance Survey 0100018688
Organisation:

Uttlesford District Council

Department:

Planning

Date:

14 Dec 2020

Page 285

Agenda Item 8
UTT/20/2486/FUL
(Not called-in / Council Employee)
PROPOSAL:

Single storey rear/side extension.

LOCATION:

6 Monks Hill, Saffron Walden, Essex CB11 3BW

APPLICANT:

Mrs N Roberts

AGENT:

Mr J Denn

EXPIRY DATE:

05 Apr 2021 (extension of time agreed to 30 Apr 2021)

CASE OFFICER:

Mr Avgerinos Vlachos

1.

NOTATION

1.1

Within Development Limits.
Within 500m of Pollution Control Site.

2.

DESCRIPTION OF SITE

2.1

The application site comprises a 2-storey semi-detached dwelling with a mix of
brickworks and pebbledash walls under a tiled roof, located within development
limits in south-eastern Saffron Walden. There is an old, detached garage to the
north-east of the dwelling with similar materials. Boundary treatments include
close boarded fencing to the rear. The overall area contains a distinct residential
type with dwellings of semi-detached nature, similar architectural styles, materials
and sizes. There are neighbouring dwellings to all sides of the property.

3.

PROPOSAL

3.1

The proposal includes:


Single storey rear/side extension;



Materials (see Application Form and Proposed Elevations): brickworks (to
match), tiled roof (to match) and flat roof to the rear, UPVC windows and
doors.

4.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT

4.1

The development does not constitute 'EIA development' for the purposes of the
Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations
2017.

5.

APPLICANT’S CASE

Page 286

5.1

The application includes the following documents:




6.
6.1

Photographs
Cover letter
Biodiversity checklist.

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY


UTT/21/0408/CLP – Loft conversion with rear dormer.

Approved (30.03.2021).
7.

POLICIES
National Policies
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF, 2019)
S70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended)
S38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004

Uttlesford Local Plan (2005)
ULP Policy S1- Development limits for the Main Urban Areas
ULP Policy H8 – Home Extensions
ULP Policy GEN1 – Access
ULP Policy GEN2 – Design
ULP Policy GEN4 – Good Neighbourliness
ULP Policy GEN7 – Nature Conservation
ULP Policy GEN8 – Vehicle Parking Standards
Supplementary Planning Documents/Guidance
Supplementary Planning Document ‘Home Extensions’
Other Material Considerations
Uttlesford Local Residential Parking Standards (2013)
Essex County Council Parking Standards: Design and Good Practice (2009)
Essex Design Guide – Rear Privacy
Essex Design Guide – Private Amenity Space
Essex Design Guide – Architectural Details
Essex Design Guide – Garden Size
Essex Design Guide – Building Form
Essex Design Guide – Daylight and sunlight
8.

PARISH COUNCIL COMMENTS

8.1

The Town Council did not provide any comments for this application.

9.

CONSULTATIONS

Page 287

9.1

None.

10.

REPRESENTATIONS

10.1

1 no. representation received. Neighbour consultation expired on 10 Mar 2020.

10.2

Summary of representations:

11.



Objection.



Overlooking due to the proposed bi-fold doors to no. 7 Upsheres’ kitchen.

APPRAISAL

The issues to consider in the determination of the application are:
A

Design and character (S1, H8, GEN2, SPD Home Extensions, Essex Design
Guide, and the NPPF);

B

Amenity (GEN2, H8, GEN4, SPD Home Extensions, and Essex Design
Guide);

C

Access and parking standards (GEN1, GEN8, parking standards, and the
NPPF);

D

Nature conservation and biodiversity (GEN7, and the NPPF).

A

Design and character (S1, H8, GEN2, SPD Home Extensions, Essex Design
Guide, and the NPPF);

11.1

Due to the national pandemic emergency the Case Officer was unable to visit the
site but was confident that an appropriate desktop assessment of the proposal
could be carried out using other means and using the applicant’s full submission.
For this reason, photographs were submitted upon request of the Case Officer on
12, 19 Feb 2021 and on 23 Mar 2021. Also, the neighbours and the Parish
Council were consulted.

11.2

The proposal is located within development limits, in Saffron Walden, with policy
S1 being relevant. It is generally accepted that reasonable extensions and
alterations are acceptable insofar as they do not compromise the dwelling’s
design and the local character.

11.3

In terms of heritage impacts, no harm is considered as there are no heritage
assets in the vicinity.

11.4

In terms of size and scale, the proposal will amount to a reasonable increase in
the dwelling’s footprint and in the built form on site, being subservient and
subordinate to the host dwelling. In terms of design, form and layout, the ‘Placing
of Openings’ Section of the Essex Design Guide (EDG) states that symmetry in
the front elevation and focus on the front door are important. The proposal will be
in keeping with the local character, as it will benefit the appearance of the
dwelling, following the gabled roof pattern on the side elevation as per the main
roof of the building and adding uniformity and interest on the dwelling’s

Page 288

appearance by relocating the main entrance onto the front elevation facing the
road (instead of the side elevation) and by breaking down the building’s massing.
In addition, the gabled part of the proposal will be visible from the public realm,
enhancing the established streetscene, whereas the flat roof part of the scheme
will be mostly screened from public realm. Therefore, the proposal is acceptable
due to its reasonable scale and as it appears to be a “natural” addition to the
property.
11.5

The proposed materials are acceptable as they will either match or visually
resemble or upgrade the existing ones that are common within an urban setting.

11.6

Overall, the proposal is acceptable and of subservient size, scale, form, design,
layout and materials, and thus it accords with ULP Policies S1, H8, GEN2, the
SPD Home Extensions, the Essex Design Guide, and the NPPF.

B

Amenity (GEN2, H8, GEN4, SPD Home Extensions, and Essex Design
Guide);

11.7

In terms of the residential amenity of the occupants, there will be no material loss
of private amenity space, as not more than half the garden would be covered by
structures and sufficient garden space would remain.

11.8

In terms of noise, dust and other disturbances, there will be no material increase
on site, as the proposal will not involve any significant surface treatments.

11.9

In terms of the amenity of neighbouring occupiers, due to the scale, siting and
position of the proposal in relation to the neighbouring properties, as well as after
applying the remoteness and design tests (see ‘Rear Privacy’ EDG Section), and
after applying the 45-degree tests (see SPD Home Extensions), plus considering
the existing boundary treatments to the rear, no material overshadowing,
overlooking (actual or perceived) and overbearing effects are considered. More
specifically, it should be noted that the rear elevation window of the semidetached neighbouring property is a kitchen window (not a habitable room
window, i.e. living room or bedroom), according to the applicant, and therefore no
material loss of light is considered. Also, the ‘Rear Privacy’ EDG Section states
that “Where the rears of neighbouring properties face each other at an angle of
more than 30°, the minimum spacing may be reduced [from 25m] to 15m from the
nearest corner”; on this occasion, the angle is 33° to no. 7 Upsheres and the
distance from the nearest corner is 19.1m. Therefore, given the appropriate backto-back distance, the intervening close boarded fencing, the 33° angle and that
no. 7 Upsheres sits on elevated ground (meaning no direct views to any habitable
room windows), no material overlooking is considered.

11.10

Overall, the proposal will not materially harm the amenity of neighbouring
occupiers nor of current occupants, and thus it accords with ULP Policies GEN2,
H8, GEN4, the SPD Home Extensions, and the Essex Design Guide.

C

Access and parking standards (GEN1, GEN8, parking standards, and the
NPPF);

11.11

No new access or alterations to the existing access are proposed, and therefore
Highways were not consulted.

11.12

Existing parking arrangements include 2 no. off-street parking spaces of
appropriate dimensions (i.e. 5.5m x 2.9m each) to the side (east) driveway on

Page 289

site. Bedroom numbers remain intact and, according to local parking standards,
there is no requirement for additional parking spaces and parking standards are
met.
11.13

A condition to implement the new parking arrangements is necessary to avoid onstreet parking and to safeguard highway and pedestrian safety.

11.14

Overall, the proposal is acceptable in terms of access and parking, and thus it
accords with ULP Policies GEN8, GEN1, parking standards, and the NPPF.

D

Nature conservation and biodiversity (GEN7, and the NPPF).

11.15

A biodiversity questionnaire has been submitted with the application, triggering no
further consultations with the Ecology Officer. Under the assumption that the
submitted information within the biodiversity checklist are correct and accurate,
the proposal would not materially harm protected and priority species and
habitats.

11.16

Overall, the proposal is acceptable in nature conservation terms, and thus it
accords with ULP Policies GEN7, and the NPPF.

12.

CONCLUSION

The following is a summary of the main reasons for the recommendation:
A
B
C
D

The proposal will be of subservient size, scale, form, design, layout and materials
The proposal will not harm residential or visual amenities of neighbouring
occupiers.
The proposed parking arrangements will meet parking standards.
The proposal will not harm protected and priority species and habitats.

RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL WITH CONDITIONS
Conditions
1.

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 3
years from the date of this decision.
REASON: To comply with the requirements of s91 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 as amended by s51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase
Act 2004.

2.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved plans as set out in the Schedule.
REASON: For the avoidance of doubt as to the nature of the development hereby
permitted, to ensure development is carried out in accordance with the approved
application details, to ensure that the development is carried out with the
minimum harm to the local environment, in accordance with the Policies of the
Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005) as shown in the Schedule of Policies.

3.

Prior to occupation of the development hereby permitted, the 2 no. vehicle
parking spaces (5.5m x 2.9m each) shall be constructed as indicated on the
approved plans with hard standing and dropped kerb. Thereafter, the parking

Page 290

spaces shall be retained as such in perpetuity. Any amendments in the future
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
REASON: To avoid on-street parking and to ensure that appropriate parking is
provided in the interest of highway and pedestrian safety, in accordance with the
adopted Uttlesford Local Plan Policies GEN1, GEN8, the adopted Uttlesford Local
Residential Parking Standards (2013), the adopted Essex County Council Parking
Standards: Design and Good Practice (2009), and the National Planning Policy
Framework (2019).

© Crown copyright and database rights 2016 Ordnance Survey 0100018688
Organisation:

Uttlesford District Council

Department:

Planning

Date:

29 Mar 2021

Page 291

